
651 Commerce Drive 

PUBLIC AGfN CY 
Roseville, CA 95678 

CPA phone (916) 781-3636 
fax (916) 783-7693 
web www.ncpa.com 

Commission Minutes 

To: NCPA Commission 

From: Trisha Zimmer, Assistant Secretary to the Commission 

Subject: NCPA Commission Meeting -April 27, 2023 

1. Ca// Meeting to Order and Introductions 

Chair Jerry Serventi called the meeting to order at 9:35am at the Northern California Power 
Agency, 651 Commerce Drive, Roseville, California. Introductions and roll call were made. 
Those in attendance are shown on the attached attendance list. 

2. Approve Minutes of the March 23, 2023, Regular Commission Meeting 

MOTION: A motion was made by Bo Sheppard, and seconded by James Takehara to approve 
the minutes of the March 23, 2023, Regular Commission Meeting. The motion carried by a 
majority on a roll call vote of those Members present as follows: 

PUBLIC FORUM 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

Vote 
y 

y 

y 

y 
y 
y 
y 
y 
y 
y 

y 

Abstained Absent 

X 

X 

X 
X 

X 

Chair Serventi opened the public comment period. No members from the public addressed the 
Commission. Chair Serventi closed the public comment period. 

2 



REPORTS AND COMMITTEE UPDATES 

3. General Manager's Business Progress Report and Update 

Tony Zimmer reported: 
- The initial draft of the STIG Phase II Project Agreement is currently being circulated 

internally for review. 
Generation Services staff is working with a consultant to re-organize the initial report on the 
Geothermal Battery Energy Storage System (BESS) to get a better understading of the 
sizing, interconnection, and operational structure. 
The Lodi Energy Center Hydrogen proposal was allowed back into the ARCHES Program 
as a Tier 1 project. The funding level is set at $50 million. 
The Geothermal Plant outage continues. The strainer ,basket repair is underway. 
Scheduling of member check-in meetings with Randy Howard continues. 
Randy Howard continues to participate in the Federal Wildfire Commission activities 
speaking on behalf of electric utilities, with a focus on changes in legislation for reducing fire 
risk, and better management of active wildfires. 
With all the snowfall this past winter and high temperatures forecasted over the next few 
days, there will be a significant amout of snow melting. The Agency is currently running all 
our projects at full capacity to keep the water moving. 
The Federal EAP is pushing to accelerate the Electric Vehicle (EV) integration to 50% 
nationally by 2030. While the goals may not be achievable, each Member should at least 
have a plan for how to get there just in case and to"'-show that we are being proactive. 

4. Executive Committee 

Committee Chair Serventi reported the Executive Committee met this morning with no 
reportable action taken. The next Executive Committee meeting is scheduled for May 25. 

5. Facilities Committee 

Assistant General Manager of Power Management, Tony Zimmer, reported the Facilities 
Committee met on April 5th . At that meseting the Committee discussed today's Commission 
meeting items 13 throu~h 21 on th~ Consent Calendar. A quorum of the Committee was 
established at the meeting and recommended Commission approval of these items. Also for 
approval are Discussion/Actions iterrts-'.23, 24, 25, 26, and 27. Mr. Zimmer noted that item 24 
seeks approval of Exhibit c,, Revision 115 to Contract 96-SNR-0011 O (WAPA O&M Funding 
Commitment) ,and requires a unanimous affirmative vote from all ten Pool Members. Not all 
1 O Pool Members:are present today, so that item will be pulled and brought back to the next 
regular Commissiom Meeting.~, The next Facilities Committee meeting is scheduled for May 3, 
2023. 

6. Finance Committee 

Assistant General Manager of Administrative Services, Monty Hanks, reported the Finance 
Committee did not meet since the last Commission meeting. The next Finance Committee 
meeting is scheduled for May 9, 2023. 

7. Legal Committee 

General Counsel Jane Luckhardt reported the Committee met once since the last 
Commission meeting on April 6, 2023. During the meeting the Committee discussed the 
CVPIA refund disbursement accounting (today's Agenda Item #28). This was an 
informational discussion which gave the attorneys the opportunity to review the accounting. 
The Committee also had Closed Session discussion with no reportable action taken. 

NCPA Commission Meeting Minutes 

April 27, 2023 

2 



8. Legislative & Regulatory Affairs Committee 

The NCPA L&R Team is preparing for their upcoming Federal Policy Conference that is co
sponsored with the Northwest Public Power Association each year. The conference will be 
held April 29-May 4 in Washington DC. There will be a full day conference on May 1st that 
will be followed by two and a half days of meetings on Capitol Hill and at the Federal 
agencies to advocate for our positions. Special thanks went to all of our elected officials, 
utility directors and staff that make this important advocacy event so effective each year. 

NCPA's Customer Programs participants met with energy representatives from Wal Mart to 
discuss sustainability, investments in renewable energy, EV infrastructure and resiliency. 

The next L&R Committee meeting will be held on August 23rd at NCPA's Roseville offices. 
We will continue to be actively engaged at the state leve-1 or;:i, the Advanced Clean Fleets 
rule which is before the CARB board today, regionaliz_att6n dis~ussions within public power, 
and many other key issues of importance to the Agerlcy. 

9. Members' Announcements & Meeting Reporting 

Roseville City Councilmember, Pauline Roccucci, reported that Bosch is acquiring the old TSI 
Semiconductors building in Roseville with plans to begin producing SiC chips by 2026. 

Truckee-Donner's Utility Director, Jo'e Horvath, will be retiring at the end of this September. 

CONSENT CALENDAR 

Prior to the roll call vote to c)pprove the Consent Calendar, the, Com'missioners were polled to 
determine if any Member wished to pull an item or abstain from one or more items on the Consent 
Calendar. 

MOTION: A motion was made by Suds Jainf and secbnded by Bo Sheppard to approve the 
Consent Calendar consisting ofAgenda Items 1-0 thrQugh 22. The motion carried by a majority of 
those members present on a roll call vote as follows: 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridl,y 
Healdsbutg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

NCPA Commission Meeting Minutes 

April 27, 2023 

Vote 
y 

y 
y 
y 

y 
y 
y 
y 
y 
y 
y 
y 

Abstained 

21 
21 

20, 21 
16, 18, 21 

16 

Absent 

X 

X 
X 

X 

3 



10. NCPA 's Financials for the Month Ended March 31, 2023 - approval by all Members. 

11. Treasurer's Report for the Month Ended March 31, 2023 - accept by all Members. 

12. Disposal of Northern California Power Agency Surplus Property- note and file the report 
by all members for the disposal of the following: scrap metal of Lodi Energy Center. 
Fiscal Impact: This report has no direct fiscal impact to the Agency. 

13. Resolution 23-28, OST Truck and Cranes, Inc. - Five Year Multi-Task General 
Services Agreement; Applicable to the following: All NCPA Facilities, NCPA 
Members, Southern California Public Power Authority (SCPPA), and SCPPA 
Members - adopt resolution by all members authorizing the General Manager or his 
designee to enter into a Multi-Task General Services<Agteement with OST Trucks and 
Cranes, Inc. for crane related services, with any Aon-substantial changes recommended 
and approved by the NCPA General Counsel, which shall not exceed $1,500,000 over 
five years for use at any facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, NCPA Members, by 
SCPPA, and SCPPA Members. 
Fiscal Impact: Upon execution, the total not-to-exceed amount of the agreement will not 
exceed $1,500,000 over five years. 

14. Resolution 23-29, Mesa Energy Services, Inc. db,a EMCOR Services Mesa Energy
First Amendment to Five Year Multi-Task General Services Agreement for Chiller 
and HVAC Maintenance Services,· Applica,1.Jle to the following: NCPA, NCPA 
Members, the SCPPA, and SCPPA Members - adopt resolution by all members 
authorizing the General, Manager or his designee to enter into a First Amendment to the 
Multi-Task General Services Agreement with Mesa En~rgy Systems, Inc. dba EMCOR 
Services Mesa Energy for chiUer and HVAC maintenance services, with any non
substantial changes recommended and approved by the NCPA General Counsel, 
modifying Exhibit A and Exhibit at for continued use at any facilities owned and/or 
operated by NCPA,, NCPA Members; SCPPA, and SCPPA Members. 
Fiscal Impact: Upon execution the total cost of the agreement will remain unchanged at 
$1,000,000. 

15. Resolution 23-30, Tetra /Eagineering Group, Inc. - Five Year Multi-Task Professional 
Services Agt:eement for Inspection Services; Applicable to the following: NCPA, 
NCPA Members, SCPPA, and SCPPA Members - adopt resolution by all members 
authorizing the General Manager or his designee to enter into a Multi-Task Professional 
Services Agreement 'with T,etf'a Engineering Group, Inc. for inspection services related to 
HRSG, power piping, steam: plant assessments, root cause failures and consulting 
engineering, with any non-substantial changes recommended and approved by the NCPA 
General Counsel, which shall not exceed $1,000,000 over five years, for use by any 
facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, NCPA Members, by SCPPA, and SCPPA 
Members. 
Fiscal Impact: Upon execution the total not-to-exceed amount of the agreement will not 
exceed $1,000,000 over five years. 

NCPA Commission Meeting Minutes 

April 27, 2023 

4 



16. Resolution 23-31, Siemens Energy, Inc. - Five Year Multi-Task General Services 
Agreement for T3000 Maintenance and Support Services; applicable to the 
following: All NCPA Lodi Energy Center (LEC) and Geothermal Facility Locations, 
City of Redding and City of Roseville - adopt resolution by all members authorizing the 
General Manager or his designee to enter into a Multi-Task General Services Agreement 
for T3000 maintenance and support services, with any non-substantial changes 
recommended and approved by NCPA General Counsel, which shall not exceed 
$6,000,000 over five years, for continued use at NCPA LEC and Geothermal Facilities as 
well as the City of Redding and the City of Roseville. 
Fiscal Impact: Upon execution, the total cost of the agree .. r:nent will not exceed 
$6,000,000 over five years. · ·" 

17. Resolution 23-32, Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, L.LP:- First Amendment to the Two 
Year Multi-Task Professional Services Agreement for Annual Audit Services; 
applicable to the following: NCPA, NCPA Members, SCPPA, and SCPPA Members -
adopt resolution by all members authorizing the"' General Manager or his designee to enter 
into this First Amendment to the Multi-Task Professional Services Agreement for annual 
audit services, with any non-substantial chartges recommended and· approved by the 
NCPA General Counsel, accepting assignmenno Baker Tilly US, LLP extending the 
agreement term for a second additional three-y·ear term,,:from July 1, 2023 to July 1 , 2026, 
and increasing the not to excee:d amount from $500,000 to $1,000,000, for continued use 
at NCPA, NCPA Members, SCPPA, and SCPPA. 
Fiscal Impact: Upon execution, the total cost of the ag'rS'ement will not exceed 
$1,000,000. 

18. Resolution 23-34, Parker L.andscape Development Inc. - Five Year Multi-Task 
General Services Agreement for Landscape Maintenance Services; applicable to the 
following: All NCPA Facilities - adopt resolution by all members authorizing the 
General Manager or his designee to enter into a Multi-Task General Services Agreement 
with Parker landscape DeveldJilment, Inc. for professional commercial landscape 
maintenance services, with a,n¥ non-subs1:antial changes recommended and approved by 
the NCPA General Counsel, wtlich shall not exceed $300,000 over five years, for use only 
at any facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA. 
Fiscal Impact: Upon exe,cution the t,otal cost of the agreement will not exceed $300,000 
over five years. 

19. Resolution 23-35, Approval of Northern California Power Agency's Cyber Insurance 
Liability Program Renewalfor April 2023 to April 2024 - adopt resolution by all 
members authorizing ,the C31eneral Manager or his designee to negotiate and bind the 
Cyber Liability Insurance Program for the term starting April 27, 2023 and ending April 27, 
2024, at a not-to-exceed premium of $258,000 for the Northern California Power Agency 
and Lodi Energy Center. 
Fiscal Impact: The total cost of the policy year 2023 Cyber Liability Insurance program is 
estimated not to exceed $258,000. This amount is already included in the Risk 
Management budget, therefore no budget augmentation is required. 

NCPA Commission Meeting Minutes 

April 27, 2023 

5 



20. Admission of Plumas-Sierra Rural Electric Cooperative as a New Amended and Restated 
Market Purchase Power Program Participant- adopt resolution by all members 
authorizing Plumas-Sierra Rural Electric Cooperative (REC) to become a new Participant 
as defined under the Amended and Restated Market Purchase Program Agreement (MPP 
Agreement), upon Plumas-Sierra REC's execution of the MPP Agreement. 
Fiscal Impact: NCPA's administrative costs for development and administration of the 
MPP Agreement will be allocated to Members in accordance with approved cost allocation 
methodologies as described in the NCPA annual budget. 

21. Approval of Western Area Power Administration (WAPA) 2023 Renewable Energy Credit 
(REC) Program Letter Agreement 23-SNR-02937 - adopt resolution by all members 
authorizing the General Manager or his designee to execute the WAPA 2023 REC 
Program Letter of Agreement 23-SNR-02937, on behalf of NCPA, including any non
substantive changes recommended and approved by NCt?A's General Counsel. 
Fiscal Impact: Costs associated with entering into the WAPA 2023 REC Program Letter 
of Agreement 23-SNR-02937 are estimated to ,be less than $10,000 for the term of the 
agreement, and will be allocated according to Base Resource percentages of the 
represented Members. 

22. Resolution 23-20, CLEAResult Consulting, Inc .. - Revis·ed First Amendment to Three 
Year Multi-Task Consulting Servic.es Agreement for Electrification Education and 
Outreach Services; applicablii' to the following: NCPA, NCPA Members, SCPPA, and 
SCPPA Members - adopt resolution by all members authorizing the General Manager or 
his designee to enter into the revised First Arne:ndment to t~e Multi-Task Consulting 
Services Agreement with CLEAResuft Consulting Inc. for eleeirification education and 
outreach services, with any non-substantial chan:§eiS recommended and approved by the 
NCPA General CouA,sel, modiifying Exhibit A, f'Or continued use at any facilities owned 
and/or operated by NCPA, NCPA Members, SCPPA, and SCPPA Members. 
Fiscal Impact: Upon execution the total cost of this agreement will not exceed 
$2,000,000 

DISCUSS10N/ACTION ITEMS 

23. Resolution .21-109, NCPA Geothermal Second Amendment to Resolution 21-109 for 
the NCPA Seothermal Plant 2 Unit 4 Overhaul Project; Applicable to the following: 
NCPA Geothermal Facility ..... adopt resolution by all members 1) delegating authority to 
the General Manager or his designee to execute Proof of Loss forms for $3,599,999 
(gross) for the PU:M'I 2 Unit 4 Steam Turbine Damage Claim and deposit the balance back 
into the Maintenance Reserve account, and 2) modifying the Scope of Work increasing 
the total not to exceed amount of this project from $5,000,000 to $6,409,275; and 3) 
authorizing the use of an additional $1,409,275 from the Maintenance Reserve. 

Motion: A motion was made by Bo Sheppard and seconded by Pauline Roccucci 
recommending approval of the Second Amendment to Resolution 21-109 for the NCPA 
Geothermal Plant 2 Unit 4 Overhaul Project: 1) delegating authority to the General Manager or 
his designee to execute Proof of Loss forms for $3,599,999 (gross) for the Plant 2 Unit 4 Steam 
Turbine Damage Claim and deposit the balance back into the Maintenance Reserve account; 
2) modifying the Scope of Work and increasing the total not to exceed amount of this project 
from $5,000,000 to $6,409,275; and 3) authorizing the use of an additional $1,409,275 from the 
Maintenance Reserve. The motion carried by a majority of those members present on a roll 
call vote as follows: 

NCPA Commission Meeting Minutes 

April 27, 2023 

6 



Vote Abstained Absent 
Alameda y 
San Francisco BART X 
Biggs y 
Gridley y 
Healdsburg y 
Lodi X 
Lompoc X 
Palo Alto y 
Port of Oakland y 
Redding X 
Roseville y 
Santa Clara y 
Shasta Lake X 
Truckee Donner X 
Ukiah y 
Plumas-Sierra y 

24. Approval of Exhibit C, Revision 25 to Contract 96-SNR-00110 {WAPA O&M Funding 
Commitment) - This item was pulled from the Agenda. No action/no-discussion. 

25. Approval of an Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Pooling Agreement 
adding Pooling Schedule 14 (Meter Maintenance Program) - adopt resolution by all 
members authorizing the additiorvof Pooling Schedule 14 (Meter Maintenance Program) 
to the Second Amended and RestatecfPooling Agreement including any non-substantive 
modifications as approved by NCPA"s .General Counsel. 
Fiscal Impact: There ts no direct fiscat impact to NCPA. 

Motion: A motion was made by Bo Sheppar,. and seconde<:t by Dean Batchelor 
recommending approval of Rest>-lution 23-4 i authorizing the addition of Pooling Schedule 
14 (Meter Maintenance Program) ,t-o the Se&o11d Amended and Restate Pooling 
Agreement, tncluding any non-s-ubs-ntive modifications as approved by NCPA's General 
Couns·el · The motion carried py a majority -of those members present on a roll call vote 
as foUows: · 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridle-y 
Heal~sburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

NCPA Commission Meeting Minutes 

April 27, 2023 

Vote Abstained Absent 
y 

X 
y 
y 
y 

X 
X 

y 
y 

X 
X 
X 
X 
X 

X 
y 

7 



26. Approval of the General Services Agreement between NCPA and Ulteig Engineers, Inc. 
for Meter Maintenance - adopt resolution by all members authorizing the General 
Manager or his designee to enter into a General Services Agreement with Ulteig 
Engineers, Inc. for member meter maintenance services, with any non-substantive 
changes as recommended and approved by the NCPA General Counsel, which shall not 
exceed $1,200,000 over five years. 
Fiscal Impact: Upon execution, the total cost of this agreement will not exceed 
$1,200,000 over five years. However, there is no direct fiscal impact to NCPA. All costs 
associated with the Meter Maintenance Program will be invoiced to each Participant in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 9 of the Second Amended and 
Restated Pooling Agreement. 

Motion: A motion was made by Pauline Roccucci and se'.conded by Suds Jain 
recommening approval of Resolution 23-40 authorizing the General Manager or his 
designee to enter into a General Services Agreement with Ulteig Engineers, Inc. for Meter 
Maintenance, for the purpose of supplying meter maintenance' services to NCPA 
Members (including Pooling Agreement Panicipants and other NCPA Members who are 
not Pooling Agreement Participants), inclu~Mg any non-substantial modifications to the 
General Services Agreement as recommended and approved by the NCPA General 
Counsel. The motion carried by majority of those members present on a roll call vote as 
follows: 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port ~f Oakland 
Redding , 
Roseville .. 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

Vote 
y 

y 
y 

y 
y 
y 
y 
y 

y 
y 

Abstained Absent 

X 

X 
X 

X 
X 

27. Approval of the FY2024Annual Budget - adopt resolution by all member approving the 
FY2024 Annual Budget and Working Capital and Funding Requirement as detailed in the 
budgetary support and Annual Budget documents. 
Fiscal Impact: The Executive Summary section of the budget document contains an 
analysis of the overall budget. The total proposed net annual budget cost for FY2024 is 
approximately $671. 7 million, which represents an increase of 19.4% or a $109.1 million 
dollar increase over the FY2023 budget as summarized in the schedule provided in the 
Commission packet. Allocation of the FY2024 Annual Budget between members and LEC 
Participants is based on participation levels in .NCPA programs and projects and the 
approved cost allocations. The final funding allocation for each member is shown in 
Section 13 of the budget document. 

NCPA Commission Meeting Minutes 

April 27, 2023 

8 



Motion: A motion was made by Pauline Roccucci and seconded by Dean Batchelor 
recommending approval of the Fiscal Year 2024 Annual Budget and Working Capital and 
Funding Requirement. The motion carried by a majority of those members present on a 
roll call vote as follows: 

Vote Abstained Absent 
Alameda y 
San Francisco BART X 
Biggs y 
Gridley y 
Healdsburg y 
Lodi X 
Lompoc X 
Palo Alto X 
Port of Oakland y 
Redding y 
Roseville y 
Santa Clara y 
Shasta Lake y 
Truckee Donner y 
Ukiah y 
Plumas-Sierra y 

28. Central Valley Project lmprovemeril Act (CVPIA) Refund• Authorizing NCPA to 
Disburse Funds to Members as Sp$ified in ,the "CVl>IA Settlement Distribution 
REVISED3" Spreadsheet Prepared by NCPA Accounting Department as Adjusted for 
Additional Accumulated Interest to the Date of D,isbursement - adopt resolution by all 
members authorizing NCPA to disburse Central Valley Project Improvement Act (CVPIA) 
refunds as specified in the "CVPJA Settlertie,nt Distribution REVISED3: Spreadsheet 
Prepared by NCPA Acco'Unting De,,p_artment as Adjusted for Additional Accumulated 
Interest to the Date of Dtsbursement. 
Fiscal 'Impact: After review and revision, NCPA staff recalculated the damages award 
and legal fees due to {and frt>m) each Participating Member and those calculations are 
specified in the "CVPIA Settlement Distribution REVISED3" spreadsheet. Upon final 
approval, additional accrued interest will be added to each Participating Members' 
disbursement ,in the samemtmner asttie $212,640 of interest is applied in the "CVPIA 
Settlement Distribution REVISED3" spreadsheet. Staff provided the disbursement to 
each Participating Member according to that Participating Member's instructions to 
NCPA's accounting depart.ment. 

Motion: A motion was made by Pauline Roccucci and seconded by Suds Jain 
recommending approval of Resolution 23-42 authorizing NCPA to disburse CVPIA 
refunds as specified in the CVPIA Settlement Summary table and detailed in the "CVPIA 
Settlement Distribution REVISED3" spreadsheet prepared by NCPA accounting 
department, as adjusted for additional accumulated interest to the date of disbursement. 
The motion carried by a majority of those members present on a roll call vote as follows: 

NCPA Commission Meeting Minutes 

April 27, 2023 

9 



Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

CLOSED SESSION 

Vote 
y 

y 
y 
y 

y 
y 
y 
y 
y 
y 
y 
y 
y 

Abstained Absent 

X 

X 
X 

It was determined by the General Coun~el that the CloS'ed Session items listed on the Commission 
Agenda would not be discussed at today's meeting. The eommission meeting did not enter into 
Closed Session. 

29. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - EXISTING LITIGATION - No discussion 

30. CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL: COUNSEL - POTENTtAL LITIGATION - No discussion 

NEW BUSINESS 

No new business was discussed. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The April 27, 2023, Commission meeting was adjourned at 11 :14 am by Chair Serventi. 

Respectfully submitted" 

JERRY SERVENTI 
Commission Chair 

NCPA Commission Meeting Minutes 

April 27, 2023 

Prepared by, 

TRISHA ZIMMER 
Assistant Secretary to the Commission 

10 



Commission Meeting 
April 27, 2023 

COMMISSIONERS 
Attendance List .. 

NCPA Commissioners are requested to sign, but signature by members of the public is voluntary. 

MEMBER NAME 

1-ALAMEDA ~ 3/J.~.,,.,, /' . 
2- BIGGS flt;~ 

. I , 

3 - GRIDLEV 

4 • HEALDSBURG 

5 • LODI 

&-LOMPOC 

7-PALOALTO 

8 - PLUMAS-SIERRA REC 

9 - PORT OF OAKLAND 

10- REDDING 

11 - ROSEVILLE /~ ,{e,u,,/U~ 
12 - SAN FRANCISCO BAY AREA RAPID 

TRANSIT DISTRICT 

13 - SANTA CLARA <;;:_~/4i~ 
14 - SHASTA LAKE ~ ,..-;-- /4 / ,~/y ~A 

15 - TRUCKEE DONNER 

16- UKIAH 



Commission Meeting 
April 27, 2023 

Attendance List 

NCPA Commissioners, Alternates & Staff are requested to sign, but signature by members of the 
public is voluntary. 

NAME AFFILIATION 



SUPPORT SERVICES PROGRAM STATUS REPORT 

May 17, 2023 

Member Name Designated Representatives Authorized Date 
Confirmation Approved 
NTEAmount 

Alameda - AMP General Manager & AMP General Counsel $ 75,000 06/08/16 

BART 

Biggs Utility Director & City Attorney $125~000 08/09/16 

Gridley City Administrator & City Attorney $125,000 02/07/22 

Healdsburg City Manager & City Attorney $ 50,000 05/06/19 

Lodi Utility Director & City Attorney NTE $30,000; $60,000 09/07/16; 
City Manager & City Attorney NTE $60,000 

05/20/22 

Lompoc Utility Director & City Attorney $125,000 11/15/16 

Palo Alto City Manager & City Attorney $ 85,000/yr. 06/05/17 
with up to 3 
yr. term per 
vendor 

Plumas-Sierra REC General Manager & Cooperative Attorney $ 20,000 01/25/23 

Port of Oakland Executive Director & Deputy Port Attorney $150,000 04/14/16 

Redding Utility Director & City Attorney 04/19/16; 

Procurement Authority Increased $200,000 08/20/20 

Roseville Electric Utility Director & City Attorney $ 74,999 10/05/15; 

05/05/21 

Santa Clara City Manager & City Attorney $150,000 05/24/16 

Shasta Lake City Manager & General Counsel $ 75,000 07/02/19 

Truckee Donner General Manager & General Counsel NTE $15,000; $250,000 11/02/16 
PUD General Manager, General Counsel &. Board 

President NTE $250,000 

Ukiah Utility Director & City Attorney $ 20,000 01/19/22 

1 

5/17/2023 ckb 



SSPA CONFIRMATIONS EXECUTED/WORK IN PROGRESS 

No. Member Name Date AmountNTE Vendor Name & Short Description 

0303 City of Palo Alto 5/16/23 $51,015.00 Flynn Resource Consultants, Inc.; Analysis of 
the City's Electric Supply Portfolio Planning 
and post-layoff use of its share of the COTP. 

0299 City of Palo Alto 5/16/23 $11,620.00 Aspen Environmental Group; Provide 
natural gas regulatory services through 
December 21, 2023. 

0298 City of Palo Alto 3/16/23 $249,829.00 iParametrics LLC; Grant writing services for 
Electric GRIP Grant and for Gas NGDISM 
Grant and for Post-Award services and 
support for future grants. 

0295 Alameda Municipal 5/3/23 $250,000.00 SpryPoint Services, Inc.; Implement 
Power SpryMobile Asset and Workflow 

Management _Software to support AMP's 
operational needs through September 14, 
2027. 

0294 City of Palo Alto 3/23/23 $53,540.00 Cool the Earth; Through the Ride and Drive 
Clean campaign, will host webinars on EV's 
and ebikes, including incentives and 
charging education. 

0293 City of Roseville 3/6/23 $ 52,170.00 DNV Energy Services USA Inc.; EM&V 
verification technical advisory services. 

0291 Truckee Donner 2/8/23 $62,500.00 ADM Associates, Inc.; EM&V technical 
PUD advisory services including Electrification 

Saturation Study, 2022 Program Review and 
2023 Program review and free-ridership 
analysis. 

0290 City of Roseville 3/15/23 $751,675.00 Performance Mechanical Inc.; Maintenance 
work for Roseville scheduled outage 
including piping work, hydrotesting, HRSG 
maintenance, catalyst maintenance, 
troubleshooting, underground piping maint. 
outage support, rotating equipment 
alignment, parts supply, structural steel 
work to provide access for necessary facility 
maintenance, on T&M basis. 

2 

5/17/2023 ckb 



SSPA CONFIRMATIONS EXECUTED/WORK IN PROGRESS 

No. Member Name Date AmountNTE Vendor Name & Short Description 

0289 Truckee Donner 1/31/23 $24,180.00 Guidehouse, Inc.; Independent evaluation 
PUD services for TDPUD's Wildfire Mitigation 

Plan. 

0288 City of Palo Alto 2/1/23 $ 77,740.00 Acterra; EV education activities for the City 
of Palo Alto Utility as detailed in its proposal 
during 2023. 

0287 City of Pa lo Alto 2/3/23 $41,180.00 Ascend Analytics; provide analysis re Palo 
Alto's Electric Supply Portfolio Planning, as 
detailed in proposal. 

0286 City of Palo Alto 3/2/23 $84,515.00 ADM Associates Inc.; EM&V of the cost 
effectiveness and energy savings attributed 
to energy efficiency and electrification 
programs as detailed in the ADM SOW for 
Palo Alto Utilities. 

0284 City of Santa Clara 2/3/23 $89,518.00 Cadmus Group, LLC; conduct an impact 
evaluation of SVP's Commercial Rebate 
Programs targeting lighting, data centers, 
controls, and other applications, and 
evaluate the impact of small business grant 
measures. 

0283 Alameda Municipal 11/29/22 $141,075.00 Cooperative Response Center; for after-
Power hours answering services for 36-month 

period through November 2025. 

0281 Truckee Donner 11/23/22 $25,227.00 Dudek; Comprehensive revision of TDPUD 
PUD Wildfire Mitigation Plan pursuant to AB 

1054 and PUC section 8387; including 
review, collection of data, and WMP 
revision. 

0280 City of Roseville 3/23/23 $282,320.00 EvapTech, Inc.; Cooling tower maintenance, 
rehabilitation and parts supply at Roseville 
Electric Utility generation facilities during 
outage. 

3 

5/17/2023 ckb 



SSPA CONFIRMATIONS EXECUTED/WORK lN PROGRESS 

No. Member Name Date AmountNTE Vendor Name & Short Description 

0277 City of Lodi 9/28/22 $156,460.00 Electric Power Systems International, Inc.; 
Specialized electrical services as identified 
in 9/26/22 letter addressed to Lodi. 

0276 City of Palo Alto 10/21/22 $10,383.00 Dudek; Review and provide assessment of 
2023 Wildfire Mitigation Plan and report 
findings. 

0275 Alameda Municipal 10/21/22 $46,675.00 Utility Financial Solutions; for Electric Cost 
Power of Service Study. 

0274 City of Roseville 9/27/22 $67,900.00 EES Consulting; for Cost of Service analysis 
including four primary tasks incl. developing 
a 10-year financial model that feeds directly 
to a COSA model, customize a COSA model 
including analysis of all financial, load, and 
rate inputs, develop a rate design model and 
alternatives, and develop a line extension 
model for new development in the City. 

0270 City of Lompoc 1/1/23 $125,000.00 Power Engineers, Inc.; provide system 
impact study for new development projects 
and other engineering services within Scope 
included in NCPA agreement. 

0269 City of Lodi 10/18/22 $281,460.00 Cooperative Response Center, Inc.; after-
hours answering services for Lodi Electric 
and Lodi Public Works departments for 
three-year period. 

0268 City of Roseville 2/1/23 $687,492.00 Precision lceblast Corporation; HRSG Deep 
cleaning for two units, including scaffolding, 
Confined Space rescue team for work onsite 
for planned April outage. 

0267 City of Redding 10/5/22 $13,292.95 Dudek; Wildfire Mitigation Plan review, 

Amd. 3/2/23 secondary review, and in-person 
presentation to Redding Council. 

0266 City of Healdsburg 9/20/22 $27,995.00 Dee's Design Box; graphic design services 
for various projects including bill inserts, 
direct mail flyers, and as requested and 
included in contract's scope of work. 

4 

5/17/2023 ckb 



SSPA CONFIRMATIONS EXECUTED/WORK IN PROGRESS 

No. Member Name Date AmountNTE Vendor Name & Short Description 

0262 Port of Oakland 9/28/22 $34,675.00 Black & Veatch; perform engineering and 
substation support including analysis and 
review of diagrams and other information 
for assistance with distribution planning. 

0258 Alameda Municipal 6/6/22 $46,390.00 Dee's Design Box; Graphic design services 
Power including branding package development, 

document creation including newsletters, 
bill inserts, online ads, and information 
sheets for FY23. 

0257 Truckee Donner 7/1/22 $60,000.00 iParametrics; Grant writing services. 
PUD 

0256 Alameda Municipal 8/3/22 $55,377.00 ADM Associates, Inc.; EM&V study on two 
Power of AMP's energy efficiency programs, 

Energy Plus and EAP Plus for FY2020 and 
2021. 

0253 City of Palo Alto 7/26/22 $29,250.00 D+R International; provide network access 
via Qmerit to EV vetted local contractors 
able to install EV chargers and conduct 
electric panel upgrades. Online process 
allows customers to obtain bids for 
consideration. Including White Label 
Package with standard reporting. {No actual 
installation included in the services.) 

0251 City of Santa Clara 5/3/22 $42,720.00 Cameron-Cole LLC; perform verification 
services for Calendar years 2021-2023 CARB 
Greenhouse Gas emissions and Electric 
Power Entity reports for compliance with 
mandatory reporting. 

0249 City of Lodi 7/21/22 $92,170.00 Central Coast Energy Services, Inc.; income 
verification and recertification services for 
financial rate assistance programs and other 
income qualified customer programs 
through FY25. 

5 

5/17/2023 ckb 



SSPA CONFIRMATIONS EXECUTED/WORK IN PROGRESS 

No. Member Name Date AmountNTE Vendor Name & Short Description 

0246 Port of Oakland 2/3/22 $78,706.00 Aspen Environmental; perform a Utilities 
Rate Study to provide analysis of the 
current rate input information and what 
level of full rate study could be needed. 

0245 City of Pa lo Alto 3/23/22 $44,825.00 Cool the Earth; Energy efficiency services 
including 12 online Electric Vehicle (EV) 101 
or 102 workshops and two group Buy EV 
Discount campaigns. 

0243 City of Lompoc 1/24/22 $62,500.00 Utility Financial Solutions; cost of service 
financial projection and rate design study 
for the City's utility department. 

0242 City of Redding 12/10/21 $26,645.00 Cameron-Cole LLC; verification services for 
REU power plant GHG emissions for 
compliance with the Regulation for 
mandatory CARB reporting. Services for 
emission years 2021 and 2022. 

0240 Alameda Municipal 2/23/22 $198,025.00 Frontier Energy, Inc.; Energy efficiency 
Power services including electrification and clean 

transportation courses, induction cooking 
demonstrations, commercial food service 
site audits, and work force education and 
training courses. 

0237 City of Santa Clara 9/14/21 $132,058.00 Central Coast Energy Services, Inc.; income 
eligibility and processing of applications for 
Financial Rate Assistance Program, both 
new and renewal for existing customers. 

0236 City of Santa Clara 3/1/22 $422,368.00 CLEAResult; EV charging structure technical 
assistance, electrification education, and 
electrification assessment services. 

0230 City of Santa Clara 8/30/21 $87,715.00 Frontier Energy, Inc.; Electrification and 
education services including Induction 
Cooking demonstration, online trainings, 
commercial food services site audits, and 
Guest Chef cooking classes. 

6 

5/17/2023 ckb 



SSPA CONFIRMATIONS EXECUTE-0/WORK IN PROGRESS 

No. Member Name Date AmountNTE Vendor Name & Short Description 

0229 City of Lompoc 8/2/21 $71,470.00 MFP Connect, LLC; Services re electric line 
extensions including conceptual framework, 
interviews with staff, reporting, policies, 
and development of rules and regulations. 

0225 City of Roseville 8/2/21 $167,716.00 Plug rn America; provide EV education in-
person and virtua~ events and EV advocate 
trainings; provide Dealer Incentive Program 
including training, engagement, certificate 
pricing, license fees, incentive funds, and 
program management. 

0224 City of Healdsburg 7/1/21 $ 9,394.00 HOT /SHOT Infrared Inspections Inc.; 

Amd. 5/16/23 infrared inspections of one substation and 
overhead 12kv distribution system. 

0221 City of Lompoc 6/7/21 $57,500.00 Hometown Connections, Inc.; services to 
facilitate the development of a Strategic 
Plan through HCI planning process and 
preparation of final plan document. 

0186 Alameda Municipal 9/21/20 $200,000.00 Flynn Resource Consultants, Inc.; services 

Amd. Power 7/23/21 related to electric transmission issues, grid 

2nd Amd. 
8/23/22 

planning, load levels, regulatory matters, 
litigation support, through FY23. 

0117 City of Lodi 8/22/19 $275,811.00 Burns & McDonnell; engineering design and 

Amd. 1/20/21 environmental analysis for the PG&E 
Northern San Joaquin 230 kV Transmission 
Project to be incorporated into PG&E's PEA. 

0080 City of Roseville 8/15/18 $700,000.00 Siemens Energy, Inc.; Year 5 of 5-year 

T-3000 Maintenance Program. 

0079 City of Redding 8/23/18 $740,420.00 Siemens Energy, Inc.; Year 5 of 5-year 

T-3000 Maintenance Program. 

7 

5/17/2023 ckb 



SSA CONFIRMATIONS EXECUTED A DIN PROGRESS 

(SERVICES THROUGH SCPPA CONTRACTS OR TO SCPPA MEMBERS THROUGH NCPA CONTRACTS) 

No. Member Name Date AmountNTE Vendor Name & Short Description 

0282 City of Vernon 1/23/23 $374,245.00 Ascend Analytics, LLC; provide services for 
the development of an integrated Resource 
Plan. 

0273 City of Vernon 4/13/23 $145,225.00 NewGen Strategies and Solutions, LLC; 
provide Electric Cost of Service analysis and 
Rate Design Study. 

0259 City of Burbank/ 10/26/22 $134,010.00 NewGen Strategies and Solutions, LLC; 
Burbank Water & provide Electric Cost of Service Analysis and 
Power Rate Design Recommendations. 

0250 City of Lodi 8/18/22 $52,830.00 Efficiency Services Group, LLC; provide 
"Keep Your Cool" commercial refrigeration 
program to help commercial business 
owners save energy during FY22 and FY23. 

0222 City of Santa Clara 11/15/21 $150,000.00 The Energy Federation, Inc.; create, host 
and maintain a secure eCommerce site 
(marketplace) for SVP customers to support 
current and future version of the major 
Web browser on common operating 
systems and mobile devices. 

8 

5/17/2023 ckb 



651 Commerce Drive 

Roseville, CA 95678 

phone (916) 781-3636 
fax (916) 783-7693 
web www.ncpa.com 

Commission Staff Report AGENDA ITEM NO.: 5 

Date: May 25, 2023 

To: NCPA Commission 

Subject: May 3, 2023 Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 

The attached Draft Minutes are being provided for information and to augment the oral 
Committee report. 



651 Commerce Drive 

Roseville, CA 95678 

phone (916) 781-3636 

fax (916) 783-7693 
web www.ncpa.com 

Minutes 
Date: May 4, 2023 

To: NCPA Facilities Committee 

From: Carrie Pollo 

Subject: May 3, 2023 Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 

1. Call meeting to order & Roll Call - The meeting was called to order by Committee Chair Alan 
Harbottle (Alameda) at 9: 10 am. Attending via teleconference and on-line presentation were 
Midson Hay (Alameda), Jake Carter (Gridley), Mike Brozo (Plumas-Sierra), Khaly Nguyen (Port 
of Oakland}, Nick Rossow (Redding), Monica Nguyen (Santa Clara), and Cindy Sauers (Ukiah). 
Peter Lorenz (non-voting Representative with TID) also attended via teleconference and online 
presentation. Those attending in person are listed on the attached Attendee Sign-in Sheet. 
Committee Representatives from BART, Biggs, Healdsburg, Lodi, Lompoc, Palo Alto, Shasta 
Lake and TID, . were absent. A quorum of the Committee was not established. 

PUBLIC FORUM 
No public comment. 

2. Approval of Minutes from the April 5, 2023 Facilities Committee meeting. 

Due to the lack of a quorum no formal action was taken on this item. 

3. All NCPA Facilities, Members, SCPPA- Plug In America First Amendment to MTCSA 
Staff presented background information and was seeking a recommendation for Commission 
approval of a First Amendment to the Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement with Plug In 
America for electrification education and outreach services, to extend the term of the Agreement 
for an additional two year period, for continued use by NCPA, NCPA Members, by SCPPA, and 
SCPPA Members. 

NCPA entered into a three-year MTCSA with Plug In America effective December 18, 2020, for 
an amount not to exceed $750,000. This agreement has been used by NCPA Members through 
NCPA's Support Services program. An NCPA Member has requested that the agreement be 
extended. This amendment will extend the term of the Agreement for an additional two-year 
period from the original expiration date of December 17, 2023 to a new date of December 17, 
2025. The not to exceed amount of $750,000 will remain the same through the end of the 
contract term. This enabling agreement does not commit NCPA to any expenditure of funds. At 
the time services are needed, NCPA will bid the specific scope of work consistent with NCPA 
procurement policies and procedures. NCPA has agreements in place for similar services with 
Acterra, Cool the Earth, and Electric Car Insider. 



Due to the lack of a quorum, no formal action was taken. However, the Members present at the 
meeting voiced their support of the recommendation for Commission approval authorizing the 
General Manager or his designee to enter into a First Amendment to the Multi-Task Consulting 
Services Agreement (MTCSA) with Plug In America for Electrification Education and Outreach 
Services, with any non-substantial changes recommended and approved by the NCPA General 
Counsel, to extend the term of the Agreement for an additional two year period, for continued use 
by NCPA, NCPA Members, by SCPPA, and SCPPA Members. No other meeting attendees had 
any objections or questions. This item will move forward to the next Commission Meeting 
scheduled on May 25, 2023 on the Commission Consent Calendar. 

4. All NCPA Facilities, Members, SCPPA- Everline Compliance CA, ,U.C Second 
Amendment to MTG SA - Staff presented background information; ahd was seeking a 
recommendation for Commission approval of a Second Amendment t9 the five-year Multi-Task 
General Services Agreement with Everline Compliance CA, LLC for pipeline maintenance and 
operations related services, amending Exhibits A and B t9 incJude addi.ti~nal regulatory services, 
for continued use at all facilities owned and/or operated-by NCPA, NCPAMembers, by SCPPA, 
and SCPPA Members. 

NCPA entered into a five year Multi-Task Gen~ral Services Agreement with Energy Project 
Solutions, LLC, effective June 1, 2020, to previde pip,eHne operations and maintenance services, 
for use at all NCPA, NCPA Member, SCPPA, and SCF>~A Member'facilities. Effective April 18, 
2022, NCPA and Energy Project Solutions entered into a'First Amendment, accepting 
assignment of the agreement to Everl.J,ne Compliance CA, LLC. 

It was recently determined NCPA didn't have a;compliant control -room· under our current services 
to control the Alameda pipeline. Since the ·Alameda pipeline is a DOT PHMSA regulated asset, 
NCPA can't add it to the existing LEC controJ room witho~t significantly increasing the regulatory 
requirements for NCPA and its employees. These services were previously administered by Dick 
Brown Technical Services (DBTS) as subcontracted by Energy Project Solutions (EPS), NCPA's 
previous pipeline compliance contractor. Everlir:ie has acquired both DBTS and EPS, and can 
provide these services. NCPA now desires to enter into a Second Amendment to the Multi-Task 
General Services Agreement amending Exhibits f!.. . ahd B to add these required regulatory control 
room services. The not to exceedamolJnt of $1,000,000 will remain the same through the end of 
the contract-terQ1. This enabling agreement does not commit NCPA to any expenditure of funds. 
At the time services are needed~ NCPA will bid the specific scope of work consistent with NCPA 
procurement policies and procedures. NCPA does not have any other agreements for similar 
services at this time. 

Due to the lack of a quorun:,, no formal action was taken. However, the Members present at the 
meeting voiced their suppo'rt of the recommendation for Commission approval authorizing the 
General Manag~r or his designee to enter into a Second Amendment to the Multi-Task General 
Services Agreement with Everline Compliance CA, LLC for pipeline operations and maintenance 
services, with any non-substantial changes recommended and approved by the NCPA General 
Counsel, amending Exhibits A and B to add required regulatory services, for continued use at 
any facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, NCPA Members, by SCPPA, and SCPPA 
Members. No other meeting attendees had any objections or questions. This item will move 
forward to the next Commission Meeting scheduled on May 25, 2023 on the Commission 
Consent Calendar. 

5. All NCPA Facilities, Members, SCPPA- Aspen Environmental Group MTCSA- Staff 
presented background information and was seeking a recommendation for Commission approval 
of a five-year Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement with Aspen Environmental Group for 

Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 

May 3, 2023 

2 



energy related consulting services, with a not to exceed amount of $1,000,000, for use at all 
facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, NCPA Members, by SCPPA, and SCPPA Members. 

This is an existing NCPA vendor. The current agreement with Aspen Environmental is expiring. 
An NCPA Member has expressed an interest in using this vendor in the future. NCPA desires to 
enter into this agreement so established terms and conditions are in place should this vendor be 
the successful bidder on future purchases. This enabling agreement does not commit NCPA to 
any expenditure of funds. At the time services are needed, NCPA will bid the specific scope of 
work consistent with NCPA procurement policies and procedures. NCPA has similar agreements 
in place with Kano Consultants, Geosyntec Consultants, Inc., EGS Consulting, Inc., and Risk 
Management Professionals, Inc. 

Due to the lack of a quorum, no formal action was taken. However, the Members present at the 
meeting voiced their support of the recommendation for Commission approval authorizing the 
General Manager or his designee to enter into a Multi-Task·'consulting:Ser.vices Agreement with 
Aspen Environmental Group for energy related consulting services, with any non-substantial 
changes recommended and approved by the NCPA General·Counsel, which shall not exceed 
$1,000,000 over five years, for use at any facilities owned and/or operated by ~CPA, NCPA 
Members, by SCPPA and SCPPA Members. No.other meeting attendees had any objections or 
questions. This item will move forward to the next Commission Meeting scheduled on May 25, 
2023 on the Commission Consent Calendar. 

6. NCPA Geothermal Facility - 2023 Stfam Field Operation~ Forecast Report - Staff presented 
background information and was seeking ~ recommendation for Commission approval of the 2023 
Steam Field Operations Forecast Report,- :including approval regarding the market power price at 
which to curtail the load at the NCPA Geothermal facilities, as the Geothermal Operating Protocol 
effective July 1, 2023, and remaining in effect until replaced by the Commission. 

The 2022 Operating Protocol for NCPA's Geothermal Facility used a two-zone strategy with wells 
on the west side of the NCPA lease producing to Plant #1, Units #1 and #2, while the wells on the 
east side of the NCPA iease prdduced to Plant #2; Unit #4. The 2022 Protocol allowed for 
reduction of load under the economic conditions listed below. 

• Day Ahead Market Prices are a minimum of negative $25 per MWh. 
• The lev~l of curtailment will be limited to 45 MW with discretion to adjust this level 

based on the steam fi~ld response. 
• Duration of the curtailment is to be a minimum of 4 hours. 
• Curtailments are limited to once per calendar day. 

In 2023, the ·recommended Operating Protocol is to continue using the two-zone strategy, and 
operate Plants #1 and #2 ·at baseload conditions with the goal of maximizing generation. To 
clarify the criteria.for any reduction in generating load, the following economic conditions are 
introduced into the 2023 Geothermal Operating Protocol. 

• Curtailing generation is an option that may occur only when the Day Ahead Market 
Prices are a minimum of negative $25 per MWh and Net of the Renewable Energy 
Credit (REC) value. 

• The level of curtailment will be limited to 45 MW with discretion to adjust this level 
based on the steam field response. 

• Duration of the curtailment is to be a minimum of 4 hours. 
• Curtailments are limited to once per calendar day. 

This Protocol establishes a 2023 annual peak generation target of 101.5 gross MW. 

Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 

May 3, 2023 

3 



Due to the lack of a quorum, no formal action was taken. However, the Members present at the 
meeting voiced their support of the recommendation for Commission approval authorizing the 
2023 Steam Field Operations and Forecast Report dated May 2023 as the Geothermal Operating 
Protocol effective July 1, 2023. This Operating Protocol is to remain in effect until replaced by the 
Commission. No other meeting attendees had any objections or questions. This item will move 
forward to the next Commission Meeting scheduled on May 25, 2023 on the Commission Consent 
Calendar. 

7. NCPA 2023 Wildfire Mitigation Plan - Staff is seeking a recommendation for approval of the 
NCPA 2023 Wildfire Mitigation Plan, with updated revisions based on the qualified independent 
evaluator's recommendations. 

Public Utilities Code, Division 4.1, Chapter 6 Wildfire Mitigation,-Code 8387 requires electric 
utilities to assess the risk of catastrophic wildfire posed by a utHit/s overhead electrical lines and 
equipment. In response to this requirement, NCPA created its Wildfire MiUgation Plan, to reduce 
the risk of NCPA facilities igniting wildfire, including identifying preventative maintenance 
procedures and practices. The NCPA Wildfire Mitigation Plan was approved in the December 5, 
2019 Commission Meeting. Annual independent ~v~luations of the Wildfire Mitigation Plan were 
conducted in 2020, 2021 and 2022, with minor revi_sions to the. plan. Each revision has been 
approved in annual Commission Meetings. 

NCPA contracted with Dudek, a qualified independent evaluat9r with experience in assessing the 
safe operation of electrical infrastructure, to complete the statutorily required three-year revision 
and assess the comprehensiveness of the Wildfire Mitigation Pl~m. The independent evaluator 
issued a report (attached as an appendix tc>'the Wildfire Mitigation.Plan) stating that NCPA's 
Wildfire Mitigation Plan appropriately addr~ssed aH elements required under CPUC Section 8387 
(b) (2) and WSAB 2022 recommendations. The independent evaluation and report were 
completed April 27, 2023. 

NCPA is now seeking Commission approval of the NCPA 2023 Wildfire Mitigation Plan, to 
include the recommended revisi9ns provided by the qualified independent evaluator, revise the 
Wildfire Mitigation Plan from Version 1.3 to 2.0 to reflect the three year required update, and post 
the Wildfire Mitigation Plan 2.0 'to the NCJ:lA Website. 

Due to the lack of a· quorum, no formal action was taken. However, the Members present at the 
meeting voiced their support of the recommendation for Commission approval of the NCPA 2023 
Wildfire Mitigation Plan, vyith updated revisions based on the qualified independent evaluator's 
recommendations and Wildfire Safety Advisory Board (WSAB) 2022 recommendations. No other 
meeting attendees had any objections or questions. This item will move forward to the next 
Commission Meeting scheduled on May 25, 2023 on the Commission Consent Calendar. 

8. City of Lodi Sche~uling Coordinator Agreement - Staff is seeking a recommendation for 
Commission approval of a Scheduling Coordinator Agreement between NCPA and the City of 
Lodi, for the purpose of scheduling the Lodi Strategic Reserve Project (Resource ID 
LODl25_6_ERKNG1 ). 'lrltThis item was pulled from the agenda and will be brought back to a 
future meeting.* 

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 

9. New Business Opportunities - Staff provided an update regarding new business opportunities. 

NCPA Project Development (PPA) - Zero Waste Energy Development (ZWED) 
• SB 1383 Compliance Goal 

Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 

May 3, 2023 

4 



• 1.6 MW LF Gas - Existing Facility 
• Participants: Santa Clara and Palo Alto 
• Products: Energy, RPS, RA 
• Term: 10 Year Term 
• Operations: Seller to act as Scheduling Coordinator 
• Price: TBD 
• Negotiation Status: Active 

Scheduling Coordinator Services - City of Lodi Strategic Reserve - Lodi is working with 
CDWR to install additional capacity in support of a State Strategic Reserve Program. This would 
be a 48+ MW natural gas facility operated by Enchanted Rock. NCPA!s · r9le would be to act as 
the Schedule Coordinator for the facility interconnected with the City of Lodi. This facility is to only 
be dispatched under limited circumstances such as CAISO system emergency (EEA 1, EEA2, and 
EEA3) in response to a local transmission emergency. The goal oft~is project is to be operational 
in the summer of 2023. Staff is now developing a Scheduling CoordinatcirAgreement with Lodi. 

Geysers Geothermal - Next Steps 
• Project Participation Percentage Transfer Deadline 

• Deadline: April 30, 2023 
• Next Steps: 

• All assignments have been fully executed 
• NCPA to seek Commission approval of amend~d Appendix A to incorporate Table 3 

10. NCPA Inter-Agency Resource Plan (IARP) Update - Staff prQvided an informational update 
regarding the development of the NCPAIARP. · 

• Short Term Goals 2021-2026 
• Identify Member's common needs ( existing load and Member owned resources) 
• Conceptual plans of transition perio~s (effects of electrification and EV charging) 
• Proposal ' & Economic Evaluation ( considering effects of temperature increase and 

increasing transmission costs) 
■ Project Deliverables Sche,dule (Ascend) 

• 3/2 - NCPA Background, Assumptions & Purpose 
• 3/9 "'.'."" Energy & Pe.ak Demand Forecasts (Pooling Member review of Load forecasts) 
• 3/16 ~ Resources &papacity (Pooling Member review of Resources) 
• 4/28 - Load..;. Resource Balance (Pooling Member review) 
• 5/11 - Planni'1g Scenario and Recommendations 
·~ 5/23 - Conclusion 
• 5/30 - Executive Summary 

Please direct any qtJestions to James Mearns with NCPA or Brandon Mauch with Ascend 
Analytics. 

11. NCPA Generation Services Plant Updates - Plant Staff provided the Committee an update on 
current plant activities and conditions. 

CTs - CT1 had 16 starts (7 ghost and 9 actual) of 6 forecasted. FYTD total is 120 starts. 
Alameda Units 1 & 2 were dispatched in the Day Ahead market. CT2 had O starts of 0 
forecasted. FYTD total is 21 starts. 
• Outages 

• CT1 Lodi - On 4/20/23 @1443 64B Utility Ground Fault Relay. Crews were 
dispatched and began troubleshooting. Found 13.8Kv bus cable to Aux transformer, 

Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 

May 3, 2023 

5 



"B" phase is bad. On 5/24/23 RFP went out to three electrical contractors, on 5/26 
one contractor responded, quote on hand for the work. Unit forced out thru 5/15/23. 

• CT1 Alameda - U1/U2 -The NERC PRC-006 testing outage scheduled for 5/15/23-
5/17/23 was cancelled due to PG&E unable to support those dates. New outage dates 
are 6/5/23 - 6/7 /23. 

• CT2 STIG - Outage is complete and unit is back in service. 
■ CT1 Lodi Run Hours 

• YTD hours 16.5 of 200 Allowed (based on calendar year) 
■ CT1 Alameda Diesel Hours 

• U 1 = 5.27 hrs. of 20 (based on rolling year) 
• U2= 5.80 hrs. of 20 (based on rolling year) 

■ Safety and Environmental · 
• No Safety issues to report. 
• DOT Pipeline and Hazardous Material Safety Admlnistration (PHMSA), conducted 

Alameda gas pipeline inspection 4/18-4/20. To fina1ize inspection, DOT inspector needs 
to witness main gas shutoff for pipeline. 

■ FY 20203 Encumbrance Update 
• The CT1 Excitation upgrade is complete, NCPA has paid $919,530.54 and the controls 

upgrade will need to be carried over into FY 2024. Controls estimated _cost will be around 
$255,000. 

• All other outstanding projects have been reqeived and paid. 
■ Staff reviewed the CAISO Commitment Runs for April 2023. 

Geo - There was one safety incident to report for the month of-April due to an accidental H2S 
release. Safety training was done after thi,s inci9ent, which is now 56% complete for the year. Cal 
Fire Konocti is staging and starting vegetation management at the· Geo Facilities. The average 
net generation level for April was 7 4 MW. Total average net generation was 53.3 GWh. The FY 
2023 net generation goal is 734 GWh. Currehtly FY 2023 actual net generation is 577.8 GWh 
YTD at 4.8% under the foreca_sted net generation YTD. Unit 1 is currently still out of service. The 
return to service is TBD. Basket strainer material was found inside the turbine. Bids were 
received to open, clean, and inspect the turbine. Inspections were conducted on the Plant 1 and 
2 cooling towers. · 

Hydro - The Hydro project continues with heavy generation schedules. Collierville ( CV) Power 
House was at 99% availability· and New Spicer Meadows (NMS) Power House was at 92% 
av,aiJability during the ~onth of April. April precipitation was 0.1 inches based on the 5 - Station 
Index{ Precipitation is at 61.2 total inches, and is at 167% of average for this date. The SWC 
dropped from 237 to 191 and is at 252% of average for this date. Alpine, Union, Utica, North 
Fork, Beaver Creek and McKays Point are all currently spilling. 

Staff provided a McKays Sedimentation levels update. A February 2023 Bathymetry was 
conducted to determine sedimentation impact from recent 2023 storms. It's been detected that 
there is sediment movement into critical zones of the Hydro facilities including the cofferdam, 
power tunnel intake, fishery facilities and McKays Dam. There has been no overall net reservoir 
accumulation since 2018- 518,000 to 460,000 cubic yards. The multi-beam scanning technology 
effectively shows advancement, scouring, and densification of the loose vegetative deposits. 
Staff will develop methods for a more frequent survey regime, and a sediment response plan. 

• New Spicer Meadows Reservoir Storage 
• 12, 191 acre feet increase (20%) month-over-month 
• 62,481 acre feet to 74,672 acre feet 

• High snow water content and forecasted spill 
• Optimizing stored water 

Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 

May 3, 2023 

6 



• Flushing flows completed on 4/8/2023 
• Anticipate elevated drafts based on required flushing flows, likelihood of Spicer 

spill, tailwater management, and market conditions 
• Monitoring snowpack, water rights, runoff, and market 

Current Events 
• Projects 

• 
• 
• 
• 
• 

• 

USGS approved the 2021-2022 Water Year Record 
Continued FEMA/OES damage coordination 
Monthly CCWD coordination meetings 
Commencing preparatory work on all approved FY 2024 projects 
Base mapping underway for Clarks Creek along CV PH 

- Detailed design out for proposals 
230 KV T-line vegetation management commencing 

- Work is bidding 

12. Planning and Operations Update 

Resource Integrations In Progress 
• 
• 

• 
• 
• 

City of Lodi Strategic Reserve - June 2023 
Dagget Solar I Storage - 03 2023 

- Solar Summer 2023 
BESS Fall 2023 

Scarlet Solar / Storage - 03 2023 
West Tambe Solar - 03 2023 
Proxima Solar/ Storage - 01 2024 

- Summer 2023 Readiness -A coordination meeting with CAISO on May 9. NCPA activities 
include review and confirmation of Member contact information, review and validation of 
operating procedures, updated Dispatch and SC training for emergency operations, discuss 
emergency operations with Members, and further coordination with CAISO. 
Meter Maintenance Program - Next steps include confirming Member contacts, developing 
a project schedule for the Member meter maintenance per site and/or device, and implanting 
internal procedures for the administration of the Meter Maintenance Program. 

13. Next Meeting - The next regular Facilities Committee meeting is scheduled for June 7, 2023. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 12:05 pm by the Committee Chair. 

Facilities Committee Meeting Minutes 

May 3, 2023 

7 



Northern California Power Agency 
May 3, 2023 Facilities Committee Meeting 

Attendance List 

NCPA Facilities Committee Members, Alternates & Staff are requested to sign, but signature by 
members of the public is voluntary. 

NAME AFFILIATION 

NcPA 

AJUA 



Northern California Power Agency 
May 3, 2023 Facilities Committee Meeting 

Attendance List 

NCPA Facilities Committee Members are requested to sign, but signature by members of the public is voluntary. 

MEMBER NAME 

ALAMEDA 

BART 

BIGGS 

GRIDLEY 

HEALDSBURG 

LODI 

LOMPOC 

PALO ALTO 

PLUMAS-SIERRA REC 

PORT OF ·OAKLAND 

REDDING 

ROSEVILLE R ~'f-, ~ 
....-, l ....__ -..' ·\ ·rr~ -

SANTA CLARA 

SHASTA LAKE 

TIO 

UKIAH 



Commission Staff Report 
COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: April 30, 2023 Financial Report (unaudited) 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Consent 

FROM: Sondra Ainsworth ~ LJM~THOD OF SELECTION: 

Treasurer-Controller N/A 

Division: Administrative Services 

Department: Accounting & Finance 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members ~ City of Lodi □ City of Shasta Lake 

Alameda Municipal Power □ City of Lompoc □ City of Ukiah 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs □ City of Redding □ Port of Oakland 

City of Gridley □ City of Roseville □ Truckee Donner PUD 

City of Healdsburg □ City of Santa Clara □ Other 

If other, please specify 

SR: 163:23 

/0 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 



April 30, 2023 Financial Report (unaudited) 
May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Recommending the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) Commission approve the 
Financial Report for month ending April 30, 2023. 

NOTICE: 

The disbursements of the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) for the month reported 
herein, will be approved at the May 25, 2023 meeting of the NCPA Commission. The following 
page is a summary of those disbursements. 

Prior to the Chairman's call to order, the Assistant Secretary to the Commission will, upon 
request, make available for review the detailed listing of those disbursements. 

The report of budget vs. actual costs and the unaudited April 30, 2023 financial reports are also 
included. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

This report has no direct budget impact to the Agency. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

This activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the 
physical environment and is therefore, not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 the 
California Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary. 

Respectfully submitted, 

g~H~WAl~ 
General Manager 

Attachments: 
- April 30, 2023 Financial Report 

SR: 163:23 



NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
and ASSOCIATED POWER CORPORATIONS 

Schedule of Disbursements 
(Unaudited) 

For the Month of April 2023 

Operations: 

Geothermal $ 
Hydroelectric 

CT#1 Combustion Turbines 

CT#2 STIG 

Lodi Energy Center 

NCPA Operating 

Total $ 

2,233,098 

3,344,666 

336,735 

453,831 

15,385,478 

48,332,568 

70,086,376 



NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY PERCENT OF 
REPORT OF BUDGET VS. ACTUAL COST YEAR ELAPSED 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED APRIL 30, 2023 83% 

This Actual Year FY 2023 
Month To-Date Budget %Used 

GENERATION RESOURCES 
NCPAPlants 

Hydroelectric 
Other Plant Cost $ 1,527,698 $ 22,035,603 $ 19,702,876 112% (a) 
Debt Service (Net) 2,984,264 29,842,639 35,811,167 83% 

Annual Budget Cost 4,511,962 51,878,242 55,514,043 93% 

Geothermal 
Other Plant Cost 4,481,755 33,179,507 38,159,673 87% (b) 
Debt Service (Net) 289,443 2,894,425 3,473,310 83% 

Annual Budget Cost 4,771,198 36,073,932 41,632,983 87% 

Combustion Turbine No. 1 
Fuel 59,893 1,114,492 1,213,785 92% (c) 
Other Plant Cost 596,392 3,962,705 4,387,786 90% (d) 

Annual Budget Cost 656,285 5,077,197 5,601,571 91% 

Combustion Turbine No. 2 (Stig) 
Fuel and Pipeline Transport Charges 64,157 1,603,434 2,226,656 72% 
Other Plant Cost 172,288 2,054,995 3,050,762 67% 
Debt Service (Net) 423,655 4,236,546 5,083,855 83% 

Annual Budget Cost 660,100 7,894,975 10,361,273 76% 

Lodi Energy Center 
Fuel 553,689 120,733,321 64,819,215 186% (c) 
Other Plant Cost 4,194,299 40,525,607 46,921,420 86% 
Debt Service (Net) 2,166,350 21,663,503 25,996,203 83% 

Annual Budget Cost 6,914,338 182,922,431 137,736,838 133% 

Member Resources - Energy 8,317,761 77,870,645 63,023,618 124% (e) 
Member Resources - Natural Gas 1 2,317,968 2,474,390 94% (c) 
Western Resources 1,513,302 17,373,441 26,100,435 67% 
Market Power Purchases 3,028,866 48,631,659 35,533,176 137% (f) 
Load Aggregation Costs - CAISO 46,302,512 926,434,471 467,468,943 198% (g) 
Net GHG Obligations 3,505,120 920,891 381% (h) 

76,676,325 1,359,980,081 846,368,161 161% 

TRANSMISSION 
Independent System Operator 

Grid Management Charge 297,085 2,924,502 2,575,487 114% (i) 
Wheeling Access Charge 11,949,508 135,437,840 158,081,389 86% 
Ancillary Services 652,615 8,480,498 5,941,763 143% (j) 
Other ISO Charges/(Credits) 3,725,422 ~18, 151,407) 2,183,731 -831% (k) 

16,624,630 128,691,433 168,782,370 76% 

MANAGEMENT SERVICES 
Legislative & Regulatory 

Legislative Representation 178,781 1,529,677 2,231,485 69% 
Regulatory Representation 42,265 575,707 714,822 81% 
Western Representation 23,522 226,430 722,876 31% 
Customer Programs 40,845 412,729 614,825 67% 
Judicial Action (14,100) 495,289 460,000 108% (I) 

Power Management 
System Control & Load Dispatch 556,276 5,875,207 7,504,041 78% 
Forecasting, Planning, Prescheduling & Trading 218,308 2,278,142 3,044,442 75% 
Industry Restructuring & Regulatory Affairs 37,823 377,620 438,471 86% 
Contract Ad min, Interconnection Svcs & External Affairs 86,686 767,415 1,031,800 74% 
Gas Purchase Program 4,756 44,876 76,674 59% 
Market Purchase Project 6,785 65,102 112,143 58% 

Management Seivices continued on next page 



NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
REPORT OF BUDGET VS. ACTUAL COST 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED APRIL 30, 2023 

This Actual Year 
Month To-Date 

Energy Risk Management (38,208) 107,935 
Settlements 47,546 522,536 
Integrated Systems Support 4,003 241,424 
Participant Pass Through Costs 127,459 1,246,372 
Support Services 735,208 1,960,045 

2,057,955 16,726,506 

TOTAL ANNUAL BUDGET COST 95,358,910 1,505,398,020 

LESS: THIRD PARTY REVENUE 
Plant ISO Energy Sales 13,812,711 307,459,087 
Member Resource ISO Energy Sales 5,801,043 107,842,127 
Member Owned Generation ISO Energy Sales 11,577,608 202,002,929 
Revenue from Customers 3,739,052 85,887,034 
NCPA Contracts ISO Energy Sales 1,733,305 55,305,919 
Western Resource Energy Sales 3,280,546 14,446,056 
Load Aggregation Energy Sales 11,133,502 165,390,864 
Ancillary Services Sales 72,776 3,765,519 
Transmission Sales 18,396 91,980 
Western Credits, Interest and Other Income 7,057,260 137,984,659 

58,226,199 1,080,176,174 

NET ANNUAL BUDGET COST TO PARTICIPANTS $ 37,132,711 $ 425,221,846 $ 

(a) Increase due to higher than budgeted CA ISO energy charges which include higher than budgeted imbalance 
energy settlements. Hydro generation is at 256% of YTD budgeted MWh as of 04/30/2023. 

PERCENT OF 
YEAR ELAPSED 

83% 

FY 2023 
Budget % Used 

149,552 72% 
1,011,963 52% 

405,072 60% 
1,665,647 75% 

N/A (m) 

20,183,813 83% 

1,035,334,344 145% 

193,457,434 159% (n) 
49,954,453 216% (o) 

118,708,880 170% (o) 
N/A (p) 

34,943,730 158% (o) 
26,526,704 54% 

N/A (g) 
5,513,674 68% 

110,376 83% 
43,537,481 317% (q) 

472,752,732 228% 

562,581,612 76% 

(b) Increase due to higher than budgeted costs for contract labor and Plant 2 maintenance. Extreme weather conditions during the year 
requiring extraordinary work has been cited by the Geothermal team in a May budget augmentation request to address overages. 

(c) Increase due to higher than budgeted costs for fuel at LEC and CT 1. Gas prices have almost doubled year-over-year to average 
$1 O per mmBTU. Gas prices in winter 2022/2023 peaked at over $40 per mmBTU. 

(d) Increase due to higher than budgeted costs for CA ISO energy purchases. Costs were budgeted at approximately $486 per MWh, 
and costs are currently about $817 per MWh, a 68% YTD increase over budget. 

(e) Increase due to higher than anticipated volume of market purchases and unbudgeted purchases for members. 

(f) Increase due to higher than anticipated price per MWh for market purchases. Market purchases were budgeted at approximately 
$61 per MWh and costs are currently about $112 per MWh, an 85% YTD increase over budget. 

(g) Increase due to higher than budgeted energy purchases and unbudgeted energy sales related to CCA (Sonoma Clean Power) 
and participants. 

(h) Increased costs due to higher than expected needs for GHG Allowance Credits to offset energy imports. 

(i) Increase due to higher than anticipated grid management costs for participants and Sonoma Clean Power. 

0) Increase due to greater than expected spinning, non-spinning, reg up and down obligation settlements for the NCPA pool. 

(k) Net credit due to revenue from unbudgeted congestion revenue rights and unbudgeted real-time settlement credits. 

(I) Increase to unbudgeted outside service costs associated with GEO cotenancy litigation. 

(m) Support services includes training services, vendor services and other services to support participants as requested. 

(n) Increase due to higher than budgeted rates for CA ISO Energy Sales. 

(o) Higher revenues due to higher energy prices and higher than budgeted contract energy. 

(p) Revenue from CCA results from charges for energy purchases, grid management, and ancillary services that are billed and 
settled with customers monthly. 

(q) Increase due to higher than budgeted revenue from third party market sales, as well as the sale of resource adequacy credits. 



COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
AND ASSOCIATED POWER CORPORATIONS 

UNAUDITED 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Accounts receivable 

Participants 
Other 

Interest receivable 
Inventory and supplies 
Prepaid expenses 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 

RESTRICTED ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Interest receivable 

TOTAL RESTRICTED ASSETS 

ELECTRIC PLANT 
Electric plant in service 
Less: accumulated depreciation 

Construction work-in-progress 
TOTAL ELECTRIC PLANT 

OTHER ASSETS 
Regulatory assets 
Investment in associated company 

TOTAL ASSETS 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Excess cost on refunding of debt 
Pension and OPEB deferrals 
Asset retirement obligations 

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES 

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED 
OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

$ 

$ 

April 30 
2023 2022 

(in thousands) 

127,695 $ 30,603 
29,542 35,164 

48 
3,390 1,164 

756 704 
6,438 8,661 
8,372 4,694 

176,241 80,990 

62,005 56,576 
202,570 192,734 

99 52 

264,674 249,362 

1,602,128 1,500,092 
(1,107,468) (1,073,267) 

494,660 426,825 

1,552 
496,212 426,825 

165,241 193,927 
265 265 

1,102,,633 951,369 

913 871 
14,141 18,099 
61,659 61,784 

76,713 80,754 

1,179,346 $ 1,032,123 



COMBINED STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

AND ASSOCIATED POWER CORPORATIONS 

UNAUDITED 

LIABILITIES 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 
Member advances 
Operating reserves 
Current portion of long-term debt 
Accrued interest payable 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Net pension and OPEB liabilities 
Operating reserves and other deposits 
Interest rate swap liability 
Asset retirement obligations 
Long-term debt, net 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Regulatory credits 
Pension and OPEB deferrals 

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 
Restricted 
Unrestricted 

TOTAL NET POSITION 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS 
OF RESOURCES AND NET POSITION 

$ 

$ 

April 30 
2023 2022 

(in thousands) 

127,757 $ 42,513 
993 993 

22,112 25,846 
54,798 45,450 
11,278 8,662 

216,938 123,464 

30,112 62,959 
157,388 148,564 

70,990 69,420 
555,023 515,501 
813,513 796,444 

1,030,451 919,908 

95,272 87,411 
19,950 2,187 

115,222 89,598 

(109,937) (117,489) 
51,910 42,978 
91,700 97,128 

33,673 22,617 

1,179,346 $ 1,032,123 



COMBINED STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES 

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

AND ASSOCIATED POWER CORPORATIONS 

UNAUDITED 

OPERATING REVENUES 

Participants 

Other Third-Party 

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Purchased power 
Operations 
Transmission 
Depreciation 
Maintenance 
Administrative and general 

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 

NET OPERA TING REVENUES 

NON OPERATING (EXPENSES) REVENUES 
Interest expense 
Interest income 
Other 

TOTAL NON OPERATING EXPENSES 

FUTURE RECOVERABLE AMOUNTS 

REFUNDS TO PARTICIPANTS 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION 

NET POSITION, Beginning of year 

NET POSITION, Period ended 

$ 

$ 

For the Ten Months Ended April 30, 
2023 2022 

(in thousands) 

547,958 $ 424,381 

474,158 297,498 

1,022,116 721,879 

531,119 336,815 
181,611 117,121 
195,115 172,769 
25,455 25,191 
30,104 21,696 
23,973 24,319 

987,377 697,911 

34,739 23,968 

(17,184) (20,075) 
18,042 977 
97,979 10,022 
98,837 (9,076) 

(20,910) (16,058) 

(95,690) (3,845) 

16,976 (5,011) 

16,697 27,628 

33,673 $ 22,617 



OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

AND ASSOCIATED POWER CORPORATIONS 

(000's omitted) 

ASSETS 

CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Investments 
Accounts receivable 

Participants 
Other 

Interest receivable 
Inventory and supplies 
Prepaid expenses 
Due from Agency and other programs* 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 

RESTRICTED ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Interest receivable 

TOTAL RESTRICTED ASSETS 

ELECTRIC PLANT 
Electric plant in service 
Less: accumulated depreciation 

Construction work-in-progress 
TOTAL ELECTRIC PLANT 

OTHER ASSETS 
Regulatory assets 
Investment in associated company 

TOTAL ASSETS 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Excess cost on refunding of debt 
Pension and OPEB deferrals 
Asset retirement obligations 

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

TOTAL ASSETS AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

• Eliminated in Combination 

Geothennal 

$ - $ 

139 
1,495 

390 
12,839 
14,863 

343 
32,242 

32,585 

578,553 
(553,016) 

25,537 

25,537 

72,985 

338 

61 ,290 
61,628 

$ 134,613 $ 

GENERATING & TRANSMISSION RESOURCES 

Multiple 
Capital CT 

H~droelectric Facilities No. One 

- $ I $ l $ 

178 
1,593 323 392 
1,021 59 76 

15,176 3,226 3,726 
17,968 3,609 4,195 

4,965 I 
53,319 3,600 

11 

58,295 3,601 

395,627 65,470 38,100 
(308,025) ~59,054) p5,54Il 

87,602 6,416 2,559 

87,602 ___M_]_L_ 2,559 

95,821 

259,686 13,626 6,754 

173 
173 

259,686 $ 13,799 $ 6,754 $ 

April 30, 2023 

Purchased Associated 
Lodi Transmission Power& Member Other 

EnerID'. Center No. One Transmission Services A~enc~ Combined 

164 $ - $ - $ 675 $ 126,854 $ 127,695 
29,542 29,542 

48 48 
2,241 1,149 3,390 

28 82 (1) 330 756 
2,635 6,438 

951 42 5,833 8,372 
18,372 {806) 9,931 (62,464) 
22,150 I 517 10,647 101,292 176,241 

12,568 28,782 15,346 62,005 
35,649 17,666 60,094 202,570 

88 99 
48,305 46,448 75,440 2~,674 

447,459 7,736 61 ,427 1,119 6,637 1,602,128 
(!36,028~ (7,736) ~2,803l (785) (4,4801 ( I, I 07,468) 
311,431 58,624 334 2,157 494,660 

1,552 1,552 

311,431 58,624 334 3,709 496,21 2 

29,242 40,178 165,241 
265 265 

411,128 106,589 10,981 220,884 1,102,633 

575 913 
14,141 14,141 

196 61 ,659 
771 14,141 76,713 

411,899 $ $ 106,589 $ 10,981 $ 235,025 $ 1,179,346 



OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

AND ASSOCIATED POWER CORPORATIONS 

(000's omitted) 
April 30, 2023 

GENERATING & TRANSMISSION RESOURCES 

Multiple Purchased Associated 

Capital CT Lodi Power& Member Other 

Geothermal Hydroelectric Facilities No. One Ener~ Center Transmission Transmission Se1vices Agency Combined 

LIABILITIES 

CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 269 $ 245 $ - $ 1 $ 2 $ $ 26,436 $ - $ 100,804 $ 127,757 

Member advances 791 202 993 

Operating reserves 1,191 250 617 3,450 16,604 22,112 

Current portion of long-term debt 3,360 27,275 4,625 13,842 5,696 54,798 

Accrued interest payable 38 2,845 82 8,313 11 ,278 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 5,649 30,615 5,324 3451 38,761 32,132 202 100,804 216,938 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Net pension and OPEB liability 30,112 30,112 

Operating reserves and other deposits 1,500 28,601 712 48,885 2,028 75,662 157,388 

Asset retirement obligations 70,621 173 196 70,990 

Long-term debt, net 3,425 176,788 5,932 315,950 52,928 555,023 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 75,546 205,389 6,105 316,858 101,813 2,028 105,774 813,513 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 81,195 236,004 11,429 3,451 355,619 133,945 2,230 206,578 1,030,451 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Regulatory credits 39,223 8,531 1,364 2,762 38,368 334 4,690 95,272 

Pension and OPEB deferrals 19,950 19,950 

TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 39,223 8,53_1 _ __ 1,364 2,762 ___ 3_8,368 334 24,640 115,222 

NETPOSmON 
Net investment in capital assets 19,091 (118,981) (4,837) (5,210) (109,937) 
Restricted 2,700 23,035 3,519 12,992 9,664 51,910 

Unrestricted (7,596~ 111,097 2,324 541 10,130 (37,020) 8,417 3,807 91,700 
TOTAL NET POSITION 14,195 15,151 1,006 541 17,912 (27,356) 8,417 3,807 33,673 
TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS 
OF RESOURCES AND NET POSmON $ 134,613 $ 259,686 $ 13,799 $ 6,754 $ 411 ,899 $ - $ 106,589 $ 10,981 $ 235,025 $ 1,179,346 



OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

AND ASSOCIATED POWER CORPORATIONS 

(000's omitted) 
For the Ten Months Ended Ap_ril 30, 2023 

GENERATING & TRANSMISSION RESOURCES 

OPERATING REVENUES 

Participants 

Other Third-Pa1fy 

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Purchased power 
Operations 
Transmission 
Depreciation 
Maintenance 
Administrative and general 
Intercompany (sales) purchases, net* 

TOTAL OPERA TING EXPENSES 

NET OPERA TING REVENUES 

NON OPERATING (EXPENSES) REVENUES 
Interest expense 
Interest income 
Other 

TOTAL NON OPERA TING (EXPENSES) REVENUES 

FUTURE RECOVERABLE AMOUNTS 

REFUNDS TO PARTICIPANTS 
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION 

NET POSITION, Beginning of year 

NET POSITION, Period ended 

* Eliminated in Combination 

Geothennal 

(28,744) 

64,261 

35,517 

927 
15,926 

207 
3,208 

12,091 
5,748 

612) 

37,495 

{1,978) 

(317) 
3,080 

4 

22767 

(825) 

(1,675) 
{1 ,711) 

15,906 

14, 195 $ 

Hydroelectric 

(8,372) $ 

75,331 

66,959 

6,962 
4,287 

223 
7,949 

10,209 
4,094 

215 

33,939 

33,020 

(6,022) 
2,040 

6 
(3,976) 

(17,123) 

103 
12,024 

3,127 

15,151 $ 

Multiple 
Capital CT Lodi 
Facilities No. One Energy Center Transmission 

(2,042) $ 839 $ 20,695 $ $ 

2,540 3,893 165,956 

498 4,732 186,651 

425 641 7,842 
2,075 1,880 143,707 

4 6 880 
1,838 260 ll ,793 

505 1,583 5,639 

621 634 4,675 
42 73 290 

5,510 5,077 174,826 

(5,012) (345) ___ ll_,825 

35 (10,880) 

112 65 2,394 
7,682 8,024 
7,829 65 (462) 

(2,486) (476) 

(165) (1,219) 82 
166 {1 ,499) 10,969 

840 2,040 6,943 

1,006 $ 541 $ 17,912 $ - $ 

Purchased 
Power & 

Transmission 

-

542,775 

159,814 

___1Qb589 

514,322 
2,318 

193,791 

710,431 

(7,842) 

2,687 

2,687 

12,297) 
(7,452) 

(19,904) 

$ 

(27,356) $ 

Associated 
Member 
Services 

21,473 

2,363 

23,836 

11,418 
4 

96 
77 

6,161 
8 

17,748 

6,088 

700 
81,880 
82,580 

(85,750) 
2,918 

5,499 

8,417 

Other 

A~ 

1,334 $ 

1,334 

311 

2,040 

2,351 

l l ,01 7) 

6,964 
383 

7,347 

(4,769) 

1,561 

2,246 

3,807 $_ 

Combined 

547,958 

474,158 

1,022, 116 

531,119 
181,611 
195,115 
25,455 
30,104 

23 ,973 

987,377 

34,739 

(17,184) 

18,042 
97,979 
98,837 

(20,910) 

(95,6901 
16,976 

16,697 

33,673 



Status 

CURRENT 

PAST DUE: 

1 -30 

31 -60 

61 -90 

91 -120 

Over 120 Days 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY & ASSOCIATED POWER CORPORATIONS 
AGED ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

April 30, 2023 

Participant / Customer Description 

$ 

City of Burbank Vendor Services 

Calpine Geysers Effluent Adj (Mar'18 - Dec'19) 

PARTICIPANT and OTHER RECEIVABLES (net) $ 

* Denotes items paid/applied after April 30, 2023. 

AR FY 2023.xlsxApr Rpt 2023 

Amount 

3,127,456 

18,248 * 

292,665 

3,438,369 



NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
and ASSOCIATED POWER CORPORATIONS 

Schedule of Disbursements 
(Unaudited) 

For the Month of April 2023 

Operations: 

Geothermal $ 
Hydroelectric 

CT#1 Combustion Turbines 

CT#2 STIG 

Lodi Energy Center 

NCPA Operating 

Total $ 

2,233,098 

3,344,666 

336,735 

453,831 

15,385,478 

48,332,568 

70,086,376 



Commission Staff Report 
COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: Treasurer's Report for Month Ended April 30, 2023 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Consent 

FROM: Sondra Ainsworth &-lJL.METHOD OF SELECTION: 

Division: 

Treasurer-Controller 

Administrative Services 

Department: Accounting & Finance 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members IX] 

Alameda Municipal Power □ 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs □ 

City of Gridley □ 

City of Healdsburg □ 

SR: 164:23 

N/A 

City of Lodi □ City of Shasta Lake 

City of Lompoc □ City of Ukiah 

City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC 

City of Redding □ Port of Oakland 

City of Roseville □ Truckee Donner PUD 

City of Santa Clara □ Other 

If other, please specify 

\ \ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 



Treasurer's Report for Month Ended April 30, 2023 
May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Recommending the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) Commission approve the 
Treasurer's Report for April 30, 2023. 

BACKGROUND: 
In compliance with Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) policy and State of California 
Government Code Sections 53601 and 53646(b), the following monthly report is submitted for 
your information and acceptance. 

Cash -At month end cash totaled $4·14,431 of which approximately $1,685 was applicable to 
Special and Reserve Fund Deposits, $2,938 to Debt Service and $409,808 to Operations and 
other. 

The cash balance held at U.S. Bank includes outstanding checks that have not yet cleared. This 
cash balance is invested nightly in a fully collateralized (U.S. Government Securities) repurchase 
agreement. 

Investments - The carrying value of NCPA's investment portfolio totaled $409,167,738 at month 
end. The current market value of the portfolio totaled $396,498,579. 

The overall portfolio had a combined weighted average interest rate of 3.424% with a bond 
equivalent yield (yield to maturity) of 3.472%. Investments with a maturity greater than one year 
totaled $171,609,000. April maturities totaled $24,609,257 and monthly receipts totaled 
$53 million. During the month $18 million was invested. 

Funds not required to meet annual cash flow are reinvested and separately reported as they 
occur. 

Interest Rates - During the month, rates on 90-day T-Bills increased 28 basis points from 4.87% 
to 5.15% and rates on one-year T-Bills increased 14 basis points from 4.58% to 4.72%. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief, all securities held by NCPA as of April 30, 2023 are in 
compliance with NCPA's investment policy. There are adequate cash flow and investment 
maturities to meet next month's cash requirements. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

This report has no direct budget impact to NCPA. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

This activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the physical 
environment and is therefore not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary. 

~ spectfully submitted, 

RA~ H~wl~ 
General Manager 

Attachment: Treasurer's Report April 30, 2023 

SR: 164:23 



NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

TREASURER'S REPORT 

APRIL 30, 2023 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

CASH & INVESTMENT BALANCE 

CASH ACTIVITY SUMMARY 

INVESTMENT ACTIVITY SUMMARY 

INTEREST RATE/YIELD ANALYSIS 

INVESTMENT MATURITIES ANALYSIS 

DETAIL REPORT OF INVESTMENTS 

PAGE 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

APPENDIX 



NCPAFUNDS 
Operating $ 
Special Deposits 
Debt Service 
Special & Reserve 

$ 

Northern California Power Agency 
Treasurer's Report 

Cash & Investment Balance 
April 30, 2023 

CASH INVESTMENTS 

396,151 $ 191,602,887 
13,657 

2,938 53,028,642 
1,685 164,536,209 

414,431 $ 409,167,738 

$ 

$ 

Portfolio Investments at Market Value $ 

NOTE A - Investment amounts shown at book carrying value. 

1 

TOTAL PERCENT 

191,999,038 46.88% 
13,657 0.00% 

53,031,580 12.95% 
164,537,894 40.17% 
409,582,169 100.00% 

396,498,579 



OPS/CONSTR 
NCPAFUNDS 

Northern California Power Agency 
Treasurer's Report 

RECEIPTS 
INTEREST 
(NOTED) 

Cash Activity Summary 
April 30, 2023 

INVESTMENTS 
(NOTEA} OPS/CONSTR 

EXPENDITURES 
INVESTMENTS INTER-COMP ANY/ 

(NOTED) FUND TRANSFERS 

CASH 
INCREASE/ 
(DECREASE) 

Operating $ 50,610,686 $ 657,299 $ 23,426,507 $ (36,735,552) $ (3,586,991) $ (34,545,733) $ (173,784) 
Special Deposits 2,766,493 (24,468,186) 21,701,806 113 
Debt Service 1 367 (8,878,689) 8,876,681 (1,640) 
Special & Reserve 286,045 1,182,383 (5,435,674) 3,967,246 

$ 53,377,179 $ 943,345 $ 24,609,257 $ {61,203,738~ $ (17,901,354) $ $ (175,311) 

NOTE A -Investment amounts shown at book carrying value. 

NOTE B -Net of accrued interest purchased on investments. 

2 



Northern California Power Agency 
Treasurer's Report 

Investment Activity Summary 
April 30, 2023 

(NON-CASH) 
DISC/(PREM) 

AMORT 

(NON-CASH) INVESTMENTS 

NCPAFUNDS 
Operating 
Special Deposits 
Debt Service 
Special & Reserve 

Less Non- Cash Activity 

PURCHASED 

$ 3,586,991 

8,878,689 
5,435,674 

$ 17,901,354 

SOLD OR 
MATURED 

$ (23,426,507) 

(367) 
(1, 182,383) 

$ (24,609,257) 

Disc/(Prem) Amortization & Gain/(Loss) on Sale 

Net Change in Investment --Before Non-Cash Activity 

NOTE A-Investment amounts shown at book carrying value. 

$ 

$ 

3 

------------GAIN/ (LOSS) INCREASE/ 

(1,438) $ 

178,551 
14,179 

191,292 $ 

ON SALE TRANSFERS (DECREASE) 

$ $ 

(154) 
(154) $ $ 

$ 

(19,840,954) 

9,056,873 
4,267,316 

(6,516,765) 

(191,138) 

(6,707,903) 



OVERALL COMBINED 

OPERA TING FUNDS: 

PROJECTS: 
Geothermal 
Capital Facilities 
Hydroelectric 
Lodi Energy Center 

KEY INTEREST RA TES 

Fed Fds (Overnight) 
T-Bills (90da.) 
Agency Disc (90da.) 
T-Bills (lyr.) 
Agency Disc (lyr.) 
T-Notes (3yr.) 

Northern California Power Agency 
Interest Rate/Yield Analysis 

April 30, 2023 

PRIOR 

CURRENT YEAR 

4.83% 0.33% 
5.15% 0.85% 
5.04% 1.00% 
4.72% 2.03% 
4.71% 2.18% 
3.74% 2.79% 

4 

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE BOND 
INTEREST EQUIVALENT 

RATE YIELD 

3.424% 3.472% 

3.477% 3.454% 

2.148% 2.234% 
4.728% 4.896% 
3.756% 3.926% 
3.623% 3.679% 

INTEREST RATES 

5.50 

5.00 f-:::;.-:.:.~;~~~;i~~~~-=-:.:.~====::..:::..~~ 4.50 .,_ 
4.00 
3.50 
3.00 
2.50 
2.00 
1.50 
1.00 i------~----.-------,-------,-, -----. 

Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar 

- T-Bills (90 days) --FED FUNDS 

- T-Bills (1 yr) - T-Notes (3 yr) 



0-7 

Trl!e Days 

US Government Agencies $ 
Corporate Bonds (MTN) 550 
Municipal Bonds 
US Bank Trust Money Market 4 
Money Market Mutual Funds 7,667 
Commercial Paper 25 
Investment Trusts (LAIF) 51 
Investment Trusts (CAMP) 158,334 
U.S.Treasury Market Acct.* 724 
U.S. Treasury Bill/Note 
Certificates of Deposit 
Total Dollars $ 167,355 
Total Percents 40.77% 

Northern California Power Agency 
Total Portfolio 

Investment Maturities Analysis 
April 30, 2023 

8-90 91-180 181-270 271-365 

Days Days Days Days 
1-5 

Years 

$ 47,419 $ 3,213 $ 500 $ 1,300 $ 63,698 
1,500 500 500 2,068 68,649 
2,640 4,300 1,000 24,185 

6,017 37 2,670 
10 500 

$57,586 $8,513 $2,037 $ 3,368 $159,202 
14.03% 2.07% 0.50% 0.82% 38.79% 

Investments are shown at Face Value, in thousands. 

6-10 

Years Total 

$ 9,747 $ 125,877 
73,767 

2,660 34,785 
4 

7,667 
25 
51 

158,334 
724 

8,724 
510 

$12,407 $ 410,468 
3.02% 100.00% 

* The cash balance held at US Bank includes outstanding checks that have not yet cleared. This cash balance is invested nightly in a fully 
collateralized (U.S. Government Securities) repurchase agreement. Cash held by US Bank is invested nightly in fully collateralized U.S. 
Treasury Securities. 

001¼ 

0.01% 

1.87% 

Portfolio Composition 

2.13% 

0.00% 8.47% 

• US Government Agencies • Corporate Bonds (MTN} Municipal Bonds 

■ US Bank Trust Money Market ■ Money Market Mutual Funds ■ Commercial Paper 

• Investment Trusts (LAIF) ■ Investment Trusts (CAMP} ■ U.S.Treasury Market Acct. * 

• U.S.Treasury Bill/Note ■ Certificates of Deposit 

5 

Percent 

30.67% 
17.97% 

8.47% 
0.00% 
1.87% 
0.01% 
0.01% 

38.57% 
0.18% 
2.13% 
0.12% 

100.00% 



Note: 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

Detail Report Of Investments 

APPENDIX 

This appendix has been prepared to comply with 

Government Code section 53646. 



, .NCPA 
1·r_wrP...,t-'llf09'~0J. ,,.,.,ffl ,fiftfl'lt" 

Operating 

Issuer 

US Bank, N.A. 

First American Funds 

Local Agency lnvestm 

First American Govt. 

US Bank 

US Bank 

California Asset Mgm 

Hershey Company 

Commonwealth of Mass 

US Bank 

JP Morgan 

Federal Farm Credit 

American Honda Finan 

East Side Union High 

CA St Dept of Wt.r Re 

US Bank, N.A. 

State of Louisiana 

Nashville Met Gov 

City of Phoenix AZ 

Wisconsin Dept Trans 

Met Life Glob Fundin 

East Side Union High 

Federal National Mtg 

JP Morgan 

Toyota Motor Credit 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Cisco Systems Inc. 

Federal Farm Credit 

United Health Group 

Bank of America Corp 

Met Govt Nashville & 

San Diego CA Unif Sc 

MassMutual Global Fu 

County of Bexar TX 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

JP Morgan 

Bank of America Corp 

Caterpillar Financia 

John Deere Capital C 

0SI03/Z0Z3 3:45 pm 

Trustee/ Custodian 

USB 

USB 

LAIF 

USBGC 

USB 

USB 

CMP 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USB 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

UBOC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

Stated Value 

25,000 

7,667,000 

51,330 

15,868 

396,151 

0 

118,673,065 

500,000 

500,000 

10,000 

500,000 

200,000 

185,000 

500,000 

600,000 

500,000 

260,000 

500,000 

500,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

250,000 

500,000 

375,000 

1,000,000 

102,000 

1,100,000 

500,000 

1,700,000 

250,000 

250,000 

500,000 

100,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

750,000 

500,000 

500,000 

Northern California Power Agency 

Treasurer's Report 

Interest 
Rate 

2.500 

4.606 

2.697 

4.610 

0.001 

0.010 

4.730 

3.375 

0.508 

0.048 

3.875 

5.125 

0.550 

0.820 

0.560 

2.800 

0.697 

0.610 

0.959 

0.774 

0.950 

0.940 

0.650 

0.825 

0.700 

0.500 

2.500 

2.950 

0.800 

1.150 

1.250 

1.181 

1.201 

1.200 

1.272 

0.875 

1.150 

1.250 

1.150 

2.250 

04/30/2023 

Purchase 
Date 

10/07/2022 

10/12/2022 

08/24/2017 

10/19/2018 

06/12/2018 

07/09/2020 

04/07/2023 

02/15/2019 

02/28/2023 

04/17/2023 

10/29/2020 

08/06/2020 

02/07/2020 

02/25/2021 

02/18/2021 

08/25/2020 

07/30/2020 

03/04/2022 

10/29/2020 

12/21/2020 

12/22/2020 

01/21/2021 

02/25/2021 

02/28/2022 

11/18/2022 

03/09/2021 

06/28/2021 

05/28/2021 

10/14/2021 

10/21/2021 

08/02/2021 

09/23/2021 

08/17/2021 

08/17/2021 

08/26/2021 

10/13/2021 

10/14/2021 

Purchased 

Price 
Maturity Days to 

Date Maturitx_ 

25,000 

7,667,000 

51,330 

15,868 

396,151 

0 

118,673,065 

503, 125 05/15/2023 

500,000 07/01/2023 

10,000 07/07/2023 

514,550 02/01/2024 

199,964 02/28/2024 

176,124 07/12/2024 

500,000 08/01/2024 

600,000 12/01/2024 

522,560 01/27/2025 

260,000 06/15/2025 

500,000 07/01/2025 

500,000 07/01/2025 

500,000 07/01/2025 

961,800 07/02/2025 

1,000,000 08/01/2025 

1,005,200 11/18/2025 

250,000 12/22/2025 

500,000 01/20/2026 

375,000 02/25/2026 

1,000,000 02/27/2026 

98,129 02/28/2026 

1,100,000 03/09/2026 

501 ,660 05/15/2026 

1,700,000 05/28/2026 

250,000 07/01/2026 

250,000 07/01/2026 

503,610 07/16/2026 

100,000 08/15/2026 

500,000 08/17/2026 

1,000,000 08/17/2026 

750,000 08/26/2026 

498,165 09/14/2026 

524,355 09/14/2026 

14 

61 

67 

276 

303 

438 

458 

580 

637 

776 

792 

792 

792 

793 

823 

932 

966 

995 

1,031 

1,033 

1,034 

1,043 

1,110 

1,123 

1,157 

1,157 

1,172 

1,202 

1,204 

1,204 

1,213 

1,232 

1,232 

Bond* 
Equiv 
Yield 

2.500 

4.606 

2.697 

4.610 

0.001 

0.010 

4.730 

3.236 

0.507 

0.048 

3.561 

5.143 

0.000 

0.878 

0.584 

1.846 

0.730 

0.629 

0.990 

0.787 

2.145 

0.992 

0.542 

0.825 

0.699 

0.500 

2.248 

4.200 

0.800 

1.079 

1.250 

1.181 

1.201 

1.050 

1.272 

0.875 

1.150 

1.250 

1.227 

1.225 

Market Value CUSIP 

25,000 SYS70101 

7,667,000 SYS70102 

51,330 SYS70000 

15,868 SYS70014 

396,151 SYS70050 

0 SYS70056 

118,673,065 SYS70070 

499,685 427866AZ1 

496,500 57582RF84 

10,000 SYS30333 

495,405 46625HJT8 

200,308 3133EPCB9 

175,857 02665WDS7 

476,085 275282PR6 

561,468 13067WRB0 

479,655 90331HMS9 

240,006 546486BV2 

459,410 592112UB0 

463,450 71884AF20 

463,025 977123X78 

920,020 59217GEJ4 

924,840 275282PS4 

916,160 3135GA4P3 

219,373 48128GY53 

457,880 89236THY4 

341 ,719 3130AKXX9 

955,870 3130AQZV8 

99,025 17275RBC5 

999,988 3133EMSU7 

458,055 91324PEC2 

1,484,644 06048WM31 

226,555 592098X77 

227,108 797356DF6 

446, 190 57629WDE7 

89,468 088518NV3 

450,265 3130ANGX2 

820,930 48128G4R8 

659,475 06048WN22 

451,955 14913R2Q9 

470,510 24422EVB2 

Investment # 

70101 

70102 

70000 

70014 

70050 

70056 

70070 

26615 

27029 

30333 

26760 

27554 

27575 

27105 

27055 

26947 

27178 

27173 

27058 

27041 

27375 

27106 

27137 

27138 

27149 

27179 

27366 

27480 

27200 

27230 

27225 

27291 

27298 

27247 

27273 

27252 

27251 

27255 

27288 

27294 

Page 1 

Carrying Value 

25,000 

7,667,000 

51 ,330 

15,868 

396,151 

0 

118,673,065 

500,025 

500,000 

10,000 

502,200 

199,970 

176,403 

500,000 

600,000 

507,890 

260,000 

500,000 

500,000 

500,000 

975,097 

1,000,000 

1,002,699 

250,000 

500,000 

375,000 

1,000,000 

98,664 

1,100,000 

501,034 

1,700,000 

250,000 

250,000 

502,337 

100,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

750,000 

498,743 

516,691 



Page2 

' Northern California Power Agency 

N·cPA Treasurer's Report 
/' NP.'"l'nt':t-:lt#f0f.11t.,.H\~All'C" 

04/30/2023 

Operating 
Bond* 

Interest Purchase Purchased Maturity Days to Equiv 
Issuer Trustee / Custodian Stated Value Rate Date Price Date Maturi~ Yield Market Value CUSIP Investment # Carrying Value 
Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 630,000 0.900 09/28/2021 630,000 09/28/2026 1,246 0.900 565,595 3130ANXS4 27276 630,000 

Reliance Standard Li USBGC 1,500,000 1.512 10/14/2021 1,491,180 09/28/2026 1,246 1.635 1,321 ,260 75951AAQ1 27292 1,493,934 

Paypal Holdings Inc. USBGC 500,000 2.650 10/14/2021 533,315 10/01/2026 1,249 1.260 473,315 70450YAD5 27293 522,931 

TSMC Arizona Corp. USBGC 1,525,000 1.750 12/08/2021 1,537,993 10/25/2026 1,273 1.567 1,389,656 872898AA9 27330 1,534,273 

Public Storage USBGC 1,910,000 1.500 12/08/2021 1,912,216 11/09/2026 1,288 1.475 1,715,849 74460DAG4 27336 1,911,586 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 50,000 0.800 12/29/2021 50,000 12/29/2026 1,338 1.509 45,954 3130AQER0 27342 50,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 3,000,000 1.000 01/28/2022 3,000,000 01/28/2027 1,368 1.691 2,781,210 3130AQN66 27364 3,000,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 455,000 4.700 03/17/2023 452,498 06/30/2027 1,521 4.841 448,580 3130ASH44 27559 452,569 

Meta Platforms Inc. USBGC 526,000 3.500 11/21/2022 494,240 08/15/2027 1,567 4.944 510,430 30303M8B1 27483 497,222 

Amazon.com Inc USBGC 600,000 3.150 09/21/2022 573,894 08/22/2027 1,574 4.136 578,046 023135BC9 27455 577,137 

Mercedes-Benz Fin. N USBGC 750,000 4.800 04/14/2023 755,445 03/30/2028 1,795 4.634 755,918 58769JAG2 27572 755,393 

Fund Total and Average $ 156,406,414 4.110 $ 156,413,437 205 4.124 $ 154,055,111 $ 156,380,212 

MPP GHG Auction Acct 

Local Agency lnvestm 0 1.329 0 1 1.329 0 SYS70045 70045 0 

California Asset Mgm CMP 674,905 4.730 09/13/2022 674,905 1 4.730 674,905 SYS70076 70076 674,905 

Fund Total and Average $ 674,905 4.730 $ 674,905 1 4.730 $ 674,905 $ 674,905 

MPP Security Deposit Acct 

Local Agency lnvestm 0 1.329 0 1 1.329 0 SYS70048 70048 0 

California Asset Mgm CMP 0 4.730 10/28/2022 0 1 4.730 0 SYS70078 70078 0 

Fund Total and Average $ 0 ••• *** $ 0 .... ..... *** $ 0 $ 0 

SCPA Balancing Account 

Local Agency lnvestm LAIF 0 1.329 0 1 1.329 0 SYS70022 70022 0 

First American Govt. USBGC 1,750 4.610 1,750 1 4.610 1,750 SYS70023 70023 1,750 

California Asset Mgm CMP 17,111,937 4.800 05/27/2022 17,111,937 1 4.800 17,111,937 SYS70072 70072 17,111 ,937 

Pfizer Inc USBGC 500,000 3.000 06/22/2018 496,550 06/15/2023 45 3,150 498,590 717081DH3 26626 499,915 

Federal Farm Credit USBGC 500,000 5.125 02/28/2023 499,909 02/28/2024 303 5.143 500,770 3133EPCB9 27555 499,925 

Memphis Center City USBGC 500,000 2.948 11/23/2020 550,395 04/01/2025 701 0.600 485,270 586145F74 27113 522,176 

State of Wisconsin USBGC 105,000 0.650 01/30/2023 105,000 05/01/2025 731 0.649 97,610 97705MZH1 27539 105,000 

State of Wisconsin USBGC 295,000 0.650 01/30/2023 295,000 05/01/2025 731 0.649 273,884 97705MZR9 27540 295,000 

California St Hlth F USBGC 500,000 0.952 11/04/2020 500,000 06/01/2025 762 0.952 462,850 13032UXM5 27110 500,000 

City of Baltimore USBGC 500,000 0.845 12/0212020 500,000 07/01/2025 792 0.932 461 ,805 059231X39 27125 500,000 

Nashville Met Gov USBGC 500,000 0.610 02/18/2021 500,000 07/01/2025 792 0.610 459,410 592112UB0 27174 500,000 

Federal Farm Credit USBGC 2,045,000 0.530 09/29/2020 2,045,000 09/29/2025 882 0,530 1,873,690 3133EMBJ0 27077 2,045,000 

Federal Farm Credit USBGC 2,050,000 0,530 09/29/2020 2,050,000 09/29/2025 882 0.530 1,878,272 3133EMBH4 27078 2,050,000 

Apple Inc. USBGC 500,000 0.700 02/17/2021 500,000 02/08/2026 1,014 0,699 456,650 037833EB2 27168 500,000 

05/03/2023 3:45 pm 



Page3 
Northern California Power Agency 

t .NCPA Treasurer's Report 
/el'l!WP1W;t1~•J.~~..GP.C'I 

04/30/2023 

SCPA Balancing Account 
Bond* 

Interest Purchase Purchased Maturity Days to Equiv 
Issuer Trustee I Custodian Stated Value Rate Date Price Date Maturi~ Yield Market Value CUSIP Investment # Carrying Value 
Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 500,000 0.520 02/12/2021 499,750 02/12/2026 1,018 0.530 451,920 3130AKWA0 27164 499,861 

JP Morgan USBGC 1,000,000 0.750 02/17/2021 1,000,000 02/17/2026 1,023 0.650 888,090 46632FRV9 27171 1,000,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 125,000 0.500 02/25/2021 125,000 02/25/2026 1,031 0.500 113,906 3130AKXX9 27180 125,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 1,000,000 0.630 02/26/2021 1,000,000 02/26/2026 1,032 0.630 905,800 3130ALB94 27195 1,000,000 

Federal Farm Credit USBGC 1,650,000 0.800 03/09/2021 1,650,000 03/09/2026 1,043 0.800 1.499,982 3133EMSU7 27201 1,650,000 

Bank of America Corp USBGC 500,000 1.200 06/28/2021 500,000 06/25/2026 1,151 1.199 440,055 06048WM64 27227 500,000 

MassMutual Global Fu USBGC 500,000 1.200 08/02/2021 503,610 07/16/2026 1,172 1.050 446, 190 57629WDE7 27248 502,337 

Bank of America Corp USBGC 50,000 1.250 08/26/2021 50,000 08/26/2026 1,213 1.250 43,965 06048WN22 27256 50,000 

TSMC Arizona Corp. USBGC 200,000 1.750 12/08/2021 201,704 10/25/2026 1,273 1.567 182,250 872898AA9 27331 201,216 

Public Storage USBGC 275,000 1.500 11/19/2021 274,095 11/09/2026 1,288 1.569 247,046 74460DAG4 27311 274,359 

Public Storage USBGC 250,000 1.500 12/08/2021 250,290 11/09/2026 1,288 1.475 224,588 74460DAG4 27337 250,208 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 100,000 0.800 12/29/2021 100,000 12/29/2026 1,338 1.509 91,907 3130AQER0 27343 100,000 

John Deere Capital C USBGC 525,000 1.700 01/14/2022 524,223 01/11/2027 1,351 1.731 479,981 24422EWA3 27362 524,425 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 300,000 1.000 01/28/2022 300,000 01/28/2027 1,368 1.691 278,121 3130AQN66 27365 300,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 500,000 3.000 04/29/2022 500,000 04/29/2027 1,459 4.219 485,685 3130ARR52 27399 500,000 

State of Oregon USBGC 500,000 4.112 03/23/2023 500,000 05/01/2027 1,461 4.110 497,925 68609UBF1 27560 500,000 

Alameda County USBGC 130,000 3.460 08/24/2022 130,000 08/01/2027 1,553 3.509 126,096 010878BF2 27440 130,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 370,000 4.200 08/25/2022 370,000 08/25/2027 1,577 4.200 361,594 3130ASVC0 27441 370,000 

Blackstone Holdings USBGC 1,000,000 5.900 02/03/2023 1,047,880 11/03/2027 1,647 4.759 1,025,930 09261BAJ9 27541 1,045,416 

Mercedes-Benz Fin. N USBGC 125,000 4.800 04/14/2023 125,908 03/30/2028 1,795 4.634 125,986 58769JAG2 27573 125,899 

Fund Total and Average $ 34,708,687 3.185 $ 34,808,001 522 3.139 $ 33,479,505 $ 34,779,424 

General Operating Reserve 

Local Agency lnvestm LAIF 0 1.329 0 1 1.329 0 SYS70000 70002 0 

First American Govt. USBGC 44,644 4.610 44,644 1 4.610 44,644 SYS70019 70019 44,644 

US Bank USB 0 0.000 07/01/2022 0 1 0.000 0 SYS70051 70051 0 

California Asset Mgm CMP 15,302,251 4.800 12/14/2018 15,302,251 1 4.800 15,302,251 SYS70071 70071 15,302,251 

Arizona Board of Reg USBGC 1,785,000 2.011 04/17/2020 1,818,897 06/01/2023 31 1.387 1,780,573 040484VN4 26984 1,785,905 

Walmart, Inc. USBGC 500,000 3.400 02/07/2019 510,960 06/26/2023 56 2.864 498,685 931142EK5 26758 500,382 

Montgomery Water Wor USBGC 2,145,000 1.799 04/17/2020 2,200,234 09/01/2023 123 1.020 2,122,842 613105KV6 26985 2,150,460 

Pfizer Inc USBGC 500,000 3.200 01/30/2019 506,250 09/15/2023 137 2.908 496,355 717081EN9 26738 500,503 

Honolulu City and Co USBGC 1,770,000 2.141 04/17/2020 1,837,189 10/01/2023 153 1.020 1,749,008 4386705V9 26983 1,778,102 

Citibank NA USBGC 500,000 3.650 02/07/2019 507,490 01/23/2024 267 3.319 494,360 17325FAS7 26756 501,099 

JP Morgan USBGC 500,000 3.875 02/07/2019 515,120 02/01/2024 276 3.535 495,405 46625HJT8 26757 502,276 

US Bank, N.A. USBGC 440,000 3.375 10/31/2019 462,862 02/05/2024 280 2.093 432,947 91159HHV5 26906 444,084 

JP Morgan USBGC 1,000,000 1.514 05/27/2020 1,006,120 06/01/2024 397 1.356 996,620 46647PBQ8 27007 1,001,653 

East Side Union High USBGC 565,000 0.820 10/29/2020 565,000 08/01/2024 458 0.820 537,976 275282PR6 27107 565,000 

Honolulu City and Co USBGC 1,500,000 1.832 04/13/2020 1,522,710 08/01/2024 458 1.058 1,444,305 438687KT1 26980 1,506,602 

California State Uni USBGC 250,000 0.685 09/17/2020 250,000 11/01/2024 550 0.665 235,075 13077DMK5 27072 250,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 1,820,000 2.750 03/25/2020 1,981,288 12/13/2024 592 0.830 1,771,260 3130A3GE8 26962 1,875,283 

US Bank, N.A. USBGC 500,000 2.800 02/07/2020 522,560 01/27/2025 637 1.846 479,655 90331HMS9 26951 507,890 

05/0312023 3:45pm 



NCPA 
"'°-·~ww;,,l,\PC\'lf>llll-

General Operating Reserve 

Issuer 
WW Grainger Inc. 

WW Grainger Inc. 

Memphis Center City 

Tulsa County OK Ind. 

City of Huntsville A 

Honeywell lntematio 

County of Jasper IA 

Precision Castparts 

JP Morgan 

City of Baltimore 

Wisconsin Dept Trans 

Met Life Glob Fundin 

East Side Union High 

Federal National Mtg 

Federal Agricultural 

Federal Farm Credit 

Federal Farm Credit 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Mt 

Bank of America Corp 

Federal Farm Credit 

Guardian Life 

JP Morgan 

Federal National Mtg 

Apple Inc. 

JP Morgan 

Charles Schwab Corp 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Oregon State Dept o 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

United Health Group 

Bank of America Corp 

Bank of America Corp 

State University of 

MassMutual Global Fu 

Home Depot Inc. 

John Deere Capital C 

Nationwide Bldg Soci 

TSMC Arizona Corp. 

Public Storage 

05/03/2023 3:45pm 

Trustee I Custodian 
USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

Stated Value 
500,000 

500,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

515,000 

1,000,000 

420,000 

1,500,000 

750,000 

500,000 

500,000 

4,000,000 

815,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

2,000,000 

1,720,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

1,520,000 

250,000 

500,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

630,000 

1,000,000 

175,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

500,000 

550,000 

1,108,000 

1,250,000 

370,000 

1,000,000 

415,000 

100,000 

2,035,000 

850,000 

1,585,000 

Northern California Power Agency 

Treasurer's Report 

Interest 
Rate 

1.850 

1.B50 

2.948 

1.500 

2.750 

1.350 

2.350 

3.250 

1.050 

0.B45 

0.774 

0.950 

0.940 

0.600 

0.570 

0.530 

0.530 

0.520 

0.540 

0.850 

0.560 

0.875 

0.825 

0.640 

0.700 

0.750 

0.900 

0.790 

0.975 

1.010 

1.119 

1.400 

1.150 

1.250 

1.200 

1.591 

1.200 

2.125 

1.300 

1.500 

1.750 

1.500 

04/30/2023 

Purchase 
Date 

04/30/2020 

05/21/2020 

11/23/2020 

05/26/2020 

11/06/2020 

06/03/2020 

06/11/2020 

06/25/2020 

06/23/2020 

12/02/2020 

07/30/2020 

03/04/2022 

10/29/2020 

08/18/2020 

09/17/2020 

09/29/2020 

09/29/2020 

09/29/2020 

10/27/2020 

11/25/2020 

12/01/2020 

05/05/2021 

12/22/2020 

12/30/2020 

02/17/2021 

02/17/2021 

04/30/2021 

03/25/2021 

08/11/2022 

03/30/2021 

04/27/2021 

04/21/2021 

06/28/2021 

05/28/2021 

06/28/2021 

12/02/2021 

08/02/2021 

04/12/2022 

10/18/2021 

06/16/2022 

12/08/2021 

11/15/2021 

Purchased 
Price 

516,000 

514,500 

550,395 

1,016,450 

560,351 

1,023,560 

443,558 

1,667,985 

750,000 

500,000 

500,000 

3,847,200 

815,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

2,000,000 

1,720,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

1,507,384 

250,000 

501,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

625,407 

997,500 

157,876 

1,000,000 

500,000 

500,000 

551,826 

1,108,000 

1,250,000 

370,000 

1,007,220 

400,052 

100,313 

1,792,286 

857,242 

1,585,745 

Maturity 
Date 

02/15/2025 

02/15/2025 

04/01/2025 

04/01/2025 

05/01/2025 

06/01/2025 

06/01/2025 

06/15/2025 

06/23/2025 

07/01/2025 

07/01/2025 

07/02/2025 

08/01/2025 

08/18/2025 

09/17/2025 

09/29/2025 

09/29/2025 

09/29/2025 

10/27/2025 

11/25/2025 

12/01/2025 

12/10/2025 

12/22/2025 

12/30/2025 

02/08/2026 

02/17/2026 

03/11/2026 

03/16/2026 

03/23/2026 

03/30/2026 

04/01/2026 

04/21/2026 

05/15/2026 

05/28/2026 

06/25/2026 

07/01/2026 

07/16/2026 

09/15/2026 

10/13/2026 

10/13/2026 

10/25/2026 

11/09/2026 

Days to 
Maturi~ 

656 

656 

701 

701 

731 

762 

762 

776 

784 

792 

792 

793 

823 

840 

870 

882 

882 

882 

910 

939 

945 

954 

966 

974 

1,014 

1,023 

1,045 

1,050 

1,057 

1,064 

1,066 

1,086 

1,110 

1,123 

1,151 

1,157 

1,172 

1,233 

1,261 

1,261 

1,273 

1,288 

Bond* 
Equiv 
Yield 
1.161 

1.217 

0.600 

1.038 

0.750 

0.866 

1.299 

1.033 

1.050 

0.845 

0.774 

2.145 

0.940 

0.600 

0.570 

0.530 

0.530 

0.520 

0.540 

0.798 

0.560 

1.060 

0.825 

0.599 

0.699 

0.650 

1.054 

0.841 

3.330 

1.010 

1.119 

1.084 

1.079 

1.250 

1.199 

1.590 

1.050 

3.000 

1.235 

4.569 

1.567 

1.490 

Market Value CUSIP 
477,030 384802AE4 

477,030 384802AE4 

485,270 586145F74 

947,810 899559OD3 

497,449 447025A56 

940,680 438516CB0 

401,814 471376FJ7 

1,469,955 740189AM7 

688,380 48128GU40 

461,805 059231X39 

463,025 977123X78 

3,680,080 59217GEJ4 

753,745 275282PS4 

920,850 3136G4G72 

918,010 31422BV23 

1,832,460 3133EMBH4 

1,575,916 3133EMBJ0 

916,010 3130AKAZ9 

457,405 3134GW4Z6 

884,120 06048WK41 

455,635 3133EMJC7 

1,372,408 40139LBC6 

219,373 48128GY53 

455,685 3135G06Q1 

456,650 037833EB2 

888,090 46632FRV9 

557,834 808513BF1 

908,430 3130ALEL4 

159,877 3130ALGJ7 

913,510 3130ALTT1 

456,760 68607V2Q7 

463,170 3130ALXR0 

503,861 91324PEC2 

967,639 06048WM31 

1,100,138 06048WM64 

339,630 65000BGU6 

892,380 57629WDE7 

390,009 437076BN1 

90,635 24422EVV\16 

1,801,606 63859UBH5 

774,563 872898AA9 

1,423,885 74460DAG4 

Investment # 
27000 

27005 

27114 

27006 

27112 

27008 

27011 

27017 

27024 

27126 

27042 

27376 

27108 

27056 

27071 

27079 

27080 

27081 

27104 

27122 

27124 

27223 

27139 

27141 

27169 

27172 

27220 

27203 

27438 

27213 

27216 

27215 

27232 

27226 

27228 

27329 

27249 

27387 

27297 

27420 

27333 

27308 

Page4 

Carrying Value 
505,973 

505,480 

522,176 

1,006,505 

535,218 

1,009,828 

429,871 

1,571,699 

750,000 

500,000 

500,000 

3,900,387 

815,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

2,000,000 

1,720,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

1,512,842 

250,000 

500,533 

500,000 

1,000,000 

627,298 

998,555 

161,295 

1,000,000 

500,000 

500,000 

551,137 

1,108,000 

1,250,000 

370,000 

1,004,674 

403,608 

100,217 

1,841,390 

855,169 

1,585,527 



Pages 
Northern California Power Agency 

Treasurer's Report 

04/30/2023 

General Operating Reserve 
Bond* 

Interest Purchase Purchased Maturity Days to Equiv 
Issuer Trustee I Custodian Stated Value Rate Date Price Date Maturi!}'. Yield Market Value CUSIP Investment # Carrying Value 
Public Storage USBGC 365,000 1.500 11/19/2021 363,799 11/09/2026 1,288 1.569 327,898 74460DAG4 27312 364,149 

Public Storage USBGC 1,064,000 1.500 12/08/2021 1,065,234 11/09/2026 1,288 1.475 955,844 74460DAG4 27339 1,064,884 

JP Morgan USBGC 1,200,000 1.500 11/30/2021 1,200,000 11/30/2026 1,309 1.500 1,060,548 48130UZH1 27313 1,200,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 150,000 0.800 12/29/2021 150,000 12/29/2026 1.338 1.509 137,861 3130AQER0 27345 150,000 

John Deere Capital C USBGC 438,000 1.700 01/14/2022 437,352 01/11/2027 1,351 1.731 400,442 24422EWA3 27363 437,520 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 500,000 3.375 04/28/2022 500,000 01/28/2027 1,368 3.375 481,720 3130ARP62 27398 500,000 

Amazon.com Inc USBGC 1,030,000 3.300 06/16/2022 993,208 04/13/2027 1,443 4.123 1,001,212 023135CF1 27419 999,880 

TSMC Arizona Corp. USBGC 1,770,000 3.875 05/26/2022 1,789,399 04/22/2027 1,452 3.628 1,742,016 872898AF8 27404 1,785,719 

Qualcomm Inc USBGC 1,035,000 3.250 06/16/2022 995,059 05/20/2027 1,480 4.122 1,002,625 747525AU7 27421 1,002,151 

State of Connecticut USBGC 500,000 3.631 06/22/2022 500,000 06/15/2027 1,506 3.631 490,630 20772KQK8 27423 500,000 

Meta Platforms Inc. USBGC 270,000 3.500 11/21/2022 253,697 08/15/2027 1,567 4.944 262,008 30303M8B1 27484 255,228 

Amazon.com Inc USBGC 75,000 3.150 09/21/2022 71,737 08/22/2027 1,574 4.136 72,256 023135BC9 27457 72,142 

Fund Total and Average $ 75,576,895 2.288 $ 75,859,910 685 2.198 $ 71,657,633 $ 75,440,189 

GRAND TOTALS: $ 267,366,901 3.477 $ 267,756,253 381 3.454 $ 259,867,154. $ 267,274,730 

*Bond Equivalent Yield to Maturity is shown based on a 365 day year to provide a basis for comparison between all types. 
Investments with less than 6 months to maturity use an approximate method, all others use an exact method. 

Current Market Value Is based on prices from Trustee( Custodian Statements or bid prices from the Wall Street Journal as of 04/3012023 

Callable Dates: 

Inv# Inv# Inv# 

26906 USBANK 1/5/2024 27113 MEMGEN Anytime 27225 BAC Semi-annually 

26947 USBANK Anytime starting 12/27/2024 27114 MEMGEN Anytime 27226 BAC Semi-annually 

26951 USBANK Anytime starting 12/27/2024 27124 FFCB Anytime 27227 BAC Semi-annually 

26980 HON Anytime 27125 BALGEN Anytime 27228 BAC Semi-annually 

26983 HON Anytime 27126 BALGEN Anytime 27251 JPM Annually starting 8/17/2023 

26984 AZSHGR Anytime 27137 FNMA Annually 27252 FHLB Quarter1y 

27007 JPM 6/1/2023 and then starting on 5/1/2024 27138 JPM Quarter1y starting 12/22/2023 27255 BAC Semi-annually 

27011 JAS 6/1/2024 27139 JPM Quarter1y starting 12/22/2023 27256 BAC Semi-annually 

27024 JPM Quarter1y starting 6/23/2024 27141 FNMA Quarter1y 27276 FHLB Quarter1y 

27029 MAS Anytime 27149 TOY 1/20/2025 and 7/20/2025 27313 JPM Quarter1y 

27041 WISTRN Anytime 27164 FHLB Anytime 27329 NYSHGR Anytime 

27042 WISTRN Anytime 27168 APPL Anytime starting 1/8/2026 27342 FHLB 12/29/2023 

27055 CASWTR Anytime 27169 APPL Anytime starting 1/8/2026 27343 FHLB 12/29/2023 

27056 FNMA Quarterly 27171 JPM Quarterly 27345 FHLB 12/29/2023 

27058 PHOGEN Anytime 27172 JPM Quarter1y 27364 FHLB 7/28/2023 

27071 FAMC Semi-annually 27178 LOUIS Anytime 27365 FHLB 7/28/2023 

27072 CASHGR Anytime 27195 FHLB Quarterly 27398 FHLB Quarterly 

27077 FFCB Anytime 27200 FFCB Anytime 27399 FHLB Quarterly 

27078 FFCB Anytime 27201 FFCB Anytime 27423 CTS Anytime 

27079 FFCB Anytime 27202 WIS Anytime 27438 FHLB Monthly 

27080 FFCB Anytime 27203 FHLB Quarter1y 27440 ALA Anytime 

27081 FHLB Anytime 27213 FHLB Quarter1y 27441 FHLB Quarter1y 

27104 FHLMC Annually 27216 ORSGEN Anytime 27559 FHLB Quarterly 

27110 CASMED Anytime 27220 SCHW 2/11/2026 27560 ORS Anytime 

05(0312023 3:45pm 



/ NC.PA 
I Nlfffli'Jl'liClt«fl':"-._pfin•AflPO 

Geo 2016A Debt Service 

Issuer 

U.S. Treasury 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal National Mtg 

Trustee I Custodian 

USBT 

USBT 

USBT 

USBT 

USBT 

USBT 

Fund Total and Average 

Geothermal Special Reserve 

First American Govt. 

Federal National Mtg 

USBGC 

USBGC 

Fund Total and Average 

Geo Decommissioning Reserve 

Local Agency lnvestm 

First American Govt 

California Asset Mgm 

Crook County School 

Solano County CCD 

Enerbank USA 

Citibank NA 

Sacramento Suburban 

WW Grainger Inc. 

California St Hlth F 

Houston Airport Sys 

Nashville Met Gov 

East Side Union High 

Guardian Life 

Apple Inc. 

JP Morgan 

Bank of America Corp 

Bank of America Corp 

Apple Inc. 

Caterpillar Financia 

TSMC Arizona Corp. 

Public Storage 

Public Storage 

05/03/2023 3:48pm 

LAIF 

USBGC 

CMP 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

Stated Value 

294,000 

292,000 

1,181,000 

539,000 

296,000 

294,000 

$ 2,896,000 

5,000 

1,495,000 

$ 1,500,000 

0 

35,116 

12,520 

355,000 

385,000 

250,000 

250,000 

330,000 

425,000 

500,000 

750,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

505,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

750,000 

50,000 

1,895,000 

150,000 

1,375,000 

765,000 

1,722,000 

Northern California Power Agency 

Treasurer's Report 

Interest 
Rate 

4.509 

4.824 

4.615 

4.639 

4.670 

4.729 

4.647 

4.610 

0.500 

0.514 

1.329 

4.610 

4.800 

04/30/2023 

Purchase 
Date 

03/28/2023 

04/25/2023 

12/28/2022 

01/10/2023 

01/30/2023 

02/24/2023 

02/16/2021 

09/01/2022 

1.563 05/07/2020 

5.500 04/09/2020 

3.200 08/30/2018 

3.300 09/07/2018 

3.480 04/09/2020 

1.850 04/30/2020 

0.952 11/04/2020 

1.372 10/20/2020 

0.610 02/18/2021 

0.940 10/29/2020 

0.875 05/05/2021 

0.700 02/08/2021 

1.200 04/30/2021 

1.200 06/28/2021 

1.250 08/26/2021 

2.050 01/12/2022 

1.150 10/13/2021 

1.750 12/08/2021 

1.500 11/15/2021 

1.500 12/08/2021 

Purchased 

Price 
Maturity Days to 

Date Maturi!x_ 

290,575 06/29/2023 

289,417 06/30/2023 

1,152,689 07/03/2023 

526,912 07/03/2023 

290,087 07/03/2023 

289,017 07/03/2023 

$ 2,838,697 

5,000 

1,497,796 11/07/2025 

$ 1,502,796 

0 

35,116 

12,520 

356,211 06/15/2023 

434,938 08/01/2023 

250,000 08/30/2023 

250,000 09/07/2023 

349,473 11/01/2024 

438,600 02/15/2025 

500,000 06/01/2025 

750,000 07/01/2025 

500,000 07/01/2025 

1,000,000 , 08/01/2025 

500,809 12/10/2025 

1,000,000 02/08/2026 

500,000 04/30/2026 

750,000 06/25/2026 

50,000 08/26/2026 

1,930,607 09/11/2026 

149,450 09/14/2026 

1,386,715 10/25/2026 

765,360 11/09/2026 

1,723,998 11/09/2026 

59 

60 

63 

63 

63 

63 

62 

921 

918 

45 

92 

121 

129 

550 

656 

762 

792 

792 

823 

954 

1,014 

1,095 

1,151 

1,213 

1,229 

1,232 

1,273 

1,288 

1,288 

Bond* 
Equiv 
Yield 

4.626 

4.935 

4.791 

4.812 

4.831 

4.878 

4.806 

4.610 

0.460 

0.474 

1.329 

4.610 

4.800 

1.450 

1.471 

3.203 

3.301 

1.846 

1.161 

0.952 

1.372 

0.610 

0.940 

1.060 

0.700 

1.200 

1.199 

1.250 

1.629 

1.227 

1.567 

1.490 

1.475 

Market Value CUSIP 

291,633 912796ZR3 

289,699 313384HN2 

1,171,080 313384HR3 

534,472 313384HR3 

293,514 313384HR3 

291,480 313588HR9 

$ 2,871,878 

5,000 SYS70015 

1,373,232 3135G06G3 

$ 1,378,232 

0 SYS70027 

35,116 SYS70034 

12,520 SYS70074 

353,516 227183DH0 

384,908 83412PCN0 

248,525 29278TCP3A 

248,495 17312OS34A 

324,205 78607QAY1 

405,476 384802AE4 

462,850 13032UXM5 

699,263 442349EM4 

459,410 592112UB0 

924,840 275282PS4 

455,965 40139LBC6 

913,300 037833EB2 

438,315 48128G3G3 

660,083 06048WM64 

43,965 06048WN22 

1. na, 192 037833DN7 

135,587 14913R2Q9 

1,252,969 872898AA9 

687,238 74460DAG4 

1,546,959 74460DAG4 

Investment # 

27561 

27576 

27497 

27507 

27528 

27543 

70015 

27167 

70027 

70034 

70074 

27003 

26978 

30309 

30314 

269n 

27002 

27111 

27102 

27175 

27109 

27224 

27162 

27218 

27229 

27258 

27361 

27289 

27334 

27309 

27340 

Page 1 

Ca!'.!l'.!!!9.Value 

291,827 

289,652 

1,171,462 

534,623 

293,581 

291,566 

$ 2,872,711 

5,000 

1,496,489 

$ 1,501,489 

0 

35,116 

12,520 

355,048 

388,771 

250,000 

250,000 

336,404 

430,on 

500,000 

750,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

502,622 

1,000,000 

500,000 

750,000 

50,000 

1,920,661 

149,623 

1,383,361 

765,254 

1,723,430 



Northern California Power Agency 

NCPA Treasurer's Report 
f .""1"MV'IOl;'H:\."lf'Oi-1P Jar«' 

04/30/2023 

Geo Decommissioning Reserve 

Interest Purchase Purchased 

Issuer Trustee / Custodian Stated Value Rate Date Price 
New York City Genera USBGC 750,000 3.862 05/26/2022 750,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 200,000 4.700 03/17/2023 198,900 

Walmart, Inc. USBGC 1,400,000 3.950 09/21/2022 1,389,024 

Intel Corp USBGC 200,000 4.875 02/24/2023 198,252 

Mercedes-Benz Fin. N USBGC 125,000 4.800 04/14/2023 125,908 

New York City Genera USBGC 585,000 2.040 04/30/2021 583,204 

California State Uni USBGC 210,000 1.740 11/18/2022 167,082 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 1,000,000 1.000 02/10/2021 1,000,000 

Federal Agricultural USBGC 972,000 1.460 02/18/2021 972,000 

Federal Agricultural USBGC 600,000 1.460 07/30/2021 598,800 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 1,700,000 1.750 08/17/2022 1,482,587 

West Hartford CT USBGC 330,000 1.844 01/12/2023 270,273 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 2,000,000 1.740 07/29/2021 2,006,440 

Marin Community Coll USBGC 500,000 1.710 09/14/2021 506,610 

Oceanside Unified Sc USBGC 310,000 1.900 01/12/2023 247,916 

County of Bexar TX USBGC 385,000 2.134 09/23/2021 385,000 

County of Bexar TX USBGC 250,000 2.134 09/23/2021 250,000 

Chicago Transit Auth USBGC 90,000 3.302 11/21/2022 78,348 

Federal Farm Credit USBGC 2,500,000 1.800 01/11/2022 2,445,000 

Federal Agricultural USBGC 975,000 4.120 05/25/2022 970,125 

Fund Total and Average $ 28,586,636 1.981 $ 28,259,266 

GRAND TOTALS: $ 32,982,636 2.148 $ 32,600,759 

*Bond Equivalent Yield to Maturity is shown based on a 365 day year to provide a basis for comparison between all types. 
Investments with less than 6 months to maturity use an approximate method, all others use an exact method. 

Current Market Value is based on prices from Trustee/ Custodian Statements or bid prices from the Wall Street Journal as of 04/30/2023 

Callable Dates: 
Inv# 

26977 
27111 
27162 
27163 
27177 
27218 
27219 
27229 
27245 
27246 
27258 
27403 
27405 
27439 
27482 
27485 
27553 

SCRWTR 
CASMED 
APPL 
FHLB 
FAMCA 
JPM 
NYC 
BAC 
FHLB 
FAMCA 
BAC 
FAMCA 
NYC 
FHLB 
CASHGR 
CHITRN 
INTC 

Anytime 
Anytime 
Anytime starting 1/8/2026 
Quarterly 
Semi-annually 
Annually 
Anytime 
Semi-annually 
Anytime 
Semi-annually 
Semi-annually 
Quarterly 
Anytime 
Monthly 
Anytime 
Anytime 
Anytime starting 1/10/2028 

05/03/2023 3:48 pm 

Page2 

Bond* 
Maturity Days to Equiv 

Date Maturity Yield Market Value CUSIP Investment # Carrying Value 
05/01/2027 1,461 3.862 738,165 64966QC99 27405 750,000 

06/30/2027 1,521 4.841 197,178 3130ASH44 27558 198,931 

09/09/2027 1,592 4.125 1,405,726 931142EX7 27458 1,390,375 

02/10/2028 1,746 5.075 203,514 458140CE8 27553 198,318 

03/30/2028 1,795 4.634 125,986 58769JAG2 27574 125,899 

03/01/2030 2,496 2.078 503,094 64966QUX6 27219 583,611 

11/01/2030 2,741 4.870 174,449 13077DMR0 27482 169,526 

02/10/2031 2,842 1.360 810,340 3130AKX76 27163 1,000,000 

02/18/2031 2,850 1.460 789,565 31422XAU6 27177 972,000 

02/18/2031 2,850 1.482 487,386 31422XAU6 27246 599,020 

06/20/2031 2,972 3.439 1,405,747 3130ANUL2 27439 1,499,936 

07/01/2031 2,983 4.430 272,504 953107AK5 27512 272,409 

07/29/2031 3,011 1.704 1,646,440 3130AN7G9 27245 2,005,309 

08/01/2031 3,014 1.565 410,830 56781RKZ9 27272 505,519 

08/01/2031 3,014 4.780 255,896 675383TR4 27513 250,114 

08/15/2031 3,028 2.134 313,583 088518PA7 27274 385,000 

08/15/2031 3,028 2.134 205,738 088518NH4 27275 250,000 

12/01/2031 3,136 5.110 81,423 16772PCS3 27485 78,921 

01/05/2032 3,171 2.044 2,044,100 3133ENJZ4 27360 2,452,193 

04/27/2032 3,284 4.181 922,526 31422XXY3 27403 970,584 

1893 2.065 $ 25,465,887 $ 28,210,552 

1686 2.234 $ 29,715,997. $ 32,584,752 



Northern California Power Agency 

,:,,. NCPA Treasurer's Report 
.l~'lt_..~-~o,,t,,fff\ff~ft!lrte• 

04/30/2023 

Cap Facilities 2019A Debt Svc 

Interest Purchase Purchased 

Issuer Trustee f Custodian Stated Value Rate Date Price 

US Bank Trust USBT 820 0.010 820 

U.S. Treasury USBT 431,000 4.570 03/28/2023 424,380 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 436,000 4.640 12/28/2022 423,862 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 1,319,000 4.690 01/30/2023 1,287,554 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 1,029,000 4.829 02/24/2023 1,007,187 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 429,000 4.860 04/25/2023 423,324 

Fund Total and Average $ 3,644,820 4.728 $ 3,667,127 

GRAND TOTALS: $ 3,644,820 4.728 $ 3,667,127 

*Bond Equivalent Yield to Maturity Is shown based on a 365 day year to provide a basis for comparison between all types. 
Investments with less than 6 months to maturity use an approximate method, all others use an exact method. 

Current Market Value Is based on prices from Trustee/ Custodian Statements or bid prices from the Wall Street Journal as of 04/30/2023 

05/0312023 3:52pm 

Page 1 

Bond* 
Maturity Days to Equiv 

Date Maturity Yield Market Value CUSIP Investment # Ca!!i:ln!I Value 

1 0.010 820 SYS79017 79017 820 

07/27/2023 87 4.705 425,850 912796Y29 27567 426,240 

08/01/2023 92 4.821 430,585 313384JWO 27501 430,830 

08/01/2023 92 4.870 1,302,618 313384JW0 27534 1,303,191 

08/01/2023 92 5.003 1,016,220 313384JW0 27549 1,016,299 

08/01/2023 92 4.993 423,672 313384JW0 27582 423,672 

91 4.896 $ 3,599,766 $ 3,601,062 

91 4.896 $ 3,699,766. $ 3,601,052 



f ~'NCPA 
i ~'IClt ~APfWl•A,rct, 

Capital Dev. Reserve Hydro 

Issuer 

Local Agency lmiestm 

First American Govt. 

California Asset Mgm 

Colgate-Palmolive Co 

J Paul Getty Trust 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Farm Credit 

Met Life Glob Fundin 

Met Life Glob Fundin 

Federal National Mtg 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

U.S. Treasury 

Nashville Met Gov 

Califorina Infra & E 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Walmart, Inc. 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Bank of NY Mellon Co 

Federal Agricultural 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Nashville Met Gov 

City of El Paso TX 

Califorina Infra & E 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Mt 

Federal Home Loan Mt 

Bank of America Corp 

Federal National Mtg 

JP Morgan 

Federal National Mtg 

Federal Home Loan Mt 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Mt 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Federal Home Loan Mt 

Merck & Co Inc. 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

Cisco Systems Inc. 

Federal Home Loan Ba 

United Health Group 

05/03/2023 3:51 pm 

Trustee I Custodian 

LAIF 

USBGC 

CMP 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

USBGC 

Stated Value 

0 

202,877 

1,764,959 

550,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

50,000 

209,000 

419,000 

500,000 

985,000 

795,000 

250,000 

100,000 

1,750,000 

500,000 

500,000 

545,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

250,000 

500,000 

130,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

500,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

1,000,000 

550,000 

500,000 

35,000 

500,000 

500,000 

Northern California Power Agency 

Treasurer's Report 

Interest 
Rate 

1.329 

4.610 

4.800 

04/30/2023 

Purchase 
Date 

09/01/2022 

2.100 08/09/2018 

0.391 01/28/2021 

5.000 01/30/2023 

5.125 02/28/2023 

0.700 04/12/2022 

0.700 04/12/2022 

5.000 01/26/2023 

4.875 01/30/2023 

0.375 01/30/2023 

1.030 12/17/2020 

0.645 12/17/2020 

5.000 01/30/2023 

2.650 02/07/2020 

4.625 04/03/2023 

1.600 04/30/2021 

0.675 05/19/2020 

5,000 01/30/2023 

1.230 12117/2020 

4.346 12/07/2020 

0.765 12/17/2020 

5.050 01/30/2023 

5.020 01/30/2023 

5.000 01/30/2023 

0.850 11/25/2020 

0.650 12/17/2020 

0.825 12/22/2020 

0.640 01/06/2021 

5.050 01/27/2023 

5.100 01/30/2023 

4.800 01/30/2023 

0.520 02/12/2021 

5.150 02/17/2023 

0.750 01/30/2023 

0.500 02/25/2021 

2.950 11/18/2022 

1 .400 04/21/2021 

1.150 06/28/2021 

Purchased 

Price 
Maturity Days to 

Date Matu!!!l 

0 

202,877 

1,764,959 

528,660 05/01/2023 

1,000,000 01/01/2024 

500,000 01/26/2024 

49,991 02/28/2024 

199,867 04/05/2024 

400,690 04/05/2024 

500,000 04/26/2024 

987,778 06/14/2024 

749,536 07/15/2024 

250,000 08/01/2024 

100,000 10/01/2024 

1,750,000 10/28/2024 

520,975 12/15/2024 

502,995 03/14/2025 

561,197 04/24/2025 

500,000 05/19/2025 

1,000,000 07/28/2025 

250,000 08/01/2025 

553,420 08/15/2025 

130,000 10/01/2025 

1,000,000 10/28/2025 

1,000,000 10/28/2025 

1,000,000 10/30/2025 

1,000,000 11/25/2025 

500,850 12/10/2025 

500,000 12/22/2025 

501,550 12/30/2025 

1,000,000 01/27/2026 

1,000,000 01/28/2026 

1,000,000 01/30/2026 

499,750 02/12/2026 

1,000,000 02/17/2026 

495,534 02/24/2026 

500,000 02/25/2026 

33,672 02/28/2026 

500,000 04/21/2026 

501,660 05/15/2026 

0 

245 

270 

303 

340 

340 

361 

410 

441 

458 

519 

546 

594 

683 

724 

749 

819 

823 

837 

884 

911 

911 

913 

939 

954 

966 

974 

1,002 

1,003 

1,005 

1,018 

1,023 

1,030 

1,031 

1,034 

1,086 

1,110 

Bond* 
Equiv 
Yield 

1.329 

4.610 

4.800 

2.985 

0.401 

5.000 

5.143 

2.988 

2.988 

5.006 

4.649 

4.468 

1.029 

0.683 

5.004 

1.744 

4.296 

0.839 

0.675 

5.000 

1.229 

1.950 

0.765 

5.053 

5.023 

5.003 

0.798 

0.615 

0.825 

0.576 

5.050 

5.100 

4.800 

0.530 

5.150 

4.226 

0.500 

4.200 

1.090 

1.082 

Market Value CUSIP 

0 SYS70028 

202,877 SYS70031 

1,764,959 SYS70073 

550,000 19416QECO 

969,590 374288A84 

498,050 3130AUJ62 

50,077 3133EPCB9 

200,381 58989V2C7 

401,720 58989V2C7 

497,595 3135GAE72 

985,532 3130ATVC8 

755,870 91282CCL3 

237,978 592090GB4 

94,466 13034AL57 

1,740,218 3130AULQ5 

486,185 931142DV2 

502,740 3130AUZC1 

512,671 06406RAN7 

463,770 31422BA26 

993,940 3130AUPL2 

231,885 592090GC2 

496,035 283734TC5 

119,367 13034AL65 

993,970 3130AUQK3 

993,940 3134GYG30 

994,170 3134GYFX5 

884,120 06048WK41 

456,435 3135G06J7 

438,745 48128GY53 

455,685 3135G06Q1 

992,740 3134GYEY4 

993,210 3130AUNJ9 

993,430 3134GYFB3 

451,920 3130AKWAO 

993,090 3134GYFR8 

503,316 58933YAY1 

455,625 3130AKXX9 

33,979 17275RBC5 

463,170 3130ALXRO 

458,055 91324PEC2 

lnvesbnent # 

70028 

70031 

70073 

26652 

27161 

27515 

27556 

27385 

27386 

27514 

27520 

27527 

27134 

27135 

27517 

26950 

27571 

27221 

27004 

27519 

27133 

27131 

27132 

27521 

27522 

27523 

27121 

27136 

27140 

27148 

27538 

27518 

27525 

27165 

27542 

27526 

27181 

27481 

27214 

27231 

Page 1 

Car~Value 

0 

202,877 

1,764,959 

550,000 

1,000,000 

500,000 

49,992 

204,722 

410,423 

500,000 

987,266 

757,313 

250,000 

100,000 

1,750,000 

507,008 

502,875 

553,054 

500,000 

1,000,000 

250,000 

526,077 

130,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

500,445 

500,000 

500,829 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

1,000,000 

499,861 

1,000,000 

500,023 

500,000 

33,855 

500,000 

501,034 



Page2 
Northern California Power Agency 

NCPA Treasurer's Report 
~f,fii.rJ~~•,'S-~\tAPft\~ Ml"O 

04/30/2023 

Capital Dev. Reserve Hydro 
Bond• 

Interest Purchase Purchased Maturity Days to Equiv 
Issuer Trustee I Custodian Stated Value Rate Date Price Date Maturlt:i:'. Yield Market Value CUSIP Investment # Carrying Value 
Federal Home Loan Mt USBGC 1,000,000 5.000 01/30/2023 1,000,000 07/30/2026 1,186 5.000 992,010 3134GYFL 1 27524 1,000,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 500,000 0.875 08/17/2021 500,000 08/17/2026 1,204 0.875 450,265 3130ANGX2 27253 500,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 500,000 1.050 08/24/2021 500,000 08/24/2026 1,211 0.967 452,660 3130ANFT2 27254 500,000 

Bank of America Corp USBGC 50,000 1.250 08/26/2021 50,000 08/26/2026 1,213 1.250 43,965 06048WN22 27257 50,000 

TSMC Arizona Corp. USBGC 200,000 1.750 12/08/2021 201,704 10/25/2026 1,273 1.567 182,250 872898AA9 27332 201,216 

Public Storage USBGC 250,000 1.500 12/08/2021 250,290 11/09/2026 1,288 1.475 224,588 74460DAG4 27338 250,208 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 500,000 0.800 12/29/2021 500,000 12/29/2026 1,338 1.509 459,535 3130AQERO 27344 500,000 

Amazon.com Inc USBGC 150,000 3.150 09/21/2022 143,474 08/22/2027 1,574 4.136 144,512 023135BC9 27456 144,284 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 400,000 4.200 08/25/2022 400,000 08/25/2027 1,577 4.200 390,912 3130ASVCO 27442 400,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBGC 437,838 5;555 01/30/2023 438,276 01/27/2028 1,732 5.531 435,307 3130AUJJ4 27516 438,254 

Fund Total and Average $ 29,073,674 3.255 $ 29,019,705 786 3.407 $ 28,087,510 $ 29,016,575 

Hydro Debt Service 

U.S. Treasury USBT 26,000 4.447 01/30/2023 25,518 06/29/2023 59 4.593 25,791 912796ZR3 27529 25,811 

U.S. Treasury USBT 26,000 4.498 02/24/2023 25,594 06/29/2023 59 4.632 25,791 912796ZR3 27544 25,808 

U.S. Treasury USBT 27,000 4.509 03/28/2023 26,685 06/29/2023 59 4.626 26,783 912796ZR3 27562 26,800 

U.S. Treasury USBT 26,000 4.733 04/25/2023 25,778 06/29/2023 59 4.840 25,791 912796ZR3 215n 25,798 

Fund Total and Average $ 105,000 4.547 $ 103,576 69 4.673 $ 104,166 $ 104,217 

Hydro 2018A Debt Service 

U.S. Treasury USBT 1,109,000 4.509 03/28/2023 1,096,079 06/29/2023 59 4.626 1,100,073 912796ZR3 27563 1,100,803 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 1,107,000 4.825 04/25/2023 1,097,208 06/30/2023 60 4.935 1,098,277 313384HN2 27578 1,098,098 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 4,470,000 4.615 12/28/2022 4,362,844 07/03/2023 63 4.791 4,432,452 313384HR3 27498 4,433,899 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 1,600,000 4.640 01/10/2023 1,564,117 07/03/2023 63 4.812 1,586,560 313384HR3 27509 1,587,008 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 1,119,000 4.670 01/30/2023 1,096,645 07/03/2023 63 4.831 1,109,600 313384HR3 27530 1,109,855 

Federal National Mtg USBT 1,116,000 4.730 02/24/2023 1,097,085 07/03/2023 63 4.878 1,106.436 313588HR9 27545 1,106,762 

Fund Total and Average $ 10,521,000 4.648 $ 10,313,978 62 4.806 $ 10,433,398 $ 10,436,425 

Hydro 2019A Debt Service 

U.S. Treasury USBT 1,209,000 4.510 03/28/2023 1,194,914 06/29/2023 59 4.626 1,199,268 912796ZR3 27564 1,200,064 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 1,205,000 4.825 04/25/2023 1,194,341 06/30/2023 60 4.935 1,195,505 313384HN2 27579 1,195,310 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 4,867,000 4.615 12/28/2022 4,750,327 07/03/2023 63 4.791 4,826,117 313384HR3 27499 4,827,693 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 2,122,000 4.640 01/10/2023 2,074.411 07/03/2023 63 4.812 2,104,175 313384HR3 27510 2,104,769 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 1,219,000 4.669 01/30/2023 1,194,648 07/03/2023 63 4.831 1,208,760 313384HR3 27531 1,209,038 

Federal National Mtg USBT 1,214,000 4.730 02/24/2023 1,193,424 07/03/2023 63 4.878 1,203,596 313588HR9 27546 1,203,951 

Fund Total and Average $ 11,836,000 4,648 $ 11,602,065 62 4.806 $ 11,737,421 $ 11,740,825 

05/03/2023 3:51 pm 



Page3 
Northern California Power Agency 

Treasurer's Report 

04/30/2023 

Hydro 2022A Debt Service 
Bond* 

Interest Purchase Purchased Maturity Days to Equiv 
Issuer Trustee / Custodian Stated Value Rate Date Price Date Maturitl Yield Market Value CUSIP Investment # Ca~ln9 Value 

Hydro 2022A Debt Service 

U.S. Treasury USBT 507,000 4.509 03/28/2023 501,093 06/29/2023 59 4.626 502,919 912796ZR3 27565 503,253 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 506,000 4.824 04/25/2023 501,524 06/30/2023 60 4.935 502,013 313384HN2 27580 501,931 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 511,000 4.670 01/30/2023 500,792 07/03/2023 63 4.831 506,708 313384HR3 27532 506,824 

Federal National Mtg USBT 510,000 4.729 02/24/2023 501,356 07/03/2023 63 4.878 505,629 313588HR9 27547 505,778 

Fund Total and Average $ 2,034,000 4.684 $ 2,004,765 61 4.818 $ 2,017,269 $ 2,017,786 

Hydro 2022B Debt Service 

U.S. Treasury USBT 168,000 4.510 03/28/2023 166,043 06/29/2023 59 4.626 166,648 912796ZR3 27566 166,758 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 168,000 4.825 04/25/2023 166,514 06/30/2023 60 4.935 166,676 313384HN2 27581 166,649 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 678,000 4.615 12/28/2022 661,747 07/03/2023 63 4.791 672,305 313384HR3 27500 672,524 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 228,000 4.640 01/10/2023 222,887 07/03/2023 63 4.812 226,085 313384HR3 27511 226,149 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 170,000 4.670 01/30/2023 166,604 07/03/2023 63 4.831 168,572 313384HR3 27533 168,611 

Federal National Mtg USBT 169,000 4.730 02/24/2023 166,136 07/03/2023 63 4.878 167,552 313588HR9 27548 167,601 

Fund Total and Average $ 1,581,000 4.648 $ 1,549,931 62 4.806 $ 1,567,838 $ 1,568,292 

Hydro Special Reserve 

First American Govt. USBGC 5,000 4.610 5,000 1 4.610 5,000 SYS70016 70016 5,000 

Federal National Mtg USBGC 1,495,000 0.500 02(16/2021 1,497,796 11/07/2025 921 0.460 1,373,232 3135G06G3 27166 1,496,489 

Fund Total and Average $ 1,500,000 0.514 $ 1,502,796 918 0.474 $ 1,378,232 $ 1,501,489 

Hydro 2012 DSRA 

U.S. Treasury USBT 20,000 4.321 12/28/2022 19,191 11/30/2023 213 4.518 19,479 9127962:04 27505 19,489 

U.S. Treasury USBT 17,000 4.297 01/10/2023 16,286 12/28/2023 241 4.500 16,504 912796ZN2 27508 16,511 

U.S. Treasury USBT 1,875,000 1.750 04/27/2022 1,843,359 06/30/2024 426 2.551 1,813,913 912828628 27388 1,858,045 

Fund Total and Average $ 1,912,000 1.799 $ 1,878,836 422 2,589 $ 1,849,896 $ 1,894,046 

GRAND TOTALS: $ 68,562,674 3.756 $ 57,975,651 456 3,926 $ 57,176,720. $ 58,279,654 

*Bond Equivalent Yield to Maturity Is shown based on a 365 day year to provide a basis for comparison between all types. 
Investments with less than 6 months to maturity use an approximate method, all others use an exact method. 

Current Market Value Is based on prices from Trustee/ Custodian Statements or bid prices from the Wall Street Journal as of 04/30/2023 

Callable Dates: Inv# 
27136 FNMA Quarterly 27344 FHLB 12/29/2023 27521 FHLB Quarterly starting 7/28/2023 
27140 JPM Quarterly starting 12/22/2023 27442 FHLB Quarterly 27522 FHLMC Quarterly starting 7/28/2023 

26950 WMT Anytime starting 10/15/2024 27161 JPGETY Anytime starting 10/1/2023 27514 FNMA Quarterly starting 7/26/2023 27523 FHLMC Quarterly starting 10/30/2023 

27004 FAMCA Semi-annually 27165 FHLB Anytime 27515 FHLB Quarterly 27524 FHLMC Quarterly starting 1/30/2024 

27131 ELPASO Callable annually starting 8/15/2023 27221 BK 3/24/2025 27516 FHLB Quarterly 27525 FHLMC 1/30/2024 only 

27132 FFCB Anytime 27253 FHLB Quarterly 27517 FHLB Quarterly 27538 FHLMC Quarterly starting 7/27/2023 

27135 CASDEV Anytime 27254 FHLB Monthly 27518 FHLB Quarterly starting 7/28/2023 27542 FHLMC Quarterly starting 8/17/2023 

27257 BAC Semi-annually 27519 FHLB Quarterly starting 7/28/2023 
05/03/2023 3:51 pm 



Page 1 
Northern California Power Agency 

. NCPA Treasurer's Report 
J_,,e..,,.....i>HWJ~~,,... 

04/30/2023 

LEC GHG Auction Acct 
Bond* 

Interest Purchase Purchased Maturity Days to Equiv 
Issuer Trustee I Custodian Stated Value Rate Date Price Date Maturity Yield Market Value CUSIP Investment # Carryin9 Value 

Local Agency lnvestm 0 1.329 0 1 1.329 0 SYS70046 70046 0 

California Asset Mgm CMP 164,499 4.730 09113/2022 164,499 1 4.730 164,499 SYS70077 70077 164,499 

Fund Total and Average $ 164,499 4.730 $ 164,499 1 4.730 $ 164,499 $ 164,499 

LEC Issue #1 20108 DS Fund 

US Bank Trust USB 757 0.010 757 1 0.010 757 SYS79004 79004 757 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 736,000 4.540 1212812022 721,799 05/30/2023 29 4.693 733,314 313384GF0 27502 733,308 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 2,865,000 4.779 04/25/2023 2,851,686 05/3012023 29 4.869 2,854,543 313384GF0 27583 2,853,968 

U.S. Treasury USBT 730,000 4.650 02/24/2023 721,042 05/30/2023 29 4.773 727,584 912797FG7 27550 727,266 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 732,000 4.659 01/30/2023 720,535 05/31/2023 30 4.799 729,233 313384GG8 27535 729,157 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 727,000 4.690 03/28/2023 720,844 06/01/2023 31 4.795 724,034 313384GH6 27568 724,064 

Fund Total and Average $ 5,790,757 4.706 $ 5,736,663 29 4.816 $ 5,769,466 $ 5,768,520 

LEC Issue #2 2010B DS Fund 

US Bank Trust USB 268 0,010 268 1 0.010 268 SYS79012 79012 268 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 2,950,000 4.580 12/06/2022 2,884,322 05/30/2023 29 4.749 2,939,233 313384GF0 27493 2,939,116 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 795,000 4.539 12/28/2022 779,660 05/30/2023 29 4.693 792,098 313384GF0 27503 792,093 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 1,669,000 4.779 04/25/2023 1,661,244 05/30/2023 29 4.869 1,662,908 313384GF0 27584 1,662,573 

U.S. Treasury USBT 789,000 4.650 02/24/2023 779,318 05/30/2023 29 4.773 786,388 912797FG7 27551 786,045 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 791,000 4.660 01/30/2023 778,611 05/31/2023 30 4.799 788,010 313384GG8 27536 787,928 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 786,000 4.689 03/28/2023 779,344 06/01/2023 31 4.795 782,793 313384GH6 27569 782,826 

Fund Total and Average $ 7_._780,268 4.645 $ 7,662,767 29 4.781 $ 7,751,698 $ 7,750,849 

LEC lssue#1 2017 A OS Fund 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 3,822,000 4.580 12/06/2022 3,736,907 05/30/2023 29 4.749 3,808,050 313384GF0 27494 3,807,899 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 680,000 4.540 12/28/2022 666,879 05/30/2023 29 4.693 677,518 313384GF0 27504 677,513 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 670,000 4.780 04/25/2023 666,886 05/30/2023 29 4.869 667,555 313384GF0 27585 667,420 

U.S. Treasury USBT 675,000 4.649 02/24/2023 666,717 05/30/2023 29 4.773 672,766 912797FG7 27552 672,472 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 676,000 4.660 01/30/2023 665.412 05/31/2023 30 4.799 673,445 313384GG8 27537 673,375 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 672,000 4.689 03/28/2023 666,309 06/01/2023 31 4.795 669,258 313384GH6 27570 669,286 

Fund Total and Average $ 7,19!,000 4.619 $ 7,069,110 29 4.767 $ 7,168,592 $ 7,167,965 

LEC Issue #1 2010 DSR Fund 

US Bank Trust USB 285 0.010 285 1 0.010 285 SYS79005 79005 285 

0510312023 3:54pm 



Page2 
Northern California Power Agency 

1.tNCPA 
/4,-rioi'(~,:.-!9¥"'1t.\PIM'PI.Grc., 

Treasurer's Report 

04/30/2023 

LEC Issue #1 2010 DSR Fund 
Bond• 

Interest Purchase Purchased Maturity Days to Equiv 
Issuer Trustee / Custodian Stated Value Rate Date Price Date Maturit~ Yield Market Value CUSIP Investment # Carrying Value 
Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 20,000 4.875 04/25/2023 20,107 09/13/2024 501 4.468 20,065 3130ATVD6 27586 20,106 

Federal Home Loan Mt USBT 4,800,000 5.010 12/29/2022 4,800,000 12/29/2025 973 5.010 4,TT9,936 3134GY7C0 27506 4,800,000 

Federal Farm Credit USBT 4,430,000 0.840 03/02/2021 4,430,000 03/02/2026 1,036 0.840 4,033,692 3133EMSK9 27199 4,430,000 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 150,000 0.875 08/27/2021 150,528 06/12/2026 1,138 0.799 136,910 3130AN4T4 27270 150,343 

Fund Total and Average $ 9,400,285 2.978 $ 9,400,920 1004 2.976 $ 8,970,888 $ 9,400,734 

LEC lss#1 2010B BABS Subs Resv 

US Bank Trust USB 837 0.010 837 1 0.010 837 SYS79006 79006 837 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 2,311,000 4.580 12/06/2022 2,259,548 05/30/2023 29 4.749 2,302,565 313384GF0 27495 2,302,474 

Fund Total and Average $ 2,311,837 4.578 $ 2,260,385 29 4.748 $ 2,303,402 $ 2,303,311 

LEC lssue#2 2010B DSR BABS 

US Bank Trust USB 1,157 0.010 1,157 1 0.010 1,157 SYS79013 79013 1,157 

Federal Home Loan Ba USBT 956,000 4.580 12/06/2022 934,716 05/30/2023 29 4.749 952,511 313384GF0 27496 952,473 

Fund Total and Average $ 957,157 4.574 $ 935,873 29 4.744 $ 953,668 $ 953,630 

LEC O & M Reserve 

Local Agency lnvestm 0 1.329 0 1 1.329 0 SYS70047 70047 0 

First American Govt. USBGC 17,119 4.610 17,119 1 4.610 17,119 SYS70041 70041 17,119 

Callfomia Asset Mgm CMP 4,629,896 4.800 09/09/2022 4,629,896 1 4.800 4,629,896 SYS70075 70075 4,629,896 

Federal Farm Credit USBGC 50,000 5.125 02/28/2023 49,991 02/28/2024 303 5.143 50,077 3133EPCB9 27557 49,992 

Caterpillar Financia USBGC 465,000 3.250 02/03/2020 496,569 12/01/2024 580 1.n6 454,923 14912L6G1 26952 475,353 

Nashville Met Gov USBGC 500,000 0.610 02/18/2021 500,000 07/01/2025 792 0.610 459,410 592112UB0 27176 500,000 

Federal National Mtg USBGC 1,000,000 0.600 07/30/2020 1,001,000 07/29/2025 820 0.579 922,180 3136G4D75 27047 1,000,449 

Federal National Mtg USBGC 1,000,000 0.600 08/18/2020 1,000,000 08/18/2025 840 0.600 920,850 3136G4G72 27057 1,000,000 

Federal Farm Credit USBGC 750,000 0.530 09/29/2020 750,000 09/29/2025 882 0.530 687,173 3133EMBH4 27083 750,000 

Federal Farm Credit USBGC 670,000 0.530 09/29/2020 670,000 09/29/2025 882 0.530 613,874 3133EMBJ0 27084 670,000 

Apple Inc. USBGC 500,000 0.700 02/17/2021 500,000 02/08/2026 1,014 0.699 456,650 037833EB2 27170 500,000 

JP Morgan USBGC 500,000 1.200 04/30/2021 500,000 04/30/2026 1,095 1.200 438,315 48128G3G3 27222 500,000 

MassMutual Global Fu USBGC 1,000,000 1.200 08/02/2021 1,007,220 07/16/2026 1,172 1.050 892,380 57629WDE7 27250 1,004,674 

Bank of America Corp USBGC 100,000 1.250 08/26/2021 100,000 08/26/2026 1,213 1.250 87,930 06048WN22 27259 100,000 

Caterpillar Financia USBGC 500,000 1.150 10/13/2021 498,165 09/14/2026 1,232 1.227 451,955 14913R2Q9 27290 498,743 

TSMC Arizona Corp. USBGC 850,000 1.750 12/08/2021 857,242 10/25/2026 1,273 1.567 774,563 872898AA9 27335 855,169 

Public Storage USBGC 515,000 1.500 11/15/2021 515,242 11/09/2026 1,288 1.490 462,650 74460DAG4 27310 515,171 

Public Storage USBGC 1,064,000 1.500 12/08/2021 1,065,234 11/09/2026 1,288 1.475 955,844 74460DAG4 27341 1,064,884 

City of Beverly Hill USBGC 200,000 1.327 06/28/2022 179,194 06/01/2027 1,492 3.654 178,112 088006KB6 27424 182,750 

Fund Total and Average $ 14,311,015 2.328 $ 14,336,872 696 2.287 $ 13,453,901 $ 14,314,200 

05/03/2023 3:54pm 



GRAND TOTALS: $ 47,910,818 3.623 $ 47,667,089 

•eond Equivalent Yield to Maturity Is shown based on a 365 day year to provide a basis for comparison between all types. 
Investments with less than 6 months to maturity use an approximate method, all others use an exact method. 

Current Market Value Is based on prices from Trustee/ Custodian Statements or bid prices from the Wall Street Journal as of 04130/2023 

Callable Dates: 

Inv# 

27047 
27057 
27083 
27084 
27170 
27199 
27222 
27259 
27506 

FHLMC 
FNMA 
FFCB 
FFCB 
APPL 
FFCB 
JPM 
BAC 
FHLMC 

Quarterly 
Quarterly 
Anytime 
Anytime 
Anytime starting 1/8/2026 
Anytime 
Annually 
Semi-annually 
12/29/2023 

421 3.679 $ 46,536,113. $ 47,823,708 



, PUB LI C A!l EN CY 

CPA 

Commission Staff Report 
COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: Aspen Environmental Group - Five Year Multi-Task Consulting Services 
Agreement for Energy Related Consulting Services; Applicable to the following: All Northern 
California Power Agency (NCPA) Facilities, NCPA Members, Southern California Public Power 
Authority (SCPPA), and SCPPA Members 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Consent 

FROM: Michael DeBortoli >~ METHOD OF SELECTION: 

Assistant General Manager NIA 

Division: Generation Services If other, please describe: 

Department: Generation Services 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members IZI City of Lodi □ City of Shasta Lake □ 

Alameda Municipal Power □ City of Lompoc □ City of Ukiah □ 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC □ Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs □ City of Redding □ Port of Oakland □ 

City of Gridley □ City of Roseville □ Truckee Donner PUD □ 

City of Healdsburg □ City of Santa Clara □ Other □ 

If other, please specify 

SR: 159:23 

12 



May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-43 authorizing the General Manager or his designee to enter into a Multi
Task Consulting Services Agreement with Aspen Environmental Group for energy related 
consulting services, with any non-substantial changes recommended and approved by the NCPA 
General Counsel, which shall not exceed $1,000,000 over five years, for use at any facilities 
owned and/or operated by NCPA, NCPA Members, by SCPPA and SCPPA Members. 

BACKGROUND: 

Energy related consulting services, including electric system resource planning and policy 
assessment, demand forecasting, energy efficiency program evaluation, planning and policy 
assessment, and regulatory compliance services, are required from time to time for the operation 
and maintenance of facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, NCPA Members, by SCPPA and 
SCPPA Members. NCPA plans to use this vendor in the ongoing Natural Gas Rate cases, as 
they are subject matter experts in Natural Gas Resource planning and policy assessment. NCPA 
estimates the cost of this work at $110,000, which is within the General Manager's signature 
authority. This work meets the requirements for Sole Source services as outlined in NCPA's 
Procurement Policy. In addition, an NCPA Member has expressed an interest in using this 
vendor in the future. NCPA desires to enter into this agreement so established terms and 
conditions are in place should this vendor be the successful bidder on future purchases. NCPA 
has similar agreements in place with Kano Consultants, Geosyntec Consultants, Inc., and Risk 
Management Professionals, Inc. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Upon execution, the total cost of the agreement is not to exceed $1,000,000 over five years. 
Purchase orders referencing the terms and conditions of the agreement will be issued following 
NCPA procurement policies and procedures. 

SELECTION PROCESS: 

This enabling agreement does not commit NCPA to any expenditure of funds. At the time 
services are needed, NCPA will bid the specific scope of work consistent with NCPA 
procurement policies and procedures. NCPA seeks bids from qualified providers as required. 
Bids are awarded to the vendor providing the best overall value to NCPA. NCPA will issue 
purchase orders based on cost and availability of the services needed at the time the service is 
required. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

This activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the physical 
environment and is therefore not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary. 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

The recommendation above was reviewed by the Facilities Committee on May 3, 2023. Due to 
the lack of a quorum, no formal action was taken, however, the Members present at the meeting 

SR: 159:23 



May 25, 2023 
Page3 

voiced their support for the recommendation, and no other meeting attendees had any 
objections. 

On May 8, 2023 the Lodi Energy Center Project Participant Committee reviewed and approved 
the recommendation above for Commission approval. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Attachments (2): 
• Resolution 23-43 
• Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement with Aspen Environmental Group 

SR: 159:23 



RESOLUTION 23-43 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING A MUL Tl-TASK CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT WITH ASPEN 

EN~RONMENTALGROUP 

(reference Staff Report 159:23) 

WHEREAS, energy related consulting services, including electric system resource planning and policy 
assessment, demand forecasting, energy efficiency program evaluation, planning and policy assessment, and 
regulatory compliance services, are required from time to time for the operation and maintenance of facilities 
owned and/or operated by the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA), NCPA Members, by the Southern 
California Public Power Authority (SCPPA), and SCPPA Members; and 

WHEREAS, Aspen Environmental Group is a provider of these services; and 

WHEREAS, the NCPA Commission has reviewed the Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement with 
Aspen Environmental Group to provide such services as needed at any facilities owned and/or operated by 
NCPA, NCPA Members, by SCPPA, and SCPPA Members; and 

WHEREAS, this activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the 
physical environment and is therefore not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency 
authorizes the General Manager or his designee to enter into said Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement, 
with any non-substantial changes as approved by the NCPA General Counsel, which shall not exceed 
$1,000,000 over five years, for use at any facilities owned and/or operated by NCPA, NCPA Members, by 
SCPPA, and SCPPA Members. 

PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023 by the following vote 
on roll call: 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: TRISHA ZIMMER 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 



MULTI-TASK CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY AND 

ASPEN ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP 

This Consulting Services Agreement ("Agreement') is made by and between the 
Northern California Power Agency, a joint powers agency with its main office located at 651 
Commerce Drive, Roseville, CA 95678-6420 ("Agency") and Aspen Environmental Group, a 
corporation with its office located at 5020 Chesebro Rd, Suite 200, Agoura Hills, CA 91301 
("Consultant") (together sometimes referred to as the "Parties") as of _____ , 2023 
("Effective Date") in Roseville, California. 

Section 1. SERVICES. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, 
Consultant shall provide to Agency the services described in the Scope of Services attached 
hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein ("Services"), at the time and place and in the 
manner specified therein. 

1.1 

1.2 

1.3 

1.4 

1.5 

Term of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective 
Date and shall end when Consultant completes the Services, or no later than five 
(5) year from the date this Agreement was signed by Agency, whichever is 
shorter. 

Standard of Performance. Consultant shall perform the Services in the manner 
and according to the standards observed by a competent practitioner of the 
profession in which Consultant is engaged and for which Consultant is providing 
the Services. Consultant represents that it is licensed, qualified and experienced 
to provide the Services set forth herein. 

Assignment of Personnel. Consultant shall assign only competent personnel 
to perform the Services. In the event that Agency, in its sole discretion, at any 
time during the term of this Agreement, requests the reassignment of any such 
personnel, Consultant shall, immediately upon receiving written notice from 
Agency of such request, reassign such personnel. 

Services Provided. Services provided under this Agreement by Consultant may 
include Services directly to the Agency or, as requested by the Agency and 
consistent with the terms of this Agreement, to Agency members, Southern 
California Public Power Authority ("SCPPA") or SCPPA members. 

Request for Services. At such time that Agency determines to use Consultant's 
Services under this Agreement, Agency shall issue a Purchase Order. The 
Purchase Order shall identify the specific services to be performed ("Requested 
Services"), may include a not-to-exceed monetary cap on Requested Services 
and expenditures authorized by that Purchase Order, and a time by which the 
Requested Services shall be completed. Consultant shall have seven calendar 
days from the date of the Agency's issuance of the Purchase Order in which to 
respond in writing that Consultant chooses not to perform the Requested 
Services. If Consultant agrees to perform the Requested Services, begins to 
perform the Requested Services, or does not respond within the seven day 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 1 of 16 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 



period specified, then Consultant will have agreed to perform the Requested 
Services on the terms set forth in the Purchase Order, this Agreement and its 
Exhibits. 

Section 2. COMPENSATION. Agency hereby agrees to pay Consultant an amount NOT 
TO EXCEED ONE MILLION dollars ($1,000,000.00) for the Services, which shall include all 
fees, costs, expenses and other reimbursables, as set forth in Consultant's fee schedule, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B. This dollar amount is not a guarantee 
that Agency will pay that full amount to the Consultant, but is merely a limit of potential Agency 
expenditures under this Agreement. 

2.1 

2.2 

2.3 

Invoices. Consultant shall submit invoices, not more often than once a month 
during the term of this Agreement, based on the cost for services performed and 
reimbursable costs incurred prior to the invoice date. Invoices shall contain the 
following information: 

■ The beginning and ending dates of the billing period; 
■ Services performed; 
■ The Purchase Order number authorizing the Services; 
■ At Agency's option, the total number of hours of work performed under 

the Agreement by Consultant and each employee, agent, and 
subcontractor of Consultant performing services hereunder; and 

• At Agency's option, when the Consultant's Scope of Work identifies tasks, 
for each work item in each task, a copy of the applicable time entries 
showing the name of the person doing the work, the hours spent by each 
person, a brief description of the work, and each reimbursable expense, 
with supporting documentation, to Agency's reasonable satisfaction. 

Invoices shall be sentto: 

Northern California Power Agency 
651 Commerce Drive 
Roseville, California 95678 
Attn: Accounts Payable 
AcctsPayable@ncpa.com 

Monthly Payment. Agency shall make monthly payments, based on invoices 
received, for services satisfactorily performed, and for authorized reimbursable 
costs incurred. Agency shall have thirty (30) days from the receipt of an invoice 
that complies with all of the requirements above to pay Consultant. 

Payment of Taxes. Consultant is solely responsible for the payment of all 
federal, state and local taxes, including employment taxes, incurred under this 
Agreement. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 2 of 16 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 



2.4 Authorization to Perform Services. The Consultant is not authorized to 
perform any Services or incur any costs whatsoever under the terms of this 
Agreement until receipt of written authorization from the Contract Administrator. 

2.5 Timing for Submittal of Final Invoice. Consultant shall have ninety (90) days 
after completion of its Services to submit its final invoice for the Requested 
Services. In the event Consultant fails to submit an invoice to Agency for any 
amounts due within the ninety (90) day period, Consultant is deemed to have 
waived its right to collect its final payment from Agency. 

Section 3. FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT. Except as set forth herein, Consultant shall, at 
its sole cost and expense, provide all facilities and equipment that may be necessary to perform 
the Services. 

Section 4. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. Before beginning any work under this 
Agreement, Consultant, at its own cost and expense, shall procure the types and amounts of 
insurance listed below and shall maintain the types and amounts of insurance listed below for 
the period covered by this Agreement. 

4.1 Workers' Compensation. If Consultant employs any person, Consultant shall 
maintain Statutory Workers' Compensation Insurance and Employer's Liability 
Insurance for any and all persons employed directly or indirectly by Consultant 
with limits of not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) per accident. 

4.2 Commercial General and Automobile Liability Insurance. 

4.2.1 Commercial General Insurance. Consultant shall maintain commercial 
general liability insurance for the term of this Agreement, including 
products liability, covering any loss or liability, including the cost of 
defense of any action, for bodily injury, death, personal injury and broad 
form property damage which may arise out of the operations of 
Consultant. The policy shall provide a minimum limit of $2,000,000 per 
occurrence/$2,000,000 aggregate. Commercial general coverage shall 
be at least as broad as ISO Commercial General Liability form CG 0001 
(current edition) on "an occurrence" basis covering comprehensive 
General Liability, with a self-insured retention or deductible of no more 
than $100,000. No endorsement shall be attached limiting the coverage. 

4.2.2 Automobile Liability. Consultant shall maintain automobile liability 
insurance form CA 0001 (current edition) for the term of this Agreement 
covering any loss or liability, including the cost of defense of any action, 
arising from the operation, maintenance or use of any vehicle (symbol 1 ), 
whether or not owned by the Consultant, on or off Agency premises. The 
policy shall provide a minimum limit of $2,000,000 per each accident, with 
a self-insured retention or deductible of no more than $100,000. This 
insurance shall provide contractual liability covering all motor vehicles and 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 3 of 16 



4.3 

4.4 

mobile equipment to the extent coverage may be excluded from general 
liability insurance. 

4.2.3 General Liability/Umbrella Insurance. The coverage amounts set forth 
above may be met by a combination of underlying and umbrella policies 
as long as in combination the limits equal or exceed those stated. 

Professional Liability Insurance. Consultant shall maintain professional 
liability insurance appropriate to Consultant's profession performing work in 
connection with this Agreement in an amount not less than one million dollars 
($1,000,000) and two million dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate covering the 
Consultant's errors and omissions. Any deductible or self-insured retention shall 
not exceed two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000) per claim. Such 
insurance shall be on a "claims-made" basis, subject to the following conditions: 
(1) the retroactive date of the policy shall be on or before the Effective Date of 
this Agreement; (2) the policy shall be maintained for at least five (5) years after 
completion of the Services and, if requested by Agency, evidence of coverage 
shall be provided during this period; and (3) if, within five (5) years of completion 
of the Services, coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with 
another claims-made policy form with a retroactive date prior to the Effective 
Date of this Agreement, Consultant shall purchase "extended reporting" coverage 
for a minimum of five (5) years after completion of the Services and, if requested 
by Agency, provide evidence of coverage during this period. 

All Policies Requirements. 

4.4.1 Verification of coverage. Prior to beginning any work under this 
Agreement, Consultant shall provide Agency with (1) a Certificate of 
Insurance that demonstrates compliance with all applicable insurance 
provisions contained herein and (2) policy endorsements to the policies 
referenced in Section 4.2, adding the Agency as an additional insured 
and declaring such insurance primary in regard to work performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

4.4.2 Notice of Reduction in or Cancellation of Coverage. Consultant shall 
provide at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to Agency of any 
reduction in scope or amount, cancellation, or modification adverse to 
Agency of the policies referenced in Section 4. 

4.4.3 Higher Limits. If Consultant maintains higher limits than the minimums 
specified herein, the Agency shall be entitled to coverage for the higher 
limits maintained by the Consultant. 

4.4.4 Additional Certificates and Endorsements. If Consultant provides 
services to Agency members, SCPPA, and/or SCPPA members pursuant 
to this Agreement, Consultant shall provide certificates of insurance and 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 4 of 16 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 



policy endorsements, as referenced in Section 4.4. 1, naming the specific 
Agency member, SCPPA or SCPPA member. 

4.4.5 Waiver of Subrogation. Consultant agrees to waive subrogation which 
any insurer of Consultant may acquire from Consultant by virtue of the 
payment of any loss. Consultant agrees to obtain any endorsement that 
may be necessary to effect this waiver of subrogation. In addition, the 
Workers' Compensation policy shall be endorsed with a waiver of 
subrogation in favor of Agency for all work performed by Consultant, its 
employees, agents and subcontractors. 

4.5 Consultant's Obligation. Consultant shall be solely responsible for ensuring 
that all equipment, vehicles and other items utilized in the performance of 
Services are operated, provided or otherwise utilized in a manner that ensues 
they are and remain covered by the policies referenced in Section 4 during this 
Agreement. Consultant shall also ensure that all workers involved in the 
provision of Services are properly classified as employees, agents or 
independent contractors and are and remain covered by any and all workers' 
compensation insurance required by applicable law during this Agreement. 

Section 5. INDEMNIFICATION AND CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES. 

5.1 Effect of Insurance. Agency's acceptance of insurance certificates and 
endorsements required under this Agreement does not relieve Consultant from 
liability under this indemnification and hold harmless clause. This indemnification 
and hold harmless clause shall apply to any damages or claims for damages 
whether or not such insurance policies shall have been determined to apply. By 
execution of this Agreement, Consultant acknowledges and agrees to the 
provisions of this Section and that it is a material element of consideration. 

5.2 Scope. Consultant shall indemnify, defend with counsel reasonably acceptable 
to the Agency, and hold harmless the Agency, and its officials, commissioners, 
officers, employees, agents and volunteers from and against all losses, liabilities, 
claims, demands, suits, actions, damages, expenses, penalties, fines, costs 
(including without limitation costs and fees of litigation), judgments and causes of 
action of every nature arising out of or in connection with any negligent acts or 
omissions by Consultant, its officers, officials, agents, and employees, except as 
caused by the sole or gross negligence of Agency. Notwithstanding, should this 
Agreement be construed as a construction agreement under Civil Code section 
2783, then the exception referenced above shall also be for the active negligence 
of Agency. 

Section 6. STATUS OF CONSULTANT. 

6.1 Independent Contractor. Consultant is an independent contractor and not an 
employee of Agency. Agency shall have the right to control Consultant only 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 5 of 16 



insofar as the results of Consultant's Services and assignment of personnel 
pursuant to Section 1; otherwise, Agency shall not have the right to control the 
means by which Consultant accomplishes Services rendered pursuant to this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding any other Agency, state, or federal policy, rule, 
regulation, law, or ordinance to the contrary, Consultant and any of its 
employees, agents, and subcontractors providing services under this Agreement 
shall not qualify for or become entitled to, and hereby agree to waive any and all 
claims to, any compensation, benefit, or any incident of employment by Agency, 
including but not limited to eligibility to enroll in the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS) as an employee of Agency and entitlement to any 
contribution to be paid by Agency for employer contributions and/or employee 
contributions for PERS benefits. 

Consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Agency for the payment of 
any employee and/or employer contributions for PERS benefits on behalf of 
Consultant or its employees, agents, or subcontractors, as well as for the 
payment of any penalties and interest on such contributions, which would 
otherwise be the responsibility of Agency. Consultant and Agency acknowledge 
and agree that compensation paid by Agency to Consultant under this 
Agreement is based upon Consultant's estimated costs of providing the Services, 
including salaries and benefits of employees, agents and subcontractors of 
Consultant. 

Consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Agency from any lawsuit, 
administrative action, or other claim for penalties, losses, costs, damages, 
expense and liability of every kind, nature and description that arise out of, 
pertain to, or relate to such claims, whether directly or indirectly, due to 
Consultant's failure to secure workers' compensation insurance for its employees 
or agents or require subcontractors to secure workers' compensation insurance 
for its employees. 

Consultant agrees that it is responsible for the provision of group healthcare 
benefits to its fulltime employees under 26 U.S.C. § 4980H of the Affordable 
Care Act. To the extent permitted by law, Consultant shall indemnify, defend and 
hold harmless Agency from any penalty issued to Agency under the Affordable 
Care Act resulting from the performance of the Services by any employee, agent, 
or subcontractor of Consultant. 

6.2 Consultant Not Agent. Except as Agency may specify in writing, Consultant 
shall have no authority, express or implied, to act on behalf of Agency in any 
capacity whatsoever as an agent. Consultant shall have no authority, express or 
implied, pursuant to this Agreement to bind Agency to any obligation whatsoever. 

6.3 Assignment and Subcontracting. This Agreement contemplates personal 
performance by Consultant and is based upon a determination of Consultant's 
unique professional competence, experience, and specialized professional 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 6 of 16 



6.4 

Section 7. 

7.1 

7.2 

7.3 

Section 8. 

8.1 

knowledge. A substantial inducement to Agency for entering into this Agreement 
was and is the personal reputation and competence of Consultant. Consultant 
may not assign this Agreement or any interest therein without the prior written 
approval of the Agency. Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the 
performance contemplated and provided for herein, other than to the 
subcontractors identified in Exhibit A, without prior written approval of the 
Agency. Where written approval is granted by the Agency, Consultant shall 
supervise all work subcontracted by Consultant in performing the services and 
shall be responsible for all work performed by a subcontractor as if Consultant 
itself had performed such work. The subcontracting of any work to 
subcontractors shall not relieve Consultant from any of its obligations under this 
Agreement with respect to the services and Consultant is obligated to ensure that 
any and all subcontractors performing any services shall be fully insured in all 
respects and to the same extent as set forth under Section 4, to Agency's 
satisfaction. 

Certification as to California Energy Commission. If requested by the 
Agency, Consultant shall, at the same time it executes this Agreement, execute 
Exhibit C. 

LEGAL REQUIREMENTS. 

Governing Law. The laws of the State of California shall govern this 
Agreement. 

Compliance with Applicable Laws. Consultant and its subcontractors and 
agents, if any, shall comply with all laws applicable to the performance of the 
work hereunder. 

Licenses and Permits. Consultant represents and warrants to Agency that 
Consultant and its employees, agents, and subcontractors (if any) have and will 
maintain at their sole expense during the term of this Agreement all licenses, 
permits, qualifications, and approvals of whatever nature that are legally required 
to practice their respective professions. 

TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION. 

Termination. Agency may cancel this Agreement at any time and without cause 
upon ten (10) days prior written notice to Consultant. 

In the event of termination, Consultant shall be entitled to compensation for 
Services satisfactorily completed as of the effective date of termination; Agency, 
however, may condition payment of such compensation upon Consultant 
delivering to Agency any or all records or documents, as referenced in Section 
9.1 hereof. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 7 of 16 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 



8.2 Amendments. The Parties may amend this Agreement only by a writing signed 
by all the Parties. 

8.3 Survival. All obligations arising prior to the termination of this Agreement and all 
provisions of this Agreement allocating liability between Agency and Consultant 
shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

8.4 Options upon Breach by Consultant. If Consultant materially breaches any of 
the terms of this Agreement, including but not limited to those set forth in Section 
4, Agency's remedies shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

Section 9. 

9.1 

9.2 

9.3 

8.4.1 Immediately terminate the Agreement; 

8.4.2 Retain the plans, specifications, drawings, reports, design documents, 
and any other work product prepared by Consultant pursuant to this 
Agreement; 

8.4.3 Retain a different consultant to complete the Services not finished by 
Consu_ltant; and/or 

8.4.4 Charge Consultant the difference between the costs to complete the 
Services that is unfinished at the time of breach and the amount that 
Agency would have paid Consultant pursuant hereto if Consultant had 
completed the Services. 

KEEPING AND STATUS OF RECORDS. 

Records Created as Part of Consultant's Performance. All reports, data, 
maps, models, charts, studies, surveys, photographs, memoranda, plans, 
studies, specifications, records, files, or any other documents or materials, in 
electronic or any other form, that Consultant prepares or obtains pursuant to this 
Agreement and that relate to the matters covered hereunder shall be the property 
of the Agency. Consultant hereby agrees to deliver those documents to the 
Agency upon termination of the Agreement. Agency and Consultant agree that, 
unless approved by Agency in writing, Consultant shall not release to any non
parties to this Agreement any data, plans, specifications, reports and other 
documents. 

Consultant's Books and Records. Consultant shall maintain any and all 
records or other documents evidencing or relating to charges for Services or 
expenditures and disbursements charged to the Agency under this Agreement 
for a minimum of three (3) years, or for any longer period required by law, from 
the date of final payment to the Consultant to this Agreement. 

Inspection and Audit of Records. Any records or documents that this 
Agreement requires Consultant to maintain shall be made available for 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 8 of 16 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 



inspection, audit, and/or copying at any time during regular business hours, upon 
oral or written request of the Agency. Under California Government Code 
Section 8546. 7, if the amount of public funds expended under this Agreement 
exceeds ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00), the Agreement shall be subject to 
the examination and audit of the State Auditor, at the request of Agency or as 
part of any audit of the Agency, for a period of three (3) years after final payment 
under the Agreement. 

9.4 Confidential Information and Disclosure. 

9.4.1 Confidential Information. The term "Confidential Information", as used 
herein, shall mean any and all confidential, proprietary, or trade secret 
information, whether written, recorded, electronic, oral or otherwise, 
where the Confidential Information is made available in a tangible 
medium of expression and marked in a prominent location as confidential, 
proprietary and/or trade secret information. Confidential Information shall 
not include information that: (a) was already known to the Receiving Party 
or is otherwise a matter of public knowledge, (b) was disclosed to 
Receiving Party by a third party without violating any confidentiality 
agreement, (c) was independently developed by Receiving Party without 
reverse engineering, as evidenced by written records thereof, or (d) was 
not marked as confidential Information in accordance with this section. 

9.4.2 Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information. During the term of this 
Agreement, either party may disclose ("The Disclosing Party") confidential 
Information to the other party ("the Receiving Party"). The Receiving 
Party: (a) shall hold the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information in 
confident; and (b) shall take all reasonable steps to prevent any 
unauthorized possession, use, copying, transfer or disclosure of such 
Confidential Information. 

9.4.3 Permitted Disclosure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following 
disclosures of Confidential Information are allowed. Receiving Party shall 
endeavor to provide prior written notice to Disclosing Party of any 
permitted disclosure made pursuant to Section 9.4.3.2 or 9.4.3.3. 
Disclosing Party may seek a protective order, including without limitation, 
a temporary restraining order to prevent or contest such permitted 
disclosure; provided, however, that Disclosing Party shall seek such 
remedies at its sole expense. Neither party shall have any liability for 
such permitted disclosures: 

9.4.3.1 Disclosure to employees, agents, consultants, contractors, 
subcontractors or other representatives of Receiving Party that 
have a need to know in connection with this Agreement. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 9 of 16 



9.4.3.2 Disclosure in response to a valid order of a court, government or 
regulatory agency or as may otherwise be required by law; and 

9.4.3.3 Disclosure by Agency in response to a request pursuant to the 
California Public Records Act. 

9.4.4 Handling of Confidential Information. Upon conclusion or termination 
of the Agreement, Receiving Party shall return to Disclosing Party or 
destroy Confidential Information (including all copies thereof), if requested 
by Disclosing Party in writing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Receiving Party may retain copies of such Confidential Information, 
subject to the confidentiality provisions of this Agreement: (a) for archival 
purposes in its computer system; (b) in its legal department files; and (c) 
in files of Receiving Party's representatives where such copies are 
necessary to comply with applicable law. Party shall not disclose the 
Disclosing Party's Information to any person other than those of the 
Receiving Party's employees, agents, consultants, contractors and 
subcontractors who have a need to know in connection with this 
Agreement. 

Section 10. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

10.1 Attorneys' Fees. If a party to this Agreement brings any action, including an 
action for declaratory relief, to enforce or interpret the provision of this 
Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees in 
addition to any other relief to which that party may be entitled. The court may set 
such fees in the same action or in a separate action brought for that purpose. 

10.2 Venue. In the event that either party brings any action against the other under 
this Agreement, the Parties agree that trial of such action shall be vested 
exclusively in the state courts of California in the County of Placer or in the 
United States District Court for the Eastern District of California. 

10.3 Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or rules that any provision 
of this Agreement is invalid, void, or unenforceable, the provisions of this 
Agreement not so adjudged shall remain in full force and effect. The invalidity in 
whole or in part of any provision of this Agreement shall not void or affect the 
validity of any other provision of this Agreement. 

10.4 No Implied Waiver of Breach. The waiver of any breach of a specific provision 
of this Agreement does not constitute a waiver of any other breach of that term or 
any other term of this Agreement. 

10.5 Successors and Assigns. The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the 
benefit of and shall apply to and bind the successors and assigns of the Parties. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 10 of 16 



10.6 Conflict of Interest. Consultant may serve other clients, but none whose 
activities within the corporate limits of Agency or whose business, regardless of 
location, would place Consultant in a "conflict of interest," as that term is defined 
in the Political Reform Act, codified at California Government Code Section 
81000 et seq. 

Consultant shall not employ any Agency official in the work performed pursuant 
to this Agreement. No officer or employee of Agency shall have any financial 
interest in this Agreement that would violate California Government Code 
Sections 1090 et seq. 

10.7 Contract Administrator. This Agreement shall be administered by the Assistant 
General Manager of Generation Services, or his/her designee, who shall act as 
the Agency's representative. All correspondence shall be directed to or through 
the representative. 

10.8 Notices. Any written notice to Consultant shall be sent to: 

Neda R. Delmont 
coo 
Aspen Environmental Group 
5010 Chesebro Rd, Suite 200 
Agoura Hills, CA 91301 

Any written notice to Agency shall be sent to: 

Randy S. Howard 
General Manager 
Northern California Power Agency 
651 Commerce Drive 
Roseville, CA 95678 

With a copy to: 

Jane E. Luckhardt 
General Counsel 
Northern California Power Agency 
651 Commerce Drive 
Roseville, CA 95678 

10.9 Professional Seal. Where applicable in the determination of the Agency, the 
first page of a technical report, first page of design specifications, and each page 
of construction drawings shall be stamped/sealed and signed by the licensed 
professional responsible for the report/design preparation. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 11 of 16 



10.10 Integration; Incorporation. This Agreement, including all the exhibits attached 
hereto, represents the entire and integrated agreement between Agency and 
Consultant and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or 
agreements, either written or oral. All exhibits attached hereto are incorporated 
by reference herein. 

10.11 Alternative Dispute Resolution. If any dispute arises between the Parties that 
cannot be settled after engaging in good faith negotiations, Agency and 
Consultant agree to resolve the dispute in accordance with the following: 

10.11.1 

10.11.2 

10.11.3 

10.11.4 

10.11.5 

10.11.6 

Each party shall designate a senior management or executive 
level representative to negotiate any dispute; 

The representatives shall attempt, through good faith negotiations, 
to resolve the dispute by any means within their authority. 

If the issue remains unresolved after fifteen (15) days of good faith 
negotiations, the Parties shall attempt to resolve the disagreement 
by negotiation between legal counsel. If the above process fails, 
the Parties shall resolve any remaining disputes through 
mediation to expedite the resolution of the dispute. 

The mediation process shall provide for the selection within fifteen 
(15) days by both Parties of a disinterested third person as 
mediator, shall be commenced within thirty (30) days and shall be 
concluded within fifteen (15) days from the commencement of the 
mediation. 

The Parties shall equally bear the costs of any third party in any 
alternative dispute resolution process. 

The alternative dispute resolution process is a material condition 
to this Agreement and must be exhausted as an administrative 
prior to either Party initiating legal action. This alternative dispute 
resolution process is not intended to nor shall be construed to 
change the time periods for filing a claim or action specified by 
Government Code§§ 900 et seq. 

10.12 Controlling Provisions. In the case of any conflict between the terms of this 
Agreement and the Exhibits hereto, a Purchase Order, or Consultant's Proposal 
(if any), the Agreement shall control. In the case of any conflict between the 
Exhibits hereto and a Purchase Order or the Consultant's Proposal, the Exhibits 
shall control. In the case of any conflict between the terms of a Purchase Order 
and the Consultant's Proposal, the Purchase Order shall control. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 12 of 16 



10.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each 
of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute one 
agreement. 

10.14 Construction of Agreement. Each party hereto has had an equivalent 
opportunity to participate in the drafting of the Agreement and/or to consult with 
legal counsel. Therefore, the usual construction of an agreement against the 
drafting party shall not apply hereto. 

10.15 No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is made solely for the benefit of 
the parties hereto, with no intent to benefit any non-signator third parties. 
However, should Consultant provide Services to an Agency member, SCCPA 
and/or a SCPPA member (collectively for the purposes of this section only 
"Member") pursuant to section 1.4, the parties recognize that such Member may 
be a third party beneficiary solely as to the Purchase Order and Requested 
Services relating to such Member. 

The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date signed by the Agency. 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY ASPEN ENVIRONMENTAL GROUP 

Date Date __________ _ 

RANDY S. HOWARD 
General Manager 

Attest: 

Assistant Secretary of the Commission 

Approved as to Form: 

Jane E. Luckhardt, General Counsel 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev' d 7/9/2019 

------------

NEDA R. DELMONT 
coo 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 13 of 16 



EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

As requested by the Northern California Power Agency (Agency), Aspen Environmental Group 
shall provide integrated energy analysis and planning services at any facilities owned and/or 
operated by Agency, its Members, Southern California Public Power Authority (SCPPA) or its 
Members. 

Services to include, but not be limited to the following: 

• Electric System Resource Planning and Policy Assessment 
• Regulatory Policy and Compliance 
• Demand Forecasting and Energy Efficiency Program Evaluation 
• Hydropower Relicensing Evaluation 
• . Natural Gas resource Planning and Policy Assessment 
• Global Climate Change 
• Impact Assessment 
• Mitigation Services 
• Environmental Compliance 
• Utility-related Market, Financial, and Economic Analysis 

All work provided by vendor on behalf of NCPA's Lodi Energy Center shall be performed 
remotely and vendor will not come on site. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 14 of 16 



EXHIBIT B 

COMPENSATION SCHEDULE AND HOURLY FEES 

Compensation for all tasks, including hourly fees and expenses, shall not exceed the amount 
set forth in Section 2 of the Agreement. The hourly rates and or compensation break down and 
an estimated amount of expenses is as follows: 

Classification Individual Hourly Rate 
Project Manager/Director Catherine Elder 330.00 
Special Consultants Karen Lang/Rick Brown 294.00 
Senior Consultant Michael Pretto 195.00 
Senior Associate/Economist Joe Long 177.00 
Accounting/Admin Support Sevan Koshkarian 164.00 

Consultant will increase the above-listed rates listed by 3% each July 1st for the duration of the 
agreement beginning in 2024. 

Pricing for services to be performed at NCPA Member or SCPPA locations will be quoted at the 
time services are requested. 

NOTE: As a public agency, NCPA shall not reimburse Consultant for travel, food and related 
costs in excess of those permitted by the Internal Revenue Service. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 15 of 16 



EXHIBIT C - NOT APPLICABLE 

CERTIFICATION 

Affidavit of Compliance for Contractors 

I, ---------------------------------
(Name of person signing affidavit)(Title) 

do hereby certify that background investigations to ascertain the accuracy of the identity 
and employment history of all employees of 

(Company name) 

for contract work at: 

LODI ENERGY CENTER 12745 N. THORNTON ROAD, LODI, CA 95242 

(Project name and location) 

have been conducted as required by the California Energy Commission Decision for the 
above-named project. 

(Signature of officer or agent) 

Dated this ________ day of ________ , 20 __ _ 

THIS AFFIDAVIT OF COMPLIANCE SHALL BE APPENDED TO THE PROJECT SECURITY 
PLAN AND SHALL BE RETAINED AT ALL TIMES AT THE PROJECT SITE FOR REVIEW BY 
THE CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION COMPLIANCE PROJECT MANAGER. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Aspen Environmental Group. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

GS-VEN-2023-011 

Page 16 of 16 



PUS ll C AGENCY 

CPA 

Commission Staff Report 

COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: 2023 Steam Field Operation and Generation Forecast, Applicable to the 
following: NCPA Geothermal Facility 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Consent 

FROM: Michael DeBortoli ·~ 

Assistant General Manager 

METHOD OF SELECTION: 

NIA 

Division: Generation Services If other, please describe: 

Department: Geothermal 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members □ City of Lodi IZl City of Shasta Lake 

Alameda Municipal Power IZl City of Lompoc IZl City of Ukiah 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs IZl City of Redding □ Port of Oakland 

City of Gridley lZI City of Roseville lZl Truckee Donner PUD 

City of Healdsburg IZl City of Santa Clara IZl Other 

□ 

IZl 

IZl 

□ 

□ 

IZl 

If other, please specify Turlock 

SR: 161:23 

\3 



May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-45 authorizing the 2023 Steam Field Operations and Forecast Report 
dated May 2023 as the Geothermal Operating Protocol effective July 1, 2023. This Operating 
Protocol is to remain in effect until replaced by the Commission. 

BACKGROUND: 

The 2022 Operating Protocol for NCPA's Geothermal Facility used a two-zone strategy with 
wells on the west side of the NCPA lease producing to Plant #1, Units #1 and #2, while the wells 
on the east side of the NCPA lease produced to Plant #2, Unit #4. The 2022 Protocol allowed 
for reduction of load under the economic conditions listed below. 

• Day Ahead Market Prices are a minimum of negative $25 per MWhr. 

• The level of curtailment will be limited to 45 MW with discretion to adjust this level based 
on the steam field response. 

• Duration of the curtailment is to be .a minimum of 4 hours. 

• Curtailments are limited to once per calendar day. 

In 2023, the recommended Operating Protocol is to continue using the two-zone strategy, and 
operate Plants #1 and #2 at baseload conditions with the goal of maximizing generation. To 
clarify the criteria for any reduction in generating load, the following economic conditions are 
introduced into the 2023 Geothermal Operating Protocol. 

• Curtailing generation is an option that may occur only when the Day Ahead Market 
Prices are a minimum of negative $25 per MWhr and Net of the Renewable Energy 
Credit (REC) value. 

• The level of curtailment will be limited to 45 MW with discretion to adjust this level based 
on the steam field response. 

• Duration of the curtailment is to be a minimum of 4 hours. 

• Curtailments are limited to once per calendar day. 

This Protocol establishes a 2023 annual peak generation target of 101.5 gross MW. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The approved FY 2024 Geothermal budget covers the proposed action. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

This activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the 
physical environment and is therefore, not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 the 
California Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary. 

SR: 161:23 



May 25, 2023 
Page 3 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

The recommendation above was reviewed by the Facilities Committee on May 3, 2023. Due to 
the lack of a quorum, no formal action was taken, however, the Members present at the meeting 
voiced their support for the recommendation, and no other meeting attendees had any 
objections. 

Respectfully submitted, 

~~ ~ I~ 
RANDY S. HOWARD 
General Manager 

Attachments: 
• Resolution 23-45 
• 2023 Steam Field Operations and Forecast Report 

SR: 161:23 



RESOLUTION 23-45 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING THE 2023 STEAM FIELD OPERATIONS FORECAST REPORT AS THE 2023 

GEOTHERMAL OPERATING PROTOCOL 

(reference Staff Report #161 :23) 

WHEREAS, the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) operates and maintains on behalf of the project 
owners a Geothermal Facility near Middletown, CA, consisting of two power plants with containment areas, and 79 steam 
production and injection wells connected by roads; and 

WHEREAS, the 2023 Steam Field Operations Forecast Report is an in-depth study of The Geysers reservoir 
relative to the operation of NCPA's Geothermal facility and provides a generation forecast of the facility; and 

WHEREAS, this report will act as the Operating Protocol for NCPA's Geothermal facility, with the goal of 
maximizing the generation output. The Operating Protocol currently uses a two-zone strategy to operate NCPA Plants #1 
and #2 under baseload conditions. This Protocol maximizes generation while allowing for scheduling flexibility and 
reduction of load under the proper economic conditions; and 

WHEREAS, for 2023, NCPA proposes to continue using the two-zone strategy, while introducing the following 
proper economic conditions into the 2023 Geothermal Operating Protocol: 

• Curtailing generation is an option that may occur only when the Day Ahead Market Prices are a minimum 
of negative $25 per MWhr and Net of the Renewable Energy Credit (REC) value. 

• The level of curtailment will be limited to 45 MW witn discretion to adjust this level based on the steam 
field response. 

• Duration of the curtailment is to be a minimum of 4 hours. 
• Curtailments are limited to once per calendar day; and 

WHEREAS, the Operating Protocol establishes a 2023 annual peak generation target of 101.5 gross MW; and 

WHEREAS, the approved FY 2024 Geothermal budget covers the proposed action; and 

WHEREAS, this activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the physical 
environment and is therefore, not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 the California Environmental Quality Act. No 
environmental review is necessary; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency adopts 
the Steam Field Operations and Forecast Report dated May 2023 as the Geothermal Operating Protocol effective July 1, 
2023, to remain in effect until replaced by the Commission. 

call: 
PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023, by the following vote on roll 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

Vote Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: TRISHA ZIMMER 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 



I 
I 
1, 

w 

CPA 
NORTHERN CALIFO,RNIA POWER AGENCY 

Steam Field Operations 
& Forecast Report - May· 2023 



NCPA 
Generation Services - Geothermal Facilities 

Steam Field Operations and Forecast Report 

May2023 

Table of Contents 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

I. STEAM FIELD OPERATIONS 

A. Overview Of 2022 Production and Injection 
B. Water Injection Program 
C. Geothermal Operating Plan 

II. 2022 RESERVOIR PERFORMANCE & 2023 GENERATION FORECAST 

A. Reservoir Pressure Distribution 
B. ·Reservoir Pressure and Flowrate Decline 
C. 2022 Generation Review 
D. 2023 Generation Forecast 

SUMMARY 

List of Figures & Tables 

Figures 1-15 

Table 1 - Annual Report ofNCPA Injection at The Geysers 2022 

Table 2 - Geothermal Facilities Summary 

Table 3 - Reservoir Pressure 

Table 4 - NCG Concentration 

Table 5 - 2023 Generation Forecast - 25 Years 

Table SA· - 2023 Average Generation Capacity-25 Years 

Table SB - 2023 Scheduled Outages - 25 Years 

Table 6 - 2023 Generation Forecast - 5 Years 

Table 6A-2023 Average Generation Capacity- 5 Years 

Table 7 - 2023 Forecast of Geothermal Production and Injection 

l 

2 

2 
3 
7 

7 

8 
8 
8 
8 

9 

10-24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

33 

34 



NCPA 
· Generation Services Business u·nit 

Steam Field Operations and Forecast Report 

May 2023 

Executive Summary 

This report provides an update on the status of the NCPA Geothermal Project. 1bere are two 
main sections: 

I. A review of steam field operations; the water injection program, and the 
Geothermal Operating Plan. 

II. A review of 2022 reservoir perfonnance with a g~~eration forecast for 2023. 

Analysis of geothermal reservoir during 2022 shows that steam producti9n is still an 0.8% 
harmonic decline rate. The peak generating capacity for 2022 was 103.9 MW gross or 96.5 
MW net. Net generation for the year was 764 GWhrs. 

Water injection continues to be essential in maintaining reservoir pressure and mitigating 
steam production decline rates. In 2022, the average water injection rate was 1 ;225 gpm. 
This water was composed of wastewater from the Southeast Geysers Effluent Pipeline 
(SEGEP) and steam condensate from the power plants. The SEGEP wastewater that is piped 
to the Geysers is shared between NCPA and a nearby power producer, Calpine. NCPA 
received 32.2% of the wastewater delivered in 2022. The amount of wastewater injected into 
the NCPA lease has been intentionally reduced over the last three years. Numerical 
modeling of the field indicated that reduced injection would result in higher steam 
production. The reduced steam decline rate appears to be evidence of this effect. 

Drought conditions have impacted water injection over the last three years. At times, the 
Southeast Effluent Pipeline (SEGEP) has provided up to 75% of the water injected into the 
reservoir for pressure suppo1t and steam reserves. The drought conditions limited the amount 
of available water because it is composed of approximately 40% secondary treated 
wastewater and 60% freshwater pulled from Clearlake. During times of drought, the 
freshwater component becomes unavailable. In 2023, significant rain and snowfall have 
eliminated the drought conditions and freshwater will again become available starting on 
May 1, 2023. Numerical modeling studies will be performed to determine if increasing water 
injection on the NCPA lease is warranted and the field will continue to be closely monito1·ed 
for any changes in decline rate. 

The 2023 generation forecast projects the peak generating capacity to be 101.5 MW gross or · 
91.5 MW net for the year. NCPA geothermal facilities are forecast to generate 664.8 GWhrs 
net in 2023, For FY 2024, the net generation is forecast to be 743.8 GWhrs. The estimated 
25 year projected net reserves are 17,057 GWhrs. 

1 



I. STEAM FIELD OPERATIONS 

In Tl,is Section 

► Overview of Annual Production and Injection 
► Water Injection Program 
► Geothermal Operating Plan 

A. Overview of 2022 Production and Iniection 

NCPA continued to operate the Geothe1mal Project as a base load facility in 2022. Steam 
production for the year was 14.96 Glbs with water injection of 5.37 Glbs for an annual. 
mass replacement ratio of35.9%. Water injection on the NCPA lease is a combination of 
steam condensate recovered from the cooling towers and wastewater from the Southeast 
Geysers Effluent Pipeline (SEGEP). The water from the SEGEP pipeline is shared 
between NCPA and a nearby power producer. NCPA received 32.2% of the wastewater 
in 2022. The average total injection rate for NCPA decreased from 1,253 gpm in 2021 to 
1,225 gpm in 2022. · 

Reservoir modeling studies indicated that reduced injection would lead to increased 
steam production and higher reservoir pressures. As a result, water injection was 
curtailed from an average of3,500 gpm to less than 1,300 starting in August 2020. The 
intention was to improve reservoir conditions by causing a higher boil off rate and 
recovery of existing reserves. 

This curtailment of injection happened to coincide with drought conditions that existed 
from years 2020 through 2022. During this period the SEGEP pipeline lost access to 
freshwater from Clearlake and the pipeline operated at roughly one third its normal 
capacity. 

The cumulative.mass replacement ratio from plant startup in 1983 through 2022 was 
66.0% (Figure 1). The net mass withch-awal of steam from the reservoir (Mass Ptoduced 
less 'Mass Injected) through 2022 is 246.6 billion lbs. 

The average generation capacity level for 2022 was 92.9 MW gross or 87.2 MW net. 
These values were]ower than forecast capacity of 102.9 MW gross or 95.2 MW net. The 
lower capacity values are attributed to several transmission line outages and a Plant #2 
ovethaul that was longer than originally anticipated. 

Production Highlights during 2022 include: 

► The 2022 avetage gross generation level was 92.9 MW or 87 .2 MW net. 

► Average annual mass replacement in the reseryoir or the percentage of steam 
production replaced by water injection was 35.9% in 2022. 

2 



25.0 

20.0 i 

Ill 

ie 
= ii 

HJstorical NCPASteam Production and Water Injection Levels 
Figure 2 

16.0 15.S 

,,15.0 14.7 15.0 

13,6 
14.1 

Cll 
Cl 

::=. 
t .... 
el . 
~ 10.0 I 

ti 
! 
~ 
(IJ 

5.0 

0.0 
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

■ Steam Pl'oduced • Watel' Injected 

B. Water Iniection Program 

NCP A continues to operate the steam field in the manner intended to maximize the 
recovery of injected water. In order to maximize recovery, it is important to have 
sufficient water and distribute it over the widest pos~ible area of the field. It is also 
necessary to inject water at the lowest possible rate to maximize the heat transfer between 
the 1·eservoir rock and water. Other factors that weigh into water injection strategy are 
targeting hotter zones of the field and higher gas concentrations within the reservoir. The 
water injection program discusses NCPA's supplemental water source, the Southeast 
Geysers Effluent Pipeline (SEGEP), current inject~on operations, micro-earthquake 
activity and non-condensable gas trends. 

1. Southeast Gevsers Effluent Pipeline (SEGEP) 

The Southeast Geysers Effluent Pipeline (SEGEP) project is a pipeline bringing water to 
The Geysers for the purpose of supplementing water injection in the field. During 
normal years, NCPA receives an average 2,700 gpm out of 5,600 gpm water that is 
delivered. Injection of this water into The Geysers reservoir helps mitigate reservoir 
pressure declines and increases steam reserves. Figure 6 shows the historical SEGEP 
deliveries for NCPA and the total for the project. 

3 



California has experienced drought conditions over the last three years and as result, the 
water available from SEGEP has been severely restricted. During normal years, SEGEP 
wastewater is comprised a combination of secondary treated wastewater and freshwater 
taken from Clearlake. Due to the drought, the water available for injection was 100% 
secondary treated wastewater in 2022 and the freshwater component was unavailable. 

The freshwater component of SEGEP is the main variable in determining how much 
water is available for injectiop and subject to an annual restriction if the water level in 
Clearlake gets too low. The Rumsey gauge in Lakepolt is the official device measuring 
the lake level and ifit drops below 3.5 ft on May 1 of each year, the SEGEP pipeline 
loses access to any freshwater. The lake level was 8.04 ft on April 1, 2023 and it appears 
that freshwater will become available through May 1, 2024. 

Even with the reduced water inje~tion over the last several years, the reservoir has not 
been negatively impacted. In 2020, numerical modeling studies indicated that reduced 
water injection would increase recovery of reserves by increasing the boil off rate of 
pr~vious injected water. As a result, overall injection was intentionally reduced to 
approximately 40% of the pre-drought level and steam production increased about 100 
kph above expected levels. In 2023, additional numerical modeling will be done to 
determine if additional water injection is warranted and if so, what areas of the reservoir 
should be targeted. 

2. lniection Operations 

There were six different wells used for injection in 2022. The injection strategy 
continues to be an effort to spread water over large geographic area and limit injection 
rates down individual wells as much as possible. The 2022 overall injection rate of 
combined steam condensate and wastewater was 1,225 gpm and is a slight decrease from 
the 2021 rate of 1,253 gpm. 

Figure 7 shows the relative location of eight injection wells on the NCPA lease. Four of 
the wells, E-8, H-4, P-7, and Q-10, are only connected to the SEGEP pipeline a11d 
therefore receive only effluent or wastewater. The remaining four wells received a 
combination of condensate and wastewater. In 2022, H-4 was used as a production well 
and well P-7 was shut-in due to the limited amount of wastewater. Figure 8 and Table 1 
show the relative amounts and type of water each well received · in 2022. 

3. Micro-earthquake Activity 

Studies by the United States Geological Survey (USGS) and others have demonstrated 
that the steam production and water injection at The Geysers can cause frequent micro 
seismic events to occur. As a result, NCPA and the other operators are required to 
continuously monitor and report on the earthquakes that occur within The Geysers 
geothermal field. Figure 9 is a map showing the locations of the 683 seismic events of 
magnitude 1.5 and larger that occurred within The Geysers field during 2022. Fourteen 
of these events had an earthquake magnitude of 3.0 or greater. The largest seismic event 
was a magnitude 4.19 that occurred on the neighboring operator's lease. There were no 
seismic events of magnitude 3.0 or greater on the NCPA lease. 

4 



On the NCPA lease, there were 51 events ofM=l.5 or greater. The figure below shows 
the historical seismic activity for the NCPA lease from 2011 through 2022. The seismic 
activity for 2022 was significantly higher than in 2021. 

Historical.Seismic Activity on NCPA Lease 
Magnitude 1.5 or greater 

90 -.-- --- --- - --..__ _ ______ ________ _ 

81 
80 

70 --

"l 
~ 60 - -

"' -I & so -
.z: 
t: 
ftl 

; 40 
j 
E 30 -
i 

20· -

10 

«) ,_ 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

4. Non-condensable Gas (NCG) Trends 

2022 

Non-Condensable Gas (NCG) is a natural product of the reservoir and may be present in 
varying concentrations within the steam that is produced at The Geysers. NCG 
production reduces plant efficiency and increases chemical treatment costs. The values 
vary significantly based on operating gu,ideli.nes for the fie]d, plant outages, or injection 
strategy. Water irtjection in areas of high gas concentration generally reduces NCO 
production and improves plant efficiency. 

As shown in the graph below, NCG concentrations were up in 2022. Effo11s to reduce 
NCG production continue to require either increased injection or a more targeted 
approach in places to inject water. The SEGEP pipeline operated at a reduced level in 
2022 and NCG production increased as a result. In 2023, efforts will be made to target 
well pads E, P, and Q to reduc.ed NCG production. The figure below shows. the overall 
NCG levels while Figure 10 shows the relative changes throughout the field. 

5 



Historical Non-Condensable Gas (NCG} 
Concentrations on NCPA Lease 

5000 -r-----------------------
tt 4500 ~1~·---------------

14000 ----------------
~ 3376 t 3500 --2-9S_O_ rcrg7--3248 3069 3176 31cnr31-98··3[Jg-6-·-".,. 

+: 3000 •·I--==-

= ,. 
l 2soo 
~ 2000· 

8 1500 · -

8 1000 

Z 500 --

0 
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Year 

Injection Highlights during 2022 include: 

► Water injection continued at a reduced level in 2022 and averaged 1,225 gpm during 
the yeat·. 

► Starting in year 2020, the reduction in water injection w~s intentional as numerical 
modeling results indicated that reduced injection would eventually lead to increase 
steam production and a rebound in reservoir pressures and temperatures. 

► Freshwater from Clearlake is used to supplement the secondary treated wastewate~· 
delivered by the SEGEP pipeline. Freshwater was not available for injection over the 
last three years due to drought, but will become ava_ilable on May 1, 2024. Numerical 
modeling will be used to determine is additional injection is warranted on the NCPA 
lease. · 

► Non-condensable gas production was up m 2022. Targeted injection will be necessat-y 
to keep the NCG level from rising fuiiher in 2023. 

6 



C. Geothermal Operating Plan 

The Geothermal Project Operating Agreement requires the NCPA Commission to 
establish an Operating Plan and an annual operating level for the Geothermal Units. The 
purpose of the plan is to maximize the efficient use of the geothermal resource, protect the 
power plants and equipment, and meet all regulatory and permitting requirements. 

The cun-ent 2022 Geothe1mal Operating Protocol was recommended by the Coordinated 
Operating Group (COG), the Generation Services Business Unit, and the NCPA 
Commission and approved by the NCPA Commission during the· June 23, 2022 meeting. 
The Protocol used a two-zone strategy with wells on the west side of the NCPA lease 
producing to Plant #1, Units #1 and #2 while the wells on the east side of the NCPA lease 
produced to Plant #2, Unit #4. The 2022 Protocol also allowed for reduction of load 
under the economic conditions listed below. 

• Day Ahead Market Prices are a minimum of negative $25 per MWhr. 

• The level of curtailment will be limited to 45 MW with discretion to adjust this level 
based on the steam field response. 

• Duration of the cmiailment is to be a minimum of 4 hours. 

• Curtailments are limited to once per calendar day. 

In 2023, the recommended Operating Protocol is to continue using the two-zone strategy, 
operate Plants #1 and #2 at baseload conditions with the goal of maximizing generation. 
To clarify the 2023 Geothermal Operating Protocol, the following economic conditions 
are introduced. 

• Curtailing generation is an option that may occur only when the Day Ahead Market 
Prices are a minimum of negative .$25 per MWhr and Net of the Renewable Energy 
Credit (REC) value. 

• The level of curtailment will be limited to 45 MW with discretion to adjust this level 
based on the steam field response. 

• Duration of the cui1ailment is to be a minimum of 4 hours. 

• Curtailments are limited to once per calendar day. 

This Protocol establishes a 2023 annual peak generation target of 101.5 gross MW. 

2022 RESERVOIR PERFORMANCE REVIEW 

In This Section 
► Reservoir Pressure Distribution 
► Reservoir Pressure and Flowrate Decline 
► 2022 Generation Review 
► 2023 Generation Forecast 

Reservoir performance can be affected by a number of factors such as changes in the location 
or amount of water injected, the operating pressw-e of the field, gain or loss of production 

7 



wells, or changes in the operation of nearby competitor leases. The effects of these changes 
on the reservoir are normally monitored by conducting pressure build-up tests on production 
wells, tracer tests on injection wells, and a continuous review of pressure, temperature, and 
flowrate data from the field. This section will discuss recent changes in reservoir pressure 
distribution, reservoir pressure decline, and steam field flowrate decline. 

A. Reservoir Pressure Distribution 

One of the most important parameters in predicting and explaining reservoir performance is 
static reservoir pressure. Figure 11 shows areal pressure distributions of static reservoir 
pressmes for January 2021 and January 2022. In general, the majority ofyvells have shut-in 
pressures ranging from 60 to 80 psig. A low pressure area with wells having a shut-in 
pressure of less than 60 psig is developing in the center of the steam field. 

B. Reservoir Pressure a11d Flowrate Decline 

Changes in reservoir pressure over time are a function of the mass-replacement ratio. By 
injecting steam condensate and supplementing it with wastewater from the Southeast Geysers 
Project, the decline in reservoir pressures has moderated or slowed with time. · 

In 2022, shut-in ·pressures were either recorded or estimated for 57 wells. The estimated 
average wellhead shut-in pressure is 71.3 psig. The average well on the NCP A lease flows 
28,600 lb/hr at 40.2 psig. 

The projected flowrate decline is shown in Figure 13. In 2022, the overall steam production 
rate averaged 1,744 klbs/hr. The flow rate in 2023 is projected to be 1,705 klbs/hr. The 
overall steam field decline is still projected to be a harmonic 0.8% going forward. Reservoir 
parameters of steam flow, pressure and temperature will be closely monitored in the 
upcoming year to determine if the impact ofreduced water injection continuesto match the 
numerical modeling results. 

C. 2022 Generation Review 

Net generation for the NCPA Geo Facilities in 2022 was 764 GWhr. For FY 2023, the 
forecast net generation was 734 GWhrs, but Unit #1 has been down for repairs since March 
1, 2023 and the expected FY 2023 net generation is now expected to be around 654. l GWhr. 
The 2022 peak gross generation level was 103.9 MW while peak net generation level was 
96.SMW. . 

D. 2023 Generation Forecast 

The updated forecast of future reservoir performance, and the resulting energy generation 
forecast for the NCPA geothermal plants, was developed using decline curve analysis. 
Included in the forecast are: 

8 



1. Operation of the steam field in a two-zone operation. 

2. The continued benefits from the Southeast Geysers Effluent Pipeline Project. 

The most recently developed forecast of steam field operations is illustrated in Figure 12. This 
graph shows NCPA's 40-year historical data for both steam production and water injection, 
and forecasts of production and injection out to year 204 7. While total water injection is 
capable of replacing 100% of the annual steam production, water injection has been 
intentionally reduced to stimulate steam production. No negative effects to the reservoir from 
reduced injection rate have been observed and it's not certain when water injection will be 
increased again. Additional numerical modeling is recommended to study the long-term 
effects. 

The total amount of steam capable of being produced. by NCP A through year 204 7 is 
currently estimated at 333.4 billion pounds. Remaining net generation reserves are estimated 
to be 17,057 GWhr. Figures 14 and 15 respectively show the projected net generation 
capacity and total net generation amount for 2021 through 2046. Table 5 details the annual 
gross and net generation. A more detailed monthly five year forecast can be found in Table 
6. 

In 2023, it is estimated that the Geo Facilities will generate 664.8 GWhrs net. The peak 
gross and net generation capacity for the year are respectively projected to be 101.5 MW 
gross and 91.5 MW net.· For FY 2024,"the net generation amount is projected to be 743.8 
GWhrs. 

SUMMARY 

Steam Field Ope1Aations 

► The NCPA lease produced 14.96 Glbs steam while injecting 5.37 Glbs of water resulting in 
an average mass replacement of35.9% for the year. 

► The peak gro~s generation level for 2022 was 103.9 MW gross while the net generation level 
was 96.5 MW net. · · 

►. The average water injection decreased from 1,253 gpm in 2021 to 1,225 gpm ih 2022. 

2022 Reservoir Performance.Review 

► Average shut-in wellhead pressure for the NCPA lease was 71.3 psig. The average well 
produces 28.6 kph at 40.2 psig. 

► The steam field deliverability was 1,744 klbs/hr in 2022. The projected 2023 deliverability is 
1,705 klbs/hr. The projected harmonic decline rate going forward is 0.8%. 

2022 Generation Review and 2-023 Generation Forecast 

► Net generation for 2022 was 764 GWhrs. For FY 2023, net generation is projected to be 
654.1 GWhrs. 

9 



► The generation forecast covers the period from 2023-2047. Recoverable steam reserves ate 333.4 
billion pounds with the total amount ofremaining net generation estimated at 17,057 GWhr. 

► The peak gross generation capacity for 2023 is expected to be 101.5 MW or 91.5 MW net. 

► The net generation forecast for year 2023 is 664.8 GWhr net. For FY 2024, the net 
generation amount is projected to be 743.8 GWhrs. 

10 



FIGURE 1 
NCPA STEAMFIELD 

CUMULATIVE PRODUCTION AND INJECTION 

800 ,----------------------------------------

700 - ------------------------ -------------

600 ----------------- ---- ----------
TOTAL PRODUCTION 

725.6 BILLION POUNDS lsoor-------------------------~ 
0 
~ 400 r-------------------
:::i 
...I m 300 ,--------- -

200 -r----- -----

100 - -----

0 
I"> It> tp O> 'I"" I"> ; .... cp cp cp a.> a.> " C C C C C C C C 
ca al ca ca m m ca ca .., .., -, -, .., .., .., -, 

PRODUCTION 

INJECTION 
0) 'I"" fl') q ..... 
a.> q q q 
C C C C C m m m as m -, .., .., -, . ., 

DATE 

10 

0) 

c;, 
C m .., 

'I"" 
'I"" 

I 
C 
(I .., 

NET MASS WITHDRAWL 
246.6 BILLION POUNDS 
REPLACEMENT= 66.0% 

TOTAL INJECTION 
479 BILLION POUNDS 

ft) IO ..... 0) 

":■ .... "i .... 
I I 

C C C C as m al (I .., -, -, -, 

'I"" 

~ 
C m .., 

Historical Production & Injection Figures, 2-15-22 



rll 
..c -= 

25.0 

20.0 

Historical NCPA Steam Production and Water Injection Levels 
Figure 2 

o I 16.0 = 15.S -•JIIIIC = 15.0 II'\ 

rll 
rll 

~ .. 
~ 

~ 
~ 10.0 
a. 
0 

e = .e 
00 

5.0 

0.0 
2014 2015 

14.7 

2016 2017 2018 2019 

■ Steam Produced ■ Water Injected 

11 

13.6 
14.1 

2020 2021 

15.0 

2022 



-i 
:E 
G> z -"'i 
~ 

_J 

C 
0 

~ ... 
CD 
C 
Cl) 
C) 
Cl) 
C) 

I! 
CD 

~ 
ci :s 
C 
C 
<( 

Figure 3. Historical Power Generation Levels 
NCPA Geo Facilities 

120 -----------------------------------, 
111 111 

100 

80 

60 

40 

20 

0 
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

*Generation levels include downtime for unit outages and overhauls 

12 Fig-3 Power Generation History, 2-13-23 . 



2020 Gross Steam Utilization 
Figure 4 

25.00 .....-------------------------------

Plant #2 Overhaul 

20.00 ,~ 

f :e 
:c-a. 15.00 
~ .. 
C 
0 
+i 
m -~ -+i ::> 10.00 

E 
n, 
QJ 

~ 

5.00 

0.00 
Jan-22 Mar-22 May-22 Jul-22 Sep-22 Nov-22 

- Plant#l Plant #2 -+-Geo FaciUty 

15 Historical Generation & Production, 12-13-22 



Figure 5. GEOTHERMAL 'OPERATIONAL PLAN 2023 

UNIT 18 

~ 
H-SITE 

F-SITE 

I 

UNIT 13 

PLANT 1 AREA (UNITS 1 &2) 
LOW-INTERMEDIATE 

PRESSURE 
ALL WELLS WIDE OPEN 

(61 MWG) 

I 
I 
I 
I 

r--J 
I 

I 
I 

A-SITE t," ~ ~ I 
------------ . _________ J 

DAILY DAILY ANNU.AL 
MAX MIN AVE 

ZONE UNIT WELL OPER CAP OPER CAP 1NERSY SITES (MWG) (MWG) MWG 

I 1&2 A,C,D,F 61 50 so 
H,N 

II 4 B,E,J 
41 38 40 P,Q,Y 

TOTAL 102 88 90 

(1) DAILY GENERATION VARIES AS FIELD CONDITIONS CHANGE 

UNIT 16 BEAR CANYON 

P-SITE 

( Q-Sfil 
~ II 

PLANT 2 AREA (UNIT 4) 
HIGH PRESSURE 

ALL WELLS WIDE OPEN 
(42 MWG) 

E-SITE 

{2} ANNUAL TARGET RANGE SET BY CHANGES IN PLANT, SlEAMflELD, AVAILABILITY FACTOR AND PLANT OVERHAULS 

14 



Figure 6. History of SEGEP Deliveries Total and NCPA 
(Annual Average GPM) 

7,000 .,.-----------------------------

5,000 _, 

E 
a. 4,000 
bO 

I 
3 o 3,000 .. 
u: 

2,000 _, 

1,000 

0 -

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

■ Total SEGEP Delivery ■ NCPA Delivery 

15 Figure 6 - Historical SEGEP Delivery 2022 



FIGURE7 

FACILITIES AT & NEAR Y-SITE 

~ 
!t H' 

MODIFIED PLAN OF INJECTION 

BLM leases CA-949 and CA-950 

PLANT 

NT 
0 1000 2000 

I I I I I I I I I I I 
MAP SCALE IN FEET 

16 

IP-7 I 

LEGEND 

lHE 
EFFLUENT 
PIPELINE 

CONTINUES 
EASTWARD, 

INlERSECllNG 
HIGHWAY 176 

IN 3 MILES , 

Collection/Pipeline Systems 
Rain Water Collection/Pipeline System 
Condensate Pipeline System 
SE Geysers Effluent Pipeline System 

I F-1 I tnjection Well 

f P-91 Effluent Injection Well 

Bl Control Valve (CV) 

~ Block Valve (BV) 



FIGURES 
NCPA STEAM FIELD 

~ 
~ 

RELATIVE DISTRIBUTION OF INJECTED WATERS 
DURING2022 CALPINE I 1 __ 

'\ 's '\_ H-~ 

~ 

• • 

\ ~ 

• • 
• - · N-7 

• 

CALPINE 

Q-1 • • - . . I" P- 1 

~10/. 
• • 

• 

I 
~A~ 

u-~~ ~ 
Y-5 e 
jJ ' 8-6 

P-=7 

(,<);\ • "a , 
• 

• 
• • 

!~ 

·\ 
\ 

1~ 
~ 
~ 

If ,s.(,1) '\_ . • • 

LEGEND 0110~ 
e Injected <"+'). ~ . Proportional to Volum -1u?;:- '- "---. 

Circle Area is <' o,,,, '--.... '-

J-6 

o-_f • 
~ 

~ . ~· • 
I 

• ~~~~~~:LL e- r--- -1 ~ I 
I , J 

"' ' 

. "--J ~ EFFLUENT 
I 

N L_ 
INJECTION WELL I • - - "' ' 

I 
I 

/ 

MIXED CONDENSATE 
AND EFFLUENT WATER 

INJECTION WELL 

• STEAM PRODUCTION 
WELL LOCATION 

___ _J 

17 

0 

0 
l 

\..j.-.1 0.5MILE'. L~ 
1000 

I 
2000 

I 
3000 FEET 

I 



122.90 ~ 122.85 ~-75 •• .. • 
38.85 3.14 

:•11 • 
N 

~ 
• • 1, 

+ 
' l ~ 3-.19 • ~ •t\i. ..: • .19 • 

~". .- ~ - I • ., . . . -. ~, . ·- . . -. • • · .. •· 323, ...... ~. 3., i - • 

1o!Mlles 
I \ j • """· 1111114. •.; · • ,~- • I • 

38.80 

122.90 • 122.85 

,a 
0 

Approximate 
Field Boundary 

Year2022 

.. -··. . . ,, .. , . ' 
1,■ ~ -· 3.78 

38.75 I \ ", l\lV 

SEISMIC EVENTS 
REPORTED BY THE USGS 
(from U.C. Berkeley Catalog) 

• Magnitude 1.5 to 2.9 

• Magnitude 3.0 & greater • 

Figure 9 

122.80 122.75 

• 

I GEYSERS FIELD MAP 

■ Operating 
o Non-Operating 

Power Plant Locations 
0 1 2 

MILES 

Radial distances are 
from Anderson Springs 
Str.ong Motion 
Instrument .. 

' SOUTHEAST 
GEYSERS 
SEISMIC STUDY 

J AREA 

122.70 

Middletown -



FIGURE 10 
NONCONDENSABLE GAS CONCENTRATIONS 

IN NCPA STEAM (ppm) 

CALPINE 

CALPINE 

INJECTION WELL 

2000 4000 

LEGEND 
STEAM 

WELL 

• 
• 
• 

19 

• ........ . • 

CONCENTRATION 
LEVEL 

2,000 ppm or less 

2,001 to 4,000 ppm 

4,001 ppm or more 

CALPINE 

CALPINE 



FIGURE 11 
NCPA STEAM FIELD RESERVOIR PRESSURE 

CALPINE 

CALPINE 

ISOBARIC CONTOUR 

• 

CALPINE 

• • • 

• • 
• itJ / 

I 
/ 

CALPINE 

• • • • • • • • .!JI -, • Q~'-1 . • . ,. ~ 

• ••• • J •• 
• • • • 88 • . . . , 

• • 
>80(!) • 
e e E • • I 

I 
/ 

I 

LEGEND 
STEAM WELL RESERVOIR PRESSURE 

AREA LOCATION (PSIG) 

.LOW • < 60 

MEDIUM LOW • 60-80 
MEDIUM HIGH • 80 - 100 

HIGH • > 100 

20 



r,.) 

..c -~ 
r,.) 

Historical and Forecast Steam Production & Water Injection 
Figure 12 

30 -r---------.------------------f!!!!!!!!!I!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!! ___ _, 

25 I I · 

Production 
1983 -2022 

725.6 Billion lbs 

Reserves for 
Future Production 

333.4 Billion lbs 

§ 20 -·--·-= ... = 

~ ,~ ,. \I \f'\l;~ ···············: rs I I -.. 
a. 
0 

= 
,g 10 I ' ~ Injection .... 
~ . 1983 - 2022 
] ~ 479.0 Billion lbs 
~ 

5 -

Future Injection 
369.4 Billion lbs 

0 -t-----r----.---------i------,-_!_---~----
1980 1990 2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 

- steam Production -a-Water Injection 

21 Historical Production & Injection Figures, 2-15-22 



Historical and Projected Steam Flowrates Combined 
NCPA Plant #1 & #2 

Figure_ 13 

3,000 ..-.-------------------------------
Yr 2022 Avg. Steam Flow= 1,744 kph 
Yr 2023 Avg. Steam Flow = 1,637 kph est. 

2,500 i----------=~ --------------:-------------

Projected Decline Rate = 0.8% 

.c 2,000 -r-----7 - ~ ~~=-------------------~ -

.:ic 

oS e I Unit #4 Generator Repair 
~ 1,500 -
ti: 
E 
ro 
~ 1,000 I Kincade Fire 

500 ~------------------------------- --

0 
1995· 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 

-+-Historical Average Flowrate - Projected Flowrate 

22 

2030 2035 2040 



Historical and Projected Average Net Generation Level 
Combined NCPA P,lants #1 & #2 

Figure 14 

160 --r----------------------,------------
2022 Net Avg. Generation .. 90.8 MW 
2023 Avg. Net Generation - 78.9 MW 

140 -+--..Jl9---------------------------------

120 
;: 
~ 
~100 t-----~ ........ --..~~ ~ --:.;;.--------------__:__ __ _ 
0 ...... 

+i 
~ 
! 80 
cu 

(!> 

1ij 
z 60 -r---------------------------
~ 2023 Net Generation - 664.8 GWhr 

2023 - 2047 Net Reserves -17,057 GWrs 
40 

<C 

20 ---------------------------------

0 - J!--L--.----,---------,-----.---------.-----.--------,.----.-------.------.-----. 

2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 

..._Historical Avg. Generation - 2023 Projected Avg. Generation 

23 



~ 
.c 
~ 
c., 

Historical and Projected Net Generation 
Combined NCPA Plants #1 & #2 

Figure 15 

1,400 --,-------------------- ------ ---

Yr 2022 Predicted Net Generation ... 734.1 GWhrs 
Yr 2022 Actual Net Generation - 764 GWhrs 

1,200 11~ ~ ---------- -------,-------------------

1,000 

FY 2023 Predicted Net Generation - 734 GWhrs 
Est. FY 2023 Actual Net Generation - 654.1 GWhrs 

.. 800 
C 
0 -~ 
l! 
cu 
C 600 cu 
l!1 ..., 
·CU z 

4oo I Yr 2023 Net Generation - 664.8 GWhrs 

FY 2024 Net Generation - 743.8 GWhrs 

. 
200 

_
1 

Yr 2023 - 2047 Net Reserves -17,057 GWhrs 

0 -r----r------,-----,----,----,----,---T--- - ~--~--~ 
2000 2005 2010 . 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050 

-+-Historical Net Generation 2023 Projected Net Generation 

24 



_l J I I I I 

Table 1. ANNUAL REPORio~~e~;~~
2
1:~~~~~~NG:~o~~f GEYSERS S~ M FIELD 1 

- - --t-t----------+-----t----

We-W-

Well 
- I--

Jan-22 Feb-22 I Mar-22 I Apr-22 I May•22 j Jun•22 j Jul•22 I Aug_~ _J___§!t~ I Oct-2Ll Nov-22 I Dec.22 11 Condensate<=11----t-j -Efflu_e_n--::t'2J::-t-l - T_o_tal I 

•~ 1 !Condensate 
Effluent 

18,1081 6,176 1 15,0691 ~?:~~ 
1,854 387 190 -

24,687 
~ 785 

16,663 
11,485 

241778 
10,394 

- -
19,029 
101687 

12,345 141299 
~251 7!563 

30,6~3, 27,206 11 236,950 I I 292,919 
445 2,929 . 55,969 

, 8 •6 !Effluent _ _____ , ___ -
- - +-----+-----I------'------+----- - - -

- ~-reffluent 

C-11 I Condensate 
Effluent 

E-8 !Effluent 

I - 1-- - -- -- - I· 

I -

7,:183 12,177 I 10,517 

0-7 Condensate 11.367 9.420 5,542 

12,693 71628 

I Effluent 1,452 594 78 - - - · - -:, 

1 
F-4 Condensate 26,272 22,937 19,536 22,425 14,794 12,663 452 r 2,823 I 13,740 l 14,411 

Effluent 3 ,018 1,601 315 - 6,866 10,345 120 I 1,087 I 3,059 I _!11676 
1 

H-1 !Effluent _ -~1-

H-4 !Effluent 

J-6 I Condensate 

I IN-2 !condensate I I I I I I I I 
Effluent 

N-7 I Condensate 
Effluent 4,619 I 131516 

P-1 !Effluent 

P-9 !Effluent 

- - - --t-1------------1----
- -- -··-t--t--------t-----;----

--•----++-------+-----+--

501198 60_1198 

26,329 28,453 
2.124 

8,727 I 25.724 I I 184,503 I _ I 226,273 
52 2,630 40,770 

2!128 2,128 201401 
138 18,273 

Q-10 I Effluent 3!377 4,026 6,202 321 3,1161 9,4oa 1 35 I - 11 ! 2s,s40 l- ~,64o 

Q.3 I Effluent 

Q-4 ]Effluent 

.5t1 jCondensate 
Effluent 

,Jg_ .. 1 !Effluent 

1~ 5 

Condensatt,{ft __ JEffluent(2) I Total 
Totals 721631 sa,292 J s1 1247 I so,341 70,851 64,eas I 36,065 I 3~626 39,190 I 70,868 I 39,932 I 60,755 I I__ __ 449,910 I 193,874 I 643,784 

During each month the % of Effl~ Pipeline water that was fresh water withdrawn fi:om Clear Lake: 

_,_ __ _ l l 0.0%j- O.Oo/1 _O:~--- _O_:O~t:- _(!.0%t 0.0%1 O.Oo/ol 0.0%1 O.Oo/ol 0.0%1 0.0%1 0.0% 

Notes: I 1. "Effluenr (pipeline) volumes are water from C~r Lake together with LACOSAN and Clearlake Oaks treated wastewater. 
2, The 9 Bold well names ln Hailes are located in Lake County (Central VaUey Region), the 10 otoers are in Sonoma County (North Coast Region). 

A• ~· 

i i-------------+----- -



2013 2014 2015 

Generation t arossl 
(MWh) 886,004 922,995 903299 
(MW) 101.1 105.4 103.1 

Generation ( net) 
(MWh) 816,824 862,842 837,379 
(MW) 93.2 98.5 95.6 -

Protocol 
(MWAross) 108 107 107 

Steam Conversion 
(Lbs/ Kw Gross) 18.99 17.33 17.20 

Steam Delivered 
(Billion Lbs) 16.8 16.00 15.54 

Loaa Flexlbilltv tarossl 
Mommv Mtqn (MW) 109 110 110 
Monthly Low (MW) 82 104 104 

1n1ectton 
Total (BUllon Lbs) 17.96 12.39 14.86 

Condensate (Billion Lbs) 4.21 4.62 4.20 
Effluent (BIiiion Lbs) 13.75 7.77 12.50 

Mass Reolacement 
Annual(%) 106.7% 77.5% 95.6% 

-
cumulative (%} 62.2% 62.6% 63.4% 

Wells Usect For lniectlon 
13 12 13 

- NCPA Micro-seismic 
Activitv M> = 1.5 68 58 50 

NCPA Micro-seismic -
Activity Maximum 3.76 4.38 2.99 -- Maanitude Event 

NGli concentration 3,248 3,Ut>~ 3,176 
(oomw) 

TABLE 2. GEOTHERMAL FACILITIES 
Summary Table 

2016 2017 2018 

887,299 833,211 674.403 
101.0 95.1 99.8 

819,149 772,398 804.425 
93.3 88.2 91.8 

107 105 105 

17.00 17.10 16.76 

15.08 14.24 14.65 

110 103 105 
103 77 83 

21.21 15.78 13.19 
4.94 4.64 4.36 
16.27 11.13 8.83 

140.6% 110.8% 90.0% 
65.2% ·66.2% 66.7% 

11 10 10 

64 66 57 

3.37 2.92 3.09 

3,376 3,108 3,190 

26 

2019 2020 2021 2022 

711,902 833,666 641.946 813,753 
81.3 94.9 96.1 92.9 

655,798 739,049 786,098 763,924 
74.9 84.1 89.7 87.2 

102 101 104 103 

16.97 16.31 16.78 18.39 

12.08 13.60 14.13 14.96 

110 107 109 104 
68 67 55 52 

13.57 6.95 5048 5.37 
3.86 3.29 3.80 3.75 
9.71 3.67 1.68 1.62 

112.3% 51.1% 38.8% 35.9% 
67.5% 67.2% 66.7% 66.0% 

l 

8 6 6 6 

51 55 38 51 

2.84 2.86 3.98 2.76 

3,096 4.102 3,416 



WELL PRESS 

A-3 68.0 
A-4 68.l 

A-5 63.2 

A-6 68.4 

A-SITE 66.9 

B-2 71.9 

B-3 73.6 

B-4 69.3 

B-5 68.3 

B-6 
B-SITE 70.8 

C-1 58.1 

C-2 56.9 

C-4 60.2 

C-5 55.4 

C-6 56.0 

G-7 56.6 

C-8 63.5 
C-9 

C-10 62.2 
C-SITE 58.6 

Table 3 
RESERVOIR PRESSURE 

BYWELL2023 

WELL PRESS WELL PRESS 

D-1 
D-2 H-1 69.7 
D-6 71.6 H-2 81.2 
D-7 68.3 H-3 72.0 
D-8 64.9 H-4 68.3 

D-SITE 68.3 H-5 68.4 
H-SITE 71.9 

E-1 68.3 
E-2 73.1 J-2 69.1 
E-3 77.2 J-3 75.5 
E-4 71.2 J-4 85.7 
E-5 70.9 J-5 110.0 

E-6 70.8 J-SITE 85.1 
E-8 71.5 

E-SITE 71.9 

N-1 61.4 

F-1 N-2 55.7 
F-2 67.1 N-3 
F-3 67.1 N-4 57.3 
F-4 N-5 57.0 
F-5 N-6 63.3 

F-6 64.6 N-SITE 58.9 
F-7 

F-SITE 66.3 

VALUES ARE FROM PRESSURE BUILD- UP TESTS 

WELL PRESS 

P-1 
P-2 94.2 
P-4 
P-5 125.9 

P-6 115.9 

P-7 71.1 
P-8 123.3 
P-9 

P-SITE 106.1 

Q-1 
Q-3 62.5 

Q-4 66,6 

Q-5 68.5 

Q-6 67.5 

Q-7 69.5 
Q-8 70.1 
Q-9 72.0 

Q-SITE 68.l 

Y-1 69.5 
Y-2 64.5 
Y-3 
Y-4 
Y-5 

Y-SITE 67.0 

SHADED NUMBERS ARE FOR DATA OBTAINED FROM OTHER STATIC 
PRESSURE OBSERVATIONS 

57 WELLS TESTED A VE. SHUT-IN WELL PRESS EQUALS 

AVE SITE PRESS EQUALS 

AVE. FLOWRATE= 28.6 kph at 

27 

71.3 psig 

71.6 psig 

40.2 psig 



TABLE 4 NCG CONCENTRATIONS (PPMW) 2022 
BY WELL, AND SITE AND PROJECT 

WELL NCG WELL NCG WELL NCG WELL NCG 

A-3 D-1 3236 H-1 3838 P-'1 
A-4 3707 D-2 2234 H-2 1142 P-2 2767 
A-5 1906 D-6 2374 H-3 5206 P-4 1568 
A-6 2373 D-7 3059 H-4 P-5 13945 

A-SIT~ 2662 D-8 4406 H-5 3247 P-6 1524 
D-SITE 3062 H-SITE 3358 P-7 6909 

8-2 5658 P-8 5576 
B-3 5022 E-1 l:lbo~ J-2 5642 P-9 
-B-4 3302 E-2 6007 J-3 3613 P-SITE 5;381 
B-5 4808 E-3 4817 J-4 6287 
B-6 E-4 7707 J-5 3096 Q-1 

B-SITE 4697 E-5 11218 J-SITE 4659 Q-3 4884 
E-6 5360 Q-1 3134 

C-1 2616 E-SITE 7963 N-1 2723 Q-5 2012 
C-2 5012 N-2 1434 Q-6 2418 
C-4 3468 F-1 2238 N-3 4910 Q-7 20189 
C-5 13186 F-2 7225 N'-4 2839 Q-8 2386 
C-6 6207 F-3' 2104 N-5 4333 Q-9 3190 
C-7 5494 F-4 N-6 2746 Q-A 
C-8 2881 F-5 1655 N-SITE 3164 Q-SITE 5459 
C-9 F-6 1374 
C-A 1495 F-7 5375 Y-1 1652 

C-SITE 5045 F-SITE 3329 Y-2 5224 
Y-3 11561 
Y-4 5255 
Y-5 

Y-SITE 5923 

V ALOES ARE FROM NCP A CHEM LAB ANALYSIS 

Number of wells samples wells sampled= 62 

A VG. WELL NCG = 4765 

A VG. SITE NCG = 4559 

NCG Flow Weighted Avg.= 4289 

28 



2023 Generation - 25 Year Forecast 

Table 5 

Total Geo Facilities Plant#l Plant#2 

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 

Generation Generation Generation Generation Generation Generation 

Year GWHr GWHr GWHr GWHr GWHr GWHr 

2023 730.5 664.8 403.2 355.8 327.3 309.0 
2024 834.9 751.4 503.1 441.0 331.8 310.4 
2025 827.0 743.7 500.5 438.6 326.5 305.1 
2026 768.9 690.3 439.9 382.6 329.1 307.7 
2027 816.0 732.7 498.0 436.1 318.1 296.7 
2028 810.0 726.7 498.1 436.0 312.0 290.7 
2029 781.3 700.5 507.8 445.9 273.5 254.6 
2030 801.8 718.3 495.6 433.5 306.1 284.8 
2031 795.4 712.1 493.0 431.1 302.4 281.0 
2032 741.0 662.1 434.7 377.2 306.4 284.9 
2033 785.7 702.4 490.6 428.7 295.1 273.7 
2034 778.4 695.3 489.4 427.5 289.0 267.8 
2035 754.8 674.0 500.5 438.6 254.2 235.4 
2036 773.9 690.4 488.3 426.3 285.6 264.2 
2037 771.4 687.6 489.8 427.4 281.5 260.2 
2038 712.3 633.6 427.0 369.7 285.3 263.9 
2039 758.9 675.6 483.5 421.5 275.4 254.1 
2040 754.6 671.3 483.6 421.5 271.0 249.7 
2041 731.3 650.6 493.4 431.5 · 237.9 219.0 
2042 748.1 664.7 481.3 419.2 266.9 245.5 
2043 74.6.9 663.1 482.8 420.4 264.1 242.7 
2044 691.1 612.2 422.2 364.7 269.0 247.5 
2045 735.3 652.0 476.5 414.6 258.8 237.4 
2046 735.8 652.1 475.4 413.5 260.4 238.7 
2047 710.2 629.5 486.5 424.6 223.7 204.8 

Notes: 

1. Assumes 3 unit operation. 

2. Steam Reserves: 333.4 Billion lb. 

3. Gross Reserves: 19;096 GWhr 

4. Net Reserves: 17,057 GWhr 

5. Plant #1 Auxiliary Load is varies from 5.6 MW to 7.5 MW 
depending on SEGEP Pump Operation 
Plant #2 Auxiliary Load is fixed at 2.58 MW. 

6. See Table 58 for scheduled outages. 

29 



2023 Generation Capacity- 25 Year Forecast 

Table SA 

Plant#l Plant#2 -Total 

Avg. Gross Avg. Net Avg. Gross Avg. Net Avg. Gross Avg. Net 
Gen. Gen. Gen. Gen. Gen. Gen. 

Vear MW MW MW MW MW MW 
2023 60.9 53.6 40.6 · 38.0 101.5 91.5 
2024 60.9 53.4 40.3 37.8 101.2 91.1 
2025 60.7 53.2 39.8 37.2 100.5 90.4 
202'6 60.6 53.1 49.1 46.6 109.7 99.6 
2027 60.4 52.9 38.8 36.2 99.2 89.1 
2028 60.3 52.8 38.'3 35.7 98.5 88.4 
2029 60.1 52.6 37.8 35.2 97.9 87.8 
2030 60.0 52.5 37.3 34.7 97.3 87.2 
2031 59.8 52.3 36.8 34.3 96.6 86.6 
2032 59.7 52.2 36.4 43.7 96.0· 95.8 
2033 59.5 52.0 35.9 33.4 95.5 85.4 
2034 59.4 51.9 35.5 32.9 94.9 84.8 
2035 59.2 51.7 35.1 32.5 94.3 84.2 
2036 59.1 51.6 34.7 32.1 93.8 83.7 
2037 58.9 51.4 34.3 31.7 93.2 83.1 
2038 58.8 51.3 33.9 31.3 92.7 82.6 
2039 58.6 51.1 33.5 30.9 92.2 82.1 
2040 58.5 51.0 33.2 30.6 91.7 81.6 
2041 58.4 50.9 32.8 30.2 91.2 81.1 
2042 58.2 50.7 32.5 29.9 90.7 80.6 
2043 58.1 50.6 32.1 29.6 90.2 80.1 
2044 57.9 50.4 31.8 29.2 89.8 79.7 
2045 57.8 50.3 31.5 28.9 89.3 79.2 
2046 57.7 50.2 31 .2 28.6 88.8 78.7 
2047 57.5 50.0 30.9 28.3 88.4 78.3 

* Peak generation levels that the plants are capable of achieving. 

30 



2023 Generation - 5 Year Forecast 

Table6 

Total Geo Facilities Plant#l Plant #2 
Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net 

Generation Generation Generation Generation Generation Generation 
Date GWHr GWHr GWHr GWHr GWHr GWHr 

Jan-23 56.8 53.2 56.8 53.2 0.0 0.0 
Feb-23 63.1 58.8 37.1 34.2 26.1 24.6 
Mar-23 38.2 36.3 2.5 2.3 35.8 34.0 
Apr-23 57.8 52.4 24.7 20.9 33.1 31.5 
May-23 59.7 54.1 25.5 21.5 34.2 32.6 
Jun-23 44.3 40.1 18.9 16.0 25.4 24.2 
Jul-23 59.7 54.1 25.5 21.5 34.2 32.6 
Aug-23 71.7 64.6 43.1 37.8 28.7 26.8 
Sep-23 69.4 '62.5 41.7 36.5 27.7 25.9 
Oct-23 68.9 61.9 43.0 37.7 25.8 24.2 
Nov-23 69.3 62.4 41.6 36.5 27.7 25.9 
Dec-23 71.6 64.4 43.0 37.7 28.5 26.7 
Jan-24 71.5 64.4 43.0 37.7 28.5 26.7 
Feb-24 66.9 60.2 40.2 35.3 26.6 24.9 
Mar-24 71.4 64.3 43.0 37.7 28.5 26.6 
Apr-24 64.9 58.6 37.4 32.8 27.5 25.7 
May-24 71.4 64.2 43.0 37.7 28.4 26.6 
Jun-24 69.0 62.1 41.6 36.5 27.4 25.7 
Jul-24 71.3 64.2 43.0 37.7 28.3 26.5 
Aug-24 71.2 64.1 43.0 37.7 28.3 26.5 
Sep-24 68.9 62.0 41.6 36.4 27.3 25.6 
Oct-24 68.4 61.5 42.9 37.6 25.5 23.8 
Nov-24 68.8 61.9 41.5 36.4 27.3 25.5 
Dec-24 71.1 63.9 42.9 37.6 28.2 26.3 
Jan-25 71.0 63.9 42.9 37.6 28.1 26.3 
Feb-25 64.1 57.7 38.7 34.0 25.4 23.7 
Mar-25 71.0 63.8 42.9 37.6 28.1 26.2 
Apr-25 64.6 58.1 37.3 32.7 27.1 25.4 
May-25 70.9 63.7 42.9 37.6 28.0 26.2 
Jun-25 68.6 61.7 41.5 36.3 27.1 25.3 
JuJ..25 70.8 63.7 42.9 37.6 27.9 26.1 
Aug-25 70.8 63.6 42.8 37.5 27.9 26.1 
Sep-25 68.4 61.5 41.5 36.3 27.0 25.2 
Oct-25 68.0 61.0 42.8 37.5 25.2 23.5 
Nov-25 68.4 61.5 41.4 36.3 26.9 .25.2 
Dec-25 70.6 63.5 42.8 37.5 27.8 26.0 
Jan-26. 70.6 63.4 42.8 37.5 27.8 25.9 
Feb-26 63.7 57.3 38.6 33.9 25.0 23.4 
Mar-26 70.5 63.4 42.8 37.5 27.7 25.9 
Apr-26 33.6 31.8 0.0 0.0 33.6 31.8 
May-26 48.3 41.2 20.7 15.4 27.6 25.8 
Jun-26 68.1 61.2 41.4 36.2 26.7 24.9 
Jul-26 70.3 63.2 42.7 37.4 27.6 25.7 
Aug-26 70.3 63.2 42.7 37.4 27.5 25.7 
Sep-26 68.0 61.1 41.3 36.2 26.6 24.9 
Oct-26 67.5 60.6 42.7 37.4 24.8 23.2 
Nov~26 67.9 61.0 41.3 36.2 26.6 24.8 
Dec-26 70.1 63.0 42.7 37.4 27.4 25.6 
Jan-27 70.1 63.0 42.7 37.4 27.4 25.6 
Feb-27 63.3 56.8 38.6 33.8 24.7 23.1 
Mar-27 70.0 62.9 42.7 37.4 27.3 25.5 
Apr-27 63.6 57.2 37.2 32.5 26.4 24.7 
May .. 27 69.9 62.8 42.7 37.4 27.3 25.4 
Jun-27 67.6 60.7 41.3 36.1 26.4 24.6 
Jul-27 69.9 62.7 42.6 37.3 27.2 25.4 
Aug-27 69.8 62.7 42.6 37.3 27.2 25.4 
Sep-27 67.5 60.6 41.2 36.1 26.3 24.5 
Oct-27 67.1 60.2 42.6 37.3 24.5 22.9 
Nov-27 67.5 60.6 41.2 36.1 26.2 24.5 
Dec-27 69.7 62.5 42.6 37.3 27.1 25.2 

32 



2023 Generation Capacity - 5 Vear Forecast* 
Table GA 

Plant#l Plant#2 Total 
Avg.Gross Avg. Net Avg.Gross Avg. Net Avg. Gross Avg. Net 

Gen. Gen. Gen. Gen. Gen. Gen. 
Year MW MW MW MW MW MW 

Jan-23 80.3 75.2 0.0 0.0 80.3 75.2 
Feb-23 58.0 53.6 40.8 38.6 98.9 92.1 
Mar-23 3.5 3.3 50.6 48.0 54.1 51.3 
Apr-23 36.0 30.5 48.5 46.1 84.5 76.6 
May-23 36.0 30.5 48.5 46.1 84.5 76.6 
Jun-23 36.0 30.5 48.4 46.1 84.5 76.5 
Jul-23 36.0 30.5 48.4 46.1 84.4 76.5 
Aug-23 60.9 53.4 40.6 38.0 101.5 91.4 
Sep-23 60.9 53.4 40.5 37.9 101.4 91.3 
Oct-23 60.9 53.4 40.5 37.9 101.4 91.3 
Nov-23 60.9 53.4 40.4 37.8 101.3 91.2 
Dec-23 60.9 53.4 40.~ 37.8 101.3 91.2 
Jan-24 60.9 53.4 40.3 37.8 101.2 91.1 
Feb-24 60.8 53.3 40.3 37.7 101.1 91.1 
Mar-24 60.8 53.3 40.3 37.7 101.1 91.0 
Apr-24 60.8 53.3 40.2 37.6 101.0 90.9 
-May-24 60.8 53.3 40.2 37.6 101.0 90.9 
Jun-24 60.8 53.3 40.1 37.5 100.9 90.8 
Jul-24 60.8 53.3 40.1 37.5 100.9 90.8 
Aug-24 60.8 53.3 40.0 37.4 100.8 90.7 
Sep-24 60.8 53.3 40.0 37.4 100.7 90.6 
Oct-24 60.7 53.2 39.9 37.3 100.7 90.6 
Nov-24 60.7 53.2 39.9 37.3 100.6 90.5 
Dec-24 60.7 53.2 39.8 37.3 100.6 90.5 
Jan-25 60.7 53.2 39.8 37.2 100.5 90.4 
Feb-25 60.7 53.2 39.8 37.2 100.4 90.4 
Mar-25 60.7 53.2 39.7 37.1 100.4 90.3 
Apr-25 60.7 53.2 39.7 37.1 100.3 90.2 
May-25 60.7 53.2 39.6 37.0 100.3 90.2 
Jun-25 60.6 53.1 39.6 37.0 100.2 90.1 
Jul-25 60.6 53.1 39.5 36.9 100.2 90.1 
Aug-25 60.6 53.1 39.5 36.9 100.1 90.0 
Sep-25 60.6 53.1 39.4 36.9 100.1 90.0 
Oct-25 60.6 53.1 39.4 36.8 100.0 89.9 
Nov-25 60.6 53.1 39.4 36.8 99.9 89.8 
Dec-25 60.6 53.1 39.3 36.7 99.9 89.8 
Jan-26 60.6 63.1 39.3 36.7 99.8 89.7 
Feb-26 60.5 53.0 39.2 36.6 99.8 89.7 
Mar-26 60.5 53.0 39.2 36.6 99.7 89.6 
Apr-26 0.0 0.0 49.1 46.6 49.1 46.6 
May-26 29.3 21.8 39.1 36.5 68.4 58.3 
Jun-26 60.5 53.0 39.1 36.s· 99.6 89.5 
Jul-26 60.5 53.0 39.0 36.4 99.5 89.4 
AUg'-26 60.5 53~0 39.0 36.4 99.4 89.4 
Sep-26 60.5 53.0 38.9 36.3 99.4 89.3 
Oct-26 60.4 52.9 38.9 36.3 99.3 89.2 
Nov-26 60.4 52.9 38.8 36.3 99.3 89.2 
Dec-26 60.4 52.9 38.8 36.2 99.2 89.1 
Jan-27 60.4 52.9 38.8 36.2 99.2 89.1 
Feb-27 60.4 . 52.9 38.7 36.1 99.1 89.0 
Mar-27 60.4 52.9 38.7 36.1 99.1 89.0 
Apr-27 60.4 52.9 38.6 36.0 99.0 88.9 
May-27 60.4 52.9 38.6 36.0 99.0 88.9 
Jun-27 60.3 52.8 38.6 36.0 98.9 88.8 
Jul-27 60.3 52.8 38.5 35.9 98.8 88.8 
Aug-27 60.3 5,2.8 38.5 35.9 98.8 88.7 
Sep-27 60.3 52.8 38.4 35.8 98.7 88.6 
Oct-27 60.3 52.8 38.4 35.8 98.7 88.6 
Nov-27 60.3 52.8 38.3 35.8 98.6 88.5 
Dec-27 60.3 52.8 38.3 35.7 98.6 88.5 

* Average generation levels plants are capable of achieving. 

33 



TABLE 7 
2023 FORECAST OF GEOTHERMAL PRODUCTION AND 

INJECTION 

STEAM COND 
TIME PROD. INJ 
STEP DATE BLBS BLBS 

1 2023 14.3 4.6 
2 2024 14.2 4.6 
3 2025 14.1 4.5 
4 2026 14.1 4.5 
5 2027 14.0 4.5 
6 2028 13.9 4.4 
7 2029 13.8 4 .. 4 
8 2030 13.7 4.4 
9 2031 13.6 4.4 

10 2032 13.5 4.3 
11 2033 13.5 4.3 
12 2034 13.4 4.3 
13 2035 13.3 4.3 
14 2036 13.2 4.2 
15 2037 13.1 4.2 
16 2038 13.1 4.2 
17 2039 13.0 4.2 
18 2040 12.9 4.1 
19 2041 12.9 4.1 
20 2042 12.8 4 .. 1 

.21 2043 12.7 4.1 
22 2044 12.7 4.1 

· 23 2045 12.6 4.0 
24 2046 12.5 · 4.0 
25 2047 12.5 4.0 

NOTES: 

1. CUM. PRODUCTION AND INJECTION I 983-2022 

WATER 

INJ 
BLBS 

15.1 
15.1 
15.0 
15.0 
15.0 
14.9 
14.9 
14.9 
14.9 
14.8 
14.8 
14.8 
14.8 
14.7 
14.7 
14.7 
14.7' 

14.6 
14.6 
14.6 
14.6 
14.6 
14.5 
14.5 
14.5 

725.6 
4.79.0 

2. TOTAL WATER IS CONDENSATE +EFFLUENT+ LAKE+ POND 

3. FUTURE STEAM PRODUCTION 2023-2047 "" 

4. FUTURE WATER INJECTION 2023-2047 = 

34 

333.4 

369.4 

Billion Lbs Steam 
Billion Lbs Water 

Billion Lbs 

Billion Lbs 



~USLIC AGENCY 

CPA 

Commission Staff Report 

COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: NCPA 2023 Wildfire Mitigation Plan Revisions; Applicable to the following: All 
Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) Facilities 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Consent 

FROM: Michael DeBortoli METHOD OF SELECTION: 

Assistant General Manager NI A 

Division: Generation Services If other, please describe: 

Department: Generation Services 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members ~ City of Lodi □ City of Shasta Lake □ 

Alameda Municipal Power □ City of Lompoc □ City of Ukiah □ 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC □ Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs □ City of Redding □ Port of Oakland □ 

City of Gridley □ City of Roseville □ Truckee Donner PUD □ 

City of Healdsburg □ City of Santa Clara □ Other □ 

If other, please specify 

SR: 162:23 



May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-46 for the NCPA 2023 Wildfire Mitigation Plan, with updated revisions 
based on the qualified independent evaluators recommendations and Wildfire Safety Advisory 
Board (YVSAB) 2022 recommendations. 

BACKGROUND: 

Public Utilities Code, Division 4.1, Chapter 6 Wildfire Mitigation, Code 8387 requires electric 
utilities to assess the risk of catastrophic wildfire posed by a utility's overhead electrical lines and 
equipment. In response to this requirement, NCPA created its Wildfire Mitigation Plan to reduce 
the risk of NCPA facilities igniting wildfire, including identifying preventative maintenance 
procedures and practices. The NCPA Wildfire Mitigation Plan was approved in the December 5, 
2019 Commission Meeting. Annual independent evaluations of the Wildfire Mitigation Plan were 
conducted in 2020, 2021 and 2022, with minor revisions to the plan. Each revision has been 
approved in annual Commission Meetings. 

NCPA contracted with Dudek, a qualified independent evaluator with experience in assessing the 
safe operation of electrical infrastructure, to complete the statutorily required three-year revision 
and assess the comprehensiveness of the Wildfire Mitigation Plan. The independent evaluator 
issued a report (attached as an appendix to the Wildfire Mitigation Plan) stating that NCPA's 
Wildfire Mitigation Plan appropriately addressed all elements required under CPUC Section 8387 
(b) (2) and WSAB 2022 recommendations. The independent evaluation and report were 
completed April 27, 2023. 

NCPA is now seeking Commission approval of the NCPA 2023 Wildfire Mitigation Plan, to 
include the recommended revisions provided by the qualified independent evaluator, revise the 
Wildfire Mitigation Plan from Version 1.3 to 2.0 to reflect the three year required update, and post 
the Wildfire Mitigation Plan 2.0 to NCPA Website. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

Any expenses associated with the preventative maintenance procedures and practices included 
in the plan are already covered in previously approved Plant budgets. The plan also includes 
investigation of potential risk reduction measures that, if implemented, may require additional 
budget dollars. Those amounts are not known or established at this time. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

Work associated with this Project is categorically exempt under Class 1, 3, 4, and 11 Exemptions 
under CEQA guidelines 15061 (b)(3), 15301 (b), 15303, 15304, and 15311 and is therefore 
categorically exempt from CEQA. Class 1 is the "existing facilities" exemption, which includes the 
repair, maintenance, or minor alteration of existing public structures, facilities, mechanical 
equipment, involving negligible or no expansion of use. Class 3 is installation of small new 
equipment and facilities in small structures. Class 4 is minor alterations in the condition of the 
land Class 11 is construction or placement of minor structures accessory to existing facilities. All 
necessary Federal, State and County notifications will be made before commencing the work. 

SR: 162:23 



May 25, 2023 
Page 3 

A Notice of Exemption was approved by the NCPA Commission on September 27, 2013, for this 
class of work and was filed in Lake and Sonoma Counties, and in Alpine, Calaveras, San 
Joaquin, and Tuolumne Counties. 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

The recommendation above was reviewed by the Facilities Committee on May 3, 2023. Due to 
the lack of a quorum, no formal action was taken, however, the Members present at the meeting 
voiced their support for the recommendation, and no other meeting attendees had any 
objections. 

Respectfully submitted, 

f:jH~W~ 
General Manager 

Attachments (2): 
• Resolution 23-46 
• Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan 2.0 

SR: 162:23 



RESOLUTION 23-46 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING THE NCPA 2023 WILDFIRE MITIGATION PLAN ASSESSMENT REPORT AND 

REVISIONS 

(reference Staff Report #162:23) 

WHEREAS, Public Utilities Code, Division 4.1, Chapter 6 Wildfire Mitigation Code 8387 requires electric 
utilities to assess the risk of catastrophic wildfire posed by a utility's overhead electrical lines and equipment; and 

WHEREAS, NCPA's Wildfire Mitigation Plan was approved by the NCPA Commission at its December 5, 
2019 meeting (SR: 233:19; Reso: 19-100); and 

WHEREAS, as required in Section 8 of the Wildfire Mitigation Plan, NCPA hired an outside consultant to 
review and assess the comprehensiveness of this Wildfire Mitigation Plan, including recommended updates to the 
plan; and 

WHEREAS, work associated with this Project is categorically exempt under Class 1, 3, 4, and 11 
Exemptions under CEQA guidelines 15061 (b)(3), 15301 (b), 15303, 15304, and 15311 and is therefore categorically 
exempt from CEQA. Class 1 is the "existing facilities" exemption, which includes the repair, maintenance, or minor 
alteration of existing public structures, facilities, mechanical equipment, involving negligible or no expansion of use. 
Class 3 is installation of small new equipment and facilities in small structures; Class 4 is minor alterations in the 
condition of the land; and, Class 11 is construction or placement of minor structures accessory to existing facilities. 
All necessary Federal, State and County notifications will be made before commencing the work. A Notice of 
Exemption was approved by the NCPA Commission on September 27, 2013, for this class of work and was filed in 
Lake and Sonoma Counties, and in Alpine, Calaveras, San Joaquin, and Tuolumne Counties; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency 
approves the NCPA 2023 Wildfire Mitigation Plan with updated revisions based on the qualified independent 
evaluators recommendations and Wildfire Safety Advisory Board (WSAB) 2022 recommendations. 

PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023, by the following vote 
on roll call: 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: TRISHA ZIMMER 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 



 

 

 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA  

POWER AGENCY 

WILDFIRE MITIGATION 

PLAN 2023 
 

VERSION 2.0 

 

 

 

 

 

CURRENT VERSION DESCRIPTION 

Version 2.0 – A comprehensive review of NCPA’s 2023 Wildfire Mitigation Plan.  NCPA’s 

Commission approved this WMP on May 25, 2023 per Resolution 23-46. This WMP includes the 

Qualified Independent Evaluators (IE)Comprehensive Review Report describing revisions in 

Appendix 5. This version also includes tables in the attachment section of this report that outlines 

changes based on recommendations from the California’s Wildfire Safety Advisor Board (WSAB) 

and best industry practices to meet the conditions within the PUC 8387 (B) requirements.



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 2 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Executive Summary .......................................................................................................................................... 5 

1. Overview ..................................................................................................................................................... 6 

1.A. Policy Statement ............................................................................................................................... 6 

1.B. Purpose of the Wildfire Mitigation Plan ........................................................................................ 6 

1.B.1. Coordination with Local Agencies ........................................................................................... 7 

1.C. Organization of the Wildfire Mitigation Plan ............................................................................... 9 

2. Goals .......................................................................................................................................................... 10 

2.A. Minimizing Sources of Ignition ...................................................................................................... 10 

2.B. Resiliency of the Electric Grid ....................................................................................................... 10 

2.C. Identifying Unnecessary or Ineffective Actions ........................................................................ 10 

3. Roles and Responsibilities ....................................................................................................................... 11 

3.A. Utility Governance Structure ........................................................................................................ 11 

3.B. Wildfire prevention organizational responsibilities.................................................................... 12 

3.C. Wildfire Response, Communication, and Recovery ................................................................ 12 

3.D. Coordination with Water Utilities/Department ......................................................................... 13 

3.E. Coordination With Communication Infrastructure Providers ................................................. 14 

3.F. Mutual Aid Agreements ................................................................................................................ 14 

4. Wildfire Risks and Drivers ......................................................................................................................... 15 

4.A. Risks Associated With Topographic and Climatological Factors .......................................... 16 

4.B. Risks related to design, operation, and MAINTENANCE ......................................................... 17 

4.C. Changes to CPUC Fire Threat Map ............................................................................................. 18 

4.C.1. Map Comparisons and Updates ............................................................................................. 18 

4.C.2. Fire Zone Review Process .......................................................................................................... 19 

5. Wildfire Preventative Strategies ............................................................................................................ 20 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 3 

 

5.A. Preventative Strategies and Programs ....................................................................................... 20 

5.B. Potential Climate Change Effects .............................................................................................. 22 

5.C. Potential Climate Change Risk Management Impacts .......................................................... 22 

5.D. Tree Mortality ................................................................................................................................... 22 

5.E. Vegetation Management ............................................................................................................ 23 

5.F. Inspections ....................................................................................................................................... 24 

5.G. Fire Prevention, Safety, Emergency Response training ........................................................... 25 

5.H. Reclosing Policy .............................................................................................................................. 26 

5.I. De-energization .............................................................................................................................. 26 

5.J.1. Impacts to Public Safety ........................................................................................................... 27 

5.J.2. Customer Notification Protocols .............................................................................................. 27 

6. Left Blank ................................................................................................................................................... 27 

7. Restoration of Service ............................................................................................................................. 28 

7.A. Metrics and Assumptions for Measuring Plan Performance .................................................. 28 

Metric 1: Fire Ignitions .............................................................................................................................. 28 

Metric 2: Wires Down ............................................................................................................................... 28 

Metric 3: FALL IN HAZARD TREES IGNITIONS ......................................................................................... 28 

7.B. Impact of Metrics on Plan ............................................................................................................. 29 

7.C. Monitoring and Auditing the Plan ............................................................................................... 29 

7.D. Identifying and Correcting Deficiencies in the Plan ................................................................ 30 

7.E. Monitoring the Effectiveness of Inspections .............................................................................. 30 

8. Independent Auditor .............................................................................................................................. 31 

APPENDIX 1 – FIRE RISK ASSESSMENT MAPS ................................................................................................. 32 

APPENDIX 2 – INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR REPORT 2020 ........................................................................... 34 

APPENDIX 3 – INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR REPORT 2021 ........................................................................... 37 

APPENDIX 4 – INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR REPORT 2022 ........................................................................... 61 

APPENDIX 5 – INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR REPORT 2023 ........................................................................... 80 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 4 

 

Revision History ................................................................................................................................................. 93 

ATTACHMENT A - PUC 8387 (B) REQUIREMENTS TABLE .............................................................................. 94 

ATTACHMENT B – WSAB RECOMMENDED ELEMENTS TABLE ..................................................................... 96 

ATTACHMENT C – WILDFIRE RISK ELEMENTS AND CONTROLS .................................................................. 98 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 5 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) has prepared the following Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

(WMP) in accordance with California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) regulation 8387 (SB 901). 

NCPA is a Joint Powers Agency, which owns and operates several electrical generation facilities 

to support its members’ generation needs. 

 

The objective of this WMP is to reduce the risk of wildfires that could be ignited or propagated by 

NCPA electrical equipment or facilities in high fire threat locations. The plan describes the range 

of activities that NCPA is taking to mitigate the threat of power line-ignited wildfires, including its 

current programs, policies, and procedures as well as future plans to decrease risk and improve 

resiliency. The plan has prioritized the prevention of elements that create a wildfire event: 1) fuel, 

or geographic conditions represented by the California Department of Forestry and Fire 

Protection (CAL FIRE) and the CPUC risk maps, and 2) ignition, represented by facilities subject to 

creating a fire. The facility types of highest interest are open wire power lines (transmission and 

distribution) that are near heavy vegetation or forest. 

 

NCPA has no retail customers. As such, this report focuses exclusively on NCPA electrical facilities 

with minimal discussion regarding customer communication typical of other utility WMPs. 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 6 

 

1. OVERVIEW 

1.A. POLICY STATEMENT 

The Northern California Power Agency (NCPA), a California Joint Action Agency, has an 

overarching goal to provide safe, reliable, and economic electric service to its public power 

members and associate members. To meet this goal, NCPA constructs, maintains, and operates 

its equipment in a manner that minimizes the risk of wildfire ignition and propagation caused by 

NCPA-owned and -operated electric utility equipment (generation, generation tie-lines, and 

distribution). 

1.B. PURPOSE OF THE WILDFIRE MITIGATION PLAN 

The objective of this Wildfire Mitigation Plan (WMP) is to reduce the risk of wildfires that could be 

ignited or propagated by NCPA electrical equipment or facilities in high fire threat locations. 

NCPA is a Joint Powers Agency, which owns and operates electrical generation facilities.  The 

scope of this plan applies to the Geothermal Facility and the Hydro Facility that are located in 

two different Geographical areas.  These two facilities contain electrical equipment in high fire 

threat locations.  The Geothermal Plant is located around the Geyser territory in Lake County 

and the Hydro Electric Facility is located in the North Fork Stanislaus River  watershed. 

The plan describes the range of activities that NCPA is taking to mitigate the threat of power 

line-ignited wildfires, including its current programs, policies, and procedures as well as future 

plans to decrease risk and improve resiliency. This plan is subject to direct supervision by the 

NCPA Commission and is implemented by the NCPA General Manager. This plan complies with 

the requirements of Public Utilities Code section 8387 (originally SB-901) for publicly owned 

electric utilities to prepare a wildfire mitigation plan by January 1, 2020, and to review and 

update it annually thereafter. 

Historically, NCPA has continuously improved its practices to minimize wildfire risks. This includes: 

• A transmission line vegetation management program that is compliant with North 

American Electric Reliability Corporation Standard FAC-003 and CAL FIRE regulations 

• Compliance with CAL FIRE and California Public Utilities Commission regulations and 

guidance for overhead distribution and transmission lines 

• CAL FIRE emergency response plans 

• Power management/dispatch response procedures 

• Periodic equipment inspections and safe work practices 

• Workforce training 

This WMP is in response to the requirements of California Senate Bill 901 (SB-901). It supersedes a 

prior plan drafted and approved prior to SB-901, specifically pursuant to Public Utilities Code, 

Division 4.1, Chapter 6 Wildfire Mitigation (effective January 1, 2017). 

In November of 2022, NCPA initiated the development of this current WMP (Version 2.0). NCPA 

hired Dudek to evaluate NCPA’s electrical facilities, processes, and documentation based on 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 7 

 

the design, configuration, operations, maintenance, and condition of NCPA facilities in relation 

to their potential to initiate a wildfire event. The comprehensive evaluation included 

consideration of NCPA system descriptions, record design/construction documents, typical 

facilities layouts, basic fire protection system features, data sheets, inspection practices and 

procedures, baseline vegetation conditions, potential climate change effects, vegetation 

management practices, fire threat and hazard maps, and other documentation. 

In 2020, per Section 8 of this WMP, NCPA hired an outside consultant, Dudek, to review, assess 

the comprehensiveness, and provide recommendations to this plan.  Subsequently, NCPA 

elected to modify its Draft WMP that incorporated Dudek’s recommended modifications. The 

Revised WMP (version 1.1) was provided to Dudek on April 29, 2020. Dudek reviewed the Revised 

WMP and determined that it appropriately addressed all elements required under CPUC Section 

8387(b)(2).  In 2020, this WMP was presented at the NCPA commission meeting,  a public 

meeting, and is posted on NCPA’s public website domain. A similar process was followed with 

Dudek and NCPA’s Commission in May of 2021 and 2022 for Versions 1.2 and 1.3. 

 

1.B.1. COORDINATION WITH LOCAL AGENCIES 

NCPA’s local coordination efforts related to wildfire mitigation include regular meetings for its 

Emergency Action Plan process. For example, the NCPA Hydroelectric facility hosts an annual 

face-to-face meeting with local emergency management agencies including: the U.S. Forest 

Service; CAL FIRE; sheriff departments for Calaveras, Tuolumne, and Alpine Counties; California 

Highway Patrol; California Department of Parks and Recreation (Calaveras Big Trees State Park); 

and others. In addition, a separate annual meeting is held with the U.S. Forest Service, since 

many NCPA Hydroelectric facilities are located on U.S. Forest Service lands. Wildfire mitigation is 

one of the agenda items that is always explicitly discussed. 

The NCPA Hydroelectric and Geothermal facilities also coordinate vegetation management 

activities with CAL FIRE and routinely utilize CAL FIRE (in cooperation with California Department 

of Corrections Conservation Fire Camp labor) for vegetation management and wildfire 

mitigation around the facilities. Additionally, NCPA Geothermal facility staff meet annually with 

Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E), Calpine (operator of other geothermal facilities at the Geysers), 

CAL FIRE, the Bureau of Land Management, and Lake County Sanitation District. 

 

Board (WSAB) developed template for review of POU WMPs 

Utility Name: Northern California Power Agency 

Size: <1.5 square miles (39 miles x 200 feet ground clearance) 

Assets: 
Yes - Generation, Yes - Transmission (Only a generator tie line), Yes 
- Distribution (Only for NCPA Utilities’) 

Number of Customers: Zero Customers.  Wholesale provider to PGE Electrical Grid. 

Customer Classes: Zero Customers.  Wholesale provider to PGE Electrical Grid. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 8 

 

Location Topography:  
No - Urban, Yes - Wildland Urban Interface, Yes - Rural/Forest, No - 
Rural/Desert, No - Rural/Agricultural 

Percent Territory in CPUC High 
Fire Threat Maps: Yes - Includes Maps, 46% in Tier 2, 26% in Tier 3 

CAL Fire Frap Map Fire Threat 
Zones: Yes - Includes Maps, 28.5% Extreme, 11% Very High, 10% in High 

Existing Grid Hardening 
Measures Yes - Describes hardened & non-hardened infrastructure 

Utility Fire Threat Risk Level: No - Hi, No - Low, Yes - Mixed 

Impact by another utility’s 
PSPS? Yes - Impacted by PGE PSPS 

Mitigates impact of another 
utility's PSPS? No - NCPA is a wholesaler of power feeding into PGE electrical grid. 

Expects to initiate its own PSPS? No - NCPA is a wholesaler of power feeding into PGE electrical grid. 

Prevailing wind directions and 
speeds by season? No - In Maps, Yes - Includes description in Section 4.A. 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 9 

 

1.C. ORGANIZATION OF THE WILDFIRE MITIGATION PLAN 

This WMP includes the following elements: 

• Objectives of the plan 

• Roles and responsibilities for carrying out the plan 

• Identification of key wildfire risks and risk drivers 

• Description of wildfire prevention, mitigation, and response strategies and programs 

• Metrics for evaluating the performance of the plan and identifying areas for 

improvement 

• Review and validation of the plan 

• Timelines 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 10 

 

2. GOALS 

2.A. MINIMIZING SOURCES OF IGNITION 

The primary goal of this WMP is to minimize the probability that NCPA’s transmission and 

distribution system may be the origin or contributing source for the ignition of a fire. NCPA’s 

priorities include facility improvement projects (i.e. see section 5A) as well as continued and 

improved inspection, maintenance, and vegetation management practices. NCPA has 

evaluated and will continue to evaluate and implement prudent and cost-effective 

improvements (i.e. see section 5A) to its physical assets, operations, and training that can help to 

meet this objective. 

2.B. RESILIENCY OF THE ELECTRIC GRID 

The secondary goal of this WMP is to improve the resiliency of the electric grid. As part of the 

development of this plan, NCPA has assessed and will continue to assess new industry practices 

and technologies that will reduce the likelihood of an interruption (frequency) in service and 

improve the restoration (duration) of service.  For example, section 5.A includes a 230kv 

Insulation improvement project that increased the electrical transmission resiliency for the NCPA 

Hydro Electric Facility. 

2.C. IDENTIFYING UNNECESSARY OR INEFFECTIVE ACTIONS 

The final goal for this WMP is to measure the effectiveness of specific wildfire mitigation 

strategies. Where a particular action, program component, or protocol is determined to be 

unnecessary or ineffective, NCPA will assess whether a modification or replacement is merited. 

This plan will also help determine if more cost-effective measures would produce the same or 

improved results.  

NCPA’s current and planned wildfire risk mitigation activities will be formally reviewed annually 

according to this WMP regarding the effectiveness of ongoing practices, investigation of new 

technologies, and changing climate and ground conditions to continually prioritize the highest 

value activities for fire risk mitigation. These actions align with NCPA’s Strategic Priorities of 

“Prepare” and “Value”: “Develop and maintain diverse generation resource portfolio in 

accordance with or exceeding renewable portfolio standard and capacity obligations” and 

“Develop and enhance strategies to control costs and minimize risks while optimizing the value 

of assets”. These Priorities indicate the Agency’s commitment to addressing the ongoing shift in 

service conditions for generation assets brought about by changing climate conditions, as 

embodied in California’s Renewable Portfolio Standard, and to addressing the additional risks to 

energy deliverability brought about by increasing drought and aging transmission and 

distribution infrastructure. 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 11 

 

3. ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

3.A. UTILITY GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE 

NCPA is governed by a Commission that maintains several committees, including an Executive 

Committee, a Nominating Committee, a Legal Committee, a Legislative & Regulatory Affairs 

Committee, a Facilities Committee, and a Finance Committee. The Executive Committee 

includes a Chair, Vice Chair, and seven at-large representatives. 

Among its approximately 160 employees, NCPA has an internal management team, including a 

General Manager; an Assistant General Manager for Legislative & Regulatory Affairs; an Assistant 

General Manager for Power Management; an Assistant General Manager for Generation 

Services; an Assistant General Manager for Finance & Administrative Services; a General 

Counsel; and an Executive Assistant & Assistant Secretary to the Commission. 

 

*The red box above indicates the responsible department of the North Fork Stanislaus 

Hydroelectric Project (Hydro) and Geyser’s Geothermal (Geo) Projects.  NCPA Plant managers 

are responsible for executing the WMP and serve under the Generation Services Assistant 

General Manager.  

  

* 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 12 

 

3.B. WILDFIRE PREVENTION ORGANIZATIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES  

NCPA is governed by a Commission comprised of one representative for each of its public 

power utility members. The Commission is responsible for the general management of the affairs, 

property, and business of the Agency.  Under the direction of the General Manager, the staff of 

the Agency is responsible for providing various administrative, operating and planning services 

for the Agency.  This establishes all funding and is applied to all wildfire funding mechanisms in 

this plan (i.e., 3.B., 3.C., 5.A., 5.F, 5.G, 5.H). 

NCPA’s organizational responsibilities with respect to wildfire mitigation correspond to its two 

main facility locations that reside in high fire threat areas: The North Fork Stanislaus Hydroelectric 

Project (Hydro) and Geyser’s Geothermal (Geo) Projects. Hydro and Geothermal plant 

managers have responsibility for operations at each respective generating facility.  The plant 

supervisors at each location are responsible for the workforce training and execution of all 

policies and procedures related to fire risks, equipment design, maintenance, inspection, 

vegetation management, and operations for all activities at their facilities. 

Revisions to the NCPA Wildfire Mitigation Plan are presented to the NCPA Facilities Committee 

for review and comment, before being routed for final approval to the NCPA Commission. The 

NCPA Wildfire Mitigation Plan is available for public review on the NCPA website (Policy → 

Reports → Wildfire Mitigation Plan). Archived versions of NCPA’s Wildfire Mitigation Plan are also 

available in this location.    

The NCPA Dispatch Center in Roseville, under the direction of the Assistant General Manager for 

Power Management, has jurisdictional and operational responsibilities for the generator tie lines, 

including procedures for Operating Instructions and Emergency Assistance (NCPA-PM-108) and 

Emergency Operating Guidelines for the Collierville-Bellota 230 kV Lines (NCPA-PM-201). 

Under the direction of the Assistant General Manager for Generation Services, the plant 

managers are responsible for implementation and execution of the WMP with respect to their 

facilities (see notes in Section 3A, Governance Structure Diagram). In coordination with the 

NCPA Dispatch Center, the plant managers coordinate activities with internal and external 

entities necessary to operate and react to wildfire activity. 

Additionally, all NCPA employees are responsible for: 

• Performing good housekeeping practices 

• Maintaining their work areas free of potentially flammable materials 

• Participating in fire prevention and suppression training as required 

3.C. WILDFIRE RESPONSE, COMMUNICATION, AND RECOVERY 

The objective of crisis management is to provide direction for rapid performance of hazard 

assessment, prioritization, notification, and applicable actions. NCPA has evaluated potential 

hazards in the work environment and surrounding areas and has worked with local authorities to 

develop emergency response plans for each facility that address mitigation of hazards and 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 13 

 

effective response. The goals are to protect personnel, the public, the environment, and the 

assets of NCPA.   

NCPA utilizes a number of resources to communicate emergency or hazardous conditions to 

personnel (including non-NCPA personnel) at geothermal plants, powerhouses, and associated 

facilities and locations. These resources include two-way radio communications equipment, cell 

phones, satellite phones, telephone landlines, email, and the Internet. 

The agency maintains separate emergency response plans, due to different geographic 

locations, for Geothermal and Hydro generation projects. The plans provide guidance and 

emergency resources for: fire events, unplanned, sudden or non-sudden hazardous 

materials/waste releases, air emissions exceedances, natural or manmade disasters 

(earthquakes, floods, bomb threats, or suspected terrorist or sabotage events, etc.), or 

emergency hazards. 

Any accident or incident requiring emergency response and support from external agencies 

shall be reported to the appropriate NCPA plant supervisor. The type and severity of the event(s) 

shall determine the appropriate response and course of action. 

The NCPA Dispatch Center is the main point of contact for PG&E on any public safety power 

shutoff (PSPS) notification affecting any of NCPA’s or members’ generation and member loads. 

NCPA does not have a defined service territory however the NCPA Dispatch Center’s 

responsibility is to pass along relevant PG&E PSPS notification to affected members based on 

phone messages or emails received from PG&E through its Everbridge mass notification system. 

The NCPA Dispatch Center will also follow up on the Everbridge PSPS notifications with 

information on any planed power shutoff events based on PG&E’s PSPS websites or direct PG&E 

communication where current and real-time information is available. 

NCPA provides wholesale power to City’s and utilities, typically known as NCPA members, only 

via the utility grid.  Since NCPA does not have retail customers, no customer notification 

protocols are in place. 

3.D. COORDINATION WITH WATER UTILITIES/DEPARTMENT 

The power from the NCPA generation facilities is delivered to the California Independent System 

Operator (CAISO) grid. Unlike a typical public utility, NCPA does not have a defined service 

territory nor does NCPA deliver or provide power directly to any water utilities. However, the 

NCPA Hydroelectric Project does transport and deliver water owned by two (2) water utilities 

through infrastructure (dams and tunnels) operated by NCPA. One of those entities, the 

Calaveras County Water District (CCWD) owns the hydro facilities that NCPA operates to deliver 

this water. The Utica Water and Power Authority (UWPA) also receives some of their water 

through the same facilities. It is important to note that neither curtailment of NCPA generation 

facilities nor de-energization of the NCPA powerlines has any impact on the abilities of CCWD or 

UWPA to obtain water. NCPA routinely communicates and coordinates with CCWD and UWPA, 

and both entities are included on communication flow charts for the relevant emergency plans, 

such as the Emergency Response Plans. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 14 

 

3.E. COORDINATION WITH COMMUNICATION INFRASTRUCTURE 

PROVIDERS 

NCPA does not provide power directly to any communication infrastructure providers and 

therefore does not routinely coordinate or communicate with communication infrastructure 

providers related to wildfire mitigation or power outages. 

3.F. MUTUAL AID AGREEMENTS 

NCPA members are uniquely and ideally qualified to assist with the emergency replacement of 

poles and wires that are necessary to return electric distribution and communication facilities to 

normal operating condition. However, mutual aid agreements have also long been utilized by 

publicly owned utilities during times of need. These agreements are usually formed and 

exercised among neighboring utilities as proximity allows for quick response and less travel 

expenses. Additionally, mutual aid agreements that have a broader geographical reach, 

allowing for the provision of aid from utilities across the state or nation, can provide better 

protection from large regional events that may result in neighboring utilities having to respond to 

the same emergency events. NCPA is a member of the California Utilities Emergency 

Association, which plays a key role in ensuring communications between utilities during 

emergencies and maintains a mutual aid agreement for its members. As a member of the 

American Public Power Association (APPA), NCPA and its members can also authorize APPA 

mutual aid agreements. 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 15 

 

4. WILDFIRE RISKS AND DRIVERS 

NCPA electrical infrastructure consists of the following facilities that are in Moderate to Very High 

CAL FIRE Hazard Severity Zones (2009) and/or Tier 2/3 CPUC Fire Threat Zones (2018). See 

Appendix 1. 

 

NCPA Project NCPA Facility 
Cal Fire Hazard Severity Zone (2009) 

CPUC Fire Threat Zone 

(2018) 

Moderate High Very High Tier 2 Tier 3 

 

 

 

North Fork 

Stanislaus 

Hydroelectric 

Project 

(Hydro) 

Collierville Powerhouse 

11523 Camp 9 Rd., Murphys, 

CA 

38.144944, -120.380022 

 

- 

 

- 

 

X 

 

X 

 

- 

New Spicer Meadows 

Powerhouse 38.393735, -

119.999489 

- - X - - 

McKay's Point 

Diversion Dam 

38°14'3.70"N, 

120°17'31.70"W 

- - X - X 

McKay's 17kV Service Line - - 600 ft. - 600 ft. 

Beaver Creek 

38°14'02.94" N 120°16'43.50" W 
- - X - X 

Collierville-Bellota 230kV Gen-

Tie Line 

10 miles 11 miles 15 miles 25 miles - 

 

 

 

Geysers 

Geothermal 

(Geo) 

Plant 1, 

Middletown, CA 

38.751915, -

122.719932 

- - X - X 

Plant 2, 

Middletown, CA 

38.748348, -

122.710913 

- - X - X 

230 kV Gen-Tie Line - - 2.5 miles - 2.5 miles 

Effluent Pump System 

and 21 kV Service Line 
- - 3 miles - 3 miles 

Steam Field and 

Delivery (includes 

480vac power) 

- - 8 miles - 8 miles 

NCPA is also a 6.13% co-tenant of the Castle Rock Junction-Lakeville 230 kV Transmission Line in 

the Geysers area. This line is located in a Tier 3 CPUC Fire Threat Zone and is operated and 

maintained by PG&E; it is included within the scope of the PG&E Wildfire Mitigation Plan.  

There are no new wildfire risks associated with design and construction of new assets.  NCPA is 

currently Operating and Maintaining original generating facilities.  No new construction is 

planned in the immediate future. 

Note that NCPA does not have “Enterprise-wide” Safety Risks (as addressed under section 4.B of 

the CMUA template) as the Agency does not possess general responsibility over assets and 

geography except for locations tied to our specific generation assets, as outlined above. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 16 

 

4.A. RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH TOPOGRAPHIC AND CLIMATOLOGICAL 

FACTORS  

Multiple wildfire risk drivers have been identified from recent wildfires. These include drought 

conditions, vegetation type and density, weather conditions (high winds and climate change), 

and local topographic features (terrain). Vegetation and climate conditions are discussed in 

section 5. 

Primary risk drivers are weather and climate. Weather and climate include extended drought 

periods, changing weather patterns, and high winds. These weather and climate factors affect 

vegetation conditions, including vegetation health, type and density. Stressed vegetation is 

prone to disease, insect infestations, and increased mortality rates. Conversely, high levels of 

snow and rainfall also affect wildfire risk due to the potential for excessive vegetation growth 

and landslides which could affect target trees or infrastructure. 

Physical conditions, such as terrain and high winds, affect fire risks. These factors influence fire 

movement and direction, and control migration rates. Generally, fires move upslope without 

strong winds, while high winds (i.e. Diablo winds) rapidly drive fires primarily in the same direction 

as the wind. Topographic features, such as steep canyons, create localized conditions that 

affect fire movement and rate of speed. 

Several of the risk drivers are interrelated: 

• Extended drought: Extended drought periods result in multiple stress factors for 

vegetation: dry trees and brush, higher susceptibility to disease and insects, easier 

ignition, faster burn rate, etc. 

• Excessive precipitation: Excessive precipitation can affect vegetation density and 

susceptibility of trees to toppling in high winds.  

• Vegetation type: Fire risk is partially dependent upon vegetation type. Some vegetation 

burns quickly (e.g. dry grass), while other types burn hotter (e.g. hardwood trees such as 

oak). Each vegetation type presents its own unique challenges for vegetation 

management and control. 

• Vegetation density: Vegetation density directly affects wildfire hazards. Dense 

vegetation generally represents the highest hazard level, while sparse vegetation density 

is substantially lower risk. Vegetation density is often associated with weather conditions, 

local micro-climates, precipitation amount and vegetation type. 

• Weather: Weather conditions include precipitation, humidity, storms, and winds. Each 

factor affects wildfire risks. Lightning strikes associated with thunderstorms or dry lightning 

are a natural cause of wildfires. 

• High winds: High winds drive wildfires. They also down trees (a risk that rises with both 

drought and excessive rainfall) and sometimes down power lines. In turn, downed power 

lines are potential ignition sources and the documented cause of some major wildfires in 

California. 

• Prevailing Winds:  NCPA monitors prevailing winds directions and speeds, differentiated 

by season, along with average weather conditions by season using NCPA real-time 

observations noting disturbing local weather.  Live data is used with the fire maps 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 17 

 

located in Appendix 1.  PG&E’s Weather Awareness website is a resource for real-time 

conditions: https://www.pge.com/en_US/safety/emergency-preparedness/natural-

disaster/wildfires/psps-weather-map.page?WT.mc_id=Vanity_weather.  This information is 

used in communication and aids to analyze wildfire situations. In addition, prevailing 

wind patterns and their effect on transmission conductors due to cyclic loading are 

taken into account during annual Transmission asset inspections conducted in 

accordance with NCPA’s NERC FAC-003 compliance procedure GM-305. 

• Terrain: Topographic features and terrain affect wildfire migration and area-specific risks. 

Fires generally burn uphill, especially within steep canyons typical of NCPA’s Geothermal 

site. Wind-driven upslope and up-canyon fires spread rapidly and represent increased 

fire hazards. 

• Changing weather patterns (climate change): Climate change alters vegetation habitat, 

causing species migration. It may result in increased or decreased precipitation, 

precipitation type changes (e.g. more rain than snow), higher maximum temperatures, 

extended heatwaves, more frequent drought. In turn, these changes may cause 

increased tree mortality, increased stressed vegetation, greater susceptibility to disease 

or insect infestation. 

• Communities at risk: Communities located in high-hazard zones are most at risk of 

wildfires. Communities at Risk are designated places and are unchanging.  The risk level 

around these communities may change from year to year based on overall weather 

conditions, as well as during the year, changing from the wet season through the dry 

summer and fall. 

• Fire Frequency: Over history, the frequency of wildfires affects wildfire risks. Vegetation 

changes are directly associated with wildfires. In addition to consuming existing 

vegetation, the new landscape is open to different vegetation types, both native and 

invasive. With native vegetation, a natural cycle occurs with different species 

dominating the environment and evolving over an extended timeframe. Since different 

vegetation types represent varied fire hazards, the risk level also evolves over time in 

conjunction with vegetation changes. 

Wildfires have occurred in the general region of NCPA’s hydro and geothermal facilities, 

however NCPA facilities have not been associated with any ignition source.  The 2017 Tubbs and 

2019 Kincade Fires affected areas nearby, and immediately adjacent to the geothermal 

facilities.  The 2015 Valley Fire destroyed much of the 21kV Service Line for the Effluent Pump 

System. Risks specific to NCPA’s generation facilities are tied to both residual fuel load (snags) 

from previous fires and potential soil instability caused by previous damage to area vegetation. 

These hazards are addressed by enhanced inspection techniques described in Section 5.F 

4.B. RISKS RELATED TO DESIGN, OPERATION, AND MAINTENANCE 

Risks and risk drivers related to design, construction, operation and maintenance that could 

create fire ignition sources are listed below. The methodology for identifying, monitoring, 

analyzing, planning, evaluating safety-wide risks are defined in NCPA’s Preventative Strategies 

and Programs in Section 5.A.  These risks include: 

https://www.pge.com/en_US/safety/emergency-preparedness/natural-disaster/wildfires/psps-weather-map.page?WT.mc_id=Vanity_weather
https://www.pge.com/en_US/safety/emergency-preparedness/natural-disaster/wildfires/psps-weather-map.page?WT.mc_id=Vanity_weather


 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 18 

 

• Equipment/structure/facilities: Inherent risk of facilities, primarily open wire transmission 

and distribution ignition events. This risk is also elevated by adjacent facilities (CALPINE, 

PG&E) that could act as sources of ignition. 

• Object to wire or equipment contact: Trees, birds, balloons, downed conductors, 

lightning strikes, or high wind events resulting in contact of equipment 

• Wire to wire contact: Wires touching one another, and dropping molten metal to the 

ground 

• Vehicle operations: Maintenance, inspection or vegetation clearing crew vehicles 

causing fires (i.e. catalytic converters contacting dry brush) 

• Vegetation clearing: Chain saws and other mechanized equipment use 

• Hot Work: Welding or other activity that could cause ignition in the area of work 

 

4.C. CHANGES TO CPUC FIRE THREAT MAP 

A key concern for NCPA is the historical risk of wildfires in the vicinity of the agency’s facilities, 

particularly within potential fire hazard zones. Both CAL FIRE and the CPUC have developed 

maps to identify potential fire hazard zones, published in 2007 and 2018, respectively. NCPA has 

reviewed current CAL FIRE hazard severity zone and CPUC fire-threat maps with respect to 

agency facilities, as shown in Appendix 1. These maps have not been adjusted since the noted 

publication dates nor have any local agencies imposed any expansions to the maps. There has 

been no new information, or identified changes to the environment, to warrant an expansion of 

the high-fire threat district. 

CPUC Fire Threat Maps are static, based on data available at the time they were created. As 

noted below, wildfire risks evolve over time in response to the risk drivers listed above. In section 

5, annual tree mortality data illustrates a migration of tree mortality, with the risk area expanding 

from year to year. NCPA will review available data and adjust fire threat hazard zones when 

applicable to NCPA facilities. 

4.C.1. MAP COMPARISONS AND UPDATES 

Currently published wildfire hazard maps from CAL FIRE and the CPUC show different boundaries 

for the risk areas delineated. They also use different terminology for hazard zones. Several factors 

could account for these boundary differences between agency maps: publication dates, study 

methodology, vegetation changes over time, recent wildfires, and potential climate change 

effects. The zones delineated by the CAL FIRE and CPUC maps are discussed below. 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 19 

 

CAL FIRE CALIFORNIA FIRE HAZARD SEVERITY ZONE MAP 

CAL FIRE generated and published Fire Hazard Severity Zone Maps for the entire state of 

California in 2007, including separate maps for each county. These maps delineate three hazard 

zone levels: moderate, high, and very high. The figures in Appendix 1 illustrate these fire hazard 

severity zones.  There has been no new information or changes to the environment identified to 

warrant an expansion of the high-fire threat district. 

CPUC FIRE-THREAT MAPS 

The CPUC has developed and published Fire-Threat Maps. These 2018 maps include Tier 2 

(elevated fire risk) and Tier 3 (extreme fire risk) zones. Additionally, the CPUC uses a Tier 1 (zero to 

moderate fire risk) category, which includes a High Hazard Zone (HHZ) designation based on a 

2018 U.S. Forest Service-CAL FIRE joint map of tree mortality HHZs. This Tier 1 information addresses 

the hazard areas with large expanses of dead trees and associated fire risks. 

4.C.2. FIRE ZONE REVIEW PROCESS 

The existing fire zone review process, set forth by regulatory agencies such as CAL FIRE and 

CPUC, is an important tool for reducing wildfire risks and hazards. Preparing and executing 

adequate vegetation management plans is a critical component of this process. The current fire 

zone process incorporates lessons learned from past major wildfire events, with each new 

occurrence adding knowledge and forming the basis for improving the process. 

Since differences exist between currently published CAL FIRE and CPUC wildfire hazard zone 

maps, NCPA uses the most conservative approach to vegetation management and asset 

protection, assuming the highest risk factor from the combined datasets. 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 20 

 

5. WILDFIRE PREVENTATIVE STRATEGIES 

5.A. PREVENTATIVE STRATEGIES AND PROGRAMS 

NCPA’s strategies to reduce wildfire risk include continuous evaluation and improvement of its 

programs and procedures: including NCPA’s (1) facility maintenance program, (2) emergency 

operating procedures , (3) vegetation management programs, and (4) asset documentation 

programs.  These programs include all details such as goals, objective or percentage, monitor 

ongoing work, accomplishments, internal and external audits, and detailed reports.  There are 

no constraints such as budgets, availability of equipment, knowledge to effectively deploy, or 

qualified personnel to install and monitor effectively. 

(1) Facility Maintenance Program: NCPA has a robust preventive maintenance program to 

maintain the safe and reliable operation of its transmission and distribution lines. Given the 

growing risk of wildfires, opportunities for improvement have been identified and will be 

explored as part of each facility’s improvement plan.  Additionally, NCPA utilizes risk factors 

as identified in Section 4.B. during improvement plan evaluations.  Improvements, such as 

listed below, may be implemented based on workable solutions and relative priorities: 

• The Collierville-Bellota (CB) 230 kV Gen-Tie Line: In 2020 NCPA made improvements on its 

longest transmission line.  More than half of the line is within a Tier 2 fire threat zone. NCPA 

prioritized the safe and reliable operation of the line. The line is over 30 years old, and a 

thorough review of the line and its attendant facilities was recently undertaken. A list of  

improvements included upgrading insulators , hardware, and conductor damping. These 

major improvements were completed in 2020. This project was considered a major 

capital improvement and prioritized for wildfire prevention. Avian deterrents and anti-

nesting cones were also added in 2020. 

• McKay’s Point 17 kV Overhead Line: This three-span distribution line is in a Tier 3 fire threat 

zone. This short line is  maintained and is monitored consistently. Due to its location and 

danger tree threat NCPA is seeking a contractor and appropriate hardening 

improvements.  Original improvements were targeted in 2021 but due to contractor 

issues NCPA is now estimating a 2023 execution.    

• Geothermal 230 kV Gen-Tie Transmission Line: This nine-span line connects with PG&E’s 

230 kV system. The line is characterized by long dead-ended spans and thick vegetation, 

which has been cleared to a 300-foot width across the right of way following CAL FIRE 

recommendations. The line is consistently inspected and maintained.  

• PG&E/NCPA/Santa Clara/Department of Water Resources Cotenancy 230 kV line: This co-

owned line is operated and maintained by PG&E on behalf of the co-owners, and 

extends connection of the NCPA and adjacent CALPINE geothermal plant sites to PG&E 

substations located at Fulton and Lakeville substations. Annual maintenance practices 

on this line have been enhanced by implementing extended visual inspection 

techniques. These enhanced inspection techniques are acting to significantly reduce 

ignition hazards from potential line or connector failures. These practices are now subject 

to an annual coordination meeting between PG&E and NCPA on behalf of the other co-

tenants. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 21 

 

• Geothermal Effluent Pump System 21 kV Line: This 6-mile distribution line is in a Tier 3 fire 

threat zone. This line was largely rebuilt following damage caused by the 2017 Valley Fire. 

The wood pole line has construction framing typical to distribution construction.  In 

addition to typical maintenance and monitoring of the pole line and down guy structural 

and foundational health,  NCPA works with Cal Fire and Calpine to coordinate 

vegetation removal and clearance work, in excess of the requirements for rural 

distribution circuits. This activity includes clearing of fire breaks along routes within the 

NCPA steam fields as shown in Appendix 5, resulting in reduced risk of fire spread. 

 

(2) Emergency Operating Procedures: NCPA uses emergency operating procedures to safely 

react to wildfire fire events and help guide employees. In addition to annual evaluation of 

procedure training effectiveness, NCPA improves its operational awareness and ability to 

respond to fire events by ensuring that Hydro and Geothermal plant personnel performing 

work adjacent to NCPA line facilities are able to continuously communicate with plant 

operations personnel for coordination of emergency response to wildfires. 

(3) Vegetation Management Program: NCPA has developed and implemented a Transmission 

Vegetation Management Program (TVMP) to establish the vegetation maintenance 

requirements for each facility to achieve reliability of its generation interconnection system. 

The NCPA document, Generation Services Common Procedure GS-305: Transmission 

Vegetation Management Program, defines NCPA procedures for vegetation management. 

The full description of this program is described in Section 5.E. 

(4) Asset documentation: NCPA has current facility documentation including geographically 

referenced facility locations (appendix 1) and current facility drawings, materials lists, and 

design criteria. This documentation has been coordinated with adjacent asset owners (PG&E 

and Calpine) to ensure completeness of maintenance actions and track design features 

(lightning arrestors) that minimize risks of the lines causing an ignition. 

NCPA directly participated in the development of the CPUC’s Fire-Threat Map,1 which 

designates a High Fire-Threat District. In the map development process, NCPA served as a 

territory lead, and worked with utility staff and local fire and government officials to identify the 

areas of NCPA’s service territory that are at an elevated or extreme risk of power line-ignited 

wildfire. NCPA has incorporated the High Fire-Threat District into its construction, inspection, 

maintenance, repair, and clearance practices, where applicable. 

A key concern for NCPA is the historical risk of wildfires in the vicinity of the agency’s facilities, 

particularly within potential fire hazard zones. Both CAL FIRE and the CPUC have developed 

maps to identify potential fire hazard zones, published in 2007 and 2018, respectively. NCPA has 

reviewed current CAL FIRE hazard severity zone and CPUC fire-threat maps with respect to 

agency facilities, as shown in Appendix 1. 

NCPA reviewed facilities and determined the hazard zones where these facilities are located. 

These facilities and their locations are described in section 4. 

The CPUC defines a High Fire-Threat District consisting of three areas: 

                                                      
1 Adopted by CPUC Decision 17-12-024. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 22 

 

• Tier 1 High Hazard Zones on the U.S. Forest Service-California Department of Forestry and 

Fire Protection (CAL FIRE) joint map of Tree Mortality High Hazard Zones 

• Tier 2 of the CPUC Fire-Threat Map where there is an elevated risk for utility-associated 

wildfires 

• Tier 3 of the CPUC Fire-Threat Map where there is an extreme risk for utility-associated 

wildfires 

NCPA facilities in relation to CPUC and CAL FIRE threat maps are shown in Appendix 1 of this 

report. 

5.B. POTENTIAL CLIMATE CHANGE EFFECTS 

Climate change has affected vegetation in many ways. Droughts are longer and more severe. 

Large storm events are more common and intense. Summers are hotter and may include more 

thunderstorms. These climate change factors affect vegetation and the associated wildfire risks: 

• Vegetation adapts, with plant migration into different areas 

• Vegetation dries out during droughts, presenting increased fire danger 

• Stressed vegetation is more susceptible to insect infestations, damaging trees, or 

accelerating mortality  

• Thunderstorms present lighting strike risks along with strong wind events 

Extended periods of intense rainfall also typically increase landslide risks. In turn, landslides could 

damage or topple structures, limit access, or create safety hazards by damaging roads, or 

cause localized tree mortality by severing root systems. Note that heavy rainfall is not the only 

landslide trigger mechanism, but it is the one most closely associated with climate change. 

5.C. POTENTIAL CLIMATE CHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT IMPACTS 

Climate change has affected the risks associated with wildfires, especially in fire hazard zones.  

Frequent, severe and larger wildfires, and the related impacts to the POU lines, equipment and 

operations result in impacts to vegetation and increased wildfire risks. Some of the specific 

climate change impacts that affect wildfire risks include: 

• Tree and underbrush growth rates 

• Vegetation type changes 

• Vegetation migration from existing habitats 

• Stress and disease contributing to higher tree mortality 

As potential impacts shift over time, fire hazard management practices will evolve and adapt to 

changing risk management requirements. 

5.D. TREE MORTALITY 

It is estimated that over 100 million trees in California died from drought-related stress between 

2012 and 2017. The extended drought period left millions of acres of forestland highly susceptible 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 23 

 

to insect attacks. Drought stress is aggravated in forests with too many trees competing for 

limited water resources. 

In 2015, California established the Tree Mortality Task Force (https://frap.fire.ca.gov/frap-

projects/tree-mortality/). This task force was established to identify and map tree mortality areas 

with the greatest potential for causing harm to people and property. The High Hazard Zones 

were prioritized for tree removal. 

Dead, dying, and diseased trees represent potential wildfire risks for NCPA.  Trees adjacent to 

power line right-of-way represent a hazard due to falling branches or potential toppling. This 

threat increases substantially with tall snags or trees with dead tops. Dead or highly stressed trees 

are also an easily ignitable fuel source. They ignite quicker and generally burn faster than 

healthy trees.  NCPA’s internal Transmission Vegetation Management Program specifies tree and 

snag clearances. 

5.E. VEGETATION MANAGEMENT 

NCPA has developed and implemented a Transmission Vegetation Management Program 

(TVMP) to establish the vegetation maintenance requirements for each facility to achieve 

reliability of its generation interconnection system. The NCPA document, Generation Services 

Common Procedure GS-305: Transmission Vegetation Management Program, defines NCPA 

procedures for vegetation management.  NCPA’s TVMP is the plan for all types of vegetation 

associated with utility infrastructure, from the ground to the sky, which includes vegetation 

above and below electrical lines.   

NCPA meets or exceeds the minimum industry standard vegetation management practices. For 

transmission-level facilities, NCPA complies with NERC FAC-003-4. For both transmission and 

distribution-level facilities, NCPA meets: (1) Public Resources Code section 4292; (2) Public 

Resources Code section 4293; (3) General Order 95 Rule 35; and (4) General Order 95 Appendix 

E Guidelines to Rule 35. 

The TVMP enhances reliability by preventing outages from vegetation located within or 

adjacent to the power line right-of-way, by maintaining required clearances between power 

lines and vegetation within or adjacent to the right-of-way, by reporting vegetation-related 

outages of the system to WECC, and by documenting the process for an annual vegetation 

work plan. The program satisfies the requirements for vegetation management specified in NERC 

FAC-003-4, which requires a Generator Owner to have documented maintenance strategies, 

procedures, processes, or specifications to prevent the encroachment of vegetation into the 

Minimum Vegetation Clearance Distance of applicable lines as specified in requirement R3. 

NCPA uses a combination of its own staff (manager, supervisor or competent designee) and the 

retention of qualified consultants (such as scientific experts in ecology, fire ecology, fire 

behavior, geology, and meteorology) with experience in line design, line construction, NERC 

Standards compliance, and vegetation management to develop and maintain the TVMP. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 24 

 

The TVMP specifies technical requirements for staff and contractors to comply with or verify 

compliance with Cal/OSHA standards and NCPA Electrical Safety Procedure GS-103 ensures 

Cal/Osha and Minimum Approach Distances (MAD). 

The objectives of the TVMP are to: 

• Adhere to the Power Line Fire Prevention Field Guide published by CAL FIRE in November 

2008 and used by California utilities for the care and maintenance of trees, shrubs, and 

other woody plants when pruning vegetation near electric facilities. 

• Maintain defined clearance distances between the generation interconnection facilities 

and all trees, brush, and other vegetation that could grow too close to electrical facilities 

including conductors, poles, and guy wires. Since the clearances specified in the Power 

Line Fire Prevention Field Guide are more stringent than the MVCD described in FAC-003-

4, NCPA adheres to the CAL FIRE field guide. 

• Where appropriate and necessary, develop site-specific, environmentally sensitive, cost-

effective and socially responsible solutions to vegetation control near the NCPA 

generation interconnection facilities. Document the process in NCPA’s CMMS annual 

Preventive Maintenance process for the annual vegetation work plan for applicable 

power lines and other facility infrastructure (steam lines, switchyards, firebreaks). An 

example of firebreaks implemented to address risk of fire spread at the NCPA 

Geothermal site is provided in Appendix 5 to this Plan. 

• Maintain public and worker safety, maintain compliance with NERC standards and other 

regulatory and legal requirements, provide reliable electric service that allows for 

operational flexibility, and promote environmental stewardship and habitat 

enhancement. 

• Potential improvements to its programs include increasing the frequency and scope of 

aerial lidar surveys on its transmission and distribution facilities, and a continued emphasis 

on identification and timely removal of danger and hazard trees that threaten overhead 

transmission and distribution lines.  NCPA’s asset management system allows potential 

improvement to be evaluated as observations and comments are made when work 

orders for maintenance items are executed. 

5.F. INSPECTIONS 

NCPA performs annual inspections of its transmission and distribution facilities in accordance with 

General Order 95 and General Order 165. The following additional inspections have been 

performed on the CB 230 kV line: 

• Lidar vegetation flights 

• Corona scans of insulators 

• Infrared “hot-spot” inspections of conductor, conductor splices, and dead-end 

hardware. 

• In addition to its annual ground-based inspection, NCPA may augment inspections with 

aerial drone and/or helicopter surveys.   

These inspections are documented and issued by NCPA’s computerized maintenance 

management system (CMMS), and records of those inspections are maintained. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 25 

 

Strategic improvements to the inspection program include increasing the frequency and scope 

of inspections, increasing the use of drone-based visual inspections, consideration of new 

technology, improving the inspection methodology approach, and consideration of fire threat 

zones in the inspection programs.  NCPA’s asset management system also allows these 

improvements to be evaluated as observations and comments are made when work orders for 

maintenance items are executed. 

The TVMP also establishes requirements for the type and schedule of right-of-way vegetation 

inspections. Specific hazards addressed in the TVMP include identification of encroachment into 

the Clearance area (section 6.3.7), and additional inspection activities to identify deadfall and 

brush in the ROW that could provide fuel for wildfire spread (section 6.3.9). The TVMP also 

provides explicit direction to treat emergent conditions of a potential hazard as an immediate 

mitigation priority without any intentional delay (section 6.4.4), including addressing extent of 

condition. 

Section 4.B. of this WMP outlines the unique risks NCPA inspects for.   

5.G. FIRE PREVENTION, SAFETY, EMERGENCY RESPONSE TRAINING 

NCPA has implemented work rules and complementary training programs for its workforce to 

help reduce the likelihood of the ignition of wildfires. 

Trainings for employees to cover fire hazards and NCPA’s Fire Prevention Plan consists of fire 

extinguisher training, fire prevention training, hazardous materials handling training, and 

emergency response training. These trainings are conducted by an outside vendor and/or 

NCPA supervisors or environmental health and safety specialists. 

NCPA employees also receive training on emergency response plans when the employee is 

assigned initially to the job, when the plan changes, and when the employee’s responsibilities or 

designated actions under the plans change. 

Each facility manager is responsible for conducting site-specific training to ensure that the 

purpose and function of NCPA safety procedures are understood by employees and that 

knowledge and skills required for safe operation are acquired by employees. Refresher training is 

performed and documented on an annual basis, and retraining is conducted when: 

• An annual audit reveals there are deviations from or inadequacies in the employee’s 

knowledge of the procedure or changes in the regulations 

• A new or revised control method of a system or piece of equipment 

The following procedures provide additional guidance for employee training specific to the 

areas described in these NCPA documents: 

• Generation Services Common Procedure GS-101: Lock Out Tag Out Try Procedure 

• Generation Services Common Procedure GS-103: Electrical Safety Procedure 

• Generation Services Common Procedure GS-107: Proper Handling of Hazardous Waste 

• Generation Services Common Procedure GS-111: Hot Work Procedure 

• Generation Services Common Procedure GS-115: Welding Safety Procedure 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 26 

 

• Generation Services Common Procedure GS-126: Fire Protection and Prevention Plan 

• Power Management Common Procedure PM-108: Operating Instructions and 

Emergency Assistance 

• Power Management Common Procedure PM-201: Emergency Operating Guidelines, 

Collierville Power House Bellota-Collierville 230kV Lines 

5.H. RECLOSING POLICY 

NCPA does not own or use automatic reclosers on its 230 kV within the scope defined in Section 

4 of this WMP. Relaying equipment on the 21 kV Bear Canyon line at the Geothermal site is also 

set to a “zero-reclose to lockout”, requiring physical inspection of the line prior to restoration. This 

is a typical approach for utility operations in rugged and remote terrain, for both personnel and 

fire hazard safety reasons. In the event of a planned or emergency line trip, close coordination 

with NCPA generation services and dispatch as well as with PG&E’s grid control center is 

mandatory, and lines are only re-energized after extensive line patrol visual confirmation. If the 

lines are tripped due to a forecasted or imminent wildfire or if a wildfire is believed to be caused 

by downed lines, close coordination with CAL FIRE’s onsite representative and control center are 

required before NCPA’s generation services attempts to energize the line. 

5.I. DE-ENERGIZATION 

In the event of active fire situations in the vicinity of the CB 230 kV transmission line, NCPA may 

be directed by CAL FIRE to de-energize the line’s two circuits for firefighter and/or aircraft 

protection. The on-call Hydro Supervisor will coordinate Hydro personnel response to any 

wildland fires in and around the CB 230 kV transmission lines and contact on-site CAL FIRE 

personnel if necessary. If CAL FIRE requests de-energizing both of the 230 kV lines, the NCPA 

Dispatch Center will shut down both Collierville units before de-energizing these lines. NCPA is 

currently able to de-energize both circuits of the CB 230 kV line via SCADA and other 

procedures within 20 minutes. 

The Collierville 480 VAC station service is designed to automatically transfer to the offsite PG&E 

17 kV source. If the 17 kV source is not available, the 480 VAC standby diesel generator will start 

and provide station service power. The NCPA Dispatch Center will notify Generation Services 

Hydro staff of any issues with the 17 kV source or if the diesel generator is in operation. The NCPA 

Dispatch Center will notify the CAISO and work with PG&E’s Grid Control Center to de-energize 

both 230 kV lines. 

NCPA’s Geothermal plant manager relies on PG&E to determine de-energization. NCPA’s Hydro 

plant manager has the authority to preemptively shut off power due to fire-threat conditions; 

however, this option will only be used in extraordinary circumstances. NCPA will make a case-by-

case decision to shut off power. 

NCPA also maintains transmission line trip procedures to significantly reduce fire risk, including 

requiring patrols prior to restoring transmission lines. Requiring patrols during high fire risk scenarios 

is typical and recommended of California utilities. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 27 

 

5.J.1. IMPACTS TO PUBLIC SAFETY 

NCPA has no retail customers, and de-energizing agency facilities will not directly affect retail 

customers, who will be notified by their specific utility providers of PSPS. 

5.J.2. CUSTOMER NOTIFICATION PROTOCOLS 

NCPA provides wholesale power to Cities and utilities, typically known as NCPA members, only 

via the utility grid.  Since NCPA does not have retail customers, no customer notification 

protocols are in place.  However, NCPA is the primary point of contact between PG&E PSPS and 

its member utilities. Formal procedures are currently in place, NCPA-PM-501, to notify NCPA 

member utilities of de-energization activities. The notifications are provided via voice 

communication to primary and backup points of contact within each NCPA member utility. 

Attachment 1 to Procedure NCPA-PM-501 is included as Attachment D to this Wildfire Mitigation 

Plan.  

 

 

6. LEFT BLANK 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 28 

 

 

7. RESTORATION OF SERVICE 

After a de-energization event, NCPA will restore service in coordination with PG&E’s restoration 

efforts. NCPA will follow PM-201 and Geothermal Facilities Maintenance Procedure (GEO-646) 

which specifically address restoration for Hydro and Geothermal facilities respectively.  These 

procedures contain the steps that must be taken to restore such as inspecting, repairing, testing, 

and finally restoring. 

7.A. METRICS AND ASSUMPTIONS FOR MEASURING PLAN 

PERFORMANCE 

NCPA will track three metrics to measure the performance of this Wildfire Mitigation Plan  Metrics 

are evaluated yearly: (1) number of fire ignitions; (2) number of NCPA wires down; and (3) fall in 

hazard trees ignitions. 

METRIC 1: FIRE IGNITIONS 

NCPA will track fire ignitions in their territory as follows: 

• Self-ignited or human-caused 

• An NCPA facility failure was associated with the fire 

• An NCPA electrical facility wire-to-wire contact was associated with the fire 

• The ignition was a result of an extreme weather event 

2020 Metric Summary:  GEO – 0 ignitions, Hydro – 0 ignitions 

2021 Metric Summary:  GEO – 0 ignitions, Hydro – 0 ignitions 

METRIC 2: WIRES DOWN 

The second metric is the number of NCPA distribution and transmission wires downed. A wire 

down event includes any instance where an electric transmission or primary distribution 

conductor falls to the ground or on to a foreign object. NCPA will divide the wires down metric 

between wires down inside and outside of High Fire Threat Districts. All wires down events will be 

documented. 

2020 Metric Summary:  GEO – 0 Wire Down, Hydro – 0 Wire Down 

2021 Metric Summary:  GEO – 0 Wire Down, Hydro – 0 Wire Down 

METRIC 3: FALL IN HAZARD TREES IGNITIONS  

NCPA has added a metric that measures an element that could lead to a wildfire ignition: 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 29 

 

• Fall in trees (trees of height sufficient to represent a contact hazard to the Distribution 

Line if destabilized due to soil instability at the tree base) without adequate clearance to 

the ROW in areas previously affected by fire. 

2023 Metric Summary:  GEO – 10 Locations, 0 Fall Ins; Hydro – 2 Locations, 0 Fall Ins. 

7.B. IMPACT OF METRICS ON PLAN 

NCPA plans to continue tracking these metrics as a method of documenting overall WMP 

success at identifying and containing risk. Additional metrics will be added to the WMP to help 

with identification of which lines are most susceptible to risk factors from unexpected outages 

(animal or vegetation induced), time-of-year risks including drought or excessive rainfall that 

could shift timing or scope of VM efforts and enhanced inspection requirements, as well as 

shifting fire threat district risks due to additional community developments adjacent to NCPA 

facilities or impact of maintenance deferment on existing lines. Through this metric review, NCPA 

will identify lines and other facility assets that are disproportionately impacted and could benefit 

by focused risk reduction measures that represent  potential improvements to the plan.   

2020 through 2023 WMP Impact Due to Metrics – The metrics above show zero incidents and 

indicate success.   

Within the context of California’s exposure to wildfire ignition risk resulting from “wires down” or 

“wire/tree interaction”, NCPA operates an asset base in High fire risk territory that consists of 

roughly 35 miles of 230 kV transmission and just over 3 miles of 21 kV distribution. By contrast, 

PG&E operates in excess of 99,000 miles of transmission and distribution circuits within its service 

territory, experiencing an incident rate of 308 “wires down” or “wire/tree interaction” during 

2022, for a rate of 0.3% per mile year (PG&E 2023-2025 WMP Revision 1 Figure PG&E-6.1.1-2, page 

136). Assuming NCPA’s track record is no better than PG&E, NCPA should expect to experience 

0.12 incidents per mile year, or about one incident in 8.5 years. A “zero” metric would be 

indicative of success under NCPA’s WMP program metrics, and should be sustainable for a 

period in excess of 10 years. 

 

Acknowledging that the “zero” metric does not provide insight into NCPA’s thorough inspection 

and maintenance activities to keep its transmission and distribution assets healthy, the Agency is 

considering addition of a metric to track total inspection observations for each overhead line 

asset. This will enable identification of locations where service conditions are contributing to a 

higher than normal number of observations and will assist risk reduction efforts by allowing 

focused attention on potential root causes for the elevated observation rate. NCPA anticipates 

investigation into historic line inspection records over the course of the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year that 

will enable verification of the usefulness of this metric. 

7.C. MONITORING AND AUDITING THE PLAN 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 30 

 

This WMP is presented to the NCPA Commission on an annual basis along with metrics and a 

summary of updates. Additionally, a qualified independent evaluator will present a report on this 

plan to the NCPA Commission. See section 8. 

7.D. IDENTIFYING AND CORRECTING DEFICIENCIES IN THE PLAN 

NCPA may correct deficiencies and implement plan improvements as needed.  Some of these 

activities and their alignment to the Agency’s Strategic Priorities are defined in Section 2C.  In 

support of these Priorities, the annual WMP review provides a framework for evaluation of the 

effectiveness of the Agency’s plan, both in terms of the internal results achieved, but also in 

terms of the potential for shifting hazards resulting from ongoing drought (e.g., additional areas 

being designated as high fire threat) and weather induced changes (e.g., increased fire load as 

a result of high than historic rainfall totals). The Agency’s strategy to assure availability of its assets 

involves an ongoing process of assessing risk and developing cost effective means to address 

those risks within the WMP (e.g., cooperative effort with Calpine to maintain fire breaks, use of 

WAPA for transmission line conductor repair and replacement), as reflected in the record of 

Agency annual WMP reviews and revisions. Improvements will be documented in the annual 

report to the NCPA Commission.   

 

7.E. MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF INSPECTIONS  

Line inspections for NCPA fall into two categories: 

1. Line patrol and evaluation of line facilities on a structure-by-structure basis. This is either 

ground or aerial (drone or helicopter) based. 

2. Vegetation monitoring and evaluation, either ground-based on a structure-by-structure 

and span-by-span basis or by lidar aerial methods.  

Measuring the effectiveness of these inspections can be performed by review by independent 

professionals of the inspection documentation and analysis in the case of the lidar vegetation 

inspection. Baseline comparison of results from adjacent drought and excessive rainfall years will 

inform earlier inspection timing and/or enhanced scope of the inspections. Developing metrics 

surrounding risks identified and mitigated will help reinforce a “zero-tolerance” approach for VM 

and equipment failure induced outages. Baseline of inspection practices with adjacent owners 

(PG&E and CALPINE) will also be used to evaluate effectiveness. A second method would 

include ride-alongs with inspection personnel to review their methodology and reporting. Lastly, 

an independent review of similar facilities can be performed and compared and reviewed with 

inspection personnel.  NCPA currently conducts ride-alongs with both Cal-Fire staff and internal 

NCPA staff.  Additional objectives are stated in Section 2C above.   

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 31 

 

 

8. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 

In 2019, NCPA anticipated that the CPUC would provide a list of qualified independent 

evaluators. In lieu of such a list, NCPA drew from a list it compiled following a Request for 

Qualifications issued in June 2019. The selection was based on competitive bid. 

In 2020, NCPA competitively bid and contracted with a qualified independent evaluator, 

Dudek, with experience in assessing the safe operation of electrical infrastructure to review and 

assess the comprehensiveness of this WMP. The independent evaluator issued a report (that is 

attached as an appendix to this report) and posted to the NCPA website.  The independent 

evaluation and report were completed April 30th 2020. 

In 2021, NCPA competitively bid and contracted with a qualified independent evaluator, 

Dudek, to review this WMP using the recommendations provided by the Wildfire Safety Advisory 

Board’s (WSAB) “Guidance Advisory Opinion for the 2021 Wildfire Mitigation Plans of Electric 

Publicly Owned Utilities and Cooperatives” published and approved December 9, 2020.  Per the 

WSAB, “The guidance document should be viewed as offering an efficient way to meet the 

WMP requirements in Public Utilities Code Section 8387(b)(2), not as adding to the statutory 

requirements.” 

 

  

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 32 

 

APPENDIX 1 – FIRE RISK ASSESSMENT MAPS 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 33 

 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 34 

 

APPENDIX 2 – INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR REPORT 2020 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 35 

 

  

Mr. Jeremy Lawson 

Subject: Evaluation of Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Prevention Mitigation Plan 

Should you have any questions or require additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me at (530) 
863-4650. 

Sincerely, 

Scott Eckardt, RPF 
Project Manager 

Arr.: A. Required WMP E/emenrs undel PUC Seer/on 8387/b) 
cc: Michael Huff, Dudek 

Jason Neuman, Dudek 

DUDEK 2 
12108.02 
April 2020 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 36 

 

 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 37 

 

APPENDIX 3 – INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR REPORT 2021 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 38 

 

Independent Evaluation Report of Northern California Power Agency's Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

• 8387(b)(2)(G): Enhance section to clarify role as wholesaler vs. retailer. As a wholesale provider NCPA has 
no retail customers; any impacts would be addressed by providers of PSPS. 

• 8387(b)(2)(J): Add list of risks and risk drivers related to design, construction, operation and 
maintenance; they currently are not addressed. 

• 8387(b)(2)(K): Not addressed. Rather than referring solely to the High Fire-Threat District, include 

description of the local geography, any specific areas of concern and identification of any changes to be 
made. 

• 8387(b)(2)(M): Needs clarification and details. Statement is very limited with no details, only that 
restoration will occur in coordination with PG&E and General Order (G0)-646 procedures. The section 
should be enhanced to include details on PG&Es restoration efforts and the G0-646 procedure. 

• 8387(b)(2)(N): The section should be enhanced to include details on how the monitoring will occur 
throughout the year. It is not clear how deficiencies are identified. Clarification is needed whether or not 
the proposed effectiveness inspection methods are actually taking place, and if so, by whom. 

Fol lowing updates to all of the above, the WMP was found to meet all the requirements of PUC §8387(b)(2). 

In addition, though not requ ired to do so, NCPA requested Dudek to conduct an evaluation of the WMP for 
compliance with the Wildfire Safety Advisory Board 2020 WMP guidance recommendations. Fol lowing updates, 
the WMP was found to meet all the recommendations of the Guidance Advisory Opinion for 2021 WMPs (See 
Attachment B for Compliance Matrix). 

II. WILDFIRE MITIGATION PLAN REQUIREMENTS 

A. Senate BIii 901 

Per Senate Bill (SB) 901, all Publicly Owned Util ities (POUs) are required to adopt a Wildfire Mitigation Plan 
(WMP), which shall be reviewed by an independent third-party evaluator. SB 901 requires lhe governing board to 
determine whether any portion of the geographical area where the uti lity's overhead electrical lines and 

equipment are located has a significant risk of catastrophic wildfire resulting from those electrical lines and 
equipment. The bill directs electrical utilities to annual ly prepare WMPs that include several mit igation and 
response elements in each utility's strategies, protocols, and programs. Each electric utility is to prepare and 
adopt a comprehensive WMP before January 1, 2020. The requirements for POUs are presented in PUC §8387. 

In addition, the WMP shall be reviewed by an approved, independent, third-party evaluator to rev iew and assess 
the comprehensiveness of, and the POU's compliance with, this Plan. 

B. AB 1054 & AB 111 

Per Assembly Bill (AB) 1054, POUs must annually submit a WMP to the California Wildfire Safety Advisory Board, 
which will review the WMP and provide recommendat ions on mitigating wildfire risk. AB 1054 conta ins similar 
WMP requirements lo SB 901 but al lows WMPs of a three-year, rather than one-year duration. 

AB 111 establishes the Wildfire Safety Division within the Public Utilit ies Commission. 

DUDEK 2 

12108.04 
May2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 39 

 

Independent Evaluation Report of Northern California Power Agency's Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

C. Northern Calffornla Power Agency WMP Requirements 

PUC §8387(b)(2) lists the statutory requirements for WMPs. These are the specific elements that the 
independent evaluator must review in order to make its determination for th is report. The specific elements that 
must be addressed in NCPA's WMP are included in Table A (see Attachment A) and are summarized here for 
reference. 

• The responsibi lities of persons responsible for execut ing the plan. 

• The objectives of the wildfire mitigation plan. 

• The preventive strategies and programs to be adopted to minimize the risk of its electrical lines and 
equipment causing catastrophic wildfires. 

• The metrics to use to evaluate the wildfire mitigation plan's performance. 

• How the application of previously identified metrics has informed the wildfire m itigation plan. 

• Protocols for disabling reclosers and deenergizing portions of the electrical distribution system that 
consider the associated impacts. 

• Procedures for not ifying a customer who may be impacted by the deenergizing of electrical lines. 
Plans for vegetation management. 

• Plans for inspections of the electrical infrastructure. 

• Description of all wildfire risks, and drivers for those risks, throughout the service territory, including 
design, construction, operation, and maintenance of equipment and facilities, and topographic and 
climatological risk factors. 

• Identification of any geographic area in the service territory that is a higher wi ldfire threat than is 
identified in a commission fire threat map. 

• Identification of enterprise-wide safety risk and wildfire-related risks. 

• How the service will be restored after a wildfire. 

• The processes and procedures used to monitor and audit the implementation of the wildfire mitigation 
plan, identify any deficiencies, and the effect iveness of electrical line and equipment inspections. 

111. DESCRIPTION OF NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

NCPA is a Joint Powers Agency, which owns and operates electrical generation fac ilities. NCPA is governed by a 
Commission comprised of one representative for each of its public power utility members. 

The WMP applies to a geothermal facility and a hydro facility that are located in two different geographical areas. 
These two facilities contain electrical equipment in high fire threat locations. The geothermal plant is located 
around the Geyser territory in Lake Counly and the Hydro Electric Facility is located in t he North Fork Stanislaus 
River watershed (Calaveras County). 

NCPA electrical infrastructure consists of facilities that are in Moderate to Very High Fire Hazard Severity Zones 
(CAL FIRE) and/or Tier 2/3 CPUC Fire Threat Zones. 

NCPA has taken appropriate actions to help prevent and respond to the increasing risk of devastating wildfires by 
following all applicable design, construction, operation, and maintenance requirements that reduce safety risks 
associated with its electric system. 

DUDEK 3 

12108.04 
May2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 40 

 

Independent Evaluation Report of Northern California Power Agency's Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

IV. INDEPENDENT EVALUATION 

A. Independent Evaluator Requirement 

PUC §8387 requires each POU to ·contract with a qualified independent evaluator wit h experience in assessing 
the safe operation of electrical infrastructure to review and assess the comprehensiveness of its wildfire 
mitigation plan." Additionally, the independent evaluator's assessment of the comprehensiveness of the POU's 

WMP must be issued in a report that is both posted to the POU's website and presented at a public meeting of the 
POU's governing board. 

B. Dudek's Qua/fflcat/ons 

According to PUC §8387(c), the qualified independent evaluator that performs t he assessment of NCPA's WMP 
must have "experience in assessing the safe operation of electrical infrastructure to review and assess the 
comprehensiveness of its wildfire mitigation plan." NCPA has determined that Dudek is the independent 
evaluator who adequately understands the local conditions and fire risks of the service area. 

C. Evaluation Methodology 

Dudek evaluated the comprehensiveness the NCPA WMP on the following measures: 

• Statutory Compliance: Dudek ensured that each required element specified in PUC §8387 is either 
addressed in NCPA's WMP or that NCPA has sufficiently described why that element is not applicable due 
to NCPA's size, geography, system or other relevant factor. 

• Industry Comparison: Dudek is familiar with existing industry practices and has reviewed the local POU 
WMPs previously filed with the CPUC. Dudek has compared NCPA's WMP against existing practices and 
any comparable actions planned by the POUs. 

D. Metrics 

The NCPA WMP uses the following metrics to measure performance of its wildfire mitigation measures: (1) 
number of fire ignitions, and (2) wires down events. Dudek has determined that these are appropriate metrics for 

this WMP. Dudek will continue to monitor the metrics selected in the CPUC's current Wildfire Mitigation Plan 
rulemaking for utilities (per R.18-10-OO7) and determine if any additional metrics are applicable to POUs and 
should be incorporated into future WMPs. 

V. EVALUATION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY WILDFIRE MITIGATION PLAN 

A. Minimizing Wildfire Risks 

PUC §8387(a) requires the following: Each local publicly owned electric utility and electrical cooperative shall 
construct, maintain, and operate it s electrical lines and equipment in a manner that will minimize t he risk of 
wildfire posed by those electrical lines and equipment . 

The WMP describes the safety-related measures that NCPA follows to reduce its risk of causing wildfires. Dudek 
has determined that NCPA complies with this standard due to the const ruction of NCPA's equipment and 

resources. 

DUDEK 4 

12108.04 
May2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 41 

 

Independent Evaluation Report of Northern California Power Agency's Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

B. Evaluation of WMP Elements 

Dudek found that NCPA's WMP meets the statutory requirements of comprehensiveness per PUC §8387. The 
review of the WM P's elements is summarized relative to the application of the WMP. The table in Attachment A 
lists each required element for NCPA's WMP and provides Dudek's assessment of the comprehensiveness of that 
element within the WMP. 

Below is a brief summary of WMP elements as required by PUC §8387, including restating sections of the WMP 
where applicable. 

8387(b)(2)(A): Responsibilities of Persons Responsible for Executing t he Plan. 
Under the direction of the Assistant General Manager for Generation Services, the plant managers are 
responsible for implementation and execution of the WMP with respect to their facilities. 

8387(b)(2)(B): Objectives of the Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

The objective of the WMP is to reduce the risk of wildfires that could be ignited or propagated by NCPA 

electrical equipment or facilities in high fire threat locations. 

8387(b)(2)(C): Prevention Strategies and Programs 
NCPA's strategies to reduce wildfire risk include continuous evaluation and improvement of its programs 
and procedures: including NCPA's (1) facility maintenance program, (2) emergency operating procedures, 
(3) vegetation management programs, and (4) asset documentation programs. These programs include 
all details such as goals, objective or percentage, monitor ongoing work, accomplishments, internal and 
external audits, and detailed reports. 

8387(b)(2)(D): Metrics and Assumptions for Measuring WMP Performance 
The NCPA WMP uses two metrics to measure performance of its wildfire mitigation measures: (1) number 
of fire ignitions, and (2) wires down events. Dudek has determined that these are appropriate metrics for 
this WMP. 

8387(b)(2)(E): Impact of Previous Metrics on WMP 

The metrics show zero incidents and indicate success; no WMP changes due to metrics. 

8387(b)(2)(F): Reclosing Protocols 

NCPA does not own or use automatic reclosers on its 230 kV within the scope defined in this WMP. 

8387(b)(2)(G): De-energization Notification Procedures 

In the event of active fire situations, NCPA may be directed by CAL FIRE to de-energize the lines for 

firefighter and/or aircraft protection. If CAL FIRE requests de-energizing both of the lines, the NCPA 

Dispatch Center wil l shut down units before de-energizing these lines. 

8387(b)(2)(H): Vegetation Management 

NCPA has developed and implemented a Transmission Vegetat ion Management Program (TVMP) to 

establish the vegetation maintenance requ irements for each facility to achieve reliability of its generation 

interconnection system. The NCPA document defines procedures for vegetation management. NCPA's 

DUDEK 5 

12108.04 
May2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 42 

 

Independent Evaluation Report of Northern California Power Agency's Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

TVMP is the plan for all types of vegetation associated with utility infrastructure, from the ground to the 

sky, which includes vegetation above and below electrical lines. 

8387(b)(2)(I): Inspections 
NCPA performs annual inspections of its t ransmission and dist ribution facilities in accordance with 
General Order 95 and General Order 165. In addition to its annual ground-based inspection, NCPA may 

augment inspections with aerial drone and/ or helicopter surveys. 

8387(b)(2)(J)(i): Risks and Risk Drivers Associated with Design and Construction Standards 
Risks and risk drivers related to design, construction, operation and maintenance include 
equipment/structure/facilities, object to wire or equipment contact , wire to wire contact, vehicle 
operations, vegetation clearing, and hot work. 

8387(b)(2)(J)(ii): Risks and Risk Drivers Associated with Topographic and Climatological Risk Factors 

Risks and risk drivers related to Topographic and Climatological Risk Factors include extended drought, 
vegetation type, vegetation density, weather, high winds, prevailing winds, terrain, changing weather 
patterns and communities at risk. 

8387(b(2))(K): Geographical Area of Higher Wildfire Threat 
To identify the areas of NCPA's service territory that are at an elevated or extreme risk of power line
ignited wildfire, NCPA has incorporated the High Fire-Threat District into its construction, inspection, 

maintenance, repair, and clearance practices, where applicable. 

8387(b)(2)(L): Enterprise-wide Safety Risks 
NCPA regularly evaluates enterprise safely risks, which include severe operating conditions and 
contingencies. NCPA also performs regular analysis of risks to improve the ability to manage the risks 
effectively. 

8387(b)(2)(M): Restoration of Service 
After a de-energization event, NCPA will restore service in coord ination with PG&E's restoration efforts. 
NCPA will follow PM-2O1 and Geothermal Facil ities Maintenance Procedure (GE0-646) which specifically 

address restoration for Hydro and Geothermal facilities respect ively. 

8387(b)(2)(N)(i): Monitoring and Auditing WMP Implementation 
The WMP is presented to the NCPA Commission on an annual basis along with metrics and a summary of 
updates. 

8387(b)(2)(N)(ii): Identifying and correcting WMP deficiencies 
NCPA may correct deficiencies and implement plan improvements as needed. Improvements will be 
documented in t he annual report to the NCPA Commission. 

8387(b)(2)(N)(ii i): Monitoring and Auditing the effectiveness of inspections 
NCPA uses General Orders 95 and 165 as guides to inspect i ts electric supply system. 

CONCLUSION 

Dudek concludes that the Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan comprehensively addresses 
all of the appl icable statutorily required elements for a Publicly Owned Utilities· WMP as specified in California 

DUDEK 6 

12108.04 
May2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 43 

 

Independent Evaluation Report of Northern Galifornia Power Agency's Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

Public Utilities Code Section 8387, and has been updated to include modifications from the previous year's WMP. 
Dudek further finds that NCPA has taken reasonable actions to minimize the risk that its lines or equipment will 
cause a wildfire. 

Pre pa red by, 

Douglas V. Nickles, RPF 
Fire Protection Specialist 

Att.: A. WMP Required Element Compliance Matrix under PUC Section 8387 
8. Wildfire Safety Advisory Board 2020 Guidance Recommendations Compliance Matrix 

cc: Scott Eckardt, Dudek 

DUDEK 7 

12108.04 
May2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 44 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WMP Required Element per PUC Sec NCPAWMP 
8387(bl(21 Section 

IA): An accounting of the responsibilities Sec. 3.A Utility 
of persons responsible for executing the Governance 
plan. Structure. 

Generation 
Services Assistant 
General Manager. 

1B): The objectives of the wildfire Executive Summary 
mit igation plan. and Sec. 1.B. 

Purpose o f the 
WMP. 2. Goals. 

(C): A description of the preventive Sec.SA 
strategies and programs to be adopted Preventative 
by the local publicly owned electric Strategies and 
utility or electrical cooperative to Programs. Sec. 5.C. 
minimize the risk of its electrical lines Potential Climate 
and equipment causing catastrophic Change Effects. 
wildfires, including consideration of Sec. 5.D. Potential 
dynamic climate change risks. Climate Change 

Risk Management 
Impacts. 

ID): A description of the metrics the Sec. 7 .A. Metrics 
locol publicly owned electric utili ty or jnd Assumptions 

electrical cooperat ive plans to use to for Measuring Plan 
evaluate the wildfire mitigation plan's Performance. 
performance and the assumptions that 
underlie the use of those metrics. 

DUDEK 

IE's Assessment of WMP based on 
PUC Sec. 8387 Requirements 

Needs clarification of responsibili ties. 
While the organizational st ructure, 
responsible department and 
responsible position are identified, it 
is not clear what the responsible 
position's responsibil ities are for 
executing the WMP. 

Meets requirements. 

Add descript ion of programs. 
Reference is made to the line 
maintenance program. No definitive 
description is provided for the 
proposed programs. 

Meets requirements. 

A-1 

Responsible Party Revis ions 

NCPA · Complete.Added 
"and responsible for 
execut ing the WMP11 

NA 

NCPA • Complete. Revised 
NCPA's Ill facility 
maintenance program, (2) 
emergency operating 
procedures, 13) vegetation 
management programs, and 
(4) asset documentation 
programs. 

NA 

IE's 2nd Assessment 
ofWMP 

Meets requirements 
as modified. 

Meets 
requirements. 

Meets requirements 
as modified. 

Meets 
requirements. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 45 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WMP Required Element per PUC Sec NCPAWMP 
8387(bl(21 Section 

IE): A discussion of how the application Sec. 7.B. Impact of 
of previously identified metrics to Metrics on Plan. 
previous wildfire mitigation plan 
performances has informed the wildfire 
mit igation plan. 
IF): Protocols for d isabling reclosers and Sec. 5.1. Reclosing 
deenergizing port ions of the electrical Policy. Sec. 5.J. De-
distribution system that consider the Energization. Sec. 
associated impacts on public safety, as 5.J.1. Impacts to 
well as protocols related to mitigating Public Safety. 
the public safety impacts of those 
protocols, including impacts on cri tical 
first responders and on health and 
communication infrastructure. 

IG) : Appropriate and feasible Sec. 5.J.2. 
procedures for notifying a customer Customer 
who may be impacted by the Notification 
deenergizing of electrical lines. The Protocols. 
procedures shall direct notification to all 
public safety offices, crit ical first 
responders, health care facilit ies, and 
operators of telecommunications 
infrastructure with premises within the 
footprint of potential deenergization for 
a given event. 
IH): Plans for vegetation management. Sec. 5.F. 

Vegetation 
Management. 

DUDEK 

IE's Assessment of WMP based on 
PUC Sec. 8387 Requirements 

Include discussion of application of 
previous metrics. No reference is 
included regarding the impacts on 
the WMP from past metrics. 

Enhance section to clari fy role as 
wholesaler vs. retailer. Reclosers are 
not employed. Impacts to Public 
Safety is addressed; any impacts 
would be addressed by providers of 
PSPS. Any de-energization is 
coordinated with cal Fire and PG&E. 

Enhance section to clarify role as 
wholesaler vs. retailer. As a 
wholesale provider NCPA has no 
retail customers; any impacts would 
be addressed by providers of PSPS. 

Meets requirements. 

B-2 

Responsible Party Revis ions 

NCPA · Complete. Added 
"2020 WMP Impact Due to 
Metrics11 along with 

establishing metric 
summaries to review. 
NCPA - Complete. Changed 
"employ" to "own." 

NCPA · Complete. Added 
wholesaler vs retailer 
clarification. 

NA 

IE's 2nd Assessment 
ofWMP 

Meets requirements 
as modified. 

Meets requirements 
as modified. 

Meets requirements 
as modified. 

Meets 
requirements. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 46 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WMP Required Element per PUC Sec NCPAWMP 
8387(bl(21 Section 

II): Plans for inspections of the local Sec. 5.G. 
publicly owned electric utility's or Inspections. 
electrical cooperative's electrical 

infrastructure. 
IJJ: A list that ident ifies, describes, and Sec. 4. Wildfire 
prioritizes all wildfire risks, and drivers Risks and Drivers. 
for those risks, throughout the local Sec. 4.A. Risks 
publicly owned electric utility's or Associated with 
electrical cooperative's service territory. Topographical and 
The list shall include, but not be limited Climatological 
to, both of the following: Ii) Risks and Factors. 
risk drivers associated with design, 
construction, operation, and 
maintenance of the local publicly owned 
elect ric ut ility's or electrical 
cooperative's equipment and facilities. 
(ii) Particular risks and risk drivers 
associated with topographic and 
climatological risk factors throughout 
the different parts of the local publicly 
owned elect ric utility's or electrical 
cooperative's service terri tory. 

DUDEK 

IE's Assessment of WMP based on 
PUC Sec. 8387 Requirements 

Meets requirements. 

Add list of risks and risk drivers 
related to design, construction, 
operation and maintenance; they 
currently are not addressed. 

B-3 

Responsible Party Revis ions 

NA 

NCPA • Complete. Clarified 
4. 8. are Risks and risk dr ivers 
related to design, 
construction, operation and 
maintenance that could 
create fire ignition sources. 

IE's 2nd Assessment 
ofWMP 

Meets 
requirements. 

Meets requirements 
as modified. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 47 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WMP Required Element per PUC Sec NCPAWMP 
8387(bl(21 Section 

IK): Identification of any geographic area 
in the local publicly owned electric 
utility's or electrical cooperative's 
service territory that is a higher wildfire 
threat than is identified in a commission 
fire threat map, and identification of 
where the commission should expand a 
high.fire threat district based on new 
information or changes to the 
environment. 

IL): A methodology for identifying and Sec. 4.B. 
presenting enterprise•wide safety risk Enterprise•wide 
and wildfire·related risk. Safety Risks. 

IM): A statement of how the local Sec. 7. Restoration 
publicly owned electric utility or of Service. 
electrical cooperative will restore 
service af ter a wildfi re. 

DUDEK 

IE's Assessment of WMP based on 
PUC Sec. 8387 Requirements 

Not addressed. Rather than referring 
solely to the High Fire•Threat District , 
include description of the local 
geography, any specific areas of 
concern and identification of any 
changes to be made. 

Meets requirements. 

Needs clarification and details. 
Statement is very limited with no 
details, only that restoration will 
occur in coordination with PG&E and 
G0·646 procedures. The section 

should be enhanced to include details 
on PG&Es resto rat ion efforts and the 
G0-646 procedure. 

B-4 

Responsible Party Revis ions 

NCPA · Complete.Addressed 
in 4.c. "NCPA has reviewed 
current CAL Fl RE hazard 
severity zone and CPUC fire-
threat maps with respect to 
agency facilit ies, as shown in 
Appendix 1. These maps have 
not been adjusted since the 
noted publication dates nor 
have any local agencies 
imposed any expansions to 
the maps." 
NA 

NCPA - Complete. Revised 
this plan to include the 
statement NCPA wi ll follow 
PM-201 and Geothermal 
Facilities Maintenance 

Procedure IGD-646) 
specifically address 
restoration for Hydro and 
Geothermal facil ities 
respectively. These 
procedures contain the steps 
that must be taken to restore 
such as inspecting, repair ing, 
testing, and finally restoring. 

IE's 2nd Assessment 
ofWMP 

Meets requirements 
as modified. 

Meets 
requirements. 

Meets requirements 
as modified. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 48 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WMP Required Element per PUC Sec NCPAWMP 
8387(bl(21 Section 

IN): A description of the processes and Sec. 7.C. 
procedures the local publicly owned Monitoring and 
electric utility or electrical cooperative Auditing the Plan. 
shall use to do all of the following: Ii) Sec. 7.0. 
Monitor and audit the implementation Identifying and 
of the wildfire mitigation plan. Iii) Correcting 
Identify any deficiencies in the wildfire Deficiencies in the 
mit igation plan or its implementation, Plan. Sec. 7.E. 
and correct those deficiencies. (iii) Monitoring the 
Monitor and audit the effectiveness of Effectiveness of 
electrical line and equipment Inspections. 
inspections, including inspections 
performed by contractors, that are 
carried out under t he plan, other 
applicable statutes, or commission rules. 

DUDEK 

IE's Assessment of WMP based on 
PUC Sec. 8387 Requirements 

The section should be enhanced to 
include details on how the 
monitoring will occur throughout the 
year. It is not clear how deficiencies 
are ident ified. Clarification is needed 
whether or not the proposed 
effectiveness inspection methods are 
actually taking place, and if so, by 
whom. 

B-5 

Responsible Party Revis ions 

NCPA · Complete.Added 
yearly metrics summary 
including impact to the plan 
from the metrics summary. 

IE's 2nd Assessment 
ofWMP 

Meets requirements 
as modified. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 49 

 

Attachment B 

Recommended WMP elements per WSAB 2020 Guidance Advisory Opinion 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
Recommendations section based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 
1. Plan Structure - risk profile 

a) The WMP and Independent NA Reports are displayed on POU 
Evaluator Reports should be website. 
prominently displayed and easily 
located on the POU websites. 

bl Include an index or table that shows Not included. Include the statute compl iance 
where each section of the statute is spreadsheet developed by Dudek 

addressed in the WMP. as Appendix. 

cJ Include context-setting information Not included. Prepare the requested context-
at the beginning of each POU plan setting information and include in 

about each POU's risk prnfile in Section 1. 
accordance with the statutory 

requirements Public Utili ties Code 
Section 8387(b)(2) 

DUDEK B-1 

Responsible Party • revisions 

NCPA • Complete. 
http://www.ncpa.com/ biddin 
g-opportunities-and-public-

notifications/environmental-
documents/ 

Dudek 

NCPA . Complete. Added 
" NCPA is a Joint Powers 

Agency, which owns and 
operates electrical 

generation. The scope of this 
plan applies the Geothermal 
Facility and the Hydro Facility 

that are located in two 
different geological areas. 

These two facilities contain 
electrical equipment in high 
fire threat locations. The 
Geothermal Plant is located 
around the Geyser terr itory 

in Lake County and the Hydro 

Electric Facil ity is located in 
around North Fork 
Stanislaus." 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

MeetsWSAB 
recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 
recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 50 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP 
Recommendations section 

d) Apply the Board developed Not included. 
template for review of POU WMPs 

2. Plan Structure - approval process 

a) Provide a paragraph describing the Not included. 
public review process of t he plan and 
how it is approved, if required 

b) Include additional data on Not included. 
monitoring and audit ing and how t hat 
information is presented 

DUDEK 

IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 
Prepare t he requested template 
and include in Section l (attached 
below). 

Prepare the requested paragraph 
and include in Section 1. 

Prepare t he requested additional 
data regarding how the 
information is presented and 
include in Section 7 .C. 

B-2 

Responsible Party - revisions 

NCPA. Complete created 
new table section 1. 

NCPA. Completed. Added to 
the purpose of the plan to 
help fi ll in the overall story. 
Very ending paragraph to the 
appending process. 11ln 2020, 
This WMP was presented and 
recorded at a public Brown 
Act Meeting and is posted on 

a public website domain ... 
NCPA. Complete. Revised to 
"This WMP is presented to 
the NCPA Commission on an 
annual basis along w ith 
metrics and a summary of 
updates." 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 51 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
Recommendations section based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 
c) Provide a brief explanation on each Not included. Prepare t he requested explanation 
funding mechanism to be used to for each w ildfire mitigation funding 
perform wildfire mitigation mechanism and include in the 

respective section (i.e., 3.8., 3.C., 

5.A., 5.F, 5.G, 5 .H). 

3. Plan Structure - independent evaluations 

a) I Es should perform a robust NA Dudek to perform the requested 
evaluation of the contents and evaluation. 
substance of the PO Us WMP 

b) Include evaluations of how each NA Dudek to perform the requested 

POU compares to the IE's assessment evaluation. 
of industry standards 

4. Plan structure-Utili ty groupings 

DUDEK B-3 

Responsible Party - revisions 

NCPA - Complete. The 

following statement applies 
to all funding authority 
" NCPA is governed by a 

Commission comprised of 
one representative for each 
member. The Commission is 

responsible for the general 

management of the affairs, 
property, and business of the 

Agency. Under the direction 
of the General Manager, the 
staff of the Agency is 
responsible for providing 

various administrative, 
operat ing and planning 
services for the Agency. This 

establishes all funding and is 

applied to ail wi ldfire funding 
mechanisms in this p lan (i.e., 
3.B., 3.C., 5.A., 5.F, S.G, 5.H)." 

Dudek 

Dudek 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 

recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 52 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP 
Recommendations section 

a) 2021 POU WMPs and/or updates 
should be based on the guidelines 

b) The industry should create a revised NA 

template that reflects the learnings 

from the 2020 initial effort 

5. Customer Impacts - PSPS shutoffs 

a) Utilities should provide the context- Sec. SJ.2. 
setting information Customer 

Notification 

Protocols 

b) Include a detailed protocol to Sec. SJ.2. 

address these concerns to understand Customer 
the strategic direct ion and Notification 
effectiveness o f each POU Protocols 

6. Customer impacts - communication plans 

DUDEK 

IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 
WMP to be updated in accordance 
with the recommended guidelines. 

NA 

The context-setting i nformat ion 
should be enhanced in this section 

to reference customer impacts as 
well as customer notification (re-
emphasize role as wholesaler vs. 
retail provider). Consider adding a 
separate Customer Impacts 

section. 

See 5.a) above. 

B-4 

Responsible Party - revisions 

NCPA - Complete. This 

evaluation serves as a WMP 
updated based on Dudek's 
and WSAB recommendations. 

NA 

NCPA - Complete. Revised as 
"NCPA provides who lesale 
power to City's and ut ili ties 

typically known as NCPA 
members. Since NCPA does 
not have retail customers, 
like commercial or private 

residences, no customer 
notification protocols are in 
place." 

NCPA - Complete. Revised as 

" NCPA provides who lesale 
power to City's and ut ili ties 
typically known as NCPA 

members. Since NCPA does 
not have retail customers, 
like commercial or private 
residences, no customer 

notification protocols are in 
place." 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

NA 

Meets WSAB 
recommendat ion. 

Meets WSAB 

recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 53 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP 
Recommendations section 

a) Describe the specific methods, Sec. SJ.2. 
content, and t iming used to Customer 
communicate with customers Notification 

Protocols 

b) Provide an evaluation of whether Sec. SJ.2. 
the current method of emergency Customer 
communication appears sufficient and, Notification 
if not, what can be done to improve it, Protocols 
especially protocols for notifying 
customers, essential service providers, 
and other critical fac ilities of IOU or 
self-triggered PSPS events 

7. The Grid - hardening 

a) Provide information on existing and Sec. 2.B. 
planned system upgrades Resi liency of 

the Electric Grid 

b) Provide details of each util ity's Sec. 2.A. 
system hardening and grid design Minimizing 
programs described in the WMP filing Sources of 

Ignit ion 

DUDEK 

IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 
The communication information 
should be enhanced in this section 
to reflect the context-setting 
information requested as noted 
above in 5.a). 

See 5.a) above. 

Enhance this section to provide 
specific examples of upgrades as 
requested. 

Enhance this section to provide 
details of programs as requested. 

8-5 

Responsible Party - revisions 

NCPA - Complete. Revised as 
" NCPA provides who lesale 
power to City's and ut ili ties 
typically known as NCPA 

members. Since NCPA does 
not have retail customers, 
like commercial or private 
residences, no customer 
notification protocols are in 
place." 
NCPA & Dudek - Complete. 
"Complete. Revised as 
" NCPA provides wholesale 
power to City's and ut ili ties 
typically known as NCPA 

members. Since NCPA does 
not have retail customers, 
like commercial or private 
residences, no customer 
notification protocols are in 
place." 

NCPA - Complete. NCPA is a 
relatively smaller util ity with 
a small asset count. The list 
is updated and on 5.A. 11) 

NCPA - Complete. Organized 
programs and procedures 
5.A. 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 
recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 54 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP 
Recommendations section 

c) Indicate the goals of t he programs Sec. 2 Goals 
and the risk any particular program is 
designed to mitigate 

d) Provide the approach to PSPS Sec. 3.C. 

mit igation and prevention W ildfire 

Response and 
Recovery; Sec. 
SJ.l. Impacts 

to Public Safety; 
Sec. SJ.2. 
Customer 
Notification 
Protocols 

e) Identify any supply shortages NA 

8. The Grid - inspections 

a) Describe the unique risks a utility is Sec. S.G. 
inspecting for, such as insect, w ildfire Inspections 

incursion, wood split, woodpeckers, 
purposeful insulator destruction, 
termites, etc., to be included in the 
W MP 
b) Describe whether and how system Sec. 5.G. 
inspections lead to system Inspections 
improvements 

DUDEK 

IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 

Enhance this section to show nexus 
between goals, programs and 
mit igation as requested. 

The PSPS information sho uld be 
enhanced to reference mitigation 
and prevention as requested Ire-
emphasize role as wholesaler vs. 
retail provider). Consider adding a 
separate "PSPS" section. 

Ident ify any supply shortages as 

requested. See 7.d) above. 

Enhance this section to describe 
the unique risks as requested. 

Enhance this section to describe 
the resulting system improvements 
as requested. 

8-6 

Responsible Party - revisions 

NCPA - Complete. Revised 

and organized programs and 
procedure in Section 5. 

NCPA - Complete. Added 

NCPA's who lesaler 

information to first paragraph 
for clarificat ion. 

NCPA - Complete. Updates to 

include "no supply shortages" 
in relation to PSPS. 

NCPA - Complete. Added 
"Section 4.B. of this WMP 

outlines the unique risks 
NCPA inspects for. 

NCPA - Complete. Added 
11NCPA's asset management 
system also allows these 
improvements to be 
evaluated as observat ions 
and comments are made 
when work orders for 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

MeetsWSAB 
recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 

recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 

recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 
recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 55 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPA WMP 
Recommendations section 

9. The Grid - risks 

a) Consider d ifferent options for Sec. 4 Wi ldfire 
surfacing, for further conside ration Risks and 
and remediation, previously Drivers 
unidentified risks that could lead to 
catastroph ic wildfires 

10. Risk assessment - construction 

a) State the particular wildfire risks Not included. 
associated wit h system design and Wildfire risks 
construction such as topography and are ident ified in 
location near a HFTD of another utility Sec. 4.A., but 

there is no 
reference to 
design and 
construction. 

DUDEK 

IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 

Enhance this section to describe 
the different options considered as 
requested. 

Include risks associated w ith design 
and construction as requested. 

B-7 

Responsible Party - revisions 

maintenance items are 
executed." 

NCPA - Updated Section 5.A. 
(1) to add "NCPA's aggressive 
approach to reduce 
transmission t ie·line r isk by 
completely upgrading 
insulators on this asset, 
NCPA's longest line, of 40 
Miles. This project was 
considered a major cost in 
capital and prio ritized for 
wildfire prevention." 

NCPA · Complete.Added 
't'fhere are no new w ildfire 
risks associated to design and 
construction of new assets. 
NCPA is currently Operating 
and Maintain original 
generating facilit ies. No new 
construction in the 
immediate future." 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 56 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
Recommendations section based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 
b) Provide information about G.D. 95 Not included. Include information about exempt 
exempt assets, and possible updates to assets and updates as requested, 
G.O. 95, t hat could facilitate more possibly in Sec. 2. B. 
resilient u t ility transmission and 

distribution assets 

11. Risk assessment - situational awareness 

a) Include context setting information Sec. 4.A. Risks Enhance this section with context 
in the WMPs including information Associated w ith sett ing informat ion as requested, 

about the prevailing wind d irections Topographical including the detailed wind 
and speeds, differentiated by season, and information. 
along with average weather conditions Climatological 

by season Factors. 

DUDEK B-8 

Responsible Party - revisions 

NCPA - Complete. Leave as 

stated in Section 5.E.. "NCPA 
meets: 11) Public Resources 
Code section 4 292; (2) Public 

Resources Code section 4293; 
13) General Order 95 Rule 35; 
and 14) General Order 95 

Appendix E Guidelines to Rule 

35." 

NCPA - Complete. " Prevailing 
Winds: Using live data, NCPA 

monitors prevailing w inds 
di rections and speeds, 
differentiated by season, 

along w ith average weather 
condit ions by season using 
NCPA real-time observations 

noting disturbing local 

weather. Live data is used 
with the fire maps located in 
Appendix 1. PG&E's Weather 
Awareness w ebsite is a 
resource for real-time 

conditions: 
https://www.pge .com/en _ US 
/safety/emergency-

preparedness/natural-
disaster/ wildfires/psps-

weather-

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

MeetsWSAB 
recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 
recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 57 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP 
Recommendations section 

b) Include information on how and Sec. 5.A. 

w hy situational awareness technology Preventative 
is installed, and w here on the system Strategies and 

Programs. 

c) Provide insight into decisions that Sec. 5.A. 

are made not to install situational Preventative 
awareness technology Strategies and 

Programs. 

d) Are there constraints such as Sec. 5.A. 

budgets, availability of equipment, Preventative 
knowledge to effectively deploy, or Strategies and 

qualified personnel to install and Programs. 
monitor effectively? 

e) Provide information about whether Sec. 5.A. 

this modeling data is received from or Preventative 

DUDEK 

IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 

Enhance this section with 

information on technology 

installation as requested. 

See 11.c) above. 

Enhance this section to address the 

constraints listed as requested. 

Enhance this section to provide 

information regard ing modeling 
data as requested. 

B-9 

Responsible Party - revisions 

map.page?W T.mc_id=Vanity 
_weather" 

NCPA - Complete. Added for 

clarity. 11This information is 

used in communicat ion and 
aids to analyze wildfire 

situat ions." 

NCPA 

NCPA - Complete. Added to 

5.A. "There are no constraints 
such as budgets, availability 

of equipment, knowledge to 
effectively deploy, or 
qualified personnel t o install 

and monitor effective ly." 

NCPA - Complete. Data 

source is shared and comes 
from PGE. 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

MeetsWSAB 

recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 

recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 

recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 

recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 58 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
Recommendations section based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 
shared with other agencies, utilities, or Strategies and 
fire professionals Programs. 

12. Vegetation Management - utility requirements 

a) Describe t reatment plans for all Sec. S.F. Enhance this section to describe 
types of vegetation associated with Vegetation the treatment plans as requested 
utility infrastructure, from the ground Management (reference is made to t he TVMP • 

to the sky, w hich includes vegetation provide details). 
above and below e lectrical lines 

13. Vegetation management - personnel qualifications 

a) List the qualifications of any experts Sec. S.F. Enhance this section to list the 
relied upon, such as scient ific experts Vegetation qualificat ions as requested. 
in ecology, fire ecology, fire behavior, Management 
geology, and meteorology 

DUDEK B-10 

Responsible Party - revisions 

NCPA - Added clarity that 

section S.E. is "NCPA's plan 
for all types of vegetation 
associated with utility 
infrastructure, from the 
ground to the sky, which 
includes vegetation above 
and below electrical lines. " 

NCPA - Complete added to 
section S.E. "NCPA uses a 
combination of its ow n staff 
(manager, supervisor or 
competent designee) and the 

retention of qualified 
consultants (such as scientific 
experts in ecology, fi re 
ecology, fire behavior, 
geology, and meteorology) 
with experience in line 
design, line construction, 
NERC Standards compliance, 
and vegetation management 
to develop and maintain the 
TVMP." 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

MeetsWSAB 

recommendation. 

Meets WSAB 
recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 59 

 

Attachment A 

Required WMP Elements under PUC Section 8387(b) 

WSAB 2020 WMP Guidance NCPAWMP IE's Initial Assessment of WMP 
Recommendations section based on WSAB Guidance 

Recommendations 
b) Specify the level of expertise of the Sec. 5.F. Enhance this section to specify the 
POU staff that manages the Vegetation level of expertise as requested. 
contractors performing vegetation Management 
management 

c) Describe measures taken to ensure Sec. 5.F. Enhance this section to describe 
that POU staff and contractors comply Vegetation the measures as requested. 
with or verify compliance with Management 
Cal/OSHA standards on Minimum 

Approach Distances (MAD) 

14. Vegetation management - innovation 

DUDEK B-11 

Responsible Party - revisions 

NCPA - Complete. "NCPA 

uses a combination of its own 
staff I manager, supervisor or 
competent designee) and the 

retention of qualified 
consultants I such as scientific 
experts in ecology, fire 

ecology, fire behavior, 
geology, and meteorology) 
with experience in line 

design, line construction, 
N ERC Standards compliance, 
and vegetation management 
to develop and maintain the 

TVMP." 

NCPA - Complete. The TVMP 

specifies technical 
requirements for staff and 
contracto rs to comply with o r 

veri fy compl iance w ith 
Cal/OSHA standards and 
NCPA Electrical Safety 

Procedure GS· 103 ensures 
Cal/Osha and M inimum 
Approach Distances (MAD). 

IE's 2nd Assessment of 
WMP 

MeetsWSAB 
recommendation. 

MeetsWSAB 

recommendation. 

12108.04 

May 2021 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 60 

 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 61 

 

APPENDIX 4 – INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR REPORT 2022 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 62 

 

 

DUDEK 
1630 '>AN PABLO AVENUE S ITE 

OAICLAND, CALJFOIINLA 9"612 

SI06012SOO f"S106(112SOI 

April 14, 2022 

Mr. Jeremy Lawson 
Northern Ce.liforn)B Power Agency 

651 Commerce Drive 

Roseville, CA 95678 

12108.07 

Subject: Independent Evaluation Report of Northern Celifomia Power Agency's 2022 Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

1 Int roduction 

The Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) contracted with Dudek to engage in en independent evaluation of 
its Wildfire Mitigation Plan (WMP). This independent evaluation repon (Repon) describes the technical review end 
evaluation of the \\IJ.1P ptepared by Dudek, performed in February through Apri12022, and completed on April 1 4, 
2022. 

Dudek conducted en evaluation of NCPA's 'NMP, as required under Galifornia PubltC Utilities Code (PUC) 
§8387(b). PUC §8387(b), as modffied by Senate Bill (SB) 901, end the Administrative Law Judge's Ruling issued on 
January 17, 2019 in Cslifomia Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) Docket No. R.18-10-007 (Al.I Ruling), applies to 
publicly owned electric utilities end required preparation of a \\1MP before January 1, 2020, end revising/updating the 
WMP in 2020 end ennuelty thereafter. 

The WMP requirements are codified in PUC §838 7(b)(2) for local publicly owned electric utilities {POUs). PUC 
§8387(c) requires that en independent evaluator review encl assess the comprehensiveness of a POU's WMP and 
issue a summaryrepon. 

Dudek conducted en initial review of NCPA's WMP (version 1.3) and provided recommendations for 
clarifications/modifications on March 3, 2022. The focus of the evaluation was to determine whether the WMP 
included all elements required under PUC §8387(b)(2) (listed in Attachment A). The evaluation determined that 
the NCPA's 2022 Wildfire Mitigation Plan does include all the PUC §8387(b)(2) requirements. 

In addition to evaluating the elements required by the Public Utility Code, Dudek evaluated the WMP for 
compliance with the Wildfire Safety Advisory Board {WSAB) Publicly Owned Utilities {POUs) WMP guidance 
recommendations and to address any deficiencies in the WSAB review of the 2022 WMP that was published on 
their website. Dudek worked NCPA staff to revise the WMP to meet the recommendations of the Guidance 
Advisory Opinion for 2022 WMPs that are relevant to the NCPA's service territory (See Attachment 8 for 
Compliance Matrix). This included more detaiJed explanations of the wildfire risks in the utility's service territory 
and the wildfire prevention programs that are designed to address these risks. 

DUDEK.COM 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 63 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA WILDFIRE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

2 W ildfi re M it igation Plan Requ irements 

A. Senate Bill 901 

Per Senate Bill (SB) 901, all Publicly Owned Utilities are requited to adopt e Wildfire Mitigation Plan (WMP), which 
shell be reviewed by an independent third-,patty evaluator. SB 901 requires the governing board to determine 
whether any portion of the geographical area where the utility's overhead electrical lines and equipment are 
located has a significant risk of catastrophic wildfire resulting from those electrical lines and equipment. The bill 
directs electrical utilities to annualty prepare WMPs that include several mitigation and response elements in 
each utility's suategies, protocols, and programs. Eech electric utility is to prepare and adopt e comprehensive 
WMP before Janua1y 1, 2020. The requirements for POUs are presented in PUC §8387. In addition, the WMP 
shell be reviewed by an approved, independent, third-party evaluator to review and assess the 
comprehensiveness of, end the POU's compliance with, this Plan. 

B. AB 1054 & AB 111 

Per Assembly Bill (AB) 1054, PO Us must annual~rsubmit a WMP to the California Wiklfire Safety Advisory Board, 
which will review the WMP and provide recommendations on mitigating wildfire risk. AB 1054 contains similar 
WMP requirements to SB 901 but allows WMPs of a three-year, rather than one-year duration. 
AB 111 establishes the Wildfire Safe~, Division within the Public Utilities Commission. 

C. Northern California Power Agency WMP Requirements 

PUC §8387(b)(2) lists the statutory requi,ements for WMPs. These are the specific elements that the 
independent evaluator must review to make its determination for this repon. The specific elements that must be 
addressed in NCPA's WMP are included in Table A (see Attachment A) and are summarized here for reference. 

The responsibilities of persons responsible for executing the plan. 
The objectives of the wildfire mitigation plan. 
The preventive suategies and programs to be adopted to minimize the risk of its electrical lines and 
equipment causing catastrophic wildfires. 
The metrics to use to evaluate the wildfire mitigation plan's performance. 
How the application of previously identified metrics has informed the wildfite mitigation plan. 
Protocols for disabling reclosers and de-energizing ponions of the electrical distribution system that 
consider the associated impacts. 
Procedures for notifying a customer who may be impacted by the deenergizing of electrical lines. 
Plans for vegetation management. 
Plans for inspections of the electrical infrastructure. 
Description of wildfi,e risks, and drivers for those risks, throughout the setvice territory, 
Identification of any geographic area in the service territory that is a highe, wildfire threat than is 
identified in a commission fire threat map. 
Identification of enterprise-wide safe~, risk and wildfire-related risks. 
How the service will be restored after a wildfire. 
The processes and procedures used to monitor and audit the implementation of the wildfire mitigation 
pian, identify any deficiencies, and the effectiveness of electrical line and equipment inspections. 

DUDEK 
12108.07 

APRl.2022 2 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 64 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA WILDFIRE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

3 Description of the Northern California Power Agency 

NCPA is a Joint Powe,s Agency, which owns and operates electrical generation fecilities. NCPA is governed by a 
Commission comprised of one representative for each of its public power utility members. 

The WMP applies to the NCPA's geothermal facility and a hydro facility plus uensmission and distribution lines. 
These two facilities contain electricel equipment in high fire threat locations and power lines thet traverse high 
fire threet a reas. The geothermal facility is located around the Ge)iser territory in Lake County end consists of five 
geothermel facilities spread over 30 square miles. The Hydro Electric facility is in the Nonh Fork Stenislaus River 
wate,shed (Galaveras County) and consists of eight generator/water diversion stations and an office located 
along the river. The,e are epproximetety 40 miles of power lines between the generation facilities and t hei, tie-in 
points with PG&E uansmission wires. NCPA electrical infrasuucture consists of facilities that are in Moderete to 
Veiy High Fire Haza,d Severity Zones (CAL FIRE) and/or Tier 2/3 CPUC Fire Threat Zones. 

NCPA has taken app,opriate actions to help prevent and ,espond to the increasing risk of devastating wildfires by 
following all applicable design, consuuction, operation, and maintenance requirements that reduce safety risks 
associated with its electric sys.tern. 

4 Independent Evaluation 

A. Independent Evaluator Requirement 

PUC §8387 requires each POU to "contract with a qualified independent evaluator with experience in assessing 
the sefe operation of electrical infrastructure to review and assess the comprehensiveness of its wildfire 
mitigation plan." Additionelty, the independent evaluator's assessment of the comprehensiveness of the POU's 
WMP must be issued in a ,epon that is both posted to the POU's website and presented at a public meeting of the 
POU's governing board. 

B. Dudek's Qual ifications 

According t.o PUC §8387(c), the qualified independent e\•aluator thet performs the essessment of NCPA's WMP 
must h6ve •experience in assessing the safe operation of electrical infrastructure to review and assess the 
comprehensiveness of its wildfire mitigation pian." NCPA has determined that Dudek is the independent 
evaluate, who edequetety understands the local conditions and fire risks of the service a,ea. 

C. Evaluation Methodology 

Dudek evatuated the comprehensiveness of the NCPA's 2022 \\?..1P on the following measures: 

Statutoor Compliance: Dudek ensured that each requited element specified in PUC §8387 is either 
addressed in NCPA's WMP or that NCPA has sufficiently described why that element is not epplicabte due 
to NCPA's size, geography, system, or other relevant factor. 
Fulfillment of 'Nildfire SefetyAdvisory Board Guidance: Dudek reviewed WSAB guidence publications for 
Publicly owned Utilities to, recommendations that were relevent to the NCPA's WMP end then compared 
the Board's ,ecommendation to the content of tt.e WMP. 

DUDEK 
121-08.07 

APRl..2022 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 65 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA WILDFIRE MITIGATION Pl.AN INOEPEtlDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

Industry ComparlSon: While the NCPA differs from many nearby utilities in that they provide power to 
other utility agencies and not consumers_, they do use similar equipment and operational procedures as 
nearby POUs. that serve consumers. Dudek compared the elements of the NCPA's WMP, their operations, 
and the equipment to those used b)' of other age1cies to minimize wiklfire ignition and spread. Where 
there was no other agency(s) to compare to (e.g._, geothermal plants)_, Dudek used industry standards. 

D. Metrics 

The NCPA's Wildfire Mitigation Pl.an uses the following metrics. to measure performance of its wildfire mitigation 
measures.: (1) number of fire ignitions, and (2) wires down events. Dudek has determined that these are 
appropriate metrics. for this WMP and that the WSAB has concluded that these two metrics, are teneralfy 
acceptable metrics for a \\IJ.1P. 
Dudek recommended that the NCPA consider adding a new metric or revising one of the current metrics to 
integrate a metric that shows the actions NCPA is taking n their service territory to reduce wildfire ignition risk. 
NCPA staff acted on Dudek's recommendation. evaluating their current operations and their service territoiyfor 
other useful indicators of wildfire risk, Fire weakened trees and slopes are hazard to NCPA's transmission wires 
where they pass through fire scars. NCPA is incorporating e third metric into their WMP that measures fall in 
trees, trees of height sufficient to represent a contact hazard to the Distribution line if destabilized due to soil 
instability at the uee base, 

5 Evaluation of the Northern California Power Agency 
Wildfi re Mitigation Plan 

A. Minimizing Wildfire Risks 

PUC §8387(a) requires the following: ~Each local publicl)rowned electric utility and electrical cooperative shall 
construct, maintain_, and operate its. electrical lines and e::auipment in a manner that will minimize the risk of 
wildfire posed b)' those electrical lines end equipment." 
The WMP describes the safety-related measures that NCPA follows to reduce its risk of causing wildfires. Dudek 
has determined that NCPA complies with this standard th'ough the design of its system and the construction of 
its equipment and resources. 

B. Evaluation of WMP Elements 

Dudek found that NCPA's WMP meets the statutoiy requi·ements of comprehensiveness per PUC §8387. The 
review of the \\1M P's elements is summarized relative to the application of the WMP. The table in Attachment A 
lists each required element for NCPA's WMP and provides Dudek's assessment of the comprehensiveness of that 
element within the WMP. 

Below b o !l-ummory of the Y..'MP clement!l- O!l- required by PUC §8 387, including rc!l-toting !l-ec tion!l- of the WMP 

where applicable. 

DUDEK 
12108.07 

APR0.2022 • 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 66 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA W1L:>FlRE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

8387(b)(2)(A}: Responsibilities of Persons Responsible for Executing the Plan. 

Under tile direai>n of tile Aosislant Genenll Manager for Ge,1aalion Services, tile plant rMnagers are 
responsible for in~ and execution of tile WMP with respect to their faciities. The NCPA 
di:sptltch a:nlcl in Ru::it:Vilt: htc:. r~ty r..,. lJ-.: gt:ncn:11.1.H tit:-in lino. 

8387(b)(2)(B}: Objectives of the Wildfire Mitigation Plan 

The olJjecti,es of tile WMP are to: minimize tile probability that NCPA's S'y5<efll is Ille origjn or oonoibuting 
source for a wild'ire igl,i!ion, improve tile resiiency of tile elearic grid, specificaly to reduce tile likelihood 
of an i'ltenuplioa of service and an improvement in the reslOf8tion of service after an intenuption, and to 

improve tile -ness of their wildfire prevention SO'lllegjes by modif),ng or replacing elements of tllei
widfire pre11enlion prog,am that are ineffective 

8387(b)(2)(C): P1evenlion StJategies and Programs 

NCPA's SIJategjes to reduce wildfire risk include-..,... evaluation and impro,ement of ils J>IOOams 
and procedures: including NCPA's (1) faciity maintenance J>f008m, (2) emergency -,alio,g procedures, 

(3) >eee,&lion management prog,ams, and (4) asset documentation J>IOOams. These J>IOOams include 
aa delais sucll as gpals, objeaiYe, or pe,ce11u,ge, monitor ongoing work, accomplistlmen!s, internal and 
enemal ..-, and delailed repons. Addiliooal prog,ams sucll as coonlinalion will CAL ARE and 
widfire pre11enlion training for NCPA stBff complement tllei- core fi-e prevention iroi,ams. Attachment C 
in tile WMP contains a table wllicll desCi ibes ideillilie,I risk drivers willin NCPA service territo,y and 
pre11entalive ~ implemented by the utility. The,_ includes oonuo1s NCPA has implemetud to 
address eect, ~ or risk driver listed. 

8387(b)(2)(D): Metrics and Assumptions to, Measuring WMP Performance 

The NCPA WMP oses two meDics to measure pe,formance of its wildfire milil!Olion measoos: (1) number 
of fi-e igl,ilions, and (2) wires down e11ents. Dudek has determined that tllese are appropriate meDics for 
thisWMP. 

8387(b)(2)(E): Impact of Previous Metrics on 'NMP 

The meDics show zero incidents and indicare success; no WMP cnanges due to metrics. 

8387(b)(2)(F): Reclosing Protocols 

NCPA does not cwn or use automatit 1eclosets on its 230 kV within the scope demed in this WMP. This 
is a typical industry standard for disuiMllion and transmission wires in rugged and rernoo, terrain. 

8387(b)(2)(G): D,,..nergizetion Notification Proce<lures 

In tile e11ent of active fi-e situations, NCPA may be direaed by CAL ARE to ~ tile ines for 
firefiO!ter and/or airaaft pro<eclion. NCPA cle-<!nergization nolificalion procedures depend on wl1icll lines 
and faciities are being dee1agized. If tile tt,,lro facilities and 230 kV lines are ~ tllen NCPA 
personnel wi1 work with CAL ARE and their dispattll center in Roseville to ncllily fire figllters, NCPA facility 

DUDEK 
12108.07 

APR0.2022 • 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 67 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA WILDFIRE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

Slaff, PG&E, and NCPA members. For the geollleimal facilities relies on PG&E to -.. the determination 

whether these facilities and their i nes are to be - ... 6zed. NCPA dispetch would communicate PG&E 
cirection to NCPA personnel and NCPA members. 

8387(b)(2)(H): Vegetation Management 

NCPA has~ and implemented a Transmission Vegetatio,o Managem,,• Prog,am (11/MP) to 

es.tablish the •-,,egetetioc; maintenance requirements for each facilily to 8ChieYe reliabilily of its ge. ieratiot, 
interconneaion ,.,..,,m. The NCPA document ddines procedures for >ege,atio,\ management. NCPA's 
TVMP is the plan for all tvpes ol .,.,ge,atiol, .....,.,_ with utilily infrasuucture, from the g,ound to the 
sky, which includG.ege,atio,\ abol,e and below elearical i nes. 

8387(b)(2)(1): Inspections 

NCPA performs annual ■ospeaioo,s of its transmission and dislribution faciities in acconlance with General 
Order 95 and General Order 165. Enhanced inspections are performed on the Collicfvile Bello<a 230 kV 
line ilduding lidar-,,cgcratio., flights, corona scans of insulatols, infrared inspections of lines and 
equpmenL In addilion to its annual i,ound-based inspection, NCPA may augment ioospeaioo6 with aerial 
drone and/or helicopter surveys. 

8387(b)(2)(J)(O: Risks and Risk Drivers Associated with Design and Construction Standards 

Risks and risk driYeis related to~ construction, operation, and maintenance include 
equpment,lstruaure,lfacililies, olJject to wire or equipment oorract, wire to wire contac1, vehicle 
operations. ._egemtion clearing, and hot work.. Alttachment C in the WM> oomains a table which deslCi ibes 
identified risk driYeis within NCPA service terraory and preienrative strategies implemeraed by !be utilily. 
The list includes risk driYelS and risks related to <Iese, and oonsuuction standards. 

8387(b)(2)(J)(ii): Risks and Risk Drivers Associated with Topographic and Climetologjcel Risk Factors 

Risks and risk driYelS related to Topograpllic and Clirnatologjc:al Risk FactolS include enended droui,,t, 
•.eget:atioo type,~ density,-. higll winds, prevailing winds, terrain, dlangjng _,., 
patterns and communities at risk. Communities ,at risk is a design and consuuction Slandard and i. is 
recommended that it is moved to that section. The plan disc!,ssed prevailing wind patterns in the service 
tenilocy and the impact the winds have on the conductors. Also disc,ssed is the impect that prey;ous 
large fires in their service territory have on risks 8SSOCioted wah 1DPOOBphic and climatolop:al factors. 
Allacllment C in the WMP contains a table wllicb desaibes icleidied risk driYelS wahin NCPA service 
territory and pre,,entatiwe strategies implemented by !be utiity. The list includes risk driYelS and risks 
rel8led to IOPOeBl)llic f8aors wihin NCPA's seNice ll!lmlfY. 

8387(b(2))(K): Geographical Area of Higher Wildt ire Threat 

To identily !be aree,s of NCPA's service terraoryt!let are at an elewted or extreme risk of power i ne
e,iled wildfire, NCPA has incorporated !be Higll Are-Thr- Dislrict into its consuuction, ■ ospeaioo, 
maintenance, repair, and cleerance practices, wtiere 811111icable. 

DUDEK 
12108.07 

APRl.2022 • 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 68 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA WILDFIRE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

6 

8387(b)(2)(L): Enterprise-wide Safety Risks 

NCPA regule~ evalua!es enterprise sa1ely risks, which include sew:re -rating conditions and 
contingencies. NCPA also performs regular anat,sis of lisl<s to iml)fO"e the abilily to rMnage these lisl<s 
effeclNely. 

8387(b)(2)(MJ: Restoration of Service 

Mfr a -..ergjzalion eo;ent, NCPA wil restore service in coonlination witll PG&Fs restof81ion efforts. 

NCPA wil - PM-201 and Geothermal Facilities Mamnance Procedure (GE0646} which specificatJ 
address restof8tion for ttydro and Geothermal laciities respeaively. 

8387(b)(2)(N)(0: Monitoring and Auditing WMP Implementation 

The WMP is presenred to the NCPA Commission on en annual basis along witll the melrics and a 
summary of updates. 

8387(b)(2)(N)(i0: Identifying end correcting WMP deficiencies 

NCPA may COfl'ec.t deficietlcies and implement plan iml)fO"efflents as needed. lmprovemems will be 
documented in the annual report to the NCPA Commission. 

8387(b)(2)(N)(iii): Monitoring and Auditing the effectiveness of inspections 

NCPA uses General Ordefs 95 and 165 as guides to inspect its electric su~ system. The .-..,ness 
of ground io,speaious is typical!{ monitored IJoj 'ride a loo.gs' ,>erformed IJoJ NCPA Slaff and CAI. FllE SIBff 
witll inspection pe,sonnet. Independent professionals are conuaaed to review lider data and other 
;, .spectiot1 data that is colected remotetJ. 

Wild fire Safety Advisory Board Recommendations 

The Wildfire Safety Advisory Board produces guidance documents for publicty owned utilities annualty. These 
documents describe elements that should be revised or expanded in future WMPs to better organize the plan, 
clarify where PUC required information can be found, and to provide a more comprehensive description of the 
utility's wildfire prevention programs. Dudek reviei.ved the WSAB most recent guidance document and compared 
contents of the NCPA's 2022 \\IJ..1P to each recommended element. 

1. Pion Structure, 5'affing, and Evaluations 

A Context Setting Information: The WSAB recommended that POU's use an upfront table that contains 
information about the utility including number of customers, the size of its service areas, the service area 
within a high fire threat area, asset mix, and more. The intent was to provide e reviewer of the plan with a 
ptain and accessible summary of the utility. The WSAB provided e template for this table in 2021. NCJ>A's 
"""1P uses the v.sAB templa!e and has the completed table in the ClYerview section of their plan. 

8. General WMP Objectives: Many POU's use two general objectives; 1. Minimizing sources of ignition and 
2. Improving the resiliency of the grid. These ere valid objectives but the WSAB believes that they may Jead 

DUDEK 
12108.07 

APRl.2022 7 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 69 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA WILDFIRE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

to limited approach by a utility to wildfire prevention. The WSAB reoommends that POU's take e broader 
approach to their objectives and oonsider objectives that mitigate other risks associated with wildfire such 
as minimizing wildfire spreed. NCPA's WMPobjec:tives include these two general objectives; however, their 

"""1P does describe wildfire prevention J>IOOams that go beyond minimizing new it)'tilions and hardening 
thei' equipment &gi,inst wildfire. For e,cample, thei' ~ management prog,&m Tl/MP inspects and 
~ surfaoe vegetation near their assets as wel as trees near their pcMer lines. 

C. Steff Responsibilities and Approval Protocols: The WSAB request ed that future WMPS include additional 
context information regarding the public input and approval processes for the \\'MP of each POU. The \YMP 
contains a desaipliou in the a-view section of the NCPA's WMP approval process that begins with a 
presentBtion of the WMP ID the NCPA Facilities Committee for COONUe,11, tben is ,_ for final appnwal 

ID the NCPA Commission. public meeting and NCPA commission meeting. Past-· are IMlilable on the 
NCPA website. 

0 . Metric Development and Evaluation: Many POU's use two basic metrics; 1. New ignitions and 2. \'i.rires 
down. These are valid metrics but the WSAB reoommends that POU's consider adding or replacing these 
metrics with ones th.at better apply to their service territory and metrics that show progress towards an 
outoome es opposed to a metric that shows the outcome. The WMP contains the two-basic mettic:s. and 
these are relewnt meoics ID the NCPA's assets. NCPA is evaluating adding a thild metric ID evaluate the 

effecliweness of thei' plan in reducing the risl< posed ID their wires by lire weakened trees and slopes. The 
NCPA does trad< thei' two cooent metrics and the results are pulllished in the """1P. 

2. Grid llesit)'t, s,,,stem Hardening, Opennions and Inspections: 

A In 2021 the WSAB requested POUs answer several questions about their system design and 
construction. The questions: 1. Are there design or construction issues related to the utility's specific 
topography or geographic location th.at the Board should be aware of? 2.How will the utility address risks 
associated with facilities requiring powe, that abut a Tier 2 or Tie, 3 HFTD? 3.How does the utility assess 
its risks associated with sys.tern design and construction? 4.ln what areas does the utility oonsider going 
above and beyond G.O. 95 or other General Order standards related to design and oonsuuction? Chapter 

5 5eaion A of the WMP provides general 0\/eMeW ID these low questions, - by a desaiptioo of 
-,,1 e,cample proO&ms NCPA has inaJfJ)()l8te(f on thei' uansmission and generation assets. 

8. The WSAB observed that the many POU \\1M Ps state that they meet or exceed the CPUC GO 95 standards 
for their inspections. The WSAB comment is that the \\'MPs do not state if the POU are meeting the minimum 
standards of GO 95 o, exceeding it where circumstances merit it. The WSAB is reoommending that WMPs 
include a description of whether their inspection programs go beyond the GO 95 standards, why they do, 
and how they do. The NCPA's WMP does not use the 5'8tement "meet or exceed" and the plan does 
describe the ;,,speaioriS it performs on ils asseis - exceed the requirements of GO 95 including how 

they exceed the standard. The reasons for the ■,speaior.s that go beyond the CPUC standards are 
summorizcd in the WMP wilh rcfcrc:nco to the NCPA documents or policies with more dctoicd 

explanations 

C. The WSAB would like PO Us to include in their WMPs e description of the new ideas or enhanced protocols 
the utility is considering in the design, building. and maintaining their system to mitigate the wildfire risk in 
the future. The WMP includes desaiplio11s of the ~ i'nprovementS ID NCPA asseis (upg,ading 

DUDEK 
12108.07 

APRl.2022 • 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 70 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA W1L0F1RE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

equpment on their power lines) and enhancements they are making to tt,e;,, i,,speaiot, prooess by 

upg,ading frequency or Ille scope of inspections or where they are incorporating new tecnniques. such as 
usingl.lAVs. 

3. Vegetatio,, Manageme,• and Inspections: 

7 

The WSAB requested that POUs describe their vegetation management practices and evaluate their impact 
on reducing wildfire related risk as well as the ecological impects of the treatment options chosen. The 
NCPA's WWP provides a general desa;,,ti(M, of their ,,.,ge,ation rw,agement prog,am and references llleir 
lVMP. The lVMP contains a de!ailed descriplion of Ille utility's ,,.,ge,ation l)f8ctices including what typeS of 
,,.,ge,ation are tre8ted, where they tre8ted, and how often. The WMP also desclibes how llleir ,,.,ge,ation 
rw,agement srandanls exceed Ille GO 95 and which srandard Ibey use as their guidelines for llleir 
eul,aoced vegetation management prog,am (CAL ARE _, Line Are Pr_,_, F.eld Guide). 

Comparison of Industry Standards to the Operations and 
Equipment in use by the Northern Californ ia Power Agency 

Dudek oompared operational procedures end equipment used by the NCPA to mitigete wildfire risk in their service 
territory with mitigation measures in epproved Wildfire Mitigetion Plans from a similar utilities and electricel indusuy 
standards. 

Avian Deterrents 

The NCPA has installed evian deterrents end enti-nesting cones on its 230 kV Collierville·BeUote line, e 40-mile
long transmission line that traverses remote and mountainous terrain. Large birds ere e common hezard for power 
line poles and towers, installing these devices on the towers along this line prevents large birds from using the 
towers es perches end nesting sites. This is a typical indusuy prectice and a CALFIRE recommended practice to 
prevent equipment failure end wildfire ignitions due to electrocuted birds o, the eccumulation of bird droppings on 
electricel equipment. 

Insulator Replacement 

The NCPA has upgraded the insulators on its 230 kV Collierville-Bellota line, e 40·mile·long transmission line that 
traverses remote end mounteinous terrain. The line is over 30 yeers old, and the insulators were replaced es part 
of a larger program to improve the safe~, end reliability of the line. This is e ~rpical industry practice end replacing 
aging insulators reduces the risk of equipment failure, flash-over or ercing, or electricel cu,rent discharging into the 
ground through the pole. 

Cond uctor Damping 

The NCPA has instelled mess dampers on its 230 kV Collierville·Bellote line, a 40-mile-long transmission line that 
traverses remote and mountainous terrain. Conducto, damping is a typicel indusuy prectice to minimize weer or 
conductor fatigue near the hardware attachments. While this upgrade is not specific to preventing wildfire ignition 
it does reduce the risk of conductor or equipment failure, en event which oould ignite a wildfire. 

DUDEK 
12108.07 

APRl.2022 9 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 71 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA W1L0F1RE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

Disabling Re closing Operations 

The NCPA does not use automatic reclose,s on its 230kVtransmission line due to its location in rugged and remote 
terrain. This is a typical indusuy practice for both life safety and fire hazard reasons. In place of an automatic 
reclosers, NCPAcoordinates re-energization of a tripped line with their dispatch office in Roseville, NCPAgeneration 
services, and PG&E. Lines are not re-energized until they have been visually inspected. 

DUDEK 
12108.07 

APR0.2022 
10 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 72 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA WILDFIRE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

8 Conclusion 

Dudek concludes that the Nott.hem Galifornia Powe, Ageocy'Afildfite Mitigation Plan comprehensively addresses 
all the applteeble statutorily required elements for a Publicly Owned Utilities' WMP as specified in Galifornia Public 
Utilities Code Section 8387. Dudek finds that NCPA has taken reasonable actions to minimize the risk that its 
lines or equipment will cause e wildfire. Flnelty, Dudek finds that the NCPA hes reviewed the guidance 
documentation provided by the WSAB end is incorporating recommended improvements to their WMP end their 
wildfire prevention programs. 

Sincerety, 

rn 
Jerem)' Cavm 
Fire Protection Planner/Urban Forestry Specialist 

DUDEK 
12108.07 

APR0.2022 
11 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 73 

 

 

TO: JEREMY' LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA W1L0F1RE MITIGATION PLAN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

Attachment A: CPUC 8387(b)(2) Requ irement Chart 

2022 WMP Required Element per PUC Sec 
8387(b)(2) 

{A): An aCCOll"lting of the responsibilities of persons 
responsible for executing the plan. 

{B): lhe ob;ectives of the vmdfire mitigation plan. 

{C): A description ol the preventive strategjes and 
programs t, be adopted by the local publidy owned 
di:,.u i,. u lil 'ly u r c-lco!.uk.ol (.VUl)C'loliv..i t u nrin i1111i«r 

the risk of i;s electrical lines and equipment causing 
catastrophi: wildfires, including consideration of 
a,nanic clinate change risks. 

{D): A description of the metrics the local pt.lblicly 
owMCI electric util ity or electrical coope.rative plans to 
use to evaluate the wildfire mitigation plan's 
performance and the assurll)tions that tl'\derlie the 
use of thos? metrics. 
{E): A discu.sion of how the application of pteviously 
identified metrics to previoLG ,-.ildfire mitiption plan 
paformanc~ has informed the wildfire mitigation 
plan. 

DUDEK 

2022 

2022 NCPA WMP 
section 

IE's 
Assessment 

ofWMP 
based on PUC 

Sec. 8387 
Requirements 

Sec. 3A 1.1ti1ityGO\'erna.nce Acceptable 
Structure Generation 
SeMCe-$.ASsistant General 
Manag~ . 
Executivesumma.ry a nd sec. Acceptable 
L B. Purpose of the WMP. 2. 
Goals. 
Sec. SA. PreventatNe 
Strategie; and Programs. 
SC'I.. ~ .c. F'ulC'llliol ClirUdlC' 

Change E"fecu. sec.. s.o. 
Potentialdimate atang~ 
Risk Management impacts. 

sec. 7 A. Metrics and 
Assumptbns for Measuring 
Plan Paformance. 

sec. 7.B. mpact of Metrics 
on Plan. 

Acceptable. 
Section S 
l)IU'Wi,J~c, 

comprehensi\1e 
overview of the 
different wildfire 
prevention 
programs. 

Acceptable 

Acceptable. 
consider 
selectirc; a new 
metric that 
measures an _ .... , 
could lead to a 
wildfire igtition, 
such as trees 
without -clearance or 
eq.iipmenr 
malfunc6ons 
detected. 

Responsible Party 
Revi;ions 

Section SA. Anj 
change-$ or updates to 
ll10:,1 u oi1rt.,.,0111.o:, 

projects and ptogams? 
Mowd fro11: 2021 to 
2023 dtetc PGL 
Section SF. Any aerial 
drone or helicopter 
st.WVeys worth noting? 
Geothermal Orone. 
NCPA work! with Cal 
Fire to ms,na;ge a nd 
phase m;in:ens,nc:e 
work to the line. 
NCPA Upda,.:e: Metrics 
reflett up to due. 
Good performance. 

NCPA has 
implement td 
entlanced iaspection 
processes for its 
distribution lines that 
include idettific:ation 
of hamd t rees that 
although outside of the 
oormal radiJs of VMP 
clearing. still may 
represent a fall in 
!ward to \\i1dfire 
ignition if toppled. 
NCPA has a:tded this 
metric to both the 
WMP and t•) the VMP, 

1208.07 

APRo.2022 
12 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 74 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA WILDFIRE MITIGATION Pl.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

2022 WMP Required Element per PUC Sec 
8387(b)(2) 

{F): Pr04:ocols for disabling redosers and deenergjzing 
portions of the electrical distribution system that 
consider the associated impacts on public safety, as 
well a.s protocols related to mit igating the public 
safe(Y impacts of those pr04:ocols, including impacts 
on critical first responders and on health and 
communication infrastructure. 
{G): Appropria.te 3tld fo:asible procedures for notifying 
a customer vmo may be impacted b•t the deenergizing 
of electric.al lines. The proceduro:-S shall cirect 
notific.ation to all pt.Citic safo:ty offices, a itical first 
responders, health care facilities, and opemorsof 
telecommunications infrastructure with premises 
Within the footprtnt or pot<:lltlal de-a-ierglzatloo for a 
given e\•ent. 
{H): Plans for veg,etation management. 

{I): Plans tor inspections of the local pobflcly owMd 
ef.ectric utility's or electrical cooperatiw's et:ctrical 
infmtructlXe. 

DUDEK 

2022 

2022 NCPA WMP 
section 

sec. 5.1. Aeclosing Policy. 
sec. SJ . Ce-Energization. 
sec. SJ . t . Impacts to PUbftc 
Safo:ty. 

sec. SJ .2. c ustomer 
Notificafun Protocols. 

Sec. 5.f. Veg~tion 
Ma.nag anent. 

Sec. 5.G. Inspections. 

IE's 
Assessment 

ofWMP 
based on PUC 

Sec. 8387 
Requirements 
Acceptable 

Acceptable. 

Section SE. ArilJ 
changes or 
updates to the 
Generation 
seMCes 
common 
Procedure GS· 
305? Link. 
Acceptable. The 
VI/MP does a 
goodjol>at 
desaibiog 
general Veg _ ..... 
TVM>plan 
provides most of 
the recp.ii red 
details to meet 
this sections 
requirements, 
consider addirc 
_, of the 
TVM>tothe 
WMP 
Acceptable, Tbe 
WMPdoesa 
good job of 
describing 
general 
inspection 
process. Details 
regarding the 
types of 

Responsible Party 
Revis.ions 

NCPAadded the 
following to Section 5.f : 
"'Specific hazards 
addressed in the TVMP 
include identification of 
enaoachment into the 
Clearance area (SKtion 
6.3.7), a nd addit ional 
inspection activities to 
identify deadfall and 
brush in the ROW that 
could provide fuel for 
,-.i ldfire spraad (section 
6.3.9). l1le lVMP aho 
provides explicit 
direction to treat 
emergent conditions of 
a potMtial hara rd as an 
immediate mitigation 
priority {section 6.4.4), 
including addressing 
extent of condition:" 

12108.07 
APRl.2022 

13 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 75 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA WILDFIRE MITIGATION PLAN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

2022 WMP Required Element per PUC Sec 
8387(b)(2) 

{J): A list that identifies, dE:scri.bes, and prioritizes all 
wildfire risks, and dri\lers fOf' those risks, througtloot 
the local pobflcly owMCI ellectric util ity's or electrical 
coopemiw 's service territOI")'. lhe tit shal indocle, 
but not be limited to, boffl of the foUowing:: © Risks 
and ris.1c dt iYers associated with design, construction, 
operation, and maintenance of the local pubicly 
owMCI ~ric utility's or electrical cooperatiw' s 
eqt.lpment and facifrties. (ii) P:1.ttiaJar risks and risk 
drivers associated with t090gaphic and 
climatological risk factors throughout the drffa ent 
p;rts of the local publicly owned electric utifrtv's or 
electrical coopa-atf\fe' s se Mee territory. 

2022 

2022 NCPA WMP 
section 

Sec. 4. wi ldfire Risks and 
oriwrs.. sec. 4.A. Risks 
Associated with 
Topographical and 
Climatological Factors.. 

{K): kStntific:ation of .1ny geogapl\ic .1rt.1 in ti\~ loal SR 4.C. Chan.g6 to ewe 
publicly owned electric utifrty's or electrical Fire lhreat Map 
coopemiw 's service territOI")' th.at isa higher wildfire 
thre-at than is identifi.:d in a commission fire threat 
map, a nd idMtificatioo of where the commis.sion 
should expand a high-fire rhreat cfut rict based on new 
informa.tion or char'lges to the M-Vironment. 
{l ): A methodology for idenrify-,g and presenting 
enterprise wide saf~ risk and \'Aldfire-re&ated risk. 

Sec. 4.B. Enterprise-wide 
Safety Risks.. 

IE's 
Assessment 

ofWMP 
based on PUC 

Sec. 8387 
Requirements 
inspections 
performed and 
when they are 
performed 
would be 
beneficial 
Acceptable, Tbe 
WMP doesa 
good job of 
describing 
general risks to 
the service 
territory both 
climate and 
terrain as well as 
operational and 
equipment. The 
rists specific to 
NCPA service 
territory are "°' 
desaibed and it 
would be 
beneficial to add 
someNCPA 
specific risk -.. 
Acceptable 

Acceptable. 
consider 
aeat~a 
section in the 
WMPthar 
collects the 
enterprise wide 
safety elements 
de,a;bed 
thr~the 
plan. 

{M): A statement of how the local publicty owned 
electric utility or electrical cooperatiYe will restore 
service after a wildfire. 

sec. 7. Restoration of service. Acceptable 

DUDEK 

Responsible Party 
Revisions 

NCPA has added to 
Section 4.A: "Risks 
specific to NCPA's 
generation facilities 
are tied to both 
residual fuel Soacl 
(snags) from previous 
fires and potential soil 
instability caused by 
previous damag,e to 
area veg,e,tation. These 
tlazards ate addressed 
byemanced 
inspection techniques 
described in Section ..... 

Attachment c has been 
added to pl'O\lide an 
index of risks and their 
associated controls 
e'llaluations within the 
sections of the WMP, 

12108.07 
APRl.2022 

14 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 76 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAWSON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA W1L0F1RE MITIGATION PLAN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

2022 WMP Required Element per PUC Sec 
8387(b)(2) 

{N): A description of the processes and procedures 
the local pobftcly owMCI electric util ity or electric.al 
cooperotive shall use to do all oi the following: fl) 
Monitor aOO audit the implementation of the wildfire 
mitigation plan. (ii) Ident ify any deficiencies in the 
,-.i ldfire mitigation plan or its implementation, and 
correct those deficiencies. (iii) Monitor and aucfrt the 
effectiveness of electrical line and eqtipment 
inspections, including inspection-spa-formed by 
contractors, that are carried out ~ the pla n, other 
appicabSe staM e:s, or commission rules.. 

DUDEK 

2022 

2022 NCPA WMP 
section 

sec. 1.c. Monitoring and 
Auditing the Plan. sec. 7.D. 
identifying a nd correcting 
DeficiMCie:s in the Pla n. sec. 
7 .E. Monitorir'lg the 
Effectivene-ss of inspections. 

IE's 
Assessment 

ofWMP 
based on PUC 

Sec. 8387 
Requirements 
Acceptable 

Responsible Party 
Revisions 

Updated: NCPA 
currently coodocts ride• 
~ with both cal
Fire staff and internal 
NCPAstaif. 

12108.07 
APRl.2022 IS 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 77 

 

 

DUDEK 
16lr.l SAi.i PA.LO A'IENU£ S E 
OAKLA.l'i0, {ALIFOll!'.11.A '9.U.12 

T S106'.l1 2'500 f 510 6-01 2S01 

Attachment B: WSAB Gu idance Reco mmendations Chart 

2022 
WSAB 2022 WMP Guidance 2022 NCPA WMP IE's Initial Assessment of 

Recommendations section WMP based on WSAB Responsible Pany- revisions IE's 2nd Assessment of 
Guidance Recommendations WMP 

the Board recommended me of an upfront 
template containing key information about a 

utility's service area, including size, nunber of 
customers. type oi customers, basic 

topography ¥Id weather data, asset mix (in 
terms of undergrooodversus o•terhead lines), 

section 1 f ully completed. o/a complete and int eraction with High Fire 111,teat Oi$triru 
(HFTO) and PUblic safety Pow-er Shutoffs 

(PSPS). 

Ari ind&x that showed where each of the 
staM ory requirements were addressed in the 

N/A 
Add index table to WMP in 

See Attachment A complete 
WM> sugg~ted location 

lhe WSAB is enCCMXaging PW s to ~ 
their WMPobjectives total:e a broader The NCPA's describes the typical approach beyond the typial minimizing 

objectives of mi:nimizir'lg ignit ions 
sou:cesof ignition and improving ra-sii ency oi N/A 

and imp<ovifC ra-siiMcy oi the grid 
See Attachment 6 complete 

thegid. in theirW'IMP. 

Describe the veg~tation management 
proetices oOO evaluate their impact on The WMP prO\'ides a general 
reducing wildfire related risk, as well a:s the 

overview of the NCPA's program. ecologjcal impact of the treatment options section s 
lhe details the WSAB is lookir'lg tor 

See Attachment 6 complete 

Cho~ are found in the TVMP pf.an. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 78 

 

 

TO: JEREMY LAV\ISON 
SUBJECT· 2022 NCPA ""1L0F1RE MITIGATION Pt.AN INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT 

2022 
WSAB 2022 WMP Guidance 2022 NCPA WMP IE's Initial Assessment of 

Recommendations section WMP based on WSAB Responsible Panv- revisions IE's 2nd Assessment of 
Guidance Recommendations WMP 

Information about the installation of and us.e 
of situational awareness technologies to 
better understand wictfire risk drivers, 
particularty through collaborative activities N/A 
and shared data. 

Information about faciities that wo.Ad not be 
directfy subject to the protocols Of the CPUC's 
G.O. 95 due to their construction pri« to the 
G.O. firM being adopted. 

section s 

The V\ISAS wotld also like information about 
any circumstances where the G.O. 95 
standards are not foll0'11ed, and what 
replaces them and why. 

section s 

Are the.re design or construction issues 
related to the util ity's specific topography or 
geographic loati.on that the Board should be 
aware of? 

N/A 

ttow will the utility address risks associated 
,-.ith facilit ies requiring power that abut a lie.r 

N/A ZorTier 3 HFTD? 

DUDEK 

There is no description in the i.VMP 
about the installation or use 

situational awareness technology in 
NCPA's service territory. 

The VvMP does not specifically 
identify facilities that are not subject 

to GO 95. NCPA applies v.; ldfire 
prevention strate.gi.e-s to all their 
assets in higtl fire threat areas 

NCPA vegetation management 
program follows the stricter CAL FIRE 

guidelines for \'-egetation 
maintenance along the interconnects 

bNween generation facilities. 

section 4 contains a g~ral 
overview Of risk drivers pt~ nt but 
no specific terrain or location issues 

are discussed. 

Not specifically addressed in the 
WMP 

See Attachment 6 

See Attachment 6 

See Attachment 6 

See Attachment 6 

See Attachment 6 

complete 

complete 

complete 

complete 

complete 

12108.07 
MAACl<2022 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 79 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 80 

 

APPENDIX 5 – INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR REPORT 2023 

 

 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 81 

 

 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 82 

 

 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 83 

 

  

TO: JAMES MEANS 
SUBJECT: INDEPENDENT EVALUATOR'S REPORT OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNlA POWER AGENCY'S 2023 WILDFIRE 
MITIGATION PLAN 

8387(b)(2)(B): Obje<:tives of the Wildfire Mttigation Plan 

Chapter 2 of the NCPA WMP comprehensively describes the utility's WMP three objectives. 

8387(b)(2)(C): Prevention Strategies and Programs 

Chapter 5 in the NcPA WMP describes the utility's wildfire prevention strategies. It is very comprehensive, 

covering existing programs. System hardening/facilities upgrade information provided by facility. 

8387(b){2)(0): Metrics and Assumptions for Measuring WMP Performance 

Chapter 7 section A contains a description of the three metrics used by the NCPA in their WMP. Also 
included is 202(}2021 data for each metric. 

8387(b)(2)(E): Impact of Prev ious Metrics on WMP 

Chapter 7 section B describes the NCPA's pians to continue tracking the three metrics described 

in in section A. Section B also provides a frame of reference for '0 ' event metrics by comparing the 

NCPA's incident rate for wires down to PG&E's (NCPA's tie-in lines connect to PG&E lines). 

8387(b)(2)(F): Reclosing Protocols 

Chapter 5 section H states that the NcPA does not use automatic reclosers on 230 kV lines (their 

tie-in lines). 

8387(b)(2)(G): Ce-energization Notification Procedures 

Chapter 5 section J.2 describes the NCPAs customer notiftcetion protocols. This section contains an 

explanation of the notification methods and referenced NCPA policies (PM·S01). Attachment D in the 

WMP has PM-501. 

8387(b)(2)(H): Vegetation Management 

Chapter 5 section E cont ains a comprehensive description of the NCPAs vegetation management 

program including fuel breaks installed around their geothermal facilities. Appendix 5 in the WMP 

an example of the firebreaks NCPA has installed at their geothermal facmties. Based on 

conversations with NcPA staff, NcPA does not install fuel breaks at their hydroelectric: sites 

because the hydroelectric: sites are located on smaller, less accessible sites. 

8387(b)(2)(I): Inspections 

Chapter 5 se<:tion F of the NCPA WMP comprehensively describes the utiltty's inspection prof/8.m incl uding 

the type and frequency of inspections. 

DUDEK 12108.0 8 
MAY 20 23 

4 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 84 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 85 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 86 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 87 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 88 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 89 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 90 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 91 

 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 92 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 93 

 

REVISION HISTORY 

 

Version 1.0 - NCPA Commission approved on December 5, 2019 per Resolution 19-100 

Version 1.1 – NCPA Commission approved on May 29, 2020 per Resolution 20-43. This WMP 

includes the qualified Independent Evaluators (IE) report in Appendix 2. 

Version 1.2 – NCPA Commission approved on May 27, 2021 per Resolution 21-56. This WMP 

includes the qualified Independent Evaluators (IE) report in Appendix 3. 

Version 1.3 – NCPA Commission approved on May 26 2022 per Resolution 22-58. This WMP 

includes the qualified Independent Evaluators (IE) report in Appendix 4.  

Version 2.0 - NCPA Commission approved on May 25, 2023 per Resolution 23-46. This WMP 

includes the Qualified Independent Evaluators (IE) report in Appendix 5. 

 

 

  



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 94 

 

ATTACHMENT A - PUC 8387 (B) REQUIREMENTS TABLE 

Attachment A: Index of Required Element Location in WMP 

2023 WMP Required Element per PUC Sec 8387(b)(2) 2023 NCPA WMP section 

(A): An accounting of the responsibilities of persons responsible for 

executing the plan. 

3.B., 3.C. 

(B): The objectives of the wildfire mitigation plan.  1.B. 

(C): A description of the preventive strategies and programs to be 

adopted by the local publicly owned electric utility or electrical 

cooperative to minimize the risk of its electrical lines and equipment 

causing catastrophic wildfires, including consideration of dynamic 

climate change risks. 

5.A., 5.B., 5.C. 

(D): A description of the metrics the local publicly owned electric 

utility or electrical cooperative plans to use to evaluate the wildfire 

mitigation plan’s performance and the assumptions that underlie the 

use of those metrics. 

7.A. 

  

(E): A discussion of how the application of previously identified 

metrics to previous wildfire mitigation plan performances has 

informed the wildfire mitigation plan. 

7.B. 

(F): Protocols for disabling reclosers and deenergizing portions of the 

electrical distribution system that consider the associated impacts on 

public safety, as well as protocols related to mitigating the public 

safety impacts of those protocols, including impacts on critical first 

responders and on health and communication infrastructure. 

N/A – NCPA does not own or use 

automatic reclosers on its 230 kV lines 

(5.H.) 

 

 

(G): Appropriate and feasible procedures for notifying a customer 

who may be impacted by the deenergizing of electrical lines. The 

procedures shall direct notification to all public safety offices, critical 

first responders, health care facilities, and operators of 

telecommunications infrastructure with premises within the footprint 

of potential deenergization for a given event. 

5.J.2. 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 95 

 

(H): Plans for vegetation management. 5.E. 

(I): Plans for inspections of the local publicly owned electric utility’s or 

electrical cooperative’s electrical infrastructure. 

7.E. 

(J): A list that identifies, describes, and prioritizes all wildfire risks, 

and drivers for those risks, throughout the local publicly owned 

electric utility’s or electrical cooperative’s service territory. The list 

shall include, but not be limited to, both of the following: (i) Risks and 

risk drivers associated with design, construction, operation, and 

maintenance of the local publicly owned electric utility’s or electrical 

cooperative’s equipment and facilities. (ii) Particular risks and risk 

drivers associated with topographic and climatological risk factors 

throughout the different parts of the local publicly owned electric 

utility’s or electrical cooperative’s service territory. 

(J): 4  

(i): 4.B. 

(ii): 4.A. 

(K): Identification of any geographic area in the local publicly owned 

electric utility’s or electrical cooperative’s service territory that is a 

higher wildfire threat than is identified in a commission fire threat 

map, and identification of where the commission should expand a 

high-fire threat district based on new information or changes to the 

environment. 

N/A – At this time, NCPA does not 

identify any needed changes to the 

current boundaries as identified in 

current maps included in Appendix 1 – 

Fire Risk Assessment Maps. 

(L): A methodology for identifying and presenting enterprise wide 

safety risk and wildfire-related risk. 

4.B. 

 

(M): A statement of how the local publicly owned electric utility or 

electrical cooperative will restore service after a wildfire. 

7. 

(N): A description of the processes and procedures the local publicly 

owned electric utility or electrical cooperative shall use to do all of the 

following: (i) Monitor and audit the implementation of the wildfire 

mitigation plan. (ii) Identify any deficiencies in the wildfire mitigation 

plan or its implementation and correct those deficiencies. (iii) Monitor 

and audit the effectiveness of electrical line and equipment 

inspections, including inspections performed by contractors, that are 

carried out under the plan, other applicable statutes, or commission 

rules. 

(i): 7.C.  

 

(ii): 7.D. 

(iii): 7.E 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 96 

 

ATTACHMENT B – WSAB RECOMMENDED ELEMENTS TABLE  

Table 2: Index of WSAB Recommended Element Location in WMP 

2023 WSAB Recommended Elements 2023 NCPA WMP section 

(A): The WSAB has requested that public owned utilities include a 

table that describes each of the PUC requirements and where each 

requirement can be found in the WMP. This table should be 

incorporated into the WMP as Attachment A.  

The table describing how each of the 

PUC requirements have been 

addressed by NCPA’s WMP has been 

added as Attachment A  

(B):The WSAB has requested that publicly-owned utilities re-evaluate 

their general WMP objectives to take on a broader approach that goes 

beyond minimizing ignitions. It is recommended that NCPA re-

evaluate their objectives for the following strategies: objectives that 

minimize the risk of fire spread or intensity and objectives that allow 

NCPA to restore services/return to full capacity after a wildfire 

spreads impacts their assets.  

 

NCPA has evaluated and updated its 

strategies in section 5.A. of the WMP 

to address methods of minimizing the 

risk of fire spread. The strategies for 

restoration of services contained in 

section 5.H. of the WMP have been 

evaluated and will not be revised at 

this time based on the minimal impact 

to customers related to potentially 

delayed restoration of service.  

(C): The WSAB has requested that future WMP’s contain a description 

of the public input and approval process for the WMP. It is 

recommended that NCPA add a small paragraph describing the 

utility’s public approval process for their plan and where the WMP is 

posted for review by the public.  

 

A paragraph describing NCPA’s public 

document accessibility, review and 

approval process, and method for 

incorporation of public comments into 

the WMP plan has been added to 

section 3.B. of the WMP. 

(D): The board has recommended that public owned utilities re-

evaluate their metrics to determine if they are useful for informing 

them on the effectiveness of the plan. It is recommended that NCPA 

consider adding a new metric or replacing an existing metric with a 

performance-based metric like equipment inspections or trees 

trimmed as well as another leading metric such as number of 

vegetation contacts with wires discovered or equipment faults 

detected.  

 

NCPA has considered the 

recommendation to consider adding a 

new metric or replacing an existing 

metric with a performance-based 

metric. A residual risk is related to the 

potential for soil instability in areas 

previously affected by wildfire to 

result in a “fall in” by trees of sufficient 

height to contact Distribution lines. 

Section 7.A. has been updated to add 

this new metric. 

(E): The WSAB recommends that the Independent Evaluators report 

contain a comparison of the utility’s operations and equipment to 

NCPA has addressed specific 

equipment and operational practices 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 97 

 

relevant industry standards. It is requested that NCPA provide a list 

of specific operational practices and equipment that NCPA employs 

to reduce the risk of wildfire within the service territory.  

 

to reduce the risk of wildfire within 

the service territory in section 5.A.of 

the WMP. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Northern California Power Agency Wildfire Mitigation Plan  

Version 2.0  Page 98 

 

ATTACHMENT C – WILDFIRE RISK ELEMENTS AND CONTROLS 

Table 3 – Index of Wildfire Risks and Controls Evaluations within the WMP 

 



PUBLIC AGENC Y 

CPA 

Commission Staff Report 
COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: Approval of the Revised Debt and Interest Rate Management Policy 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Consent 

FROM: Monty Hanks 

Assistant General 
Manager/CFO 

Division: Administrative Services 

Department: Accounting & Finance 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members IZI 

Alameda Municipal Power □ 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs □ 

City of Gridley □ 

City of Healdsburg □ 

SR: 165:23 

METHOD OF SELECTION: 

N/A 

City of Lodi □ City of Shasta Lake 

City of Lompoc □ City of Ukiah 

City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC 

City of Redding □ Port of Oakland 

City of Roseville □ Truckee Donner PUD 

City of Santa Clara □ Other 

If other, please specify 

15 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 



Revised Debt and Interest Rate Management Policy 
May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-47 adopting the revised Debt and Interest Rate Management Policy, 
dated May 2023. 

BACKGROUND: 

The Commission has approved a Debt and Interest Rate Management Policy ("Debt Policy") to 
set forth the policies that govern the implementation, management, and use of Northern 
California Power Agency's ("NCPA" or "the Agency") debt obligations, including any Fixed Rate 
Debt, Variable Rate Debt or Interest Rate Swaps. The Debt Policy serves as a guide for the 
Agency (staff, Commission, Finance Committee, legal counsels, financial advisors, and the 
banking team) in the administration of NCPA's debt portfolio. Today, NCPA has almost $500 
million in long-term, fixed-rate debt. Although the Agency recently terminated the interest-rate 
swap and fixed out the variable rate debt, the Debt Policy includes guidance on both, credit risk 
mitigation, reporting, and disclosure procedures. 

At the February Finance Committee meeting, the group discussed the current policy recognizing 
that it appeared overly complex and complicated to understand but was probably created at a 
time when derivatives (swaps) became of general use and not well understood. In addition, the 
policy was missing some of the latest practices such as disclosure requirements and procedures. 
The Committee unanimously recommended having staff overhaul and streamline the policy 
aligning it closer to the Members' debt policies and including new sections bringing the policy to 
today's practice standards. 

In collaboration with the Agency's bond counsel and financial advisor, a thorough review and 
rewrite of the Policy were completed to add context, clarification, and/or streamline, where 
appropriate. A separate "Swap Guidelines" was added as an Appendix should the Agency enter 
into a new swap in the future. Staff also used the California Debt and Investment Advisor 
Commission's (CDIAC) "Employing a Debt Management Policy" as an additional resource for 
revisions. The Debt Policy continues to address key aspects of issuing, monitoring, compliance, 
and reporting on debt obligations. A copy of the Debt Policy has been attached. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no fiscal impact in approving the revised Debt and Interest Rate Management Policy. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

This activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the physical 
environment and is therefore not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary. 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

On May 9, 2023, the Finance Committee reviewed and endorsed the recommendation above for 
Commission approval. 

SR: 165:23 



Revised Debt and Interest Rate Management Policy 
May 25, 2023 
Page 3 

Respectfully submitted, 

!~H~WA~~ 
General Manager 

Attachments: 
Resolution 23-47 
Debt and Interest Rate Management Policy 

SR: 165:23 



RESOLUTION 23-47 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING THE REVISED DEBT AND INTEREST RATE MANAGEMENT POLICY 

(reference Staff Report #165:23) 

WHEREAS, the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) has a debt portfolio of almost $500 
million in long-term, fixed-rate debt; and 

WHEREAS, prudent debt management practice supports the establishment of policies that 
govern the implementation, management, and use of NCPA's debt obligations, including any Fixed 
Rate Debt, Variable Rate Debt, and/or Interest Rate Swaps; and 

WHEREAS, the NCPA Commission last reviewed and approved the Debt and Interest Rate 
Management Policy (Debt Policy) in May 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the Debt Policy requires a periodic review of the Debt Policy to update for changes 
in bond markets, regulations, and new financial products; and 

WHEREAS, the Finance Committee recommended having staff overhaul and streamline the Debt 
Policy aligning it closer to the Members' debt policies and including new sections bringing it to today's 
practice standards; and 

WHEREAS, this activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in 
the physical environment and is therefore not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary; and 

WHEREAS, the Finance Committee has reviewed the proposed revisions to the Debt Policy and 
recommends approval; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power 
Agency adopts the revised Debt and Interest Rate Management Policy. And allow for any non
substantive editing of minor formatting, grammatical, or spelling errors within the document to be made 
by the Commission Assistant Secretary. 

PASSED, ADOPTED, and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023 by the 
following vote on roll call: 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: TRISHA ZIMMER 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 



DEBT & INTEREST 

RATE MANAGEMENT 

POLICY 

NORTHERN CAL I FORNIA 

POWER AGENCY 



Table of Contents 

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................................................. 3 

AUTHORITY ................................................................................................................................................... 3 

SCOPE .......................................... .................................................................................................................. 3 

OBJECTIVES ................................................................................................................................................... 4 

DEBT ISSUANCE .. .......................... ............................................................................. .................................... 4 

HANDLING of BOND PROCEEDS .................................................................................................................... 9 

MONITORING and REPORTING REQUIREMENTS ....................................................... ....... ............................ 9 

COMPLIANCE with CDIAC REQUIREMENTS .................................................................................................. 9 

ARBITRAGE REBATE ..................................................................................................................................... 10 

DEBT OBLIGATION DISCLOSURE POLICY ............ ......................................................................................... 10 

APPENDIX A- Debt & Interest Rate Management Report Guidelines ........................................................ 1 

APPENDIX B - Swap Guidelines ................................................................................. ........ ........................... 1 

2 Version 2023 (last update 2019) 



INTRODUCTION 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
DEBT & INTEREST RATE MANAGEMENT POLICY 

The Northern California Power Agency (the "Agency" or "NCPA") has developed this Debt & Interest Rate 

Management Policy (the "Debt Policy") to provide guidelines for the implementation and management of 

the issuance of bonds and other forms of indebtedness to finance necessary land acquisitions, 

construction, equipment, and other capital requirements of the Agency. 

While the issuance of debt is frequently an appropriate method of financing, such issuance must be 

carefully monitored to preserve each Project's credit strength and to provide the necessary flexibility to 

fund future capital needs. 

AUTHORITY 
The Agency will invite to a Finance Committee meeting, all participants in the Project subject to the 

proposed transaction to express their views as to whether to recommend the proposed transaction to the 

Commission for its consideration. Any objection by a participant shall be considered. The General 

Manager, with the concurrence of outside bond counsel and the Agency's General Counsel, shall 

determine whether the proposed debt obligation is legally valid and complies with any applicable 

provisions of the Agency's legal agreements. The General Manager must obtain a recommendation from 

the Finance Committee prior to Commission approval of the proposed transaction. 

The Agency, under the authority of the General Manager, executes debt instruments, oversees the 

accounting and reporting of debt, administers debt proceeds, manages continuing disclosure and debt 

compliance requirements, and makes debt service payments while acting with prudence, diligence, and 
attention to prevailing economic conditions. The General Manager may delegate such authority to the 

Chief Financial Officer (CFO) with the assistance of the Treasurer-Controller and/or General Accounting 
staff. 

SCOPE 
This Debt Policy shall govern, except as otherwise covered by the law and the Agency's By-Laws, the 

issuance and management of all debt and lease obligations funded in the capital markets. While 

adherence to the Debt Policy is desired, the Agency recognizes that changes in the capital markets as well 

as unforeseen circumstances, may from time to time produce situations that are not covered by the Debt 

Policy and may require modifications or exceptions to achieve Agency goals. As appropriate, the CFO shall 

seek General Manager and/or Commission's direction and approval. Any said modifications or exceptions 

will be reported to the Finance Committee. 

The Agency's staff and the Finance Committee shall review, and update if necessary, the Debt Policy on a 

biennial basis and recommend appropriate changes to the Commission for approval. 

3 Version 2023 (last update 2019) 



OBJECTIVES 
The Debt Policy will guide the Agency in determining appropriate uses of debt financing, establish certain 

debt management goals and assist the Agency in maintaining strong credit ratings while assuming a 

prudent level of financial risk and preserving the Agency's flexibility to finance future capital programs 

and requirements. Additionally, the Debt Policy is intended to set forth criteria for selecting firms to 

provide certain financial, legal, and other services related to the issuance and subsequent monitoring and 

reporting of the debt. 

DEBT ISSUANCE 
When evaluating a proposed debt issuance (new money or refunding), the Agency will analyze and assess 

a number of debt financing considerations, as identified below, prior to seeking Commission approval. As 
a general rule, the Agency will consider and follow guidelines consistent with the Government Finance 

Officers Association Best Practices for Debt Management. 

A. Types of Debt 

1. Fixed Rate Debt 
Longer-term debt usually consists of fixed interest rates over the term of the bonds and 

should be used to finance essential capital facilities where it is appropriate to spread the cost 
of the project over more than one budget year and structured with consideration of the 

expected life of the asset being financed. The Agency recognizes that the Project Participants' 

future ratepayers who will benefit from the project will pay a share of its cost. Fixed rate debt 

provides the benefit of fixed payments during the life of the bonds and budget certainties for 

long-term capital planning. However, fixed rate debt is typically longer term and carries 

higher interest payments (assuming an upward-sloping yield curve) than variable rate debt 

but it is not subject to changes in interest rates. 

2. Variable Rate Debt 
The municipal bond market has developed several vehicles by which public agencies can 

borrow at short-term, variable interest rates. These include (but are not limited to) variable 

rate demand obligations ("VRDOs"), indexed notes, put bonds, auction rate securities, and 

commercial paper. 

Factors that will be considered in the use of variable rate debt are the availability and size of 
fund balances to cover variable rate risk and the budget flexibility of the program being 

financed. Other factors may include using short-term financing to fund uncertain 

construction cash flow requirements and allowing the debt to be refinanced as fixed rate debt 

once the project(s) are complete. Projects that anticipate grant funding may be another 

candidate for variable rate financing. 

3. Derivative Products 
The use of certain derivative products, such as swaps, swaptions, and the sale of call options, 

allows the Agency to realize lower all-in costs on a new debt issuance or to receive an upfront 

payment. One type of swap that may be used would allow the Agency to issue variable rate 

4 Version 2023 (last update 2019} 



debt in exchange for fixed payments that are typically lower than issuing traditional, fixed rate 

debt. However, such products have unique risks that the Agency and its professional advisors 

will evaluate per the Agency's Swap Guidelines attached in Appendix B. 

B. Tax Status 

1. Tax-Exempt 
Interest on tax-exempt bonds is excluded from the gross income of its owners for federal 

income tax purposes and from California income taxes. As a result, tax-exempt bonds can be 
sold at a lower true interest cost than taxable bonds. The Agency, along with bond and tax 

counsels, will assess which projects are eligible to be funded with tax-exempt bonds. The 

Agency will make every effort to ensure compliance with all tax regulations in order to 

maintain their tax-exempt status. 

2. Taxable 
Certain municipal bonds are sold as taxable bonds because they are issued for purposes that 

the federal government deems do not provide a significant benefit to the public at large or 

involve "private activity". In addition, certain tax laws such as the alternative minimum tax 

(AMT) reduced the tax exemption applicable to certain types of bonds and taxpayers. Taxable 
bonds will be used whenever a particular project is deemed ineligible by tax counsel for tax

exempt financing. 

C. Purpose of Financing 

1. New Money Financing 
New money issues are those financings that generate funding for capital projects. These 

funds will be used for necessary land acquisitions, construction, equipment, and other capital 
requirements of the Agency. New money bond proceeds are generally not used to fund 

operational activities. 

2. Refunding Bonds 
Refunding bonds are issued to retire all or a portion of an outstanding bond issue or other 

debt obligation. Most typically this is done to refinance at a lower interest rate to reduce 

overall debt service. Alternatively, existing debt obligations may also be refinanced from time 

to time to restructure the type of debt outstanding, the level and timing offuture debt service 
payments or to take advantage of other identified market opportunities. In any event, a 

present value savings analysis must be prepared that identifies the economic effects of any 

refunding being considered by the Agency. The Agency will apply the following guidelines: 

• For a Fixed Rate Debt refinancing of existing Fixed Rate Debt, the Agency will generally 

apply a minimum 5% Net Present Value Savings target for transactions that are 

expected to maintain the same level of risk related to the debt. 

5 Version 2023 (last update 2019) 



• For a refinancing of existing Synthetic Fixed Rate Debt, Variable Rate Debt, or 

Synthetic Variable Rate Debt transactions that is believed and expected to reduce the 
risk related to the debt, NCPA will generally seek to attempt to complete transactions 

that do not result in a Net Present Value Savings of less than 0%; however, the Policy 

does not preclude NCPA from executing a transaction that results in a Net Present 

Value Savings of less than 0% if the risk mitigation benefits are deemed to merit the 

cost. 

A periodic review of the Agency's outstanding debt will be undertaken by the CFO in 

coordination with the Agency's Municipal Advisor to determine refunding opportunities and 

the results, if any, will be shared with the Finance Committee on a quarterly basis. 

D. Types of Bond Sales 

1. Competitive Sale 

In a competitive sale, security dealers submit bids either in a sealed bid or electronically 

secure process, and the security dealer with the lowest True Interest Cost (TIC) and in 

compliance with the bid parameters, is awarded the bonds. 

2. Negotiated Sale 

In a negotiated sale, an underwriter or underwriter syndicate is selected by the issuer 

generally through a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) process or a Request for Proposal (RFP) 

process. The interest rate and underwriter's fee are negotiated prior to the sale, based on 

market conditions. 

3. Private Placement/ Direct Placement 

A private placement is the sale of an issue of debt to one or a limited number of buyers, such 

as a bank, insurance company, or mutual fund, without a public offering. If the CFO, in 

concurrence with the Agency's Municipal Advisor and the Finance Committee, determines 

that it is in the best interest of the Agency from a cost or administrative standpoint, the 

Agency may negotiate financing terms with banks and financial institutions for specific 
borrowings. 

E. Structural Features 

1. Maturity 

The final maturity of a bond sale shall be equal to or less than the remaining useful life of the 

assets being financed, and the average life of the financing shall not exceed 120% of the 

average useful life of the assets being financed. 

2. Debt Service Structure 

The Agency will carefully consider the debt service structure for each bond issue. Various 

factors will be considered such as the flow of revenues available for a particular credit, the 

need to fill in gaps created by refunding specific principal maturities or to structure savings 

6 Version 2023 (last update 2019) 



from a refunding in a particular year. Accelerated repayment may be considered within the 

bonding capacity constraints to provide additional capacity for future capital programs. 

Bonds will be amortized over a period of time not to exceed the useful life of the assets being 
financed. 

3. Lien Levels 

Senior, Junior, and Subordinated Junior Liens for each revenue source may be utilized in a 
manner that will maximize the most critical constraint-typically either cost or capacity-thus 

allowing for the most beneficial use of the revenue source securing the bonds. 

4. Capitalized Interest 
Subject to Federal and State law, interest may be capitalized from the date of issuance of the 
debt. Interest may also be capitalized for projects in which the revenue designated to pay 

debt service on the bonds will be collected at a future date, generally not to exceed six months 
from the estimated completion of construction. Any use of capitalized interest will require a 
review by bond and tax counsels and approval by the Commission. 

F. Credit Enhancements 

1. Bond Insurance 

Bond insurance may provide improved credit quality for bonds as a result of the insurance 
provider's guarantee of the payment for principal and interest. Bond insurance will be 

considered when it provides an economic benefit to a particular bond maturity or the entire 
bond issue. A benefit analysis comparing the present value of the interest savings to the cost 

of the premium paid for such insurance is required to determine if bond insurance will be 
utilized. 

2. Bank Facilities 

When used for credit enhancement, letters of credit ("LOC") or standby bond purchase 
agreements ("SBPA") represent a bank's promise to pay principal and interest when due for 

a defined period of time, subject to certain conditions. Bank facilities may also provide 
liquidity support for bonds or other debt obligations subject to tender. These bank facilities 

are typically used to ensure variable rate debt has one of the two highest short-term ratings. 

G. Issuer Characteristics 

1. Market Familiarity 

A frequent issuer of well-recognized credit can generally sell bonds through a competitive sale 

since investors and underwriters are familiar with the quality of the credit. A negotiated sale 
may be appropriate if extensive pre-marketing to investors is desired or required. 

7 Version 2023 (last update 2019} 



2. Credit Strength 

The higher the credit quality of the bonds being issued, the more likely the bonds can be sold 
using a competitive sale due to the demand for high-quality municipal bonds. High-quality 
credits generally fare well in competitive sales. 

3. Policy Goals 

A competitive sale does not provide the Agency with the flexibility of choosing the 

underwriter or underwriter syndicate. If the CFO, in concurrence with the Finance 
Committee, concludes that determining the composition of the underwriter syndicate to 

achieve certain policy objectives is important, then a negotiated sale will be required. 

However, if a negotiated sale is selected solely for policy reasons, then the rationale and 
criteria for selection should be clearly specified. 

H. Financing Characteristics 

1. Type of Debt Instrument 

The market typically favors familiar debt instruments such as California utility revenue bonds. 
New credit types may require an education process that is more conducive to a negotiated 
sale until the market becomes comfortable with the credit. 

2. Issue Size 

The size of the bond sale will influence both investor interest and the market's ability to 

absorb the bonds. For example, if the bond sale is too small or too large, a negotiated sale 
may be necessary for greater marketing efforts and/or presale activity. 

3. Market Conditions and Timing 

During periods of stable interest rates, market timing is not as critical. However, during 
periods of volatile interest rates, the timing of the sale becomes more critical. A bond 

refunding is often interest rate sensitive in terms of the potential level of savings or the 
general feasibility. The negotiated sale provides more flexibility in terms of the structure of 

the bond sale as well as the timing of the bond sale and may be more appropriate when 
issuing refunding bonds or when interest rates are volatile. 

I. Credit Ratings 

1. Use of Rating Agencies 

The Agency seeks to obtain the highest possible credit ratings on all Projects, when applicable, 
for all categories of short- and long-term debt. The Agency may obtain a rating from at least 

one nationally recognized rating agency on all new bond issues or bond refundings being sold 

in the public market. The CFO, or his/her designee, and in concurrence with the Agency's 
Municipal Advisor, shall determine which major rating agencies will be asked to provide a 

rating, which may include one or more. Exceptions to this requirement, such as when using 

a private placement, are permissible. 

8 Version 2023 (last update 2019) 



2. Rating Agency Relationships 

The Agency's CFO, or his/her designee, shall be responsible for maintaining relationships with 
the rating agencies that assign ratings to the Agency's various debt obligations. This 

responsibility shall include coordinating meetings, presentations, and/or providing document 
requests whether in conjunction with the issuance of debt or periodic updates on outstanding 

bonds. Full disclosure of operations and open lines of communication shall be maintained 

with the rating agencies used by the Agency. The Agency shall make every reasonable effort 

to maintain or improve its credit ratings. 

HANDLING of BOND PROCEEDS 
Proceeds of debt should be held either by a third-party trustee or by the Agency. A third-party trustee 
will disburse bond proceeds to the Agency upon submission of one or more written requisitions signeq by 

an authorized Agency officer. If the funds are held directly by the Agency, they will be held and accounted 

for in a separate fund or account, the expenditure of which will be carefully documented by the Agency 

and subject to established internal controls consistent with the Agency's applicable policies and 
procedures to ensure proceeds are spent according to their intended purpose as well as all applicable 
limitations and regulations. 

For bond proceeds meant to refund existing bonds, such funds will generally be held by a third-party 
trustee to be applied in connection with written directions generally prepared by or in consultation with 

bond and tax counsels to ensure funds are used according to legal requirements. The Agency will maintain 

records to and from third-party agents including but not limited to written direction, communication and 

records received, and the timely review of fund statements. 

MONITORING and REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
NCPA's financing team will monitor any Fixed Rate Debt, Variable Rate Debt, and Interest Rate Swaps that 
the Agency has outstanding on at least a monthly basis. The CFO, or his/her designee, will provide a 

written report regarding the status of all Fixed Rate Debt, Variable Rate Debt, and Interest Rate Swaps at 
least on a semi-annual basis to the Finance Committee and to the Commission. Reports shall include the 
reporting guidelines identified in Appendix A. 

COMPLIANCE with CDIAC REQUIREMENTS 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 8855 (as in effect as of the date of the Policy) to 
the extent required thereby at the time of any debt issuance of NCPA (the "CDIAC requirements"), the 
Agency will submit a report of any proposed debt issuance to the California Debt and Investment Advisory 
Commission ("CDIAC" or the "commission") prior to the sale of a debt issue and, will submit a report of 

final sale to CDIAC after the sale of the debt, by a method approved by the commission. 

The report of proposed debt issuance will include a certification by the Agency to CDIAC that the Agency 

has adopted a local debt policy concerning the use of debt and that the contemplated debt issuance is 
consistent with such policy. 

9 Version 2023 (last update 2019) 



ARBITRAGE REBATE 
Upon the issuance of tax-exempt bonds, the Agency shall comply with all arbitrage rebate requirements 

as established by the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS11
). The CFO, or his/her designee, shall establish a 

system of record keeping and reporting to meet the arbitrage rebate compliance requirements of the 

federal tax code. This effort shall include tracking project expenditures financed with payments in 

compliance with tax law, and remitting any rebate earnings to the IRS in a timely manner in order to 

preserve the tax-exempt status of the Agency's outstanding tax-exempt debt issues. The Agency may 

enter into agreements with arbitrage service providers to assist the Agency with complying with arbitrage 

regulations. 

DEBT OBLIGATION DISCLOSURE POLICY 
In connection with each publicly offered NCPA debt issuance, the Agency is subject to certain disclosure 

requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission and other governmental agencies before and 

after the bond sale takes place. It is the policy of the Agency to provide fair and accurate disclosure in its 

offering documents, continuing disclosure filings, and other public disclosure statements that are 

intended (or reasonably can be expected) to be accessible to and relied upon by investors in its bonds and 

other debt instruments {collectively sometimes referred to as "Disclosure Documents11
) that complies with 

applicable securities laws. It is further the intent of NCPA to satisfy in a timely manner its contractual 

obligations to provide certain ongoing information to the public debt markets under continuing disclosure 

undertakings entered into in connection with its financings. 

The Agency will develop and implement disclosure procedures (the "Disclosure Procedures'') to guide and 

direct applicable officers and employees of the Agency in preparing, confirming, and dissemination NCPA 

Disclosure Documents consistent with this policy and the following principles and objectives: 

A. Good Disclosure 
To make a disclosure to investors that is sufficiently clear, concise, accurate, and complete to 

inform them about the underlying security and sources of payment for NCPA's debt instruments 

and NCPA's and its member agency obligors' financial condition and results of operations (while 

advising them of material risks to future financial prospects); 

B. Compliance with Law and Contractual Obligations 

To assure compliance with applicable securities laws and applicable contractual requirements 

when preparing Disclosure Documents; 

C. Reduce Liability 

To avoid damage to NCPA's reputation in the financial markets and reduce exposure to liability 

for misstatements and omissions in Disclosure Documents; 

D. Preserve Credit Ratings 

To preserve NCPA's good credit ratings; 

10 Version 2023 (last update 2019) 



E. Transparency and Good Investor Relations 

To provide transparency to investors, financial analysts, and the general bond market and 

promote good investor relations; and 

F. Training 

To provide regular training regarding municipal securities disclosure to assist NCPA officers and 

key staff of the Agency and its member agency obligors in understanding their roles and 

responsibilities in compliance with applicable securities laws. 

11 Version 2023 (last update 2019) 



APPENDIX A 
DEBT & INTEREST RATE MANAGEMENT REPORT GUIDELIN ES 

The CFO, or his/her designee, will provide a written report regarding the status of all Fixed Rate Debt, 

Variable Rate Debt, and Interest Rate Swaps at least on a semi-annual basis to the Finance Committee and 

to the Commission. Reports shall include the information identified below. 

1. Highlights of all material changes to Fixed Rate Debt, Variable Rate Debt, and Interest Rate Swaps 

entered into by the Agency since the last report; 

2. Highlights of any changes to Fixed Rate Debt, including any subsidy considerations, material bond 

proceeds fund investment issues, continuing disclosure reporting, escrow considerations, rating 

triggers, or other developments which might affect the expected continuity and performance of 

the Fixed Rate Debt; 

3. The performance of Variable Rate Debt compared to relevant indices since the last report; 

4. Tracking of future put dates, re marketing, Credit Enhancement renewals, and other pending dates 

of importance for the administration and continuation of Variable Rate Debt structures; 

5. Changes to any fees paid to any third parties including Credit Enhancement providers, 

remarketing agents, etc.; 

6. Marked-to-Market value of each of the Agency's Interest Rate Swaps; 

7. The net impact to the Agency and Project Participants of a SO-basis point movement (up and 

down) in the appropriate swap market curves 

8. For each counterparty, the Agency shall provide the total notional amount position, the average 

life of each interest rate Swap agreement, and the remaining term of each Interest Rate Swap 
agreement; 

9. For each Interest Rate Swap, the actual yearly and cumulative savings versus the projected savings 

of entering into an Interest Rate Swap instead of a Fixed Rate Bond transaction; 

10. The credit rating(s) and outlook(s) (making particular note of any rating changes) of each 
applicable Project including the credit ratings for each Interest Rate Swap counterparty and Credit 

Enhancement provider; 

11. Actual collateral posting by the Agency and/or each Interest Rate Swap counterparty; 

12. A summary of each Interest Rate Swap, including, but not limited to, the type of Interest Rate 
Swap, the rates and dollar amounts paid by the Agency and received by the Agency, and other 
terms; 

13. Information concerning any default by a counterparty under an agreement with the Agency, and 

the results of the default, including but not limited to the financial impact to the Agency and its 
members, if any; 

14. A summary of any Fixed Rate Debt, Variable Rate Debt, Interest Rate Swaps, and Credit 

Enhancements that were refinanced, redeemed, or terminated; and 

15. Any other bond-related information or activity that may be of importance to disclose to the 

Commission. 

A-1 



APPENDIX B 
SWAP GUIDELINES 

INTRODUCTION 

The Swap Guidelines are promulgated by the Agency to govern the use of Interest Rate Swap Agreements. 
Interest Rate Swap Agreements shall be used judiciously and must be approved by the General Manager, 
as detailed herein. "Interest Rate Swap Agreement" shall mean a written contract with a counterparty, 
entered into in connection with the issuance of debt by the Agency, in connection with Agency debt 
already outstanding, or as a hedge for future anticipated debt,to provide for an exchange of payments 
based upon fixed and/or variable interest rates. "Swaps" shall be inclusive of Swaptions which are options 
on Swaps. 

CONDITIONS TO EXECUTE 

A. Purpose 
Interest Rate Swap Agreements may be used for the following purposes only: 

1. To achieve significant savings as compared to other, non-derivative type products 
available in the bond market. 

2. To prudently hedge risk in the context of a particular financing or the overall asset/liability 
management of the Agency. 

3. To incur variable rate exposure within prudent guidelines. 
4. To achieve more flexibility in meeting overall financial objectives than available in 

conventional markets. 
5. To accomplish a financial objective not otherwise obtainable using traditional financing 

methods. 

B. Legality 
The Agency must receive an opinion acceptable to the market from a reputable law firm that the 
Interest Rate Swap Agreement is a legal, valid, and binding obligation of the Agency and 
Counterparty and the transaction is not prohibited by any applicable law. 

C. Speculation 
Interest Rate Swap Agreements shall not be used for speculative purposes. Associated risks will 
be prudent risks that are appropriate for the Agency to take. 

PROCEDURE FOR SUBMISSION 

Generally, the Agency shall procure Interest Rate Swap Agreements by competitive bidding, with at least 
three firms solicited. The Agency shall determine which parties it will allow participating in a competitive 
transaction taking into consideration, among other factors, the credit ratings of the swap counterparties. 
The Agency may procure by negotiated methods if it determines that a negotiated transaction would 
result in the most favorable pricing and terms or that doing so will promote its interest by encouraging 
and rewarding innovation. The Agency has the right to accept matching bids in order to decrease 
counterparty risk. The Agency will obtain an independent opinion from a Qualified Independent 
Representative ("QIR") that the terms and conditions reflect a fair market value of such agreement as of 
the date of its execution. 

B-1 



FORM and CONSENT 

To the extent possible, an Interest Rate Swap Agreement entered into by the Agency shall contain the 
terms and conditions set forth in the International Swap and Derivatives Association, Inc. ("ISDA") Master 
Agreement, including the schedule, credit support annex, and confirmation. The schedule should be 
modified to reflect specific legal requirements and business terms desired by the Agency. 

The Agency shall consider including provisions that permit the Agency to assign its rights and obligations 
under the Interest Rate Swap Agreement and to optionally terminate the agreement at its market value 
at any time. In general, the counterparty shall not have the right to optionally terminate an agreement. 

The ISDA Master Agreement shall include the following events of default of a counterparty: 
1. Failure to make payments when due; 
2. Material breach of representations and warranties; 
3. Illegality; 
4. Failure to comply with downgrade provisions; and 
5. Failure to comply with any other provisions of the agreement after a specified notice period. 

RISK EXPOSURE 

Before entering into an Interest Rate Swap Agreement, the Agency shall evaluate all risks inherent in the 
transaction. The risks to be evaluated may include counterparty risk, termination risk, rollover risk, basis 
risk, tax event risk, credit risk, and amortization risk. The Agency shall endeavor to diversify its exposure 
to counterparties. To that end, before entering into a transaction, the Agency should determine its 
exposure to the relevant counterparty or counterparties and determine how the proposed transaction 
would affect the exposure. The exposure should not be measured solely in terms of notional amount, but 
rather how changes in interest rates would affect the Agency's exposure "Value at Risk". The Value at 
Risk should be based on all outstanding derivative transactions of the Agency. Evaluation of risks will also 
include the following considerations: 

1. Uncertainty with respect to the Agency's future debt obligations. 
2. Effect on the Agency's credit quality. 
3. Cumulative exposure to all risk factors identified. 
4. Termination provisions of the swaps. 

COUNTERPARTY SELECTION 

The Agency may enter into an Interest Rate Swap Agreement if the counterparty or its guarantor has at 
least "Aa3" or "AA-" by one of the nationally recognized rating agencies and not rated lower than "A2" or 
"A" by any nationally recognized rating agency, or as otherwise approved by the Commission, and the 
counterparty has demonstrated experience in successfully executing Interest Rate Swap Agreements. If 
after entering into an agreement, the counterparty does not maintain the minimum ratings of Aa3/ AA
/ AA-, or as otherwise specified in the swap documents, then the agreement shall be subject to termination 
unless (a) the counterparty provides either a substitute guarantor or assigns the agreement, in either case, 
to a party meeting the rating criteria acceptable to the Agency, or (b) the counterparty (or guarantor) 
collateralizes the Interest Rate Swap Agreement in accordance with the criteria set forth in these Swap 
Guidelines and the Interest Rate Swap Agreement. In addition, if after entering into an agreement, a rating 

B-2 



of the counterparty is downgraded below Baa3/BBB-/BBB- or as otherwise specified in the swap 
documents, then the agreement shall be subject to termination unless the counterparty provides either 
a substitute guarantor or assigns the agreement, in either case, to a party meeting the rating criteria 
acceptable to the Agency. 

COLLATERALIZATION 

Should the rating of the counterparty, or if secured, the entity unconditionally guaranteeing its payment 
obligations, not satisfy the requirements of having at least two ratings of at least Aa3/AA-/ AA-, or as 
otherwise specified in the swap documents, then the Agency's exposure to the counterparty shall be 
collateralized by (1) direct obligations of the United States of America, (2) obligations of which the 
principal and interest are guaranteed by the United States of America, or (3) direct obligations of US 
Agencies and such collateral shall be deposited with the Agency or an agent thereof, or as otherwise 
specified in the swap documents. Collateral requirements shall be subject to reasonable thresholds and 
minimum transfer amounts. The specific collateralization requirements for each interest rate swap 
transaction shall be set forth in the corresponding swap documentation. 

IMPLICATIONS 

In evaluating a particular transaction involving the use of Interest Rate Swap Agreements, the Agency shall 
review long-term implications associated with entering into Interest Rate Swap Agreements, including the 
cost of borrowing, historical interest rate trends, variable rate capacity, credit enhancement capacity, 
opportunities to refund the related debt obligations, and other similar considerations. The required 
minimum present value savings to the Agency of a swap transaction issued to refund outstanding debt 
shall be at least twice the minimum required for a fixed rate refunding to compensate for the inherent 
risks associated with the use of interest rate swaps, unless it is determined by the General Manager that 
it is in the best financial interest of the Agency to accept present value savings of less than twice the 
requirement for a fixed rate refunding. Such determination shall be documented in writing. 

ACCOUNTING TREATMENT 

The Agency shall reflect the use of Interest Rate Swap Agreements on its financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, including the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements and guidance. Further, the Agency will provide appropriate swap 
disclosures to credit rating agencies, to investors in connection with bond offerings, and the municipal 
secondary market. Appropriate disclosure includes information about legal authority, risks, guidelines, 
and market value. 

MONITORING 

The CFO, or his/her designee, will provide a written report regarding the status of all Interest Rate Swaps 

at least on a semi-annual basis to the Finance Committee and to the Commission. Reports shall include 

the information identified in Appendix A - Debt & Interest Rate Management Report Guidelines. The 
Agency may use an independent Swap Advisor to assist NCPA staff in monitoring its existing or proposed 

swaps. 

B-3 



CONFORMANCE TO DODD-FRANK 

It is the intent of the Agency to conform the Swap Guidelines to the requirements relating to legislation 

and regulations for derivatives transactions under Title VII of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 

Consumer Protection Act, as supplemented and amended from time to time, including any regulations 

promulgated in connection therewith (herein collectively referred to as "Dodd-Frank11
). Pursuant to such 

intent, it is the policy of the Agency that, with respect to each interest rate swap: (i) each swap advisor 

engaged or to be engaged by the Agency will function as the designated qualified independent 

representative of the Agency, sometimes referred to as the "Designated QIR11
; (ii) each swap advisor will 

agree to meet and meets the requirements specified in CFTC Regulation 23.450(b)(l) or any successor 
regulation thereto (herein referred to as the "Representative Regulation 11

); (iii) each swap advisor will 

provide a written certification to the Agency to the effect that such swap advisor agrees to meet and 

meets the requirements specified in the Representative Regulation; (iv) the Agency will monitor the 

performance of each swap advisor consistent with the requirements specified in the Representative 

Regulation; (v) the Agency will exercise independent judgment in consultation with its swap advisor in 

evaluating all recommendations, if any, presented by any swap dealer with respect to transactions 

authorized pursuant to the Swap Guidelines; and (vi) the Agency will rely on the advice of its swap advisor 

with respect to interest rate swaps authorized pursuant to the Swap Guidelines and will not rely on 

recommendations, if any, presented by any swap dealer with respect to interest rate swaps authorized 

pursuant to the Swap Guidelines. 

B-4 



Commission Staff Report 

COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: Approval of the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) Investment Policy and 
Guidelines No. 200-100 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Consent 

FROM: Monty Hanks 

Assistant General 
Manager/CFO 

Division: Administrative Services 

Department: Accounting & Finance 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members ~ 

Alameda Municipal Power □ 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs □ 

City of Gridley □ 

City of Healdsburg □ 

SR: 166:23 

METHOD OF SELECTION: 

NIA 

If other, please describe: 

City of Lodi □ City of Shasta Lake □ 

City of Lompoc □ City of Ukiah □ 

City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC □ 

City of Redding □ Port of Oakland □ 

City of Roseville □ Truckee Donner PUD □ 

City of Santa Clara □ Other □ 

If other, please specify 



Approve 2023 Investment Policy Updates 
May 25, 2023 
Page 2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-48 authorizing revisions to NCPA's Investment Policy and Guidelines 
No. 200-100. 

BACKGROUND: 

Investment Policy 
NCPA sets forth its objectives, risk preferences, authorized investments, and other investment
related priorities in its Investment Policy. The Investment Policy serves as a guide for setting 
and achieving investment goals, defines rules, and reduces exposure to liability and loss. While 
it has long been deemed good investment practice to have a written policy, it is considered a 
standard of best practice for government agencies to have a written policy and review it annually. 
The Agency's Investment Policy requires that the Treasurer-Controller shall annually submit to 
the Commission a statement of Investment Policy and any recommended changes. 

Staff has reviewed the Investment Policy and compared it against California Government Code, 
Sections 53600 and 53635 et seq. and recommends the following: 1) addition of Investment's Term 
or Remaining Maturity in the Glossary to include the 2022 Government Code Section clarification 
that an investment's term or remaining maturity is to be measured from the time of settlement date 
to final maturity and may not be purchased with a forward settlement date exceeding 45 days from 
the time of investment; 2) addition of Conflict of Interest Code and Form 700 and best practice 
prudent investor language; 3) addition of new sections including Diversification, Maximum Maturity, 
Review of Investment Portfolio, Investment Pools/Mutual Funds, Finance Committee, and 
Investment Policy Adoption; 4) addition of broker requirements and filings language and 
Broker/Dealer Questionnaire Attachment; 5) updated collateralization requirements language; 6) 
revision of maximum investment per money market mutual fund from five percent (5%) per fund to 
twenty percent (20%); 7) clarification of performance benchmark language; 8) listing of Agency 
funds covered by policy; and 9) addition of general best practice language. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no direct dollar impact to this proposed policy. The resolution approves the Agency 
policy surrounding investments. The policy follows the California Government Code, Sections 
53600 and 53635 et seq. and in some cases is more restrictive so that the Agency can achieve 
investment goals, define rules, and reduce exposure to liability and loss. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

This activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the physical 
environment and is therefore not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary. 

SR: 166:23 



Approve 2023 Investment Policy Updates 
May 25, 2023 
Page 3 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

The revisions to NCPA's Investment Policy and Guidelines No. 200-100 were reviewed by the 
Finance Committee on May 9, 2023, and were unanimously recommended for Commission 
approval. 

Respectfully submitted, 

j~H1wl~ 
General Manager 

Attachments: Resolution 23-48 
Investment Policy and Guidelines No. 200-100 

SR: 166:23 



RESOLUTION 23-48 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING THE INVESTMENT POLICY AND GUIDELINES REVISIONS 

(reference Staff Report #166:23) 

WHEREAS, the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) Joint Powers Agreement 
specifies the laws regulating general law cities as being the law that applies to the Agency; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 4 of the California Government Code, Sections 53600 and 53635 
et seq. deals with the financial affairs of local government agencies, including cities; and 

WHEREAS, NCPA's Investment Policy and Guidelines No. 200-100 sets forth the 
objectives, risk preferences, authorized investments, and other investment-related priorities that 
serve as a guide for setting and achieving investment goals, defining rules, and reducing 
exposure to liability and loss; and 

WHEREAS, staff has performed a review of policies related to the investment of NCPA 
funds and recommends making the following revisions: 1) addition of Investment's Term or 
Remaining Maturity in the glossary to include the 2022 Government Code Section clarification 
that an investment's term or remaining maturity is to be measured from the time of settlement 
date to final maturity and may not be purchased with a forward settlement date exceeding .45 
days from the time of investment; 2) addition of Conflict of Interest Code and Form 700 and best 
practice prudent investor language; 3) addition of new sections including Diversification, 
Maximum Maturity, Review of Investment Portfolio, Investment Pools/Mutual Funds, Finance 
Committee, and Investment Policy Adoption; 4) addition of broker requirements and filings 
language and Broker/Dealer Questionnaire Attachment; 5) updated collateralization 
requirements language; 6) revision of maximum investment per money market mutual fund from 
five percent (5%) per fund to twenty percent (20%) per fund; 7) clarification of performance 
benchmark language; 8) listing of Agency funds covered by policy; and 9) addition of general 
best practice language; and 

WHEREAS, the Finance Committee approved staff's recommended revisions to the 
Investment Policy and Guidelines No. 200-100 at their meeting on May 09, 2023; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California 
Power Agency adopts policy revisions including addition of Investment's Term or Remaining 
Maturity in the glossary and clarification that an investment's term or remaining maturity is to be 
measured from the time of settlement date to final maturity and may not be purchased with a 
forward settlement date exceeding 45 days from the time of investment, addition of Conflict of 
Interest Code and Form 700 and best practice prudent investor language, addition of new 
sections including Diversification, Maximum Maturity, Review of Investment Portfolio, 
Investment Pools/Mutual Funds, Finance Committee, and Investment Policy Adoption, addition 
of broker requirements and filings language and Broker/Dealer Questionnaire Attachment, 
updated collateralization requirements language, revision of maximum investment per money 
market mutual fund from five percent (5%) per fund to twenty percent (20%) per fund; 
clarification of performance benchmark language, listing of Agency funds covered by policy, and 
addition of general best practice language. And allow for any non-substantive editing of minor 
formatting, grammatical, or spelling errors within the document to be made by the Commission 
Assistant Secretary. 



PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this_ day of _____ _, 2023 by the 
following vote on roll call: 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

NCPA Resolution 23-48 

Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: TRISHA ZIMMER 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 

-2-



SUBJECT: 

POLICIES & 
PROCEDURES 

MANUAL 

Investment Policy and 
Guidelines 

No. 200-100 

Owner: 
Accounting & Finance 

APPROVED: 

Effective: 9-1993 
Updated 05-2023 

RANDY S. HOWARD, GENERAL MANAGER 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

POLICY .............•..................................................................................••...................................... 2 

PURPOSE AND SCOPE ............•...................................................................................•..•.......... 2 

RES PONS 18 ILITY ........................................................................................................................ 2 

PRUDENCE, PERSONAL RESPONSIBLITY, AND ETHICS ..........................................•........... 3 

GENERAL OBJECTIVES ......................................•.............................•.........................••.••......... 3 

PORTFOLIO RISK MANAGEMENT .....................••..................................................................... 4 

AUTHORIZED AND SUITABLE INVESTMENT SECURITIES .............•...................................... 5 

PROHIBITED INVESTMENT VEHICLES AND PRACTICES ...................................................... 5 

AUTHORIZED FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND DEALERS .........................................•........... 5 

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY, INTERNAL CONTROL, AND ACCOUNTING ..............•.......... 6 

SAFEKEEPING, CUSTODY, AND COLLATERALIZATION ................•...................................... 7 

DIVERSIFICATION ............................................................................••••...................................... 7 

MAXIMUM MATURITY ..•.........••..•.................•••.......•....•...................••.•••.•.............•..........•••.•.•••..• 7 

REPORTING REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................•........... 7 

REVIEW OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLI0 ......................................................................•............. 8 

INVESTMENT POOLS/MUTUAL FUNDS ...............•.........................................................•.......... 8 

INVESTMENT OPERATIONS GUIDELINES ........•.••................................................................... 8 

PERFORMANCE BENCHMARK ................................................................................................. 9 

INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION .......................•.................................................................... 9 

REFERENCE .............................••.........................................................•...........................•........ 10 

ATTACHMENT 1 - GLOSSARY OF INVESTMENT TERMS ..................................................... 13 

ATTACHMENT 2 - INVESTMENT FUND OBJECTIVES ...................••..................................... 16 

ATTACHMENT 3 - LIST OF PERMITTED INVESTMENTS ....................................................... 17 

ATTACHMENT 4 - TABLE OF PERMITTED INVESTMENTS ................................................... 21 

ATTACHMENT 5 - BROKER/DEALER QUESTIONNAIRE ....................................................... 23 

ATTACHMENT 5 - BROKER/DEALER QUESTIONNAIRE ..................•.................................... 24 

ATTACHMENT 6 -TABLE OF BOND INDENTURE PERMITTED INVESTMENTS ................. 25 

ATTACHMENT 7 - CREDIT RATINGS COMPARISON ............................................................. 26 



POLICY 
It is the policy of the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA, the Agency) to secure, protect 
and manage the funds of the Agency and invest surplus funds in a manner which will: 

1. comply with applicable California state and local laws and bond indenture provisions; 
2. ensure prudent money management; 
3. meet the objectives of the Policy, in priority of Safety, Liquidity, and Return on 

Investments; 
4. provide an appropriate level of liquidity so that money is available when reasonably 

expected to be required for payment of obligations; and, 
5. attain a market yield with no undue risks taken to maximize income at the expense of 

safety, liquidity, or investment quality. 

PURPOSE AND SCOPE 
The purpose of this policy is to establish general guidelines for the management of cash and 
investments of the Agency. The policy pertains to all financial assets of the Agency and any 
other funds under the control of the Treasurer-Controller and concerns the deposit, investment, 
maintenance, and safekeeping of all such assets. 

The funds covered by this policy are consolidated for reporting purposes in NCPA's Annual 
Combined Financial Statements including: 

1. Operating Fund 
2. Scheduling and Coordination Program Agreement Balancing Account 
3. Hydroelectric Capital Development Reserve 
4. General Operating Reserve 
5. Geothermal Decommissioning Reserve 
6. Maintenance Reserve Funds 
7. Other Collateral Reserves and Deposits 
8. Debt Service Funds 

Proceeds of debt issuance and other indentured funds shall be invested in accordance with the 
Agency's general investment philosophy as set forth in this policy; however, such monies are to 
be invested in accordance with permitted investment provisions of their specific bond 
indentures. See Attachment 6 (Table of Bond Indenture Permitted Investments). 

This Policy does not apply to any pension moneys, deferred compensation funds, or the Other 
Post Employment Benefit Trust. 

RESPONSIBILITY 
The Treasurer-Controller is responsible for establishing proper safeguards, controls, and 
procedures to maintain Agency funds in a lawful, rational, and prudent manner. The Treasurer
Controller is responsible for the development of the overall investment policy as well as for the 
development and ongoing administration of the various portfolio strategies, tactics, performance 
monitoring and monthly reporting to the Commission. 

2 



The Assistant General Manager/Chief Financial Officer (CFO) is responsible for overseeing the 
development and implementation of investment policy review and approval of the portfolio 
investment strategies, and policy compliance. 

PRUDENCE, PERSONAL RESPONSIBLITY, AND ETHICS 
Prudence: The standard of prudence to be used by the Treasurer-Controller shall be the 
Prudent Investor Standard which shall be applied in the context of managing the Agency's 
overall portfolio. In making investment decisions on behalf of NCPA, the Treasurer-Controller is 
a trustee and therefore fiduciary subject to the Prudent Investor Standard as set forth in 
California Government Code Section 53600.3 which states: 

" ... all governing bodies of local agencies or persons authorized to make investment 
decisions on behalf of those local agencies investing public funds pursuant to this chapter 
are trustees and therefore fiduciaries subject to the prudent investor standard. When 
investing, reinvesting, purchasing, acquiring, exchanging, selling, or managing public 
funds, a trustee shall act with care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the 
circumstances then prevailing, including, but not limited to, the general economic 
conditions and the anticipated needs of the agency, that a prudent person acting in a like 
capacity and familiarity with those matters would use in the conduct of funds of a like 
character and with like aims, to safeguard the principal and maintain the liquidity needs of 
the agency. Within the limitations of this section and considering individual investments 
as part of an overall strategy, investments may be acquired as authorized by law." 

Ethics: The Treasurer-Controller and other authorized persons involved in the investment 
process (1) will refrain from personal business activity that could conflict with proper 
management and execution of the Policy and the investment program, or which could impair 
their ability to make impartial investment decisions and (2) shall not accept honoraria, gifts or 
gratuities from any advisor, broker, dealer, banker, or other person with whom the Agency 
conducts business, which has an aggregate value in excess of $50.00 in any 12-month period. 

The Treasurer-Controller must annually file a Form 700 (Statement of Economic Interests) in 
accordance with the NCPA Conflict of Interest Code. Furthermore, the Treasurer-Controller 
must refrain from undertaking personal investment transactions with the same individual(s) 
employed by the financial institution(s) with whom business is conducted on behalf of the 
Agency. 

Personal Responsibility. The Treasurer-Controller and other authorized persons responsible for 
managing Agency funds, acting in accordance with the Investment Policy and exercising due 
diligence, will be relieved of personal responsibility for an individual security's credit risk or 
market price changes, provided appropriate action is taken to control adverse developments. 

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES 
The overriding objectives of the investment program are to preserve principal, provide sufficient 
liquidity, and achieve a reasonable rate of return. The specific objectives for the program are 
ranked in order of importance: 

1. Safety: Safety of principal is the foremost objective of the investment program. 
Investments will be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation of 

3 



capital in the overall portfolio. To attain this objective, NCPA will diversify its investments 
by investing funds among a variety of securities with independent returns. 

2. Liquidity The Agency's investment portfolio will remain sufficiently liquid to enable 
NCPA to meet all operating requirements that may be reasonably anticipated. 

3. Return on Investments: The Agency's investment portfolio will be designed with the 
objective of attaining comparative performance measurement or an acceptable rate of 
return throughout budgetary and economic cycles taking into account the investment risk 
constraints identified in the Investment Policy and the cash flow characteristics of the 
portfolio. 

PORTFOLIO RISK MANAGEMENT 
Factors that can lead to an unexpected financial loss can be broadly grouped into the following 
categories; credit risk, market risk, and liquidity risk. 

Mitigating credit risk in the portfolio: Credit risk is the risk that a security or a portfolio will lose 
some or all of its value due to a real or perceived change in the ability of the issuer to repay its 
debt. The Agency will mitigate credit risk by adopting the following strategies: 

1. Diversify the investment portfolio to mitigate losses due to failure of individual issues or 
issuers; 

2. Limit the amount of the total portfolio that may be invested in securities of a particular 
type and any single issuer. Authorized investment limitations under this policy are listed 
in Attachment 3 and shown in Attachment 4; and, 

3. If securities owned by the Agency are downgraded by at least one Nationally Recognized 
Statistical Rating Organization (NRSRO) to a level below the quality required by this 
Investment Policy, it will be the Agency's policy to review and document the credit 
situation and make a determination as to whether to sell or retain such securities in the 
portfolio. 
a. The Treasurer-Controller will use discretion in determining whether to sell or hold the 

security based on its maturity, the economic outlook for the issuer, and other relevant 
factors. 

b. If a decision is made to retain a downgraded security in the portfolio, its presence in 
the portfolio will be monitored and reported monthly to the Commission. 

Mitigating market risk in the portfolio: Market risk, also referred to as interest rate risk, is the risk 
that the portfolio value will fluctuate due to changes in interest rates. The Agency recognizes 
that, over time, longer-term portfolios have the potential to achieve higher returns. On the other 
hand, longer-term portfolios have higher volatility when marked-to-market. The Agency will 
mitigate interest rate risk by providing adequate liquidity for short-term cash needs, and by 
making longer-term investments only with funds that are not needed for current cash flow 
purposes. The Agency, therefore, shall adopt the following strategies to control and mitigate its 
exposure to market risk: 

1. The Agency will maintain working capital reserves for budgeted operating expenditures in 
short-term investments to provide sufficient liquidity for expected disbursements; 

2. The maximum time from investment, defined as the settlement date, to maturity of 
individual securities in the portfolio will be five years, except as otherwise stated in this 
policy. 

4 



Mitigating liquidity risk in the portfolio: Liquidity risk is the inability to convert a security to cash 
on a given date prior to maturity. It refers to the inability to sell a security for its cost and 
therefore it may have to be sold at a loss. The Agency shall employ the following strategies to 
control and mitigate its exposure to liquidity risk: 

1. To the extent possible, match investment maturities with anticipated cash demands. 
2. Since all possible cash demands cannot be anticipated, maintain portfolios largely of 

securities with active secondary or resale markets. 
3. The Agency will maintain working capital reserves for budgeted operating expenditures in 

short-term investments to provide sufficient liquidity for expected disbursements. 

AUTHORIZED AND SUITABLE INVESTMENT SECURITIES 
All investments will be made in accordance with Sections 53600 et seq. of the Government 
Code of the State of California and as described within this Investment Policy. Authorized 
investments under this policy are listed in Attachment 3 (List of Permitted Investments) and 
shown in Attachment 4 (Table of Permitted Investments). 

PROHIBITED INVESTMENT SECURITIES AND PRACTICES 
1. Notwithstanding that any such investment is permitted under State Law, any investment 

not specifically described herein is prohibited, including, but not limited to derivatives, 
futures and options. 

2. In accordance with California Government Code Section 53601.6, investment in inverse 
floaters, range notes, or mortgage derived interest-only strips is prohibited. 

3. Investment in any security that could result in a zero-interest accrual if held to maturity is 
prohibited, with the exception of securities issued by, or backed by, the United States 
government that could result in zero- or negative-interest accrual if held to maturity, in the 
event of, and for the duration of, a period of negative market interest rates 1. 

4. Trading securities for the sole purpose of speculating, whether on the future direction of 
interest rates or otherwise, is prohibited. 

5. Purchasing or selling securities on margin is prohibited. 
6. The use of reverse repurchase agreements, securities lending or any other form of 

borrowing or leverage is prohibited. 
7. The purchase of foreign currency denominated securities is prohibited. 

AUTHORIZED FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS AND DEALERS 
The Treasurer-Controller shall maintain a list of approved brokers, dealers, banks and direct 
issuers of commercial paper to provide investment services to the Agency. The Agency shall 
conduct security transactions only with approved institutions and firms. The firms and 
individuals assigned to NCPA shall be reputable and trustworthy. Broker/dealers staff assigned 
to NCPA accounts must have at least five years of experience in California public agency 
investing and knowledge of investment products acceptable under the NCPA Investment Policy. 

1 This provision sunsets on or after January 1, 2026, unless a subsequent bill amends Section 53601.6 of the Government 

Code. 

5 



To be eligible for approval, all broker/dealer firms must qualify under SEC Rule 15C3-1 (Uniform 
Net Capital Rule), must be registered with the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) 
and must be licensed to do business in the State of California and institutions shall have one or 
more of the following attributes: 

• be recognized as a primary government dealer as designated by the Federal Reserve 
Bank; 

• be a regional broker/dealer headquartered in the State of California; or 
• be a national or state-chartered bank which is a member of the FDIC; or 
• be a direct issuer of securities eligible for purchase by the Agency. 

Broker/dealers and financial institutions will demonstrate their qualifications and compliance to 
State legal requirements by providing the following information to the Treasurer-Controller on 
and with the Agency's Broker/Dealer Questionnaire included in Attachment 5; 

1. Proof of registration with FINRA 

2. Proof of registration with the State of California 

3. Completed Broker/Dealer questionnaire including certification of review and willingness to 
comply with all aspects of this Investment Policy 

4. Audited financial statements for the three most recent fiscal years 

Deposits will be made only in qualified public depositories within the state of California as 
established by State law. Deposits will be insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation, or, to the extent the amount exceeds the insured maximum, will be collateralized in 
accordance with State law and this Policy. 

A pool of qualified financial institutions and dealers will be maintained by the Treasurer
Controller using criteria based upon capitalization, credit worthiness, experience, reference 
checks and services offered. Selection of financial institutions and broker/dealers authorized to 
engage in transactions with the Agency will be at the sole discretion of the Agency. 

An annual review of the financial condition and registrations of broker/dealers and financial 
institutions may be conducted by the Treasurer-Controller and a current financial statement 
requested for each financial institution and broker/dealer with whom the Agency invests. 

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY, INTERNAL CONTROL, AND ACCOUNTING 
Authority to manage the Agency's investment program is derived from the California 
Government Code Sections 53600 et seq. Management responsibility for the investment 
program is delegated to the Treasurer-Controller by Agency Commission Resolution No. 83-
103. Pursuant to Government Code section 53607 such delegation may be granted for a period 
of one-year and must be renewed annually. No person may engage in an investment 
transaction except as provided under the terms of this policy and the procedures established by 
the Treasurer-Controller or his/her designee. 

The Treasurer-Controller shall establish and maintain a system of internal controls designed to 
ensure: adherence to this investment policy, the prevention and detection of errors, theft, fraud, 
and misuse, the accuracy and completeness of accounting records and the timely preparation of 
reliable financial information. As such, the Treasurer-Controller shall establish an annual 

6 



process of independent review by an external auditor. This review will provide internal control 
by assuring compliance with policies and procedures. 

The Agency maintains its records on the basis of PlanUProgram account groups, each of which 
may include one or more investment funds. All investment transactions shall be recorded in the 
various funds of the Agency in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles as 
promulgated by the Government Accounting Standards Board. 

SAFEKEEPING, CUSTODY, AND COLLATERALIZATION 
All security transactions, including collateral for repurchase agreements, entered into by the 
Agency shall be conducted on a delivery-versus-payment (DVP) basis. In accordance with 
California Government Code Sections 53656 and 53658, securities will be held in the name of 
the Agency by a third-party custodian designated by the Treasurer-Controller and evidenced by 
trade confirmations and safekeeping holdings report or receipt. Such custodian may include a 
bank's trust department only if acceptable to both the bank and NCPA. 

Collateralization will be required on two types of investments: Non-Negotiable certificates of 
deposit and repurchase agreements. In order to anticipate market changes and provide a level 
of security for all funds, the collateralization level will be 110% of market value for Non
Negotiable Certificate of Deposits to the extent the deposit is not insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and 102% of market value of principal and interest for repurchase 
agreements. 

In accordance with provisions of California Government Code Sections 53652, Agency deposits 
shall be secured by banks and financial institutions by one of the following: a) pledging 
government securities with a value of 110% of principal and accrued interest; b) pledging first 
trust deed mortgage notes having a value of 150% of the total NCPA deposit; or c) a letter of 
credit drawn on the Federal Home Loan Bank at 105% of the total Agency deposit. 

DIVERSIFICATION 
NCPA's portfolio will be suitably diversified by type and institution in an effort to reduce portfolio 
risk while attaining market average rates. 

Security Type and Institution - U.S. Treasury securities and authorized pools, and any portfolio 
or institutional limits shall comply with California Government Code. Investments are further 
limited by specific language relating to each investment type as listed in Attachment 3 and 
shown in Attachment 4 of this Policy. 

MAXIMUM MATURITY 
To the extent possible, the Agency will attempt to match its investments with anticipated cash 
flow requirements. Unless matched to a specific cash flow, NCPA will not directly invest in 
securities maturing more than five years from the settlement date. NCPA matches cash flows of 
investments for final debt service requirements and may invest Debt Service Reserve funds 
fifteen years from the settlement date in accordance with respective bond covenants restrictions 
and Attachment 2 of this policy. NCPA matches cash flows for investment of the Geothermal 
Decommissioning Fund with future decommissioning activities and may invest funds up to ten 
years from the settlement date in accordance with Attachments 2, 3, and 4 of this Policy. 

7 



REPORTING REQUIREMENTS 
In accordance with Government Code section 53607, the Agency Commission has delegated 
management responsibility for the NCPA investment program to the Treasurer-Controller, who 
has the responsibility to make a monthly report of transactions to the Commission during such 
delegation. 

A monthly report will be provided to the Commission by the Treasurer-Controller. The report 
shall state compliance of the investment portfolio to the investment policy and a statement that 
the Agency has adequate cash flow and investment maturities to meet next month's cash 
requirements and such other information as may be required by State law. 

The report will disclose, at a minimum, the following information: 
1. An asset listing showing par value, cost adjusted for amortization of premiums and 

accretion of discounts and market value of each security, type of investment, issuer, and 
interest rate; 

2. The Treasurer-Controller's report shall also provide: 
a. an analysis of investment maturities; 
b. a summary of cash and investment activity; and, 
c. an analysis of interest rates/yields with a comparison to benchmark interest rates. 

REVIEW OF INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO 
The securities held by NCPA must be compliant with the Authorized and Suitable Investment 
Securities listed and reflected in the List of Permitted Investments (Attachment 3) and the Table 
of Permitted Investment (Attachment 4) at the time of purchase. Because some securities may 
not comply with the Authorized and Suitable Investment Securities subsequent to the date of 
purchase, the Treasurer-Controller shall at least annually review the portfolio to identify those 
securities that no longer comply. The Treasurer-Controller will assess all non-compliant 
investments and determine if the Agency will continue to hold the investments or sell them. The 
Treasurer-Controller will report all non-compliant securities to the Commission on the monthly 
Treasurer's Report until such time that the investment matures or the Agency sells them. 

INVESTMENT POOLS/MUTUAL FUNDS 
A thorough investigation of the pool/fund is required prior to investing and on a continued basis 
thereafter. Best efforts will be made to acquire the following information for each: 

1. A description of eligible investment securities and a written statement of investment 
policy and objectives. 

2. A description of interest calculations, how interest is distributed, and how gains and 
losses are treated. 

3. A description of how the securities are safeguarded (including the settlement processes) 
and how often the securities are priced and the program audited. 

4. A description of who may invest in the program, how often, and what size of deposits are 
withdrawals and allowed. 

5. A schedule for receiving statements and portfolio listings. 
6. About how reserves, retained earnings, etc. are utilized by the pool/fund. 
7. A fee schedule and when and how fees are assessed. 
8. About whether the pool/fund is eligible for bond proceeds and will accept such proceeds. 

8 



INVESTMENT OPERATIONS GUIDELINES 
The following general operating guidelines shall be used in performing all investment functions: 

1. All investments will be made in the name of the Northern California Power Agency. 
2. All investments will be made in compliance with the NCPA Investment Fund Objectives 

(Attachment 2) and the NCPA List and Table of Authorized Investments (Attachments 3 
and 4) unless otherwise required by bond indenture. 

3. Investments or collateral for all outside trusteed accounts must be delivered to the 
trustee. 

4. Investments or collateral for all accounts held by NCPA will be delivered to and held in 
the safekeeping of an authorized financial institution. 

5. All investment transactions will be recorded in the accounts of the Agency in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles as promulgated by the Government 
Accounting Standards Board. All accrued interest on purchased securities will be charged 
to the appropriate interest income account. 

6. Funds deposited in banks or savings and loan associations must be held under a written 
contract between the Agency and the institution, which requires collateralization as 
prescribed by law and/or this investment policy. 

7. Whenever practical Agency cash is to be consolidated and invested on a pooled concept 
basis. Interest earnings are allocated monthly according to monthly weighted average 
balance for each fund. 

8. Unless otherwise restricted, all holdings will be of sufficient size and held in issues which 
are actively traded to facilitate transactions at a minimum cost and accurate market 
valuation. 

9. Passive management portfolio strategies are preferred for all operating projects or other 
Agency programs, unless otherwise prohibited or restricted. The Agency purchases 
investments with the intention to hold to maturity. When it is in the best interest of its 
members and participants, the Agency may rebalance the portfolio consistent with its 
Investment Policy and Plan. 

10. When practicable, competitive bidding will be utilized for all investment and reinvestment 
activities not involving escrowed or other funds covered by a separate contract or 
agreement. 

FINANCE COMMITTEE 
In accordance with Government Code Section 53646(a)(2), the Treasurer-Controller may 
annually render to the NCPA Commission and Finance Committee a statement of investment 
policy, which the Commission shall consider at a public meeting. The Agency By-Laws provide 
for a standing committee known as the Finance Committee. This policy shall be reviewed by 
the Treasurer-Controller annually, and any changes recommended by the Treasurer-Controller 
shall be reviewed for propriety and suitability and recommended for Commission approval by 
the Committee, prior to being submitted for review and approval by the Commission at a public 
meeting. 

The Finance Committee is a standing, advisory committee that is subject to the Brown Act. 
Members of the Finance Committee, who may be either Commission members or other staff or 
officers of members, shall be appointed by the Chair and then ratified by the Commission. The 
Chair is ratified by the Commission. All Members of the Finance Committee shall have a 

9 



working familiarity with basic financial practices, and at least one Member of the Finance 
Committee shall have financial management expertise. 

PERFORMANCE BENCHMARK 
The investment portfolio will be designed to obtain a market rate of return during budgetary and 
economic cycles, taking into account the Agency's investment risk constraints and cash flow 
needs. The Finance Committee has elected to use the 12-month moving average Constant 
Maturity Treasury (CMT) Index for the performance standard of the portfolio's major funds with 
various maturities based on each fund's cash flow requirements. Benchmarks may change over 
time based on changes in market conditions or cash flow requirements. Changes in 
benchmarks will be discussed with and agreed upon by the Finance Committee prior to 
implementation. The revised benchmark will be reflected in the subsequent Investment Policy 
update submitted for Commission approval. 

INVESTMENT POLICY ADOPTION 
In accordance with Government Code section 53646(a)(2), The Treasurer-Controller may 
annually render to the Commission and Finance Committee a statement of investment policy, 
which the Commission shall consider at a public meeting. The NCPA policy shall be reviewed 
annually by the Finance Committee and recommended for approval to the Commission and any 
modifications made thereto shall be approved by the Commission at a public meeting and 
adopted by resolution of the Commission. 

The Treasurer-Controller shall establish written investment policy procedures for the operation 
of the investment program consistent with this policy. The procedures shall include reference to 
safekeeping, master repurchase agreements, wire transfer agreements, banking and service 
contracts and collateral/depository agreements. The procedures will explicitly identify the 
delegation of authority to persons responsible for investment transactions and related activities. 
No person may engage in an investment transaction except as provided under the terms of this 
policy and the procedures established by NCPA. 

REFERENCE 
• California Government Code Section 53600 et seq. 
• Joint Powers Agreement, Article II, Section 4.5 (as amended) 
• NCPA Resolution No. 12-72, Authorized Officers for Transactions with the State of California 

Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 
• NCPA Resolution No. 83-103, Establishing the position of Treasurer-Controller 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment 1 - Glossary of Investment Terms 
Attachment 2 - Investment Fund Objectives 
Attachment 3 - List of Permitted Investments 
Attachment 4 - Table of Permitted Investments 
Attachment 5 - Northern California Power Agency Broker/Dealer Questionnaire 
Attachment 6 - Table of Bond Indenture Permitted Investments 
Attachment 7 - Credit Rating Comparison 

10 



VERSION HISTORY 

No. Explanation Date Author 

Added Conflict of Interest Code and Form 700 05/23 SA 
language, clarified language that investment's term is 
effective from the settlement date and added to 
Glossary; added Broker requirements language, 
annual review requirement, and Broker/Dealer 
Questionnaire in attachments. Updated 
collateralization language; included new sections for 
Diversification, Maximum Maturity, Review of Portfolio, 

10 
Investment Pools/Mutual Funds, Finance Committee, 
and Investment Policy Adoption. Clarified maximum 
percentage of portfolio that can be invested per fund 
for mutual funds is 5% and revised maximum 
percentage per money market mutual fund to 20% in 
List and Table of Permitted Investments attachments; 
added clarification language in Performance 
Benchmarks; added clarification to Table of Permitted 
Investments; reorganized sections; general language 
cleanup. 
Added portfolio rebalancing, performance benchmark, 05/22 SA 
and zero or negative interest accrual during periods of 
negative interest rates language. Added attachment 

9 
for List of Permitted Investments, updated Table of 
Permitted Investments to included applicable 
government section codes, revise investment titles, 
reduce maximum investment in commercial paper, 
and updated rating requirement and other language. 
Increased maximum percentage of portfolio limit for 2/21 SA 
municipal bonds to 30%. Added Attachment 3 footnote 

8 defining parameters for Agency purchase of members' 
municipal bonds and updated Attachment 4 footnote 
to specify 2019 Capital Facilities Indenture. 
Revisions to permitted investments; update note on 2/20 SA 

7 Credit Ratings Comparison attachment to reflect 
minimum rating category of A. 
Minor language clean-up; updates to the Permitted 8/17 MH 

6 Investments; and changes to the Investment Fund 
Objectives 
Revised a resolution reference 11/16 SA 

5 Updated maximum investment permitted by LAIF 
Added Authorized Financial Institution 

4 Annual review, no changes 11/15 SA 
3 Annual review, no changes 11/14 KWW 

11 



Combined prior policies 200-97 and 200-98; updated 
to include more information on allowable investments, 

2 delegations, authorized financial institutions, and 11/13 KWW 
operations practices, Includes expanded attachments 
and glossary. 

1 Updated 9/95 DBL 
0 Original Policy 9/93 DBL 

12 



ATTACHMENT 1 
GLOSSARY OF INVESTMENT TERMS 

Agencies - Shorthand market terminology for any obligation issued by a government sponsored 
enterprise (GSE), or a federally related institution. Most obligations of GSEs are not 
guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the US government. Examples are: 
• FFCB. The Federal Farm Credit Bank System provides credit and liquidity in the agricultural 

industry. FFCB issues discount notes and bonds. 
• FHLB. The Federal Home Loan Bank provides credit and liquidity in the housing market. 

FHLB issues discount notes and bonds. 
• FHLMC. Like FHLB, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation provides credit and 

liquidity in the housing market. FHLMC, also called "Freddie Mac" issues discount notes, 
bonds and mortgage pass-through securities. 

• FNMA. Like FHLB and Freddie Mac, the Federal National Mortgage Association was 
established to provide credit and liquidity in the housing market. FNMA, also known as 
"Fannie Mae," issues discount notes, bonds and mortgage pass- through securities. 

Certain GSE obligations are guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the US government. An 
example is: 
• GNMA. The Government National Mortgage Association, known as "Ginnie Mae," issues 

mortgage pass-through securities. 
Callable - A callable security gives the issuer the option to call it from the investor prior to its 
maturity. The main cause of a call is a decline in interest rates. If interest rates decline since an 
issuer issues securities, it will likely call its current securities and reissue them at a lower rate of 
interest. Callable securities have reinvestment risk as the investor may receive its principal back 
when interest rates are lower than when the investment was initially made. 
Certificate of Deposit (CD) - A time deposit with a specific maturity evidenced by a certificate. 
Large denomination CDs may be marketable. CDs may be negotiable or non-negotiable. 
Collateral - Securities or cash pledged by a borrower to secure repayment of a loan or 
repurchase agreement. Also, securities pledged by a financial institution to secure deposits of 
public monies. 
Commercial paper - Short-term unsecured debt of corporations. 
Coupon - The rate of return at which interest is paid on a bond. 
Current yield - The annual income from an investment divided by the current market value. 
Since the mathematical calculation relies on the current market value rather than the investor's 
cost, current yield is unrelated to the actual return the investor will earn if the security is held to 
maturity. 
Dealer - A dealer acts as a principal in security transactions, selling securities from and buying 
securities for his own position 
Delivery vs. payment (DVP) - A securities industry procedure whereby payment for a security 
must be made at the time the security is delivered to the purchaser's agent. 
Demand Deposit - Sometimes referred to as a sight or on call deposit, can be withdrawn at 
any time (on demand) without notice or penalty; e.g., deposits into checking or savings 
accounts. 
Derivative - Any security that has principal and/or interest payments which are subject to 
uncertainty (but not for reasons of default or credit risk) as to timing and/or amount, or any 
security which represents a component of another security which has been separated from 

13 



other components ("Stripped" coupons and principal). A derivative is also defined as a financial 
instrument the value of which is totally or partially derived from the value of another instrument, 
interest rate or index. 
Discount - The difference between the par value of a bond and the cost of the bond, when the 
cost is below par. Some short-term securities, such as T-bills and banker's acceptances, are 
known as discount securities. They sell at a discount from par, and return the par value to the 
investor at maturity without additional interest. Other securities, which have fixed coupons, trade 
at a discount when the coupon rate is lower than the current market rate for securities of that 
maturity and/or quality. 
Diversification - Dividing investment funds among a variety of investments to avoid excessive 
exposure to any one source of risk. 
Duration - The weighted average time to maturity of a bond where the weights are the present 
values of the future cash flows. Duration measures the price sensitivity of a bond to changes in 
interest rates. (See modified duration). 
Federal funds rate - The rate of interest charged by banks for short-term loans to other banks. 
The Federal Reserve Bank through open-market operations establishes it. 
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) - A self-regulatory organization for 
brokerage firms doing business in the United States. FINRA operates under the supervision of 
the SEC. The organization's objectives are to protect investors and ensure market integrity. 
Investment's Term or Remaining Maturity - measured from the settlement date to final 
maturity. The Government Code prohibits the purchase of a security with a forward settlement 
date exceeding 45 days from the time of investment. 
Liquidity - refers to the requirement that some portion of cash assets be invested in securities 
readily convertible into cash without loss of capital. 
Make whole call - A type of call provision on a bond allowing the issuer to pay off remaining 
debt early. The issuer has to make a lump sum payment derived from a formula based on the 
net present value (NPV) of future coupon payments that will not be paid because of the call. 
Investors will be compensated, or "made whole." 
Market value - The price at which a security can be traded. 
Mark to market - The process of posting current market values for securities in a portfolio. 
Maturity - The final date upon which the principal of a security becomes due and payable. 
Money market - The market in which short term debt instruments (T-Bills, discount notes, 
commercial paper and banker's acceptances) are issued and traded. 
Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization (NSRSO) - Is a credit rating agency 
(CRA) that issues credit ratings that the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
permits other financial firms to use for certain regulatory purposes. The largest NSROs are 
Moody's, Standard and Poor's and Fitch. 
Portfolio Re-Optimization - Refers to the process wherein investment broker(s) re-evaluate a 
given dedicated investment portfolio using sophisticated computer programs based on the 
updated program or project estimated cash flows. This is usually done to increase or protect the 
portfolio's overall rate of return as a result of changing liability amounts or dates, changing 
market or credit risk condition, or a change in investment policy restrictions, etc. 
Portfolio Strategy - Determining investment practices to best achieve the investors' primary 
goals. Strategies may be either passive or active. Passive strategies include: buy and hold, 
which includes the laddering of maturities; and bullet structure, which is designed to invest to a 
particular date or portfolio horizon; and benchmarking, which is done to mirror a particular 

14 



segment of the market. Active strategies employ additional risk to take advantage of conditions 
in the fixed income markets that change as economic and financial conditions change. 
Premium - The difference between the par value of a bond and the cost of the bond, when the 
cost is above par. 
Primary Dealer - a firm that buys government securities directly from a government, with the 
intention of reselling them to others, thus acting as a market maker of government securities. 
The government may regulate the behavior and numbers of its primary dealers and impose 
conditions of entry. 
Repurchase agreement {RP, Repo) - Short term purchases of securities with a simultaneous 
agreement to sell the securities back at a higher price. From the seller's point of view, the same 
transaction is a reverse repurchase agreement. 
Risk - refers to the degree of probability of incurring a monetary loss as a result of investing in a 
particular security. Three general kinds of investment risks are: 

• Credit Risk - risk that an issuer of a security cannot meet its obligations. 
• Market Risk - risk from fluctuations in the market prices for individual securities over a 

period of time. 
• Liquidity Risk- risk of an inability to sell a security at its fair market value. 

Safety - refers to the varying degrees and types of risks associated with different types of 
investment securities and individual issues. Safety is a matter of degree, not an absolute. 
Safekeeping -A service to bank customers whereby securities are held by the bank (as 
custodian) in the customer's name. 
Total rate of return - A measure of a portfolio's performance over time. It is the internal rate of 
return, which equates the beginning value of the portfolio with the ending value; it includes 
interest earnings, realized and unrealized gains, and losses in the portfolio. 
U.S. Treasury obligations - Securities issued by the U.S. Treasury and backed by the full faith 
and credit of the United States. Treasuries are considered to have no credit risk, and are the 
benchmark for interest rates on all other securities in the US and overseas. The Treasury issues 
both discounted securities and fixed coupon notes and bonds. 
Treasury bills - All securities issued with initial maturities of one year or less are issued as 
discounted instruments, and are called Treasury bills. The Treasury currently issues three- and 
six-month T-bills at regular weekly auctions. It also issues "cash management" bills as needed 
to smooth out cash flows. 
Treasury notes - All securities issued with initial maturities of two to ten years are called 
Treasury notes, and pay interest semi-annually. 
Treasury bonds - All securities issued with initial maturities greater than ten years are called 
Treasury bonds. Like Treasury notes, they pay interest semi-annually. 
Uniform Net Capital Rule - An SEC rule that requires broker-dealers to maintain sufficient 
liquidity to protect securities customers, counterparties, and creditors. Broker-dealers must 
maintain net capital (net worth adjusted by certain deductions for illiquid assets and reserves 
against possible market losses on securities positions) such that the liabilities incurred by the 
broker-dealer (aggregate indebtedness) do not exceed certain specified levels. 
Volatility - The rate at which security prices change with changes in general economic 
conditions or the general level of interest rates. 
Yield to Maturity - The annualized internal rate of return on an investment which equates the 
expected cash flows from the investment to its cost. 

15 



ATTACHMENT 2 
INVESTMENT FUND OBJECTIVES 

Primary 
Investment 

Fund Type Objective 
Bond Financed Project Funds: 2 

Construction Fund (Geo) C 
Construction Revolving Acct (LEC) A 
Debt Service Fund C 
Debt Service Reserve B,D 
Reserve Fund B,C,D 
Rebate Fund C 
O&M Reserve (LEC) A,B,D 
Revenue Fund A,B,C 

Additional Operating Funds: 
Operating Account A,C 
General Operating Reserve A, B,C 
SCPA Balancing Account A,B 
Capital Development Account (Hydro) A,C 
Decommissioning Account (Geo) C,D 

Notes: 
A. Provide liquidity 
B. Provide reserves against uncertain liabilities 
C. Match prescribed cash flow 
D. Maximize long-term return on investment 

Maximum 
Term of 

Investment 1 

1 year 
90 days 
1 year 

15 years 
5 years 
5 years 
5 years 
1 year 

5 years 
5 years 
5 years 
5 years 
10 years 

1 Investments shall mature not later than such times as shall be necessary to provide monies 
when reasonably expected to be needed for payments to be made from such fund. 

2 Proceeds of debt issuance and other funds held under a bond indenture shall be invested in 
accordance with the Agency's general investment philosophy as set forth in this policy; 
however, such moneys are to be invested in accordance with permitted investment 
provisions of their specific bond indentures. 

16 



ATTACHMENT 3 
LIST OF PERMITTED INVESTMENTS 

The California Government Code (Sections 53600 et seq.) governs investment of Agency funds. 
The following investments are authorized: 

1. U.S. Treasury Obligations (e.g. Treasury notes, bonds and bills) Securities that are backed 
by the full faith and credit of the United States 

a) There is no limit on purchase of these securities. 
b) All purchased securities must have an explicit or a de facto backing of the full faith 

and credit of the U.S. Government. 
c) Securities will not exceed 15 years maturity in accordance with Attachment 2 of this 

policy 

2. U.S. Federal Agency Obligations - Obligations issued by the Federal Government agencies 
(e.g. Federal National Mortgage Association). 

a) There is no limit on purchase of these securities; however, the following must hold 
true for Callable and Multi-step-up securities: 

i) The potential call dates are known at the time of purchase 
ii) The interest rates at which they "step-up" are known at the time of purchase 
iii) The entire face value of the security is redeemed at the call date 

b) Securities will not exceed 15 years maturity in accordance with Attachment 2 of this 
policy. 

3. Municipal Bonds including California State, California Local Government Agencies, 
and other United States State Bonds 

a) Having at time of investment a minimum Category A (A-/Aa3) rating as provided by a 
nationally recognized rating service. 

b) May not exceed 30 percent of the par value of the portfolio. 
c) Investments include: 

i) Registered state warrants or treasury notes or bonds of the State of California 
and bonds, notes, warrants, or other evidences of indebtedness of any local 
agency within California, including bonds payable solely out of the revenues 
from a revenue producing property owned, controlled, or operated by the state 
or local agency or by a department, board, agency, or authority of the state or 
local agency. 

ii) Registered treasury notes or bond of any of the 49 United States in addition to 
the State of California, including bonds payable solely out of the revenues from 
a revenue-producing property owned, controlled, or operated by a state or by a 
department, board, agency or authority of any of the other 49 United States, in 
addition to the State of California. 

17 



d) Securities will not exceed 10 years maturity in accordance with Attachment 2 of this 
policy. 

4. Non-Negotiable Certificates of Deposit (CD) - A debt instrument issued by a bank for a 
specified period of time at a specified rate of interest. Purchase of CD's are limited to: 

a) May not exceed 20 percent of the par value of the portfolio. 
b) No more than 5 percent of the par value of the portfolio in collateralized CDs in any 

institution. 
c) Purchase collateralized deposits only from federally insured banks that are rated by a 

nationally recognized rating service. 
d) For non-rated banks, deposit should be limited to amounts federally insured (FDIC). 

5. Bankers Acceptances' - Bills of exchange or time drafts drawn on and accepted by 
commercial banks. Purchase of bankers' acceptances are limited to: 

a) No more than 40 percent of the par value of the portfolio. 
b) Not to exceed 180 days maturity. 
c) No more than 5 percent of the par value of the portfolio with any one institution. 
d) Having at time of investment a minimum long-term Category A (A-/Aa3) rating or 

short-term A-1 rating or better as provided by a nationally recognized rating service. 

6. Commercial Paper - Short-term unsecured obligations issued by banks, corporations, and 
other borrowers. Purchases of commercial paper are limited to: 

a) Having highest letter or numerical rating as provided for by a nationally recognized 
rating service. 

b) No more than 25 percent of the par value of the portfolio. 
c) Not to exceed 270 days maturity. 

7. Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) -A State of California managed investment pool 
that may be used up to the maximum permitted by California State Law. 

8. California Asset Management Program (CAMP) - A California Joint Powers Authority 
("JPA'') managed investment pool that may be used up to the maximum permitted by 
California State Law. 

9. Repurchase Agreements (REPO) - A contractual agreement between a seller and a buyer, 
usually of U.S. government securities, whereby the seller agrees to repurchase the securities 
at an agreed upon price and, usually, at a stated time. The Agency may invest in repurchase 
agreements with banks and dealers of primary dealer status recognized by the Federal 
Reserve with which NCPA has entered into a master repurchase contract which specifies 
terms and conditions of repurchase agreements. Purchases of REPO's must: 

a) Not to exceed 1 year. 
b) Market value of securities that underlay a repurchase agreement shall be valued at 

102 percent or greater of the funds borrowed against those securities. 

18 



1 O. Mutual Funds and Money Market Mutual Funds - consisting of investment vehicles 
permitted under Sections 53601 and 53635 of the California Government Code. To be 
eligible for Agency investments, mutual funds shall have the following: 

a) The highest rating provided by not less than two of the three largest NRSROs or; 
b) The fund must retain an investment advisor registered with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, has assets under management in excess of $500 million, and 
has at least five years' experience investing in instruments authorized by Sections 
53601 and 53636. 

To be eligible for Agency investments, money market mutual funds shall have the following: 

a) The highest rating provided by not less than two of the three largest NRSROs or; 
b) The fund must retain an investment advisor registered with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission and who has not less than five years' experience investing in 
money market instruments with assets under management in excess of $500 million. 

A thorough analysis of the portfolio is required prior to investing, and on a continual basis. 
Analysis shall include creditworthiness, size, safety, ease of investment liquidation, 
frequency of earnings distributions, frequency of account statements, and investment 
portfolio strategy. Securities owned in mutual funds and investment pools will not count 
towards maximum percentages of other categories. 

a) Maximum Holdings = 20% of portfolio dollars 
b) Maximum per Fund= 5% of portfolio dollars for mutual funds and 20% of portfolio 

dollars for money market mutual funds (total of all money market mutual funds not to 
exceed 20% of portfolio) 

11. Negotiable Certificates of Deposit (NCD) issued by nationally or state-chartered banks 
and state or federal savings institutions. Purchases of negotiable certificates of deposit: 

a) May not exceed 30 percent of the par value of the portfolio. 
b) No more than 5 percent of the par value of the portfolio in any one institution. 
c) If below FDIC limit, no credit rating is required. 
d) If above FDIC limit, a minimum Category A (A-/Aa3) rating as provided by a nationally 

recognized rating service is required. 

12. Medium-Term Corporate Notes - Issued by corporation organized and operating within the 
United States or by depository institutions licensed by the United States or any state and 
operating with the United States. 

a) Not to exceed 5 years maturity. 
b) Having at time of investment a minimum Category A (A-/Aa3) rating as provided by a 

nationally recognized rating service. 
c) No more than 30 percent of the par value of the portfolio. 
d) No more than 5 percent of the par value may be invested in securities of any single 

issuer, other than the U.S. Government, its agencies and instrumentality. 

19 



e) If securities owned by the Agency are downgraded by a nationally recognized rating 
service to a level below A- or Aa3, it shall be the Agency's policy to review the credit 
situation and determine whether to sell or retain such securities in the portfolio. The 
Agency shall be required to include information about the downgraded investment in 
the monthly Treasurer's Report until such time that the investment matures or the 
Agency sells it. 

13. Supranational Organizations Securities - Supranational organizations refer to the 
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), International Finance 
Corporation (IFC) and Inter-American Development Bank (IADB). 

a) Securities will not exceed 5 years maturity. 
b) No more than 15 percent of the par value of the portfolio. 
c) No more than 5 percent of the par value with any one institution. 
d) Securities eligible for investment shall have a minimum rating of AA or Aa2 from a 

nationally recognized rating service. 
e) Limited to United States dollar denominated senior unsecured unsubordinated 

obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by IBRD, IFC, and IADB. 

Attachment 1 of this Investment Policy provides a more detailed description of the investment 
vehicles and security and liquidity features. Most of the Agency's short-term investments will be 
in securities which pay principal upon maturity, while long-term investments may be in securities 
that periodically repay principal, as well as interest. Most of the Agency's investments will be at 
a fixed rate. However, some of the investments may be at a variable rate, so long as that rate 
changes on specified dates in predetermined increments. 

20 



ATTACHMENT 4 
TABLE OF PERMITTED INVESTMENTS 

Concentration limits and credit criteria apply at time of purchase. The following represent the 
maximum maturities for and maximum percentages or dollar amounts that may be invested in 
specific investment types: 

Maximum 
Minimum Rating Maximum Other Gov't Code Type of Investment %of 

Portfolio 
Requirement Maturity Restrictions Sections 

US Treasury Obligations 100% None 5 Years2 None 
53601(b) 

U.S. Agency 
100% None 5 Years2 Callable and 53601 (f) 

Obligations Multi-Step-Up3 

Local Agency 
Up to max 
permitted None N/A None 16429.1 

Investment Fund (LAIF) 
by Code 

Medium-term Corporate 
By a NRSRO; 

No more than 53601(k) 30% Category A or its equivalent 5 years 
Notes 

or better* 
5% per issuer 

California Asset Must retain SEC 
53601(p) 

Management Program 100% None N/A registered 
(CAMP) advisor4 

Non-Negotiable 
20% None 5 years No more than 53630 et 

Certificates of Deposit 5% per issuer seq. 
No rating for amount< FDIC 

Negotiable Certificates 
30% 

insured level; by a NRSRO; 
5 years No more than 53601 (i) 

of Deposit Category A for amounts > 5% per issuer 
than FDIC insured level 

By a NRSRO; Long-term of 
No more than 53601(9) Bankers' Acceptances 40% Category A or short-term of A- 180 days 

1 or better 
5% per issuer 

Assets 

Commercial Paper 25% 
By a NRSRO; Highest letter 

270 days >$500MM 53601 (h)(2) 
and number rating No more than (c) 

5% per issuer 
No more than 

Mutual Funds and By a NRSRO; Highest rating 5% per mutual 53601(1) 
Money Market Mutual 20% by minimum of two or retain 5 years fund; 20% per and 

Funds SEC registered advisor5 money market 53601.6(b) 
mutual fund4 

Collateral of at 
Repurchase 

100% None 1 year least 102% of 
536010) Agreements market value 

required 

Municipal Bonds1 30% 
By a NRSRO; Category A or 

5 Years2 No more than 53601 (a)(c) 
its equivalent or better 5% per issuer (d)(e) 

Supranational 
15% 

"AA" rating category or its 
5 Years No more than 

53601(q) Obligations equivalent or better 5% per issuer 

• Includes any rating modifiers such as"+"/"-" or numbers to include equivalent ratings from NRSRO 

21 



1 An investment in a municipal bond may include a bond or other debt security of the Agency's local agency 
members; provided, absent an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that the exclusion from gross 
income of interest on the municipal bond will not be adversely affected for federal income tax purposes, the 
following criteria are met: 

a. The municipal bond has not been issued by or on behalf of Agency; and 
b. Any local agency members who are either the issuer of the municipal bond or are beneficiaries (e.g., a 

conduit borrower) of the proceeds of the municipal bond do not have greater than forty-nine percent 
voting power with respect to any action of Agency. 

2 The Maximum Maturity for U.S. Treasury and Federal Agency obligations and Municipal Bonds is five years for 
all funds with the exception of the following: 

a. Debt Service Reserve funds in accordance with respective bond covenants restrictions and Attachment 
2 of this policy. 

b. The Geo Decommissioning Fund in accordance with Attachment 2 of this policy. 
3 For U.S. Agency Obligations that are Callable or Multi-step-up, it is required that: 

a. The potential call dates are known at the time of purchase. 
b. The interest rates at which they "step-up" are known at the time of purchase. 
c. The entire face value of the security is redeemed at the call date. 

4 The investment advisor must be registered with the SEC (or is exempt from registration), have assets under 
management in excess of $500 million, and have at least five years' experience investing in instruments 
authorized by California Government Code Section 53601 subdivisions (a) to (o). 

5 Mutual Funds and Money Market Mutual Funds 
a. For the mutual fund, if an investment advisor is required, the advisor must be registered with the SEC, 

have assets under management in excess of $500 million, and have at least five years' experience 
investing in instruments authorized by California Government Code Sections 53601 and 53636. 

b. For the money market mutual fund, if an investment advisor is required, the advisor must be 
registered with the SEC. and have not less than five years' experience investing in money market 
instruments with assets under management in excess of $500 million. 

22 



ATTACHMENT 5 
BROKER/DEALER QUESTIONNAIRE 

NORTHERN CALIFOR NIA. POWER AGENCY 
BROKER.IOEALER QUESTlON'NAIRE 

Finn Name: ____________________________ _ 

CRDNumber: ___________________________ _ 

Office ser,ijciing aooaum: _______________________ _ 

Address: _____________________________ _ 

Pnmany Repmsentattve: 
Please attaclJ biu· at pnma,y and .seoonaa,y ,epresen~ co.,enng 'this account. 

Telephone: 

Fax: 

E--Mai: 

CRD Number: ________________________ _ 

Secondary Rep,resenfative or sales assistant: ________________ _ 

elephone: 

E-Miait: 

CRD tNumber: 

Branch Manager. 

Telephone: 

Is JOU" 1imn designated as a primary dealer by the Federal :Reserve~ __ _ 

ff n,_. does your firm maintain an inventoay? (deafer stab.I~}'" _____ _ 

he finn ;registered wittl the .state of ______ Smte Secultilies Board?• 

Is the fima and all ils represenlatives :registered WLff'l ·ttwe NASD'?* ___________ _ 

Jn ·what malket seckJrs -does the account representative ~ciafi:ze? __________ _ 

llisttllfee -com~ publi: ,cienfs curenHy 'W<Jlting VJffh ttis represenfative. 
EnMJ, name .. contact and phone nmnber.. 

,e answer to any ,af tttese questions. is no, 1ple.ase explain each .se:paralely .. 

Attach oomplete d el'ivery instrumoos. 
tnmsadir.:ms will be oompleted de1iilfer, versus pa ent. 

23 



ATTACHMENT 5 
BROKER/DEALER QUESTIONNAIRE 

DROKERIDEALER ·QUESTI AIRE 

Page 2 ta be~ by non,pnngy,'1lme,Aleale1s only.. 

Fmn ,_ ________________ CRD#'; --- ----

Years in business atthis 3ocstimr. ________ _ Tatalyears: _____ _ 

'Whal are the mmkel sedm:s in which ·you .and Y(MJT fitm are irwaJved? Please fee1 free to provide 
additimd ~rrlmrna1iD.n treJPIRfing spec:ialimti0111 in any of lhe fufkMing 1market sedms_ 

Fnn lmmlvement 

US Treasuries 
USAgenaes 
'RepoMBS 
CPBA 
0JqxlrateCD 
Oller 

Has 1llis ffm\ or1he re,~ assigled to tis ae~ been subject to a regulato,y genq\ 
state or federal irwestigatian mr BDeged ~mpmper-. disreputable,. unfair orfimKILIJent: adMties relaf.ed 
m 1he sale of securities or imfll'tey malket insburnenfs fhat resuHed in a ,suspension or censuTe? ~s 
1hece auls'landiing Uti;ation that would maferidy affect ·lhe firm's ·finanm stability? 

Do ,au ~de any fixed income research an.dl ecooomic mrnneu.1:at '(! ________ _ 
Please attach sample. 

Whatpmtiroinbrmalioll'lltoJ(IUrequirefl'Dmyour·cliems? ___________ _ 

Please prmide the fimis most recent audited fimmcial statement. 
(The City·· I req1f an 8ffl'l1JJII financial statemem ibe provided.) 

Desaibe lhe prearufions taken ~ yoor!finn to protect the lnterests of ·Urie publrc v.tJen 
a public 

Altad1ed is OU' tnveslmenl: Policy~ The representatives assigned m the accn.mt mu .. . aclmowtedge 
fh&t'lheJ have~ read mKI lll'lders.rood 1he Policy, dated _______ by signing below. 

Name ,and Title 

Signature 

24 



ATTACHMENT 6 
TABLE OF BOND INDENTURE PERMITTED INVESTMENTS 

Project Geo/Hydro 2 Cap Facilities/LEC 3 

Debt Debt 
Debt Service Debt Service 

Service Reserve All Service Reserve 
Securities 1 Acct. Acct. Other Acct. Acct. 

Direct obligations of the United Stated of America. X X X X X 

Bonds issued or guaranteed by federal Agencies, which are 
backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of X X X X X 

America. 

Bonds issued or guaranteed by federal Agencies, which are not 
backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of X X X X X 

America. 

New Housing Authority bonds or notes of public agencies or 
municipalities secured by a pledge of annual contributions to be X X X 

paid by the United States or agency thereof. 

Direct and general obligations of the State of California or X X 
political subdivision rated A or hiqher. 

General obliqation of any state rated A2 or hiqher. 

Time deposits, FDIC insured or collateralized. X 

Repurchase agreements, insured or collateralized. X 

Money Market Funds rated AAAm G or AAAM or better. 

Commercial Paper rated P-1 or A1+. 

UD dollar denominated deposit accounts, federal funds or 
bankers' acceptances with ratings of A-1, A-1 + or P-1. 

Prefunded municipal obligations rated highest rating category 
by S&P or Moody's, based on an irrevocable escrow. 

Investment Agreements & GICS, supported by opinion of X X 
counsel. 

California LAIF. 

Shares in a California common law trust which invests 
exclusively in investment permitted under CA Code section 
56635. 

Any other form of investment. 

1 Investment types are detailed in each project bond Indenture of Trust. Generally, investment securities 
include those listed above, if and to the extent the same are legal for investment of Agency funds. The 
securities, as listed above, are summarized and may have additional limitations as to specific issuers, 
ratings, term of investment, or other requirements. 

2 The Geothermal Project bond indenture dated November 1, 1983 and the Hydroelectric Project bond 
indenture dated March 1, 1985 have the same definition for investment securities. 

3 The Capital Facilities Project bond indenture dated December 1, 2019, the Lodi Energy Center Issues 
One and Two, dated June 1, 2010 have the same definition for investment securities. 

25 

All 
Other 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 

X 



Description 

Prime: 
Extremely Strong 

High Grade: 
Very Strong 

Upper Medium 
Grade: 

Strong 

Lower Medium 
Grade: 

Adequate 

Non-investment 
Grade speculative: 

Vulnerable 

ATTACHMENT 7 
CREDIT RATINGS COMPARISON 

Standard 
Moody's & Poors 

Long- Short- Long- Short-
term term term term 

Aaa AAA 

Aa1 AA+ A-1+ 
Aa2 P-1 AA 
Aa3 AA-

A1 A+ A-1 
A2 A 
A3 A-

P-2 A-2 
Baa1 BBB+ 
Baa2 P-3 BBB A-3 
Baa3 BBB-

Ba1 BB+ 
Not 

Ba2 Prime BB B 
Ba2 BB-

Fitch 
Long- Short-
term term 

AAA 

AA+ F1+ 
AA 
AA-

A+ F1 
A 
A-

F2 
BBB+ 
BBB F3 
BBB-

BB+ 

BB B 
BB-

Credit ratings are opinions about credit risk published by a rating agency. They express 
opinions about the ability and willingness of an issuer, such as a corporation, state or city 
government, to meet its financial obligations in accordance with the terms of those obligations. 
Credit ratings are also opinions about the credit quality of an issue, such as a bond or other debt 
obligation, and the relative likelihood that it may default. 

The Agency shall not invest in any security rated less than rating category A or its equivalent. 

26 



PUBLIC AGENCY 

CPA 

Commission Staff Report 
COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: Approval of Amendment to Exhibit A of the Third Phase Agreement for Purchase 
Agreements with Geysers Power Company, LLC 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Consent 

FROM: Tony Zimmer J~ METHOD OF SELECTION: 

Assistant General Manager NIA 

Division: Power Management If other, please describe: 

Department: Power Management 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members □ City of Lodi IZl City of Shasta Lake □ 

Alameda Municipal Power IZl City of Lompoc IZl City of Ukiah □ 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ City of Palo Alto IZl Plumas-Sierra REC □ Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs IZl City of Redding □ Port of Oakland IZl 

City of Gridley IZl City of Roseville □ Truckee Donner PUD □ 

City of Healdsburg □ City of Santa Clara IZl Other □ 

If other, please specify 

SR: 170:23 

l7 



May 25, 2023 
Page 2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt Resolution 23-52 to approve the amended Exhibit A of the Third Phase Agreement for 
Purchase Agreements with Geysers Power Company, LLC, to confirm the Final Project 
Participation Percentage for each Participant, as documented in Table 3 of the amended Exhibit 
A, including any non-substantive modifications to the amended Exhibit A of the Third Phase 
Agreement for Purchase Agreements with Geysers Power Company, LLC as recommended and 
approved by the NCPA General Counsel. 

BACKGROUND: 

Pursuant to Exhibit A to the Third Phase Agreement for Purchase Agreements with Geysers 
Power Company, LLC ("Exhibit A"), if any Members exercise their right to accept a transfer of a 
share of the Project Participation Percentage of the Project, the Parties shall add to Exhibit A a 
Table 3 to document the Final Project Participation Percentage shares of the Project. Exhibit A 
further states that NCPA shall prepare Table 3 after the Transfer Completion Deadline to 
document the Final Project Participation Percentages of each Participant, and such Table 3 will 
be added to Exhibit A as an amendment to the Third Phase Agreement for Purchase 
Agreements with Geysers Power Company, LLC once adopted by the Commission. NCPA staff 
have developed an amended Exhibit A that includes Table 3 to document the Final Project 
Participation Percentages of each Participant in the Project. 

A copy of the amended Exhibit A has been attached to this staff report for your reference. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

NCPA's costs for development of the amended Exhibit A will be allocated to Members in 
accordance with approved cost allocation methodologies as described in the NCPA annual 
budget. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

This activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the 
physical environment and is therefore, not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 of the 
California Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary. 

Respectfully submitted, 

f~-~w!ti 
General Manager 

Attachments: (2) 
- Resolution 23-52 
- Amended Exhibit A 

SR: 170:23 



RESOLUTION 23-52 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVAL OF AMENDMENT TO EXHIBIT A OF THE THIRD PHASE AGREEMENT FOR 

PURCHASE AGREEMENTS WITH GEYSERS POWER COMPANY, LLC 

(reference Staff Report #170:23) 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Exhibit A to the Third Phase Agreement for Purchase Agreements with 
Geysers Power Company, LLC ("Exhibit A"), if any Members exercise their right to accept a transfer of a share 
of the Project Participation Percentage of the Project, the Parties shall add to Exhibit A a Table 3 to document 
the Final Project Participation Percentage shares of the Project; and 

WHEREAS, Exhibit A further states that Northern California Power Agency ("NCPA") shall prepare 
Table 3 after the Transfer Completion Deadline to document the Final Project Participation Percentages of 
each Participant, and such Table 3 will be added to Exhibit A as an amendment to the Third Phase Agreement 
for Purchase Agreements with Geysers Power Company, LLC once adopted by the Commission; and 

WHEREAS, NCPA staff have developed an amended Exhibit A that includes Table 3 to document the 
Final Project Participation Percentages of each Participant in the Project; and 

WHEREAS, NCPA's costs for development of the amended Exhibit A will be allocated to Members in 
accordance with approved cost allocation methodologies as described in the NCPA annual budget; and 

WHEREAS, this activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the 
physical environment and is therefore, not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency 
adopts Resolution 23-52 approving the amended Exhibit A of the Third Phase Agreement for Purchase 
Agreements with Geysers Power Company, LLC, to confirm the Final Project Participation Percentage for each 
Participant, as documented in Table 3 of the amended Exhibit A, including any non-substantive modifications 
to the amended Exhibit A of the Third Phase Agreement for Purchase Agreements with Geysers Power 
Company, LLC as recommended and approved by the NCPA General Counsel. 



PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023, by the following vote 
on roll call: 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

NCPA Resolution 23-52 

Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: ASSISTANT SECRETARY 

-2-



EXHIBIT A 

PROJECT PARTICIPATION PERCENTAGES 

On the Effective Date of the Agreement the initial Participant ("Initial Participant") who is 

signatory to this Agreement, and its respective initial Project Participation Percentage 

share of the Project is set forth in Table 1 of this Exhibit A ("Initial Project Participation 

Percentage"). The process set forth below is not subject to the requirements of Section 9 of 

this Agreement, except as set forth below. 

TabJel 

Initial Project Participation Percentages 

Member 

City of Santa Clara 

Total: 

Project Project 

Project Participation Participation 

Participation MW MW 
Percentages {2025 • 2026) (2027 - 2037) 

100.0% 50.00 100.00 

100.0% 50.00 100.00 

Thereafter, a Member who is not a Participant may exercise a right to accept a transfer of a 

portion of the Initial Project Participation Percentage of the Initial Participant in an amount 

no greater than the amount set forth in Table 2 of this Exhibit A, no later than April 30, 

2023 (the "Transfer Completion Deadline"), unless the Initial Participant otherwise agrees 

in writing to extend the Transfer Completion Deadline. The right to transfer described in 

this Exhibit A shall be exercised in writing (1) addressed to NCP A and the Initial 

Participant, and (2) by a Member's execution of this Agreement by the Transfer 

Completion Deadline. For purposes of this Exhibit A only, that Member who becomes a 

Participant shall be referred to as a "Table 2 Participant." Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

the Transfer Completion Deadline applies only to the intended assumption of the Project 

Participation Percentage described in Table 2 of this Exhibit A, and shall not limit or 

reduce a Participant's rights set forth in Section 9 of this Agreement. Upon written notice 

and execution of this Agreement, the Table 2 Participant will assume all rights and 

obligations set forth in this Agreement for the portion of the Project Participation 

Percentage share of the Project as set forth in Table 2 of this Exhibit A. If any Members 

38 
THIRD PHASE AGREEMENT FOR GEYSERS POWER COMP ANY PROJECT 



exercise their right to accept a transfer of a share of the Project Participation Percentage, 

the Parties shall add to this Exhibit A by preparing a Table 3 to reflect the Final Project 

Participation Percentage shares of the Project. NCP A shall prepare Table 3 after the 

· Transfer Completion Deadline to reflect the Final Project Participation Percentages of each 

Participant, and such Table 3 will be added to this Exhibit A as an amendment to this 

Agreement once adopted by the Commission. In the event an intended Table 2 Participant 

does not become a Table 2 Participant by the Transfer Completion Deadline, the Initial 

Participant shall retain the Project Participation Percentage of the intended Table 2 

Participant as described in Table 2 of this Exhibit A, and such will be reflected in Table 3. 

Table 2 

Draft Final Project Participation Percentages 

Project Project 

Project Participation Participation 

Participation MW MW 

Member Percentages (2025- 2026) {2027 - 2037} 

City of Alameda 5.0% 2.50 5.00 

City of Biggs 0.4% 0.20 0.40 
City of Gridley 0.6% 0.30 0.60 

City of Lodi 10.0% 5.00 10.00 

City of Lompoc 1.7% 0.85 1.70 

City of Palo Alto 10.0% 5.00 10.00 
Port of Oakland 2.3% 1.15 2.30 

City of Santa Clara 70.0% 35.00 70.00 

Total: 100.0% 50.00 100.00 

The Final Project Participation Percentages of each Participant are shown in Table 3 below: 

Table3 

Final Project Participation Percentages 

Member 

City of Alameda 

City of Biggs 
City of Gridley 

City of Lodi 

City of Lompoc 

City of Palo Alto 

Port of Oakland 

City of Santa Clara 

Total: 

Project Project 

Project Participation Participation 

Participation MW MW 

Percentages (202S • 2026) (2027 • 2037) 

5.0% 2.50 5.00 

0.4% 0.20 0.40 

0.6% 0.30 0.60 

10.0% 5.00 10.00 
1.7% 0.85 1.70 

10.0% 5.00 10.00 

2.3% 1.15 2.30 

70.0% 35.00 70.00 

100.0% 50.00 100.00 

39 
THIRD PHASE AGREEMENT FOR GEYSERS POWER COMP ANY PROJECT 



rUBUC AGENCY 

CPA 

Commission Staff Report 

COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: Plug In America - First Amendment to Three Year Multi-Task Consulting Services 
Agreement for Electrification Education and Outreach Services; Applicable to the following: 
Northern California Power Agency (NCPA), NCPA Members, the Southern California Public 
Power Authority (SCPPA), and SCPPA Members. 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Consent 

FROM: 

Division: 

Department: 

Jane Cirrincione ~ 

Assistant General Manager 

Legislative & Regulatory 
Affairs 

Legislative & Regulatory 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members ~ 

Alameda Municipal Power □ 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs □ 

City of Gridley □ 

METHOD OF SELECTION: 

Competitive Pricing Process 

If other, please describe: 

City of Lodi □ City of Shasta Lake 

City of Lompoc □ City of Ukiah 

City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC 

City of Redding □ Port of Oakland 

City of Roseville □ Truckee Donner PUD 

City of Healdsburg □ City of Santa Clara □ Other 

If other, please specify 

SR: 171:23 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 



May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-53 authorizing the General Manager or his designee to enter into a First 
Amendment to the Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement (MTCSA) with Plug In America for 
Electrification Education and Outreach Services, with any non-substantial changes 
recommended and approved by the NCPA General Counsel, to extend the term of the 
Agreement for an additional two year period, for continued use by NCPA, NCPA Members, by 
SCPPA, and SCPPA Members. 

BACKGROUND: 

Participants in NCPA's Transportation Electrification Working Group and Demand Management 
Working Groups requested assistance in contracting for electrification education and outreach 
services, with a focus on finding virtual and online outreach programs due to the COVID-19 
situation. NCPA issued a Request for Proposal (RFP) LR2001 on August 12, 2020, to solicit 
proposals from qualified consultants providing various electrification education and outreach 
programs and services. Specifically, the RFP requested services in the areas of: youth 
education, building electrification, transportation electrification, and additional related-services. 

Ten vendors responded to the RFP. Based on the scoring committee's evaluation, eight of the 
vendors were interviewed and selected to provide electrification education and outreach 
services. Plug In America was one of the consultants selected based upon its experience and 
response to the RFP. 

NCPA entered into a three-year MTCSA with Plug In America effective December 18, 2020, for 
an amount not to exceed $750,000. This agreement has been used by NCPA Members through 
NCPA's Support Services program, and an NCPA Member has requested that the agreement be 
extended. This amendment will extend the term of the Agreement for an additional two-year 
period from the original expiration date of December 17, 2023 to a new date of December 17, 
2025. 

NCPA has agreements in place for similar services with Acterra, Cool the Earth, and Electric Car 
Insider. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The total cost of the agreement is unchanged by the amendment and will not exceed $750,000 
for the amended term of the contract. Purchase orders referencing the terms and conditions of 
the agreement will be issued following NCPA procurement policies and procedures. 

SELECTION PROCESS: 

Eight vendors were selected as a result of a Request for Proposal (RFP) process in accordance 
with NCPA's procurement policies and procedures. An RFP was posted on NCPA's website from 
August 12, 2020, through September 10, 2020. A total of ten responses were received and 
evaluated based on: 1) the quality and thoroughness of proposal; 2) possession of the 
knowledge, experience, and skills required to provide the requested services; 3) experience of 
staff to be assigned to the project, based on prior engagements of similar scope and complexity; 
4) competitive rates for the requested services; 5) respondent's financial stability; 6) ability to 

SR: 171:23 



May 25, 2023 
Page3 

perform the work within the time specified and demonstrated strong project management 
abilities; and 7) customer references. The responses were evaluated by a review team consisting 
of staff from the City of Palo Alto Utilities, Silicon Valley Power, and NCPA. 

This enabling agreement does not commit NCPA to any expenditure of funds. NCPA will issue 
purchase orders based on cost and availability of the services needed at the time the service is 
required. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

This activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the physical 
environment and is therefore not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary. 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

The recommendation above was reviewed by the Facilities Committee on May 3, 2023. Due to 
the lack of a quorum, no formal action was taken, however, the Members present at the meeting 
voiced their support for the recommendation, and no other meeting attendees had any 
objections. 

Ro pectfully submitted, 

RA\::)H~WAl~ 
General Manager 

Attachments (3): 
• Resolution 23-53 
• Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement with Plug In America 
• First Amendment to Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement with Plug In America 

SR: 171:23 



RESOLUTION 23-53 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING A FIRST AMENDMENT TO THE MULTI-TASK CONSUL TING SERVICES 

AGREEMENT WITH PLUG IN AMERICA 

(reference Staff Report #171 :23) 

WHEREAS, Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) and Plug In America entered into a Multi-Task 
Consulting Services Agreement effective December 18, 2020, for Plug In America to provide electrification 
education and outreach services, for use by NCPA, NCPA Members, by the Southern California Public Power 
Authority (SCPPA), and SCPPA Members; and 

WHEREAS, NCPA Members have requested that the Agreement with Plug In America be extended 
beyond the original three-year term to accommodate anticipated projects; and 

WHEREAS, NCPA desires to extend the term of the Agreement for an additional two-year period; and 

WHEREAS, this activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the 
physical environment and is therefore not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 of the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency 
authorizes the General Manager or his designee to enter into Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement, with 
any non-substantial changes as approved by the NCPA General Counsel, for continued use by NCPA, NCPA 
Members, by SCPPA, and SCPPA Members. 

PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023 by the following vote 
on roll call: 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

Vote Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 



FIRST AMENDMENT TO MULTI-TASK CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY AND PLUG IN AMERICA 

This First Amendment ("Amendment") to the Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement is entered 
into by and between the Northern California Power Agency ("Agency") and Plug In America 
("Consultant") ( collectively referred to as "the Parties") as of _______ , 2023. 

WHEREAS, the Parties entered into a Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement dated 
effective December 18, 2020, (the "Agreement") for Consultant to provide electrification education 
services including electric vehicle (EV) education, ride and drives, and dealer training and incentive 
programs; and 

WHEREAS, the Agency now desires to amend the Agreement to extend the term of the 
Agreement for an additional two (2) years from the original expiration date of December 17, 2023, 
to a new date of December 17, 2025; and 

WHEREAS, the Parties have agreed to modify the Agreement as set forth above; and 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 8.2 all changes to the Agreement must be in writing 
and signed by all the Parties; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. Section 1. 1-Term of Agreement is amended and restated to read in full as follows: 

The term of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective Date and shall end when 
Consultant completes the Services, or no later five (5) years from the date this Agreement 
was signed by Agency, whichever is shorter. 

2. This Amendment in no way alters the terms and conditions of the Agreement except as 
specifically set forth herein. 

SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE 

First Amendment to Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America 

Page 1 of 2 



Date: _____ _ 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

RANDY S. HOWARD, General Manager 

Attest: 

Assistant Secretary of the Commission 

Approved as to Form: 

Jane E. Luckhardt, General Counsel 

First Amendment to Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America 

Date: _____ _ 

PLUG IN AMERICA 

Authorized signatory 

Page 2 of 2 



MULTI-TASK CONSULTING SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN 
THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY AND 

PLUG IN AMERICA 

This Consulting Services Agreement (" Agreement') is made by and between the 
Northern California Power Agency, a joint powers agency with its main office located at 651 
Commerce Drive, Roseville, CA 95678-6420 ("Agency") arid Plug In America, a California 
501 (c)(3) nonprofit corporation with its office located at 6380 Wilshire Blvd Suite 1000, Los 
Angeles, CA 90048 ("Consultant") (together sometimes referred to as the "Parties") as of 
De C, Q i S , 2020 ("Effective Date") in Roseville, California. 

Section 1. SERVICES. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, 
Consultant shall provide to Agency the services described in the Scope of Services attached 
hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein ("Services"), at the time and place and in the 
manner specified therein. 

1.1 Term ·of Agreement. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the Effective 
Date and shall end when Consultant completes the Services, or no later than 
three (3) years from the date this Agreement was signed by Agency, whichever is 
shorter. 

1.2 Standard of Performance. Consultant shall perform the Services in the manner 
and according to the standards observed by a competent practitioner of the 
profession in which Consultant is engaged and for which Consultant is providing 
the Services. Consultant represents that it is licensed, qualified and experienced 
to provide the Services set forth herein. 

1.3 Assignment of Personnel. Consultant shall assign only competent personnel 
to perform the Services. In the event that Agency, in its sole discretion, at any 
time during the term of this Agreement, requests the reassignment of any such 
personnel, Consultant shall, immediately upon receiving written notice from 
Agency of such request, reassign such personnel. 

1.4 Services Provided. Services provided under this· Agreement by Consultant may 
include Services directly to the Agency or, as requested by the Agency and 
consistent with the terms of this Agreement, to Agency m·embersf Southern 
California Public Power Authority ("SCPPA") or SCPPA members. 

1.5 Request for Services. At such time that Agency determines to use Consultant's 
Services under this Agreement, Agency shall issue a Purchase Order. The 
Purchase Order shall identify the specific services to be performed ("Requested 
Services"), may include a not-to-exceed monetary cap on Requested Services 
and expenditures authorized by that Purchase Order, and a time by which the 
Requested Services shall be completed. Consultant shall have seven calendar 
days from the date of the Agency's issuance of the Purchase Order in which to 
respond in writing that Consultant chooses not to perform the Requested 
Services. If Consultant agrees to perform the Requested Services, begins to 
perform the Requested Services, or does not respond within the seven-day 

M'-'ltf,. Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 1 of 19 



period specified, then Consultant will have agreed to perform the Requested 
Services on the terms set forth in the Purchase Order, this Agreement and its 
Exhibits. 

Section 2. COMPENSATION. Agency hereby agrees to pay Consultant an amount NOT 
TO EXCEED SEVEN HUNDRED FIFTY THOUSAND dollars ($750,000.00) for the Services, 
which shall include all fees, costs, expenses and other reimbursables, as set forth in 
Consultant's fee schedule, attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit B. This dollar 
amount is not a guarantee that Agency will pay that full amount to the Consultant, but is merely 
a limit of potential Agency expenditures under this Agreement. 

2.1 Invoices. Consultant shall submit invoices, not niore often than once a month 
during the term of this Agreement, based on the cost for services performed and 
reimbursable costs incurred prior to the invoice date. Invoices shall contain the 
following information: 

• The beginning and ending dates of the billing period; 
• Services performed; 
• The Purchase Order number authorizing the Services; 
• At Agency's option, the total number of hours of work performed under 

the Agreement by Consultant and each employee, agent, and 
subcontractor of Consultant performing services hereunder; and 

• At Agency's option, when the Consultant's Scope-of Work identifi-es tasks 1 

for each work item in each task, a copy of the applicable time entries 
showing the name of the person doing the work, the hours spent by each 
person, a brief description of the work, and each reimbursable expense, 
with supporting documentation, to Agency's reasonable satisfaction. 

Invoices shall be sent to: 

Northern California Power Agency 
651 Commerce Drive 
Roseville, California 95678 
Attn: Accounts Payable 
AcctsPayable@ncpa.com 

2.2 Monthly Payment. Agency shall make monthly payments, based on invoices 
received, for services satisfactorily performed, and for authorized reimbursable 
costs incurred. Agency shall have thirty (30) days from the _receipt of an invoice 
that complies with all of the requirements above to pay Consultant. 

2.3 Payment of Taxes. Consultant is solely responsible for the payment of all 
federal, state and local taxes, including employment taxes, incurred under this 
Agreement. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 · 

LR.VEN-2020-011 

Page 2 of 19 



2.4 Authorization to Perform Services. The Consultant is not authorized to 
perform any Services or incur any costs whatsoever under the terms of this 
Agreement until receipt of written authorization from the Contract Administrator. 

2.5 Timing for Submittal of Final Invoice. Consultant shall have ninety (90) days 
after completion of its Services to submit its final invoice for the Requested 
Services. In the event Consultant fails to submit an invoice to Agency for any 
amounts due within the ninety (90) day period, Consultant is deemed to have 
waived its right to collect its final payment from Agency. 

Section 3. FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT. Except as set forth herein, Consultant shall, at 
its sole cost and expense, provide all facilities and equipment that may be necessary to perform 
the Services. 

Section 4. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS. Before beginning any work under this 
Agreement, Consultant, at its own cost and expense, shall procure the types and amounts of 
insurance listed below and shall maintain the types and amounts of insurance listed below for 
the period covered by this Agreement. 

4.1 Workers' Compensation. If Consultant employs any person, Consultant shall 
maintain Statutory Workers' Compensation Insurance and Employers Liability 
Insurance for any and all persons employed directly or indirectly by Consultant 
with limits of not less than one million dollars ($1,000,000.00) per accident. 

4.2 Commercial General and Automobile Liability Insurance. 

4.2.1 Commercial General Insurance. Consultant shall maintain commercial 
general liability insurance for the term of this Agreement, including 
products liability, covering any loss or liability, including the cost of 
defense of any action, for bodily injury, death, personal injury and broad 
form property damage which may arise out of the.operations of 
Consultant. The policy shall provide a minimum limit of $2,000,000 per 
occurrence/$2,000,000 aggregate. Commercial general coverage shall 
be at least as broad as ISO Commercial General Liability form CG 0001 
( current edition} on "an occurrence" basis covering comprehensive 
General Liability, with a self-insured retention or deductible of no more 
than $100,000. No endorsement shall be attached limiting the coverage. 

4.2.2 Automobile Liability. Consultant shall maintain automobile liability 
insurance form CA 0001 (current edition) for the term of this Agreement 
covering any loss or liability, including the cost of defense of any action, 
arising from the operation, maintenance or use of any vehicle (symbol 1), 
whether or not owned by the Consultant, on or off Agency premises. The 
policy shall provide a minimum limit of $2,000,000 per each accident, with 
a self-insured retention or deductible of no more than $100,000. This 
insurance shall provide contractual liability covering all motor vehicles and 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 3 of 19 



mobile equipment to the extent coverage may be excluded from general 
liability insurance. 

4.2.3 General Liability/Umbrella Insurance. The coverage amounts set forth 
above may be met by a combination of underlying and umbrella policies 
as long as in combination the limits equal or exceed those stated. 

4.3 Professional Liability Insurance. Not Applicable. 

4.4 All Policies Requirements. 

4.4.1 Verification of coverage. Prior to beginning any_ work under this 
Agreement, Consultant shall provide Agency with (1) a Certificate of 
Insurance that demonstrates compliance with all applicable insurance 
provisions contained herein and (2) policy endorsements to the policies 
referenced in Section 4.2, adding the Agency as an additional insured 
and declaring such insurance primary in regard to work performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

4.4.2 Notice of Reduction in or Canctllation of Coverage. Consultant shall 
provide at least thirty (30) days prior written notice to Agency of any 
reduction in scope or amount, cancellation, or modification adverse to 
Agency of the policies referenced in Section 4. 

4.4.3 Higher Limits. If Consultant maintains higher limits than the minimums 
specified herein, the Agency shall be entitled to coverage for the higher 
limits maintained by the Consultant. 

4.4.4 Additional Certificates and Endorsements. If Consultant provides 
services to Agency members, SCPPA, and/or SCPPA members pursuant 
to this Agreement, Consultant shall provide certificates of insurance and 
policy endorsements, as referenced in Section 4.4.1 , naming the specific 
Agency member, SCPPA or SCPPA member. 

4.4.5 Waiver of Subrogation. Consultant agrees to waive subrogation which 
any insurer of Consultant may acquire from Consultant by virtue of the 
payment of any loss. Consultant agrees to obtain any endorsement that 
may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation. In addition, the 
Workers' Compensation policy shall be endorsed with a waiver of 
subrogation in favor of Agency for all work performed by Consultant, its 
employees, agents and subcontractors. 

4.5 Consultant's Obligation. Consultant shall be solely responsible for ensuring 
that all equipment, vehicles and other items. utilized in the performance of 
Services are operated, provided or otherwise utilized in a manner that ensues 
they are and remain covered by the policies referenced in Section 4 during this 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northem California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 4 of 19 



Agreement. Consultant shall also ensure that all workers involved in the 
provision of Services are properly classified as employees, agents or 
independent contractors and are and remain covered by any and all workers' 
compensation insurance required by applicable law during this Agreement. 

Section 5. INDEMNIFICATION AND CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES. 

5.1 Effect of Insurance. Agency's acceptance of insurance certificates and 
endorsements required under this Agreement does not relieve Consultant from 
liability under this indemnification and hold harmless clause. This indemnification 
and hold harmless clause shall apply to any damages or claims for damages 
whether or not such insurance policies shall have been determined to apply. By 
execution of this Agreement, Consultant acknowledges and agrees to the 
provisions of this Section and that it is a material element of consideration. 

5.2 Scope. Consultant shall indemnify, defend with counsel reasonably acceptable 
to the Agency, and hold harmless the Agency, and its officials, commissioners, 
officers, employees, agents and volunteers from and against all losses; liabilities, 
claims, demands, suits, actions, damages, expenses, penalties, fines, costs 
(including without limitation costs and fees of litigation), judgments and causes of 
action of every nature arising out of or in connection with any acts or omissions 
.by Consultant, its officers, officials, agents, and employees, except as caused by 
the sole or gross negligence of Agency. Notwithstanding., should this Agreement 
be construed as a construction agreement under Civil Code section 2783, then 
the exception referenced above shall also be for the active negligence of Agency, 

Section 6. STATUS OF CONSULTANT. 

6.1 Independent Contractor. Consultant is an independent contractor and not an 
employee of Agency. Agency shall have the right to control Consultant only 
insofar as the results of Consultant's Services and assignment of personnel 
pursuant to Section 1; otherwise, Agency shall not have the right to control the 
means by which Consultant accomplishes Services rendered pursuant to this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding any other Agency, state, or federal policy, rule 1 

regulation, law, or ordinance to the contrary, Consultant and any of its 
employees, agents, and subcontractors providing services under this Agreement 
shall not qualify for or become entitled to, and hereby agree to waive any and all 
claims to, any compensation, benefit, or any incident of employment by Agency, 
including but not limited to eligibility to enroll in the California Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS) as an employee of Agency and entitlement to any 
contribution to be paid by Agency for employer contributions and/or employee 
contributions for PERS benefits. 

Consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Agency for the payment of 
any employee and/or employer contributions for PERS benefits on behalf of 
Consultant or its employees, agents, or subcontractors, as well as for the 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 5 of 19 



payment of any penalties and interest on such contributions, which would 
otherwise be the responsibility of Agency. Consultant and Agency acknowledge 
and agree that compensation paid by Agency to Consultant under this 
Agreement is based upon Consultanfs estimated costs of providing the Services, 
including salaries and benefits of employees, agents and subcontractors• of 
Consultant. 

Consultant shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Agency from any lawsuit, 
administrative action, or other claim for penalties, losses, costs, damages, 
expense and liability of every kind, nature and description that arise out of, 
pertain to, or relate to such claims, whether directly or indirectly, due to 
Consultant's failure to secure workers' compensation insurance for its 
employees, agents, or subcontractors. 

Consultant agrees that it is responsible for the provision of group healthcare 
benefits to its fulltime employees under 26 U.S.C. § 4980H of the Affordable 
Care Act. To the extent permitted by law, Consultant shall indemnify, defend and 
hold harmless Agency from any penalty issued to Agency under the Affordable 
Care Act resulting from the performance of the Services by any employee, agent, 
or subcontractor of Consultant. 

6.2 Consultant Not Agent. Except as Agency may specify in writing, Consultant 
shall have no authority, express or implied, to act on behalf of Agency in any 
capacity whatsoever as an agent. Consultant shall have no authority, express or 
implied, pursuant to this Agreement to bind Agency to any obligation whatsoever. 

6.3 Assignment and Subcontracting. This Agreement contemplates personal 
performance by Consultant and is based upon a determination of Consultant's 
unique professional competence, experience, and specialized professional 
knowledge. A substantial inducement to Agency for entering into this Agreement 
was and is the personal reputation and competence of Consultant. Consultant 
may not assign this Agreement or any interest therein without the prior written 
approval of the Agency. Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the 
performance contemplated and provided for herein, other than to the 
subcontractors identified in Exhibit A, without prior written approval of the 
Agency. Where written approval is granted by the Agency, Consultant shall 
supervise all work subcontracted by Consultant in performing the services and 
shall be responsible for all work performed by a subcontractor as if Consultant 
itself had performed such work. The subcontracting of any work to 
subcontractors shall not relieve Consultant from any of its obligations under this 
Agreement with respect to the services and Consultant is obligated to ensure that 
any and all subcontractors performing any services shall be fully insured in all 
respects and to the same extent as set forth under Section 4, to Agency's 
satisfaction. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 6 of 19 



6 .. 4 Certification as to California Energy Commission. If requested by the 
Agency, Consultant shall, at the same time it executes this Agreement, execute 
Exhibit C. 

Section 7. LEGAL REQUIREMENTS. 

7 .1 Governing Law. The laws of the State of California shall govern this 
Agreement. 

7 .2 Compliance with Applicable Laws. Consultant and its subcontractors and 
agents, if any, shall comply with all laws applicable to the performance of the 
work hereunder. 

7 .3 Licenses and Permits. Consultant represents and warrants to Agency that 
Consultant and its employees, agents, and subcontractors (if any) have and will 
maintain at their sole expense during the term of this Agreement all licenses, 
permits, qualifications, and approvals of whatever nature that are legally required 
to practice their respective professions. 

Section 8. TERMINATION AND MODIFICATION. 

8.1 Termination. Agency may cancel this Agreement at any time and without cause 
upon ten (10) days prior written notice to Consultant. 

In the event of termination, Consultant shall be entitled to compensation for 
Services satisfactorily completed as of the effective date of termination; Agency, 
however, may condition payment of such compensation upon Consultant 
delivering to Agency any or all records or documents, as referenced in Section 
9.1 hereof. 

8.2 Amendments. The Parties may amend this Agreement only by a writing signed 
by all the Parties. 

8.3 Survival. All obligations arising prior to the termination of this Agreement and all 
provisions of this Agreement allocating liability between Agency and Consultant 
shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

8.4 Options upon Breach bv Consultant. If Consultant materially breaches any of 
the terms of this Agreement, including but not limited to those set forth in Section 
4, Agency's remedies shall include, but not be limited to, the following: 

8.4.1 Immediately terminate the Agreement; 

8.4.2 Retain the plans, specifications, drawings, reports, design documents, 
and any other work product prepared by Consultant pursuant to this 
Agreement; 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 7 of 19 



8.4.3 Retain a different consultant to complete the Services not finished by 
Consultant; and/or 

8.4.4 Charge Consultant the difference between the costs to complete the 
Services that is unfinished at the time of breach and the amount that 
Agency would have paid Consultant pursuant hereto if Consultant had 
completed the Services. 

Section 9. KEEPING AND STATUS OF RECORDS. 

9.1 Records Created as Part of Consultant's Performance. All reports, data, 
maps, models, charts, studies, surveys, photographs, memoranda, plans, 
studies, specifications, records, files, or any other documents or materials, in 
electronic or any other form, that Consultant prepares or obtains pursuant to this 
Agreement and that relate to the matters covered hereunder shall be the property 
of the Agency. Consultant hereby agrees to deliver those documents to the 
Agency upon termination of the Agreement. Agency and Consultant agree that, 
unless approved by Agency in writing, Consultant shall not release to any non~ 
parties to this Agreement any data, plans, specifications, :reports and other 
documents. 

9.2 Consultant's Books and Records. Consultant shall maintain any and all 
records or other documents evidencing or relating to charges for Services or 
expenditures and disbursements charged to the Agency under this Agreement 
for a minimum of three (3) years, or for any longer period required by law, from 
the date of final payment to the Consultant to this Agreement. 

9.3 Inspection and Audit of Records. Any records or documents that this 
Agreement requires Consultant to maintain shall be made available for 
inspection, audit, and/or copying at any time during regular business hours, upon 
oral or written request of the Agency. Under California Government Code 
Section 8546. 7, if the amount of public funds expended under this Agreement 
exceeds ten thousand dollars ($10,000.00), the Agreement shall be subject to 
the examination and audit of the State Auditor, at the request of Agency or as 
part of any audit of the Agency, for a period of three (3) years after final payment 
under the Agreement. 

9.4 Confidential Information and Disclosure. 

9.4.1 Confidential Information. The term 11Confidential Information", as used 
herein, shall mean any and all confidential, proprietary, or trade secret 
information, whether written, recorded, electronic,. oral or otherwise, 
where the Confidential Information is made available in a tangible 
medium of expression and marked in a prominent location as confidential, 
proprietary and/or trade secret information. Confidential Information shall 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 8 of 19 



not include information that: (a) was already known to the Receiving Party 
or is otherwise a matter of public knowledge, (b) was disclosed to 
Receiving Party by a third party without violating any confidentiality 
agreement, (c) was independently developed by Receiving Party without 
reverse engineering, as evidenced by written records thereof, or (d) was 
not marked as confidential Information in accordance with this section. 

9.4.2 Non-Disclosure of Confidential Information. During the term of this 
Agreement, either party may disclose ("The Disclosing Party") confidential 
Information to the other party ("the Receiving Party"). The Receiving 
Party: (a) shall hold the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information in 
confident; and (b) shall take all reasonable steps to prevent any 
unauthorized possession, use, copying, transfer or disclosure of such 
Confidential Information. 

9.4.3 Permitted Disclosure. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following 
disclosures of Confidential Information are allowed. Receiving Party shall 
endeavor to provide prior written notice to Disclosing Party of any 
permitted disclosure made pursuant to Section 9.4.3.2 or 9.4.3.3. 
Disclosing Party may seek a protective order, including without limitation, 
a temporary restraining order to prevent or contest such permitted 
disclosure; provided, however, that Disclosing Party shall seek such 
remedies at its sole expense. Neither party shall have any liability for 
such permitted disclosures: 

9.4.3.1 Disclosure to employees, agents, consultants, contractors, 
subcontractors or other representatives of Receiving Party that 
have a need to know in connection with this Agreement. 

9.4.3.2 Disclosure in response to a valid order of a court, government or 
regulatory agency or as may otherwise be. required by law; and 

9.4.3.3 Disclosure by Agency in response to a request pursuant to the 
California Public Records Act. 

9.4.4 Handling of Confidential Information. Upon conclusion or termination 
of the Agreement, Receiving Party shall return to Disclosing Party or 
destroy Confidential Information (including all copies thereof), if requested 
by Disclosing Party in writing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Receiving Party may retain copies of such Confidential Information, 
subject to the confidentiality provisions of this Agreement: (a) for archival 
purposes in its computer system; (b) in its legal department files; and (c) 
in files of Receiving Party's representatives where such copies are 
necessary to comply with applicable law. Party shall not disclose the 
Disclosing Party's Information to any person other than those of the 
Receiving Party's employees, agents, consultants, contractors and 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northam California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 719/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 9 of 19 



subcontractors who have a need to know in connection with this 
Agreement. 

Section 10. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

10.1 Attorneys' Fees. If a party to this Agreement brings any action, including an 
action for declaratory relief, to enforce or interpret the provision of this 
Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to reasonable attorneys' fees in 
addition to any other relief to which that party may be entitled. The court may set 
such fees in the same action or in a separate action brought for that purpose. 

10.2 Venue. In the event that either party brings any action against the other under 
this Agreement, the Parties agree that trial of such action shall be vested 
exclusively in the state courts of California in the County of Placer or in the 
United States District Court for the Eastern District of California. 

10.3 Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or rules that any provision 
of this Agreement is invalid, void, or unenforceable, the provisions of this 
Agreement not so adjudged shall remain in full force and effect. The invalidity in 
whole or in part of any provision of this Agreement shall not void or affect the 
validity of any other provision of this Agreement. 

10.4 No Implied Waiver of Breach. The waiver of any breach of a specific provision 
of this Agreement does not constitute a waiver of any other breach of that term or 
any other term of this Agreement. 

10.5 Successors.and Assigns. The provisions of this Agreement shall inure to the 
benefit of and shall apply to and bind the successors and assigns of the Parties. 

10.6 Conflict of Interest. Consultant may serve other clientsl but none whose 
activities within the corporate limits of Agency or whose business, regardless of 
location, would place Consultant in a "conflict of interest," as that term is defined 
in the Political Reform Act, codified at California Government Code Section 
81000 et seq. 

Consultant shall not employ any Agency official in the work performed pursuant 
to this Agreement. No officer or employee of Agency shall have any financial 
interest in this Agreement that would violate California Government Code 
Sections 1 Q90 et seq. 

1 O. 7 Contract Administrator. This Agreement shall be administered by Jane 
Cirrincione, Assistant General Manager, or his/her designee, who shall act as the 
Agency's representative. All correspondence shall be directed to or through the 
representative. 

10.8 Notices. Any written notice to Consultant shall be sent to: 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 10 of 19 



Joel Levin 
Executive Director 
1270 S Alfred St., No. 351268 
Los Angeles, CA 90035 

Any written notice to Agency shall be sent to: 

Randy S. Howard 
General Manager 
Northern California Power Agency 
651 Commerce Drive 
Roseville, CA 95678 

With a .copy to: 

Jane E. Luckhardt 
General Counsel 
Northern California Power Agency 
651 Commerce Drive 
Roseville, CA 95678 

10.9 Professional Seal. Where applicable in the determination of the Agency1 the 
first page of a technical report, first page of design specifications, and each page 
of construction drawings shall be stamped/sealed and signed by the licensed 
professional responsible for the report/design preparation. 

10.10 Integration; Incorporation. This Agreement, including all the exhibits attached 
hereto, represents the entire and integrated agreement between Agency and 
Consultant and supersedes all prior negotiations, representations, or 
agreements, either written or oral. All exhibits attached hereto are incorporated 
by reference herein. 

10.11 Alternative Dispute Resolution. If any dispute arises between the Parties that 
cannot be settled after enga.ging in good faith negotiations, Agency and 
Consultant agree to resolve the dispute in accordance with the following: 

10.11.1 

10.11.2 

10.11.3 

Each party shall designate a senior management or executive 
level representative to negotiate any dispute; 

The representatives shall attempt, through good faith negotiations, 
to resolve the dispute by any means within their authority. 

If the issue remains unresolved after fifteen (15) days of good faith 
negotiations, the Parties shall attempt to resolve the disagreement 
by negotiation between legal counsel. If the above process fails, 
the Parties shall resolve any remaining disputes through 
mediation to expedite the resolution of the dispute. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northem California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 11 of 19 



10.11.4 

10.11.5 

10.11.6 

The mediation process shall provide for the selection within fifteen 
(15) days by both Parties of a disinterested third person as 
mediator, shall be commenced within thirty (30) days and shall be 
concluded within fifteen (15) days from the commencement of the 
mediation. 

The Parties shall equally bear the costs of any third party in any 
alternative dispute resolution process. 

The alternative dispute resolution process is a material condition 
to this Agreement and must be exhausted as an administrative 
prior to either Party initiating legal action. This alternative dispute 
resolution process is not intended to nor shall be construed to 
change the time periods for filing a claim or action specified by 
Government Code §§ 900 et seq. 

10.12 Controlling Provisions. In the case of any conflict between the terms of this 
Agreement and the Exhibits hereto, a Purchase Order, or. Consultant's Proposal 
(if any), the Agreement shall control. In the case of any conflict between ·the 
Exhibits hereto and a Purchase Order or the Consultant's Proposal, the Exhibits 
shall control. In the case of any conflict between the terms of a Purchase Order 
and the Consultant's Proposal, the Purchase Order shall control. 

10.13 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each 
of which shall be an original and all of which together shall constitute one 
agreement. 

10.14 Construction of Agreement. Each party hereto has had an equivalent 
opportunity to participate in the drafting of the Agreement and/or to consult with 
legal counsel. Therefore, the usual construction of an agreement against the 
drafting party shall not apply hereto. 

10.16 No Third Party Beneficiaries. This Agreement is made solely for the benefit of 
the parties hereto, with no intent to benefit any non-signator third parties. 
However, should Consultant provide Services to an Agency member, SCCPA 
and/or a SCPPA member (collectively for the purposes of this section only 
"Member'') pursuant to section 1.4, the parties recognize that such Member may 
be a third party beneficiary solely as to the Purchase Order and Requested 
Services relating to such Member. 

10.18 Intellectual Property. Notwithstanding any other provisions herein, the Parties 
acknowledge and agree that Contractor's proprietary PlugStar software platform 
(the 11Platform") and its PlugStar certification and training program for vehicle 
dealers (the "Certification Program") are pre-existing intellectual property of 
Contractor and are not Services Provided, Invention, or Work Product hereunder, 
regardless of any references in the Consulting Services Agreement. Agency 
acknowledges that Contractor is the sole owner of all intellectual property rights 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 12 of 19 



in the PlugStar Platform. and the PlugStar Certification Program. Nothing herein 
shall be deemed to grant Agency any ownership rights in 1the Platfonn, or the 
Certification Program. 

The Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date signed'.by the Agency. 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

Date t?c/ I !> /1 b 

RAtYsJo~.lh , 
GENERAL MANAGER 

Attest: 

Approved as to Form: 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northam California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 719/2019 

PLUG IN AMERICA· 

Date December 14·, 2020 

JOEL LEVIN 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

LR .. VEN-2020-011 

Page 13of 19 



A. EV Education 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

• Workshops and Online Classes for large and small groups with innovative and 
interactive ways to accelerate the adoption of EVs by low to moderate income 
customers with a priority on financials more than environmental motivations. 
Workshop length and content to be adjusted to the audience. Workshops to 
include, but are not limited to, information on used EVs, leasing vs. purchasing, 
available incentives, different models, and lifetime price analysis of an EV vs. a 
fossil-fuel vehicle. 

o EV 101 educational classes for residents 
o EV 101 educational classes for commuters 

• Virtual and/or In-person Ride and Drives for large and small groups with 
innovative and interactive ways to promote and educate low to· moderate income 
customers about EVs, with a priority on financials more than environmental 
motivations. Ride and Drive length and content to be adjusted to the audience. 
Ride and drives to include, but are not limited to, information on used EVs, 
leasing vs. purchasing, different models, and lifetime price analysis of an EV vs. 
a fossil fuel vehicle. 

o Ride and Drives for residents 
o Ride and Drives for commuters 

• EV Expo's that promote the adoption of EVs with a priority on converting fossil 
fuel vehicle drivers into EV drivers. The length and content of these EV Expo's 
will be adjusted to the audience. Expo's may include, but are not limited to, 
displays of EVs, test drives, and EV vendor booths. 

o EV Expo's for residents 
o EV Expo's at workplaces 

B. Additional Services 
• PlugStar Program, which may include: 
• Dealer Incentives 
• Sponsorship for national Plug In America events 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 14 of 19 



EXHIBIT B 

COMPENSATION SCHEDULE AND HOURLY FEES 

Compensation for all tasks, including hourly fees and expenses, shall not exceed $750,000.00. 
The hourly rates and or compensation break down and an estimated amount of expenses is as 
follows: 

Ride and Drive Events 
Final confirmation of funding is required at least seven weeks before the event in order to 
ensure dealer participation. Payment due upon completion of each event. 

Budget details are below: 

IN-PERSON RIDE AND DRIVE EVENT BUDGET 

A. ONE EVENT 

Line Item Description Qty. Cost 

Learning Center & Interactive 
Booth 1 $3,000.00 

Campaign events through 
social and earned media 1 $500.00 

Food Incentive 75 $10.00 

Event Staff 6 $160.00 

Insurance 1 $90.00 

PIA Event Manager Staff Time 
(Hours) 45 $60.00 

Operating Costs 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern Califomia Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

Total 

$3,000.00 

$500.00 

$750.00 

$960.00 

$90.00 

$2,700.00 

$2,000.00 

Additional Details 

This includes transport and set up of 
interactive and experiential EV Learning 
Center booth. 

Provide content for mutually agreed 
channels. Encourage posting content 
by event participants that complements 
and amplifies NCPA member agency 
messaging. 

We will work with a food truck or local 
restaurant to provide a free meal to 
anyone who takes a test ride or drive in 
an EV. 

Day-of event staff who will facilitate and 
manage the EV learning center and EV 
test drive/ride process. 

To meet the requirements of the site 
host 

Staff event management hours 

This covers general PIA operating 
costs, such as office space, office 
supplies, and utilities. 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 15 of 19 



!TOTAL 

B. TWO-FOUR EVENTS 

Line Item Description 

Learning Center & Interactive 
Booth 

Campaign events through 
social and earned media 

Food Incentive 

Event Staff 

Insurance 

PIA Event Manager Staff Time 
(Hours) 

Operating Costs 

Discount 

TOTAL 

C. FIVE TO SIX EVENTS 

Line Item Description 

Learning Center & Interactive 
Booth 

Campaign events through 
social and earned media 

Qty. Cost 
, 

1 $3,000.00 

1 $500.00 

75 $10.00 

6 $160.00 

1 $90.00 

45 $60.00 

-10% 

Qty. Cost 

1 $3,000.00 

1 $500.00 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern Californja Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

1 s10,ooo.oo 1 

Total 

$3,000.00 

$500.00 

$750.00 

$960.00 

$90.00 

$2,700.00 

$2,000.00 

-$1,000.00 

$9,000.00 

Total 

$3,000.00 

$500.00 

Additional Details 

This includes transport and set up of 
interactive and experiential EV Learning 
Center booth. 

Provide content for mutually agreed 
channels. Encourage posting content 
by event participants that complements 
and amplifies NCPA member agency 
messaging. 

We will work with a food truck or local 
restaurant to provide a free meal to 
anyone who takes a test ride or drive in 
an EV. 

Day-of event staff who will facilitate and 
manage the EV learning center and EV 
test drive/ride process. 

To meet the requirements of the site 
host 

Staff event management hours 

This covers general PIA operating 
costs, such as office space, office 
supplies, and utilities. 

Volume discount of 10% for 2-4 events 

Additional Details 

This includes transport and set up of 
interactive and experiential EV Learning 
Center booth. 

Provide content for mutually agreed 
channels. Encourage posting content 
by event participants that complements 
and amplifies NCPA member agency 
messaging 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 16 of 19 



We will work with a food truck or local 
restaurant to provide a free meal to 
anyone who takes a test ride or drive in 

Food Incentive 75 $10.00 $750.00 an EV. 

Day-of event staff who will facilitate and 
manage the EV learning center and EV 

Event Staff 6 $160.00 $960.00 test drive/ride process. 

To meet the requirements of the site 
Insurance 1 $90.00 $90.00 host 

PIA Event Manager Staff Time 
(Hours) 45 $60.00 $2,700.00 Staff event managemenf hours 

This covers general PIA operating 
costs, such as office space, office 

Operating Costs $2,000.00 supplies, and utilities. 

Discount -15% -$1,500.00 Volume discount of 15% for 5-6 events 

TOTAL $8,500.00 

VIRTUAL RIDE AND DRIVE EVENT BUDGET 

Line Item Description Qty. Cost 

Programming Coordination 1 $1,500.00 

Social Media Marketing 
Campaign 1 $1,050.00 

Speaking Opportunity During 
Event 1 $500.00 

PIA Event Manager Staff Time 
(Hours) 20 $60.00 

Operating Costs 

TOTAL 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern Califomia Power Agency and Plug ln America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

Total Additional Details 

Acquisition of speakers, EV driver video 
$1,500 creation, Zoom software costs. 

lnc1usion of your logo, website links, 
and social media in our newsletter, and 

$1,050 social media campaign. 

Your company can designate an 
individual to have an educational 

$500 speaking role during the event. 

$1,200 Staff event management hours 

This covers general PIA operating 
costs, such as office space, office 

$750 supplies, and utilities. 

$5,000.00 

Page 17 of 19 



TWO TO FOUR EVENTS 

Acquisition of speakers, EV driver video 
Programming Coordination 1 $1,500.00 $1,500 creation, Zoom software costs. 

Social Media Marketing 1 $1,050.00 $1,050 Inclusion of your logo, website links, and 
Campaign social media in our newletter, and social 

media campaion. 

Your company can designate an 
Speaking Opportunity During individual to have an educational 
Event 1 $500.00 $500 speaking role during the event. 

PIA Event Manager Staff Time 
(Hours) 20 $60.00 $1,200 Staff event management hours 

This covers general PIA operating 
costs, such as office space, office 

Operating Costs $750 supplies, and utilities. 

Discount -10% -$500.00 Volume discount of 10% for 2-4 events 

TOTAL $4,500.00 

FIVE TO SIX EVENTS 

Acquisition of speakers, EV driver video 
Programming Coordination 1 $1,500.00 $1,500 creation, Zoom software costs. 

Inclusion of your logo, website links, 
Social Media Marketing and social media in our newsletter, and 
Campaign 1 $1,050.00 $1,050 social media campaign. 

Your company can designate an 
Speaking Opportunity During individual to have an educational 
Event 1 $500.00 $500 speaking role during the event. 

PIA Event Manager Staff Time 
(Hours) 20 $60.00 $1,200 Staff event management hours 

This covers general PIA operating 
costs, such as office space, office 

Operating Costs $750 supplies, and utilities. 

Discount -15% -$750.00 Volume discount of 10% for 2-4 events 

TOTAL $4,250.00 

Dealer Training, Engagement and Certification Pricing {12-month performance period) 
Pricing below represents options depending on how many dealers a utility would like to sponsor 
in a program. This program pricing can be funded by one or multiple NCPA member utilities. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 18 of 19 



Project not to exceed "NTE" amount would depend on the number of utilities and dealers 
participating. 

Item• Coat 

Program Management, Reporting and Administration $9,600 per year for a 
- Includes 3rd party sales dataset acquisition (See data collection sllde) program with 3 dealers 

- Evaluating PlugStar vs. non-PlugStar dealer sales in program territory (minimum) 
- Includes quarterly progress reporting with calls and additional progress check-ms as 

necessary +13, 166 per year for 
. Includes final report each additional dealer 

Materfals, CuetomlZatfon and Prlntlngllhlpp!ng. Materials Include: $281000 per year tor a 
. Training manual (with participating NCPA member utility information) program wtth 3 dealers 
- Incentives Quick Reference Guide (with participating NCPA utility information) (~inimum) 
. Materials will continue to include and expand on information for used EVs 

Dealer Identification, Selectlon and Recruitment +#,333 per year for 
- PlugSt.ar team to recruit the number of dealers as agreed to by NCPA members each additional dealer 

Dealer Training and Certification with programs with ·12 or 
. Training and P.lugStar EV certification and support for program dealers lessdealers . Provide at least three (3) live EV sales webfnar training for dealers 
. In-dealership training f0r dealers, as needed (COVIO Dependant) +8,500 per y96f for each 

PtuaStar.com ancs EV s.r. Onllne Tool dealer atrer the first 12 
- PfugStar.com: Update tocef data for NCPA member utiltties that participate in-the program dealers in the program 

(electricity rates, Incentives, dealers, eventst etc.) 
- EV Sales Tool: A regional license providing dealers access to our mot>lle-fiiendty PlugStar 

EV dealer toot with easy zip code based lookup of EV Incentives, charging and info for the 
makes and models they sell 

Continued dealer. field tupport and Dealer and Cuatomer EV Support Program (Cati Center) 
. ongoing field support for dealers 

- Toll-free phone and email helpline support for PlugStar EV dealers and their customers 

Optional Dealer Incentive 

Item Cost 

o.ar.r Incentive Funds Example (pass-through to dealers} $·100.000 
- . 250 fncenttves at $400 per vehtele sold 

lnc.ntiv• Administration FHS Example $12.,000 (based on 
- 12!M» processing fee the amount above) 

Addltloftal Pror,ram Mattapment Fees Additional $1,864 
per year per deafer 
enrolled in the 
program 

Pricing for services not otherwise listed above will be quoted at the time services are 
requested. 

NOTE: As a public agency, NCPA shall not reimburse Consultant for travel, food and related 
costs in excess of those permitted by the Internal Revenue Service. 

Multi-Task Consulting Services Agreement between 
Northern California Power Agency and Plug In America. 
Rev'd 7/9/2019 

LR-VEN-2020-011 

Page 19 of 19 



PUBLIC AGENCY 

CPA 

Commission Staff Report 

COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: Approval of Exhibit C, Revision 25 to Contract 96-SNR-00110 (WAPA O&M 
Funding Commitment) 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Discussion/Action 

- ........ 

FROM: Tony Zimmer '/' V METHOD OF SELECTION: 

Assistant General Manager NIA 

Division: Power Management If other, please describe: 

Department: Power Management 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members □ City of Lodi ~ City of Shasta Lake 

Alameda Municipal Power ~ City of Lompoc IZI City of Ukiah 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ City of Palo Alto IZJ Plumas-Sierra REC 

Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs IZJ City of Redding □ Port of Oakland 

City of Gridley IZJ City of Roseville □ Truckee Donner PUD 

City of Healdsburg IZJ City of Santa Clara □ Other 

If other, please specify 

SR: 155:23 

□ 

IZJ 

IZJ 

IZJ 

□ 

□ 



May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff is recommending that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency adopt and 
approve Resolution 23-39 authorizing the General Manager or his designee to execute Exhibit 
C, Revision 25 to Contact 96-SNR-00110, on behalf of NCPA, including any non-substantive 
modifications to Exhibit C, Revision 25 to Contract 96-SNR-00110 approved by NCPA's General 
Counsel. 

BACKGROUND: 

In December 2004, Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) executed the Agreement for the 
Funding of Operation and Maintenance for Central Valley Project Power Facilities (O&M 
Agreement) with the Western Area Power Administration (WAPA), Bureau of Reclamation 
(Reclamation) and other Central Valley Project (CVP) customers (Contract 96-SNR-00110). 
Under the O&M Agreement, CVP customers provide funds for specific operations, maintenance, 
and capital projects related to the CVP power plants, or the delivery of CVP energy, that would 
otherwise not be undertaken due to limited federal appropriations. These activities increase the 
quantity and enhance the reliability of energy delivered to NCPA under the Base Resource 
contract. WAPA returns funds to NCPA as a bill credit on its power bills. NCPA staff participate 
in the review and approval of projects chosen for funding, along with other WAPA customers 
who participate in the program. 

NCPA is a party to the O&M Agreement, on behalf of certain NCPA Members who have 
assigned their Base Resource percentages to NCPA to administer1 (Assigning Members). 
WAPA periodically requests participants to the O&M Agreement to execute revisions to the 
individual Customer Commitment and Contribution, or Exhibit C, which reflect allocated shares 
of the total funding obligation approved through the customer approval process. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

WAPA will invoice and collect funds according to a monthly schedule. Approximately one (1) 
month following payment, WAPA will return funds to NCPA through a bill credit on the monthly 
WAPA power bill. Therefore, the net fiscal impact is approximately zero dollars ($0.00). Costs 
associated with this commitment will be allocated to the Assigning Members based on Western 
Allocation percentages. NCPA's authority to act on behalf of the Assigning Members is provided 
through the Assignment Administration Agreement (AAA Agreement), which requires an 
affirmative vote of all Assigning Members. 

Execution of Exhibit C, Revision 25 to Contract 96-SNR-00110 would establish a commitment 
by NCPA, specifically the Assigning Members, to provide funds associated with Federal Fiscal 
Year 2025 in the amount of $11,720,811.88. The obligation to provide funds survives 
termination of the O&M Agreement, but any and all future obligations would be absolved 
coincident with the termination of the Base Resource contract. 

Exhibit C, Revision 25 to Contract 96-SNR-00110 has been attached to this staff report for your 
reference. 

1 Cities of Alameda, Biggs, Gridley, Healdsburg, Lodi, Lompoc, Palo Alto, Ukiah, and Port of Oakland and 
Plumas-Sierra Rural Electric Cooperative. 

SR: 155:23 



May 25, 2023 
Page 3 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

This activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the 
physical environment and is therefore, not a "project1' for purposes of Section 21065 of the 
California Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary. 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

On April 5, 2023 the Facilities Committee reviewed and endorsed the recommendation above 
for Commission approval. 

Respectfully submitted, 

i~- ~w~~ 
General Manager 

Attachments: (2) 
- Resolution 23-39 
- Exhibit C, Revision 25 to Contract 96-SNR-00110 

SR: 155:23 



RESOLUTION 23-39 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING EXHIBIT C, REVISION 25 TO CONTRACT 96-SNR-00110 

(reference Staff Report #155:23) 

WHEREAS, in December 2004, Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) executed the Agreement for 
the Funding of Operation and Maintenance for Central Valley Project Power Facilities (O&M Agreement) with 
the Western Area Power Administration (WAPA), Bureau of Reclamation (Reclamation) and other Central 
Valley Project (CVP) customers (Contract 96-SNR-0011 O); and 

WHEREAS, under the O&M Agreement, CVP customers provide funds for specific operations, 
mc1intenance, and capital projects related to the CVP power plants, or the delivery of CVP energy, that would 
otherwise not be undertaken due to limited federal appropriations; and 

WHEREAS, NCPA is a party to the O&M Agreement, on behalf of certain NCPA Members who have 
assigned their Base Resource percentages to NCPA to administer1 (Assigning Members), and WAPA 
periodically requests participants to the O&M Agreement to execute revisions to the individual Customer 
Commitment and Contribution, or Exhibit C, which reflect allocated shares of the total funding obligation 
approved through the customer approval process; and 

WHEREAS, execution of Exhibit C, Revision 25 to Contract 96-SNR-00110 would establish a 
commitment by NCPA, specifically the Assigning Members, to provide funds associated with Federal Fiscal 
Year 2025 in the amount of $11,720,811.88, and the obligation to provide funds survives termination of the 
O&M Agreement, but any and all future obligations would be absolved coincident with the termination of the 
Base Resource contract; and 

. WHEREAS, costs associated with this commitment will be allocated to the Assigning Members based 
on Western Allocation percentages, and NCPA's authority to act on behalf of the Assigning Members is 
provided through the Assignment Administration Agreement (AAA Agreement), which requires an affirmative 
vote of all Assigning Members; and 

WHEREAS, on April 5, 2023 the Facilities Committee reviewed and endorsed the recommendation 
above for Commission approval; and 

WHEREAS, this activity would not result in a direct or reasonably foreseeable indirect change in the 
.physical environment and is therefore, not a "project" for purposes of Section 21065 the California 
Environmental Quality Act. No environmental review is necessary; and 

·. .·. < NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency 
~uthorizes the General Manager or his designee to execute Exhibit C, Revision 25 to Contact 96-SNR-00110, 
on behalf of NCPA, including any non-substantive modifications to Exhibit C, Revision 25 to Contract 96-SNR-
00110 approved by NCPA's General Counsel. 

1Cities of Alameda, Biggs, Gridley, Healdsburg, Lodi, Lompoc, Palo Alto, Ukiah, and Port of Oakland and 
Plumas-Sierra Rural Electric Cooperative. 



:PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023, by the following vote 
on mil call: 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

NCPA Resolution 23-39 

Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: ASSISTANT SECRETARY 

-2-



EXHIBITC 

Northern California Power Agency 
Exhibit C, Revision 25 to 
Contract 96-SNR-00110 

(Individual Customer Commitment and Contribution) 

1. This Exhibit C, Revision 25, to be effective under and as a part of Contract 
96-SNR-00110 (Agreement), shall become effective upon execution; and shall remain in effect 
until either superseded by another Exhibit C or termination of the Contract. 

2. The Northern California Power Agency agrees to make a Contribution pursuant to 
Section 8 of the Agreement for the Fiscal Years (FY) and in the amounts specified in Column 6 
of the table in Section 3 below. 

3. Please specify your Contribution commitment level in Column 6. 

Column 2 Column 3 Column 4 Column 5 Column 6 

Fair-Share Minimum Revision 24-1 Proposed Revision 25 
FY Funding Amount Funding Contribution Revision 25 Contribution 

Amount 1 Commitment Contribution Commitment 
Level Amount Commitment Level Amount 

Level Amount 

2022 $8,588,447.97 $1,256,598.18 $8,588,447.97 n/a $8,588,447.97 

2023 $10,931,542.95 1,310,137.14 $10,931,542.95 n/a $10,931,542.95 

2024 $11,918,438.68 $1,342,016.75 $11,918,438.68 n/a $11,918,438.68 

2025 $11,720,811.88 $1,508,347.62 n/a $11,720,811.88 

4. Fair-Share Funding Level amounts and Contribution commitment amounts, if any, are 
not shown for FYs prior to FY 2022 in the above table. For that information refer to an earlier 
revision of Exhibit C. 

5. Electronic Signatures: This Exhibit C, Revision 25 may be executed by handwritten 
signature or digitally signed using Adobe Sign, Adobe E-Signature, or DocuSign. An electronic 
or digital signature is the same as a handwritten signature and shall be considered valid and 
acceptable. 

The signature below commits the Customer named to make Contributions in the amounts 
shown in the above table, but not greater than the amount indicated in the latest revision of the 
Contribution commitment level for a specific FY. 

1 To participate on the Governance Board, a Customer must contribute at least 1112th of its share of the estimated 
annual O&M cost for the FY that is four (4) years out from the current FY. This minimum amount is set forth in 
Column 3 of this Exhibit. 

Page 1 of 2 



Attest 

By: ________ _ 

Title: ----------

Northern California Power Agency 
Exhibit C, Revision 25 to 
Contract 96-SNR-00110 

NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 

By: ______________ _ 
Name: ___ R __ a"--n_d_,_y ___ S_. _H_o--w~a--rd;.;....._ ____ _ 
Title: ___ G=-e.;:..an..a...;e;..;...ra=l-'-M;..;..;a;.;.;;.n.;;..;;:;a=g..,;:;.e,:.._r ____ _ 
Address: 651 Commerce Drive ----------~-'------"-----

Roseville, CA 95678 
Date: --------------

Page 2 of 2 



PUBLIC AGENCY 

CPA 

Commission Staff Report 

COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: NCPA Geothermal Plant 2, Unit 4 Cooling Tower Temporary Measures Project; 
Applicable to the following: NCPA Geothermal Facility 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Discussion/Action 

FROM: Michael DeBortoli ~ 

Assistant General Manager 

METHOD OF SELECTION: 

Competitive Pricing Process 

Division: Generation Services If other, please describe: 

Department: Geothermal 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members □ City of Lodi IZl City of Shasta Lake 

Alameda Municipal Power IZl City of Lompoc IZl City of Ukiah 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC 

Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs IZl City of Redding □ Port of Oakland 

City of Gridley IZl City of Roseville IZl Truckee Donner PUD 

City of Healdsburg IZl City of Santa Clara IZl Other 

□ 

IZl 

IZl 

□ 

□ 

IZl 

If other, please specify Turlock 

SR: 168:23 

20 



May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-50 authorizing the Geothermal Plant 2, Unit 4 Cooling Tower Temporary 
Measures Project and delegating authority to the General Manager or his designee to award 
bids, execute agreements, and to issue purchase orders for the project in accordance with NCPA 
purchasing policies and procedures, without further approval by the Commission, for a total not 
exceed $250,000, to be funded through a Geothermal FY2023 budget augmentation. 

BACKGROUND: 

NCPA hired an independent contractor specializing in cooling towers to conduct an inspection of 
the Geothermal Plant 2, Unit 4 cooling tower. Their inspection revealed that the cooling tower 
fans, sweet gas header, guardrail, and stairs are in urgent need of repair. While items such as 
stairs and guardrails can be mitigated with scaffolding, the fans and header are critical for 
operation. The inspection revealed deteriorated supports for the header and large splits and 
holes in the fans. 

Out of an abundance of caution and for the safety of all personnel, NCPA shut down the 
Geothermal Plant 2 on May 8, 2023. While the FY2024 budget included an $800,000 project to 
replace the fan motor frames, blades, and hubs, temporary repairs are needed immediately to 
stabilize these items in order to get the unit back online. Complete repairs will be proposed in a 
future budget. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The total cost of this project is not to exceed $250,000. A breakdown of the project scope and 
associated costs is shown below. 

Scope of Work Cost 
Mobilization/Demobilization $8,000.00 
Repair Sweet Gas Line Supports $60,000.00 
Remove, Clean, Refurbish/Replace Cooling Tower Fan $140,000.00 
Blades, Supports, and Equipment 
Crane and Support $17,000.00 
Contingency Funds $25,000.00 

Total Project Cost $250,000.00 

A FY2023 budget augmentation in the amount of $250,000 is requested to fund this project. If 
approved, the additional cost of $250,000 would require funding from the Geothermal member 
agencies in proportion to their individual shares in the Plant 2 project shown below. 

SR: 168:23 



May 25, 2023 
Page 3 

Impact Plant 2 Unit 4 
Cooling Tower Temporary 

Measures Project to 
Participants 

Participant 

Alameda 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Plumas Sierra 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Ukiah 
TIO 

Total Cost 
250,000 

42,206 
568 
840 

9,185 
25,700 
9,203 
1,753 

19,708 
110,975 
14,036 
15,826 

250,000 

NCPA will issue a special invoice for $250,000 on May 26, 2023 and payable by June 15, 2023. 
Project Participants can elect to provide a letter of direction using their GOR funds or send funds 
from their bank account. 

SELECTION PROCESS: 

NCPA has issued a Request for Proposal and is currently soliciting competitive bids from 
multiple vendors to perform the work required for this project. Work will be awarded to the vendor 
providing the best overall value to NCPA. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

These activities are categorically exempt under Class 1, 2, 3, 4, and 11 from the provisions of the 
California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Sections 15301 (b), 15302 (c), 15303, 15304 
and 15311 of the CEQA Guidelines. A Notice of Exemption was approved by the NCPA 
Commission on September 27, 2013 for this class of work and was filed in Sonoma County. No 
environmental review is necessary. 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

On May 18, 2023, the Facilities Committee reviewed and endorsed the recommendation above 
for Commission approval. 

Respectfully submitted, 

£:jH~WA!~ 
General Manager 

Attachments: 
• Resolution 23-50 

SR: 168:23 



RESOLUTION 23-50 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING THE NCPA GEOTHERMAL PLANT 2, UNIT 4 COOLING TOWER TEMPORARY 

MEASURES PROJECT 

(reference Staff Report #168:23) 

WHEREAS, the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) operates and maintains on behalf of the project 
owners a Geothermal facility near Middletown, CA consisting of two power plants with containment areas, 78 steam 
production and injection wells; and 

WHEREAS, a recent inspection of NCPA's Geothermal Plant 2, Unit 4 cooing tower revealed that the 
cooling tower fans, sweet gas header, guardrail, and stairs are in urgent need of repairs; and 

WHEREAS, out of an abundance of caution and for the safety of all personnel, NCPA has shut down the 
Geothermal Plant 2 until temporary repairs can be made to stabilize these items; and 

WHEREAS, NCPA has issued a Request for Proposal and is currently soliciting competitive bids from 
multiple vendors to perform the work required for this project. Work will be awarded to the vendor providing the best 
overall value to NCPA; and 

WHEREAS, on May 18, 2023, the Facilities Committee reviewed and approved the recommendation for 
Commission approval; and 

WHEREAS, these activities are categorically exempt under Class 1, 2, 3, 4, and 11 from the provisions of 
the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Sections 15301 (b),15302 (c), 15303, 15304 and 15311 of the 
CEQA Guidelines and a Notice of Exemption was approved by the NCPA Commission on September 27, 2013 for 
this class of work and was filed in Sonoma County; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency 
authorizes the Geothermal Plant 2, Unit 4 Cooling Tower Temporary Measures Project and delegates authority to 
the General Manager or his designee to award bids, execute agreements, and to issue purchase orders for the 
project in accordance with NCPA purchasing policies and procedures, without further approval by the Commission, 
for a total amount not exceed $250,000, to be funded through a Geothermal FY2023 budget augmentation. 

roll call: 
PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023, by the following vote on 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: TRISHA ZIMMER 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 



PUAUC AGENCY 

CPA 

Commission Staff Report 

COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: NCPA Geothermal Plant 1, Unit 1 Steam Strainer Damage Project; Applicable to 
the following: NCPA Geothermal Facility 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Discussion/Action 

FROM: Michael DeBortoli ~ 

Assistant General Manager 

METHOD OF SELECTION: 

Competitive Pricing Process 

Division: Generation Services If other, please describe: 

Department: Geothermal 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members □ City of Lodi ~ City of Shasta Lake 

Alameda Municipal Power ~ City of Lompoc ~ City of Ukiah 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs ~ City of Redding □ Port of Oakland 

City of Gridley ~ City of Roseville ~ Truckee Donner PUD 

City of Healdsburg ~ City of Santa Clara ~ Other 

□ 

~ 

~ 

□ 

□ 

~ 

If other, please specify Turlock 

SR: 167:23 

2l 



May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-49 authorizing the Geothermal Plant 1, Unit 1 Steam Strainer Damage 
Project and delegating authority to the General Manager or his designee to award bids, execute 
agreements, and to issue purchase orders for the project in accordance with NCPA purchasing 
policies and procedures, without further approval by the Commission, for a total not to exceed 
amount of $2,500,000, to be funded through a Geothermal FY2023 budget augmentation. 

BACKGROUND: 

On March 1, 2023, NCPA's Geothermal Plant 1, Unit 1 was taken offline for routine seasonal 
Stretford maintenance. During the course of inspections conducted by NCPA staff, steam 
strainer failures were found which caused strainer material to enter the steam turbine. Staff was 
unable to remove the upper casing to determine the extent of the damage. NCPA hired Reliable 
Turbine Services, LLC (RTS) to perform a Steam Path Inspection. RTS removed the upper 
turbine case and found screen material throughout the turbine rotor and casing diaphragms. 
Upon initial visual inspection, minimal obvious damage was seen. 

RTS is recommending to pull, clean, and conduct nondestructive testing on the turbine rotor and 
diaphragms, and to remove and inspect the valves. After the turbine rotor, diaphragms, and 
upper turbine case are examined and any necessary repairs completed, the equipment will be 
reassembled and returned to service. It is expected that this work will be completed by June 30, 
2023. 

It is important to note that this unit is scheduled for a regular overhaul in 2026. During the course 
of this work, staff will be evaluating whether this scope can count as the regular scheduled 
overhaul, thus enabling NCPA to defer that future work. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The total cost of the project is not to exceed $2,500,000. A breakdown of the project scope and 
associated costs is shown below: 

Scope of Work Cost 
Steam Path Inspection $93,685.00 
RTS Proposal dated May 3, 2023 (includes $406,980.00 
mobilization, removal, blast-cleaning, non-destructive 
testing of rotor and stationary, valve removals and 
visual inspection, upper casing inspection, report of 
findings) 
Additional Repairs, Reassembly, Demobilization $300,000.00 
Contingency Funds $1,699,335.00 

Total Project Cost $2,500,000.00 

It should be noted that the large contingency is to allow for unexpected findings, and to allow for 
the option of completing the work as an overhaul, deferring the 2026 work. NCPA will not collect 
the contingency portion of the augmentation unless the work scope dictates the need. 

SR: 167:23 



May 25, 2023 
Page 3 

A FY2023 budget augmentation in the amount of $2,500,000 is requested to fund this project. If 
approved, the additional cost of $2,500,000 would require funding from the Geothermal member 
agencies in proportion to their individual shares in the Plant 1 project shown below. 

Impact of Plant 1 Unit 1 
Steam Strainer Damage 
Budget Augmentation to 

Participants 

Participant 

Alameda 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Plumas 
Sierra 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Ukiah 
TID 

Total Cost 
2,500,000 

422,062 
5,675 
8,400 

91,850 
257,000 

92,025 

17,525 
197,075 

1,109,762 
140,363 
158,263 

2,500,000 

NCPA will issue a special invoice for $800,665 on May 26, 2023 and payable by June 15, 2023. 
Project Participants can elect to provide a letter of direction using their GOR funds or send funds 
from their bank account. If it is recommended to overhaul the unit, NCPA will issue a subsequent 
special invoice for $1,699,335 at a later date. 

NCPA staff will discuss with its insurance carrier a potential claim resulting from the steam 
strainer damage. 

SELECTION PROCESS: 

On April 10, 2023, NCPA issued a Request for Proposals for the Geothermal Plant 1, Unit 1 
Steam Path Inspection Project. Three potential bidders were contacted. One bidder declined and 
two bidders responded with proposals. RTS was selected based on cost and availability. If the 
project is approved, RTS will be tasked with completing the inspection and implementing the 
repairs necessary to restore the plant to operation. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

These activities are categorically exempt under Class 1, 2, 3, 4, and 11 from the provisions of the 
California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Sections 15301 (b), 15302 (c), 15303, 15304 

SR: 167:23 



May 25, 2023 
Page4 

and 15311 of the CEQA Guidelines. A Notice of Exemption was approved by the NCPA 
Commission on September 27, 2013 for this class of work and was filed in Sonoma County. No 
environmental review is necessary. 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

On May 18, 2023, the Facilities Committee reviewed and endorsed the recommendation above 
for Commission approval. 

Respectfully submitted, 

g~.H~Wl~ 
General Manager 

Attachments: 
• Resolution 23-49 

SR: 167:23 



RESOLUTION 23-49 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING THE GEOTHERMAL PLANT 1, UNIT 1 STEAM STRAINER DAMAGE PROJECT 

(reference Staff Report #167:23) 

WHEREAS, the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) operates and maintains on behalf of the project 
owners a Geothermal facility near Middletown, CA consisting of two power plants with containment areas, 78 steam 
production and injection wells; and 

WHEREAS, on March 1, 2023, NCPA's Geothermal Plant 1, Unit 1 was taken offline for routine seasonal 
Stretford maintenance. During the course of inspections conducted by NCPA staff, steam strainer failures were 
found which caused strainer material to enter the steam turbine; and 

WHEREAS, NCPA put out a Request for Proposals for the Geothermal Plant 1, Unit 1 Steam Path 
Inspection Project. Three potential bidders were contacted. NCPA received proposals from two bidders. Reliable 
Turbine Services (RTS) was selected based on cost and availability. If the project is approved, RTS will be tasked 
with completing the inspection and implementing any necessary repairs to restore the plant to operation; and 

WHEREAS, RTS is recommending to pull, clean, and conduct nondestructive testing on the turbine rotor 
and diaphragms, and to remove and inspect the valves. After the turbine rotor, diaphragms, and upper turbine case 
are examined and any necessary repairs are completed, the equipment will be reassembled and returned to service; 
and 

WHEREAS, on May 18, 2023, the Facilities Committee reviewed and approved the recommendation for 
Commission approval; and 

WHEREAS, these activities are categorically exempt under Class 1, 2, 3, 4, and 11 from the provisions of 
the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Sections 15301 (b),15302 (c), 15303, 15304 and 15311 of the 
CEQA Guidelines. A Notice of Exemption was approved by the NCPA Commission on September 27, 2013 for this 
class of work and was filed in Sonoma County. No environmental review is necessary; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency 
authorizes the Geothermal Plant 1, Unit 1 Steam Strainer Damage Project and delegates authority to the General 
Manager or his designee to award bids, execute agreements, and to issue purchase orders for the project in 
accordance with NCPA purchasing policies and procedures, without further approval by the Commission, for a total 
amount not exceed $2,500,000, to be funded through a Geothermal FY2023 budget augmentation. 

roll call: 
PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023, by the following vote on 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: TRISHA ZIMMER 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 



Commission Staff Report 

COMMISSION MEETING DATE: May 25, 2023 

SUBJECT: FY2023 Geothermal Budget Augmentation for Routine Operations and 
Maintenance (O&M); Applicable to the following: NCPA Geothermal Facility 

AGENDA CATEGORY: Discussion/Action 

FROM: Michael DeBortoli ~ 

Assistant General Manager 

METHOD OF SELECTION: 

NIA 

Division: Generation Services 

Department: Geothermal 

IMPACTED MEMBERS: 

All Members □ City of Lodi ~ City of Shasta Lake 

Alameda Municipal Power ~ City of Lompoc ~ City of Ukiah 

San Francisco Bay Area 
□ City of Palo Alto □ Plumas-Sierra REC 

Rapid Transit 

City of Biggs ~ City of Redding □ Port of Oakland 

City of Gridley ~ City of Roseville ~ Truckee Donner PUD 

City of Healdsburg ~ City of Santa Clara ~ Other 

□ 

~ 

~ 

□ 

□ 

~ 

If other, please specify Turlock 

SR: 169:23 

22-



May 25, 2023 
Page2 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve Resolution 23-51 authorizing a FY2023 budget augmentation in the amount of 
$2,200,000, for application to NCPA's Geothermal facility Routine Operations and Maintenance 
(O&M) costs as a result of extraordinary work and extreme weather conditions during the year. 

BACKGROUND: 

On April 28, 2022, the NCPA Commission approved the FY2023 Annual Budget (Resolution 22-
45). Over the course of FY2023, various extraordinary events have resulted in higher than 
projected expenditures for routine operations and maintenance activities at NCPA's Geothermal 
facility, including various pump failures requiring the need for maintenance and to purchase parts 
for the pumps, extreme winter weather conditions causing the need for greater than normal 
maintenance activities including snow removal services, unexpected transmission line damage 
requiring emergency repairs, and increasing costs of steam royalties due to the rise in energy 
prices. 

NCPA's Geothermal facility is requesting a budget augmentation to the FY2023 Annual Budget 
to fund these unexpected maintenance activities. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The requested amount of the FY2023 Geothermal budget augmentation is $2,200,000. This 
budget augmentation is needed to fully fund the required operations and maintenance costs. The 
additional cost of $2,200,000 would require funding from the Geothermal projects' respective 
member agencies in proportion to their individual shares therein, as shown below. 

Impact Geothermal Fiscal Year 
O&M to Participants 

Participant 

Alameda 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Plumas Sierra 
Rosevllle 
Santa Clara 
Ukiah 
TIO 

SR: 169:23 

Total Cost 
2,200,000 

371,415 
4,994 
7,392 

80,828 
226,160 

80,982 
15,422 

173,426 
976,591 
123,519 
139,271 

2,200,000 



May 25, 2023 
Page3 

NCPA will issue a special invoice for $2,200,000 on May 26, 2023 and payable by June 15, 
2023. Project Participants can elect to provide a letter of direction using their GOR funds or send 
funds from their bank account. 

ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS: 

The activities funded by the requested budget augmentation are categorically exempt under 
Class 1, 2, 3, 4, and 11 from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant 
to Sections 15301 (b), 15302 (c), 15303, 15304 and 15311 of the CEQA Guidelines. A Notice of 
Exemption was approved by the NCPA Commission on September 27, 2013 for this class of 
work and was filed in Sonoma County. No environmental review is necessary. 

COMMITTEE REVIEW: 

On May 18, 2023, the Facilities Committee reviewed and endorsed the recommendation above 
for Commission approval. 

Respectfully submitted, 

i~.~o~ 
General Manager 

Attachments: 
• Resolution 23-51 

SR: 169:23 



RESOLUTION 23-51 

RESOLUTION OF THE NORTHERN CALIFORNIA POWER AGENCY 
APPROVING THE FY2023 GEOTHERMAL BUDGET AUGMENTATION FOR ROUTINE 

OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE (O&M) 

(reference Staff Report #169:23) 

WHEREAS, the Northern California Power Agency (NCPA) operates and maintains on behalf of the project 
owners a Geothermal facility near Middletown, CA consisting of two power plants with containment areas, 78 steam 
production and injection wells; and 

WHEREAS, on April 28, 2022, the NCPA Commission approved the FY2023 Annual Budget (Resolution 22-
45); and 

WHEREAS, over the course of FY2023, various extraordinary events resulted in higher than projected 
expenditures for routine operations and maintenance activities at NCPA's Geothermal facility, including various 
pump failures, extreme winter weather conditions causing the need for increased maintenance activities, 
unexpected transmission line damage requiring emergency repairs, and an increase in the cost of steam royalties 
due to the rise in energy prices; and 

WHEREAS, the approved budget for FY2023 requires a budget augmentation to fully fund the required 
operations and maintenance costs. These costs will require funding from the Geothermal projects' respective 
member agencies in proportion to their individual shares; and 

WHEREAS, on May 18, 2023, the Facilities Committee reviewed and approved the recommendation for 
Commission approval; and 

WHEREAS, the activities funded by the requested budget augmentation are categorically exempt 
under Class 1, 2, 3, 4, and 11 from the provisions of the California Environmental Quality Act pursuant to Sections 
15301 (b), 15302 (c), 15303, 15304 and 15311 of the CEQA Guidelines. A Notice of Exemption was approved by the 
NCPA Commission on September 27, 2013 for this class of work and was filed in Sonoma County. No 
environmental review is necessary; and 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Commission of the Northern California Power Agency 
authorizes a FY2023 budget augmentation in the amount of $2,200,000, for application to NCPA's Geothermal 
facility Routine Operations and Maintenance (O&M) costs as a result of extraordinary work and extreme weather 
conditions during the year. 

roll call: 
PASSED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this __ day of ______ , 2023, by the following vote on 

Alameda 
San Francisco BART 
Biggs 
Gridley 
Healdsburg 
Lodi 
Lompoc 
Palo Alto 
Port of Oakland 
Redding 
Roseville 
Santa Clara 
Shasta Lake 
Truckee Donner 
Ukiah 
Plumas-Sierra 

JERRY SERVENTI 
CHAIR 

Vote Abstained Absent 

ATTEST: TRISHA ZIMMER 
ASSISTANT SECRETARY 


	Item_2_Draft_Minutes_042723
	Item_3_Support_Services_Prgm_Status_Report
	Item_5_Facilities_Committee_Meeting_Minutes_May_3_2023
	Item_10_Financial_Report_April_30_2023_unaudited
	Item_11_Treasurers_Report_April_30_2023
	Item_12_Aspen_Environment_Grp_Five_Yr_MTCSA_for_Energy_Related_Consulting_Srvs
	Item_13_2023_Steam_Field_Operation_and_Generation_Forecast_applicable_to_GEO
	Item_14_NCPA_2023_Wildfire_Mitigation_Plan_Revisions
	Item_15_Approval_of_the_Revised_Debt_and_Interest_Rate_Mgmt_Policy
	Item_16_Approval_of_the_NCPA_Investment_Policy_and_Guidelines_No_200_100
	Item_17_Approval_of_Amendment_to_Exhibit_A_of_Third_Phase_Agmt_for_Purchase_Agmts_with_Geysers_Power_Co_LLC
	Item_18_Plug_In_America_First_Amend_to_Three_Yr_MTCSA_for_Electrification_Education_and_Outreach_Srvs
	Item_19_Approval_of_Exhibit_C_Revision_25_to_Contract_96_SNR_00110_WAPA_O&M_Funding_Commitment
	Item_20_NCPA_GEO_Plant_2_Unit_4_Cooling_Tower_Temp_Measures_Project
	Item_21_NCPA_GEO_Plant_1_Unit_1_Steam_Strainer_Damage_Project
	Item_22_FY2023_GEO_Budget_Augmentation_for_Routine_Operations_and_Maint_O&M



